
 
 

 
 
 
 
DYDD MAWRTH 23AIN IONAWR 2024 
 
 
AT:    HOLL AELODAU’R CABINET 
 
 
YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD AML-
LEOLIAD O’R CABINET A GYNHELIR YN Y SIAMBR,  NEUADD Y 
SIR, CAERFYRDDIN, SA31 1JP NEU O BELL AM 10.00 Y.B. AR 
DDYDD LLUN, 29AIN IONAWR, 2024 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R 
MATERION A AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA SYDD YNGHLWM 
 

Wendy Walters 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 

 

Swyddog Democrataidd: Michelle Evans Thomas 
Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224470 
E-bost: MEEvansThomas@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

Cyfarfod aml-leoliad yw hwn. Gall aelodau’r pwyllgor fynychu’n bersonol yn 
y lleoliad a nodir uchod neu o bell drwy’r ddolen Zoom a ddarperir ar wahân. 

Gellir gwylio’r cyfarfod ar wefan y cyngor drwy'r ddolen canlynol:- 
https://carmarthenshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 
Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 

Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 
 

 

Pecyn Dogfennau

https://carmarthenshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 
 

   Y CABINET  
AELODAETH – 10 AELOD 

 
CYNGHORYDD PORTFFOLIO 

Cynghorydd Darren Price Arweinydd 

Cynghorydd Linda Evans Dirprwy Arweinydd ac Aelod Cabinet dros Gartrefi  

Cynghorydd Glynog Davie Addysg a'r Gymraeg  

Cynghorydd Ann Davies Materion Gwledig, Cydlyniant Cymunedol a Pholisi 
Cynllunio  

Cynghorydd Hazel Evans Adfywio, Hamdden, Diwylliant a Thwristiaeth 

Cynghorydd Philip Hughes Trefniadaeth a'r Gweithlu  

Cynghorydd Alun Lenny Adnoddau 

Cynghorydd Edward Thomas Gasanaethau Trafnidiaeth, Gwastraff a Seilwaith 

Cynghorydd Jane Tremlett Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 

Cynghorydd Aled Vaughan Owen Newid Hinsawdd, Datgarboneiddio a Chynaliadwyedd 

 

 



 
 

 
  

 

A G E N D A   
  

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB   
 
2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL   
 
3. I LOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y 

CABINET A GYNHALIWYD AR Y 15EG IONAWR, 2024.  
5 - 14 

 
4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU   
 
5. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD   
 
6. CYNLLUN DATBLYGU LLEOL DIWYGIEDIG SIR GARFYRDDIN 

2018-2033 - ASESIAD CYNALIADWYEDD INTEGREDIG AC 
ASESIAD RHEOLIADAU CYNEFINOEDD (GAN GYNNWYS 
ATODIADAU) YMGYNGHORI PELLACH  

15 - 166 

 
7. RHAGLEN MODERNEIDDIO ADDYSG - STRATEGAETH (RHMA)  167 - 206 
 
8. PENODI LLYWODRAETHWR AR RAN YR AWDURDOD LLEOL  207 - 210 
 
9. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 

AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN 
FATER BRYS YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF 
LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972.  

 

 
10. GORCHYMYN I'R CYHOEDD ADAEL Y CYFARFOD   
 NI DDYLID CYHOEDDI’R ADRODDIADAU SY’N YMWNEUD Â’R 

MATERION CANLYNOL GAN EU BOD YN CYNNWYS GWYBODAETH 
EITHRIEDIG FEL Y’I DIFFINIWYD YM MHARAGRAFF 14 O RAN 4 O 
ATODLEN 12A I DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL 1972 FEL Y’I 
DIWYGIWYD GAN ORCHYMYN LLYWODRAETH LEOL (MYNEDIAD AT 
WYBODAETH) (AMRYWIO) (CYMRU) 2007. OS BYDD Y CABINET AR 
ÔL CYNNAL PRAWF LLES Y CYHOEDD YN PENDERFYNU YN UNOL 
Â’R DDEDDF, I YSTYRIED Y MATERION HYN YN BREIFAT, 
GORCHMYNNIR I’R CYHOEDD ADAEL Y CYFARFOD YN YSTOD 
TRAFODAETH O’R FATH. 
 

 

 
11. TIR DATBLYGU PRESWYL YN FFERM MYDDYNFYCH, 

BONLLWYN, RHYDAMAN  
211 - 218 

 
12. PRYNU EIDDO YNG NGHANOL TREF CAERFYRDDIN  219 - 244 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

CABINET 
 

DYDD LLUN 15EG IONAWR 2024  
 
 

YN BRESENNOL:   Y Cynghorydd D. Price (Cadeirydd) (Yn y Siambr) 
 
Cynghorwyr (Yn y Siambr):  
C.A. Davies G. Davies H.A.L. Evans L.D. Evans 
P.M. Hughes A. Lenny E.G. Thomas J. Tremlett 
A. Vaughan Owen    

 
Hefyd yn bresennol ar gyfer eitem 4.1 ar yr agenda a hefyd fel sylwedydd (Yn 
rhithwir): 
Y Cynghorydd R. James 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn y Siambr): 
W. Walters - Prif Weithredwr 
C. Moore - Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol   
A. Williams - Cyfarwyddwr Lle & Seilwaith  
G. Morgans - Cyfarwyddwr Addysg & Gwasanaethau Plant 
P. Thomas - Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol   
L.R. Jones - Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith 
J. Morgan - Pennaeth Tai  
C. Higginson - Rheolwr y Cyfryngau 
L. Jenkins - Swyddog Cymorth y Cabinet 
J. Owen - Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
D. Hall-Jones - Swyddog Cymorth i'r Aelodau 
S. Rees - Cyfieithydd ar y Pryd 
  
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn rhithwir): 
M. Evans Thomas - Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd [Cymeryd Nodiadau] 
M. Runeckles - Swyddog Cymorth i'r Aelodau 

 
Y Siambr, Neuadd y Sir Caerfyrddin ac o bell : 10:00 yb - 11:35 yb 
 
[NODER:    
(1) Roedd trefn y materion ar yr agenda wedi amrywio yn ystod y cyfarfod ac mae'r 

cofnodion hyn yn adlewyrchu trefn y materion ar yr agenda a gyhoeddwyd, sy'n 
wahanol i'r hyn sydd ar y gweddarllediad; 

(2) Gan ystyried y ffaith bod yn rhaid i'r Cadeirydd a'r Is-gadeirydd adael y cyfarfod, ar ôl 
datgan buddiannau, roedd y Cynghorydd E.G. Thomas wedi cadeirio'r cyfarfod ar 
gyfer eitemau 8, 9 a 12.] 

   
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB A MATERION ERAILL 

 
Ni chafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.  Estynnodd y Cadeirydd groeso i'r 
Cynghorydd Philip Hughes i'w gyfarfod cyntaf yn dilyn cyfnod o salwch.   
  

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  3



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

 
2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 

 

Y Cynghorydd/    
Swyddog Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant 

Y Cynghorydd  H.A.L. 
Evans 

9 - Cynllun Busnes y 
Cyfrif Refeniw Tai 2024 
-27 - Rhaglen 
Buddsoddiadau Tai Sir 
Gaerfyrddin 

Ei chwaer yn Brif 
Weithredwr Cymdeithas Tai 

Y Cynghorydd  H.A.L. 
Evans 

9 - Cyfrif Refeniw Tai a 
Gosod Rhent Tai 
2024/25 

Ei chwaer yn Brif 
Weithredwr Cymdeithas Tai 

Y Cynghorydd L.D. Evans 12 - Cynllun 
Gostyngiadau'r Dreth 
Gyngor 

Yn gysylltiedig â'i thad. 

Y Cynghorydd L.D. Evans 14 - Polisi Cyflogau 
Athrawon Enghreifftiol 
2023/24 

Mae ei merch yn dysgu. 

Cynghorydd P.M. Hughes 9 - Cyfrif Refeniw Tai a 
Gosod Rhent Tai 
2024/25 

Mae'n rhentu eiddo. 

Y Cynghorydd D. Price 9 - Cyfrif Refeniw Tai a 
Gosod Rhent Tai 
2024/25 

Mae ei fam-gu yn denant i'r 
Cyngor. 

Y Cynghorydd D. Price 12 - Cynllun 
Gostyngiadau'r Dreth 
Gyngor 

Mae ei fam-gu yn derbyn 
rhyw fath o fudd-dal o'r 
cynllun. 

Cynghorydd A. Vaughan-
Owen 

14 - Polisi Cyflogau 
Athrawon Enghreifftiol 
2023/24 

Ei wraig yn athrawes. 

J. Morgan, Pennaeth Tai 14 - Polisi Cyflogau 
Athrawon Enghreifftiol 
2023/24 

Ei wraig yn athrawes. 

W. Walters, Prif 
Weithredwr 

12 - Cynllun 
Gostyngiadau'r Dreth 
Gyngor 

Yn gysylltiedig â'i mam-yng-
nghyfraith.   

  
 

3. I LOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y CABINET A 
GYNHALIWYD AR YR 11EG RHAGFYR 2023 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Cabinet 
a gynhaliwyd ar 11 Rhagfyr 2023 yn gofnod cywir. 

Tudalen 6



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd fod un cwestiwn â rhybudd wedi cael ei gyflwyno. 
 
4.1. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ROB JAMES I'R CYNGHORYDD 

ALUN LENNY, AELOD Y CABINET DROS ADNODDAU 
 
“A allai'r Aelod Cabinet ddatgan faint mae'r awdurdod hwn wedi'i dalu mewn 
ffioedd ymgynghori yn ystod y flwyddyn ariannol ddiwethaf, gan gynnwys tuag at 
brosiectau ar y cyd neu ranbarthol?” 
  
Ymateb gan y Cynghorydd Alun Lenny, yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau: 
  
“Byddwch yn gwerthfawrogi wrth gwrs mai hwn yw'r cyfnod mwyaf prysur posib 
i'n swyddogion wrth i ni geisio dod â'r gyllideb anoddaf yn hanes y Cyngor hwn at 
ei gilydd.  Fel y gwelwch o'r adroddiadau canlynol yn y cyfarfod hwn ac fel y 
trafodir yn y seminarau yr wythnos hon yn Llanelli.  Er gwaethaf hyn, mae 
swyddogion yn casglu'r data y gwnaethoch ofyn amdano at ei gilydd ond bydd 
angen i ni sicrhau cysondeb ac eglurder ynghylch y diffiniad o Ymgynghorwyr fel 
y'u diffinnir gan Awdurdodau eraill yng Nghymru.  Cyn gynted ag y bydd gennym 
ffigur pendant, byddaf wrth gwrs yn rhoi ateb i chi. Fodd bynnag, rwy'n credu ei 
bod yn werth dweud ar y pwynt hwn y gallai'r gair Ymgynghorwyr greu 
ymdeimlad negyddol felly mae'n werth egluro bod ffioedd ymgynghori'n cael eu 
talu i gwmnïau sy'n arbenigwyr yn eu maes ac sy'n cael eu comisiynu gan yr 
Awdurdod hwn i wneud swydd benodol am gyfnod penodol o amser oherwydd 
nad oes gennym y staff na'r gallu i wneud hynny.  Gallaf eich sicrhau y craffir yn 
fanwl ar bob comisiwn gan y Pennaeth Gwasanaeth perthnasol er mwyn rhoi'r 
fargen orau bosibl i dalwyr y Dreth Gyngor.  Bydd y galw hwn yn amlwg yn 
amrywio o flwyddyn i flwyddyn yn dibynnu ar ba brosiectau rydym yn eu gwneud 
sy'n gofyn am gymorth arbenigol.  Fel arall, ni fyddai modd cyflawni prosiectau ac 
mae hynny'n cynnwys ailddatblygu canol trefi, ystadau tai di-garbon fforddiadwy, 
ysgolion newydd a chanolfan hamdden o'r radd flaenaf ar gyfer Llanelli.  Mae 
lefel y ffioedd ymgynghori yn gysylltiedig yn uniongyrchol â'r gweithgaredd sy'n 
gwella ansawdd bywyd a chyfleoedd cyflogaeth i bobl Sir Gaerfyrddin.  Fel y 
gwyddoch, mae gan y Cyngor hwn raglen adfywio uchelgeisiol iawn. Y datblygiad 
blaenllaw yw prosiect Pentre Awel gwerth dros £200m a fydd yn hwb anhygoel i 
Lanelli a'r rhanbarth cyfan ac yn creu bron i 2000 o swyddi maes o law.   
Byddai'n amhosibl cyflawni'r prosiect hwnnw heb gyflogi ystod eang o arbenigwyr 
allanol h.y. dylunio, peirianneg, ecoleg ac ati.  Mae rhai o'r Ymgynghorwyr yn 
arbenigol iawn yn eu maes h.y. wrth feddwl am Harbwr Porth Tywyn, dim ond 
llond llaw yn Ne Cymru sy'n arbenigwyr mewn carthu harbwr ac yn yr un modd 
Pentre Awel, lle'r oedd amodau'r tir yn golygu gosod seilbyst tua 25m yn y 
ddaear.  Byddai cyflogi arbenigwyr fel staff llawn amser, hyd yn oed pe gallem eu 
denu ac rwy'n amau hynny, yn ddrud dros ben ac efallai y byddent yn eistedd o 
gwmpas yn gwneud dim am ran helaeth o'r flwyddyn, fel y byddai arbenigwyr 
eraill pe baent ar gael yn fewnol.  Fel y dywedais yn gynharach, cyn gynted ag y 
bydd ffigur pendant ar gael, byddaf wrth gwrs yn ei roi i chi ond mae arnaf ofn 
mai dyna'r sefyllfa'r bore yma. 
  
Cwestiwn Atodol gan y Cynghorydd Rob James:- 

Tudalen 7



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

  
“Diolch am eich ymateb Gynghorydd Lenny. Rwy'n gwerthfawrogi fod angen 
ymchwil o bosibl i gael y ffigur gwirioneddol.  Ai bwriad y weinyddiaeth hon yw 
lleihau'r swm y mae'n ei wario ar Ymgynghorwyr yn gyffredinol?” 
  
Ymateb gan y Cynghorydd Alun Lenny, yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau:- 
  
“Ie, yn amlwg rydym yn ddarbodus iawn o ran yr hyn rydyn ni'n ei wario ar 
unrhyw beth gan gynnwys arbenigwyr allanol fel hyn.  Fel y dywedais yn 
gynharach, mae Penaethiaid Gwasanaeth yn craffu'n drylwyr iawn ar yr angen i 
gyflogi ymgynghorwyr neu arbenigwyr allanol.   Felly, gallaf eich sicrhau y bydd 
hynny'n parhau a lle gallwn gyflogi pobl neu ddefnyddio sgiliau pobl mewnol yna 
yn sicr byddwn yn gwneud hynny.” 
  

5. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
  

6. STRATEGAETH CYLLIDEB REFENIW 2024/25 I 2026/27 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn rhoi golwg gyffredinol ar y Gyllideb 
Refeniw ar gyfer 2024/25 a'r ddwy flynedd ariannol ganlynol. Roedd yn rhoi 
manylion am broses y gyllideb, setliad dros dro presennol Llywodraeth Cymru ac 
amserlen y setliad terfynol ac yn clustnodi'r gwasgfeydd dilysu a'r gwasgfeydd 
cyllidebol y byddai'n rhaid i'r Aelodau roi sylw iddynt wrth bennu cyllideb refeniw'r 
flwyddyn nesaf. Bydd yr adroddiad yn sail i'r broses ymgynghori ar y gyllideb a 
fydd yn cael ei chynnal yn ystod mis Ionawr. 
  
Mynegwyd pryder ynghylch y pwysau digynsail sy'n wynebu pob Awdurdod Lleol. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL   
  
6.1      bod y Strategaeth Gyllideb tair blynedd 2024/25 i 2026/27 yn cael ei 

chymeradwyo a bod y strategaeth yn cael ei defnyddio i gefnogi'r 
ymgynghoriad ar y gyllideb a llunio sail y cynigion terfynol ar gyfer y 
gyllideb; 

6.2      bod y gostyngiadau yn y gyllideb / cynigion arbedion yn Atodiad A, a 
fydd yn cael eu hystyried fel rhan o'r ymgynghoriad, yn cael eu nodi; 

6.3      nodi diffyg 2024/25 sef £801k yn y strategaeth bresennol, y bydd 
angen nodi mwy o gyllid neu leihau costau ar ei gyfer wrth gwblhau'r 
ymgynghoriad fel y nodir ym mharagraff 4.3 o'r adroddiad;    

6.4      nodi bod y Cynllun Ariannol Tymor Canolig yn cynnwys cynnig i 
ddefnyddio cyllid wrth gefn i gefnogi costau unwaith yn unig ar gyfer 
y Gwasanaethau Plant. 

  
7. RHAGLEN GYFALAF PUM MLYNEDD (CRONFA'R CYNGOR) 2024/25 I 

2028/29 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn manylu ar y cynigion diweddaraf ar  
gyfer y rhaglen gyfalaf bum mlynedd  2024/25 i 2028/29, a oedd yn sail i'r broses 

Tudalen 8



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

ymgynghori ynghylch y gyllideb gyda'r aelodau a phartïon perthnasol eraill. 
Byddai'r adborth o'r broses ymgynghori hon, ynghyd ag unrhyw ddiweddariadau, 
yn cyfrannu i'r adroddiad terfynol ynghylch cyllideb y Rhaglen Gyfalaf a fyddai'n 
cael ei gyflwyno i'r Cabinet a'r Cyngor Sir ym mis Chwefror 2024.  
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL nodi a chymeradwyo'r adroddiad fel y 
rhaglen gyfalaf dros dro at ddibenion ymgynghori.   
 

8. CYNLLUN BUSNES 2024-27 Y CYFRIF REFENIW TAI - RHAGLEN 
BUDDSODDIADAU TAI SIR GAERFYRDDIN 
 
[NODER:  Gan fod y Cynghorydd H.A.L Evans  wedi datgan buddiant personol a 
rhagfarnol yn y mater hwn yn gynharach, gadawodd y cyfarfod cyn ystyried y 
mater a phenderfynu arno.] 
  
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad yn manylu ar Gynllun Busnes y Cyfrif Refeniw 
Tai 2024-27 a Rhaglen Buddsoddiadau Tai Sir Gaerfyrddin.  Ar ddechrau pob 
blwyddyn, mae cynllun busnes yn cael ei lunio sy'n egluro gweledigaeth yr 
Awdurdod a'r rhaglenni buddsoddiadau tai tair blynedd i gynnal a chadw ein stoc 
a darparu mwy o dai fforddiadwy. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL Y CANLYNOL I'R CYNGOR  
  
8.1    cadarnhau'r weledigaeth ar gyfer ein rhaglenni buddsoddiadau tai 

dros y tair blynedd nesaf;  
8.2    cytuno y gellir cyflwyno Cynllun Busnes 2024/25 i Lywodraeth 

Cymru;   
8.3     nodi'r cynnig newydd o ran rheoli ystadau a thenantiaethau a fydd yn 

sicrhau bod ein swyddogion tai yn fwy gweladwy a hygyrch, gan 
gydbwyso'r cymorth sydd ei angen ar denantiaid a'r angen i gymryd 
camau gorfodi pan fo angen;  

8.4     cytuno i weithredu cynllun peilot "tasgmon" newydd ar ystadau sydd 
â blaenoriaeth;  

8.5     nodi ymrwymiad yr Awdurdod i gadw nifer yr eiddo gwag mor isel â 
phosibl;  

8.6     cadarnhau ymrwymiad yr Awdurdod i leihau nifer yr atgyweiriadau o 
ddydd i ddydd sydd yn aros i'w gwneud trwy ailgydbwyso'r rhaniad 
rhwng contractwyr mewnol ac allanol, a datblygu fframwaith gwaith 
bach newydd;  

8.7    cadarnhau blaenoriaeth yr Awdurdod i brynu tir ychwanegol a 
datblygu safleoedd mawr ar gyfer tai Cyngor yn unig a nodi'r 
cyfraniad y mae'r cynllun hwn yn ei wneud i gynyddu'r cyflenwad o 
dai fforddiadwy;  

8.8     nodi ymrwymiad yr Awdurdod i wneud ein holl dai yn fwy effeithlon o 
ran ynni i denantiaid, gan sicrhau sgôr perfformiad ynni Band C o 
leiaf, gosod paneli solar ar doeau fel rhan o'n rhaglen gosod toeau 
newydd, a datblygu achos busnes dros osod ar raddfa fwy helaeth 
baneli solar ar gartrefi tenantiaid a chefnogi egwyddorion carbon 
sero net y Cyngor;  

Tudalen 9



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

8.9     cadarnhau ymrwymiad yr Awdurdod i barhau i gynyddu'r cyflenwad o 
dai arbenigol yn y sir;  

8.10   nodi pwysigrwydd y buddsoddiad sydd wedi'i gynnwys yn y cynllun 
hwn a'i rôl o ran ysgogi'r economi leol a chreu swyddi a chyfleoedd 
hyfforddi lleol  

  
9. CYFRIF REFENIW TAI A PHENNU RHENTI TAI 2024/25 

 
[NODER:  Gan eu bod wedi datgan buddiant yn y mater hwn yn gynharach, 
gadawodd  y Cynghorwyr H.A.L. Evans, P.M. Hughes a D. Price y cyfarfod cyn i'r 
Pwyllgor ystyried y mater a phenderfynu arno.] 
  
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn dwyn ynghyd y cynigion diweddaraf 
ar gyfer cyllidebau refeniw a chyfalaf y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai am 2024/2027. Hefyd 
roedd yr adroddiad yn manylu ar sut y bydd rhenti'n cynyddu ar gyfer 2024/25. 
  
Tynnwyd sylw'r Cabinet at y ffaith nad oedd yr argymhelliad cyntaf a welir yn y 
grynodeb yn y fersiwn Saesneg yn egluro'r cynnydd yn yr un modd â'r crynodeb 
yn y Gymraeg lle'r oedd yr argymhelliad yn rhoi diffiniad pellach o'r categorïau o 
gynnydd.  Felly, gofynnodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau i'r pwyntiau 
ychwanegol hyn gael eu hychwanegu ar ôl y frawddeg gyntaf o'r argymhelliad 
cyntaf.  Tynnodd sylw'r Cabinet hefyd at welliant bach i'r trydydd argymhelliad ac 
eglurodd y bydd y rhent ar gyfer sylfeini garejis yn cynyddu o £2.08 i £2.22 nid 
£2.25 i £2.40 fel y nodir yn yr adroddiad.  
  
Yn amodol ar gynnwys y gwelliannau uchod,  
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL Y CANLYNOL I'R CYNGOR 
  
9.1     cynyddu'r rhent tai cyfartalog o 6.5% (£6.47) fesul preswylfa yr 

wythnos oddi mewn i derfynau Polisi Rhenti Tai Cymdeithasol 
Llywodraeth Cymru (gan gynnwys y camau cynnydd ar gyfer 
tenantiaid sy'n is na'r rhenti targed)  
- bydd cynnydd o 6.39% yn digwydd i renti eiddo sydd ar y rhenti 
targed 
- bydd eiddo lle mae rhent yn is na'r rhent targed yn cynyddu 
6.39%      
yn ogystal â'r cynnydd mwyaf posibl o £1.00 
- caiff y rhenti hynny sy'n uwch na'r targed eu rhewi hyd nes eu bod 
yn unol â'r rhent targed a fydd yn creu Cynllun Busnes cynaliadwy, 
yn cynnal Safon Tai Sir Gaerfyrddin a Mwy (STSG+) ac yn cyflawni 
Cynllun Cyflawni yr Awdurdod ar gyfer Adfywio a Datblygu Tai; 

9.2     parhau â'r camau cynnydd mwyaf posibl o £1 a ganiateir ar gyfer 
rhenti sy'n is na'r rhenti arfaethedig ar gyfer pob math o stoc; 

9.3      cynyddu rhenti garejis 9.3% o £9.00 i £9.60 a sylfeini garejis o £2.08 i 
£2.22; 

9.4      gweithredu'r Polisi ynghylch Taliadau am Wasanaethau sydd wedi'i 
ddiwygio i sicrhau bod y tenantiaid sy'n elwa ar wasanaethau 
penodol yn talu am y gwasanaethau hynny (Atodiad C i'r adroddiad);  

Tudalen 10



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

9.5     cynyddu'r taliadau am ddefnyddio ein gwaith trin carthffosiaeth yn 
unol â'r cynnydd mewn rhenti; 

9.6     cymeradwyo Cyllideb y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai ar gyfer 2024/27 (cyllidebau 
dangosol oedd rhai 2025/26 a 2026/27), fel y nodwyd yn Atodiad A i'r 
adroddiad; 

9.7     cymeradwyo'r Rhaglen Gyfalaf arfaethedig a'r cyllido perthnasol ar 
gyfer 2024/25 , a'r gwariant mynegiannol a bennwyd ar gyfer 2025/26 
i 2026/27, fel y'u nodwyd yn Atodiad B i'r adroddiad. 

 
10. ADRODDIAD MONITRO CYLLIDEB REFENIW Y CYNGOR 

 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad monitro'r gyllideb refeniw a oedd yn rhoi'r 
wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am y sefyllfa gyllidebol fel yr oedd ar  31 Hydref 2023, o 
ran 2023/24.  
  
Yn gyffredinol, roedd yr adroddiad monitro yn rhagweld gorwariant ar gyfer y 
flwyddyn ar lefel adrannol o £10,900k ac yn rhagweld gorwariant o £5,312k ar 
gyllideb refeniw net yr Awdurdod. 

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL  

10.1    derbyn adroddiad monitro'r gyllideb, a nodi'r sefyllfa gyllidebol a'r 
camau unioni priodol a gymerwyd; 

10.2    O ran gorwariant sylweddol ar feysydd penodol o'r gyllideb, bydd y 
Prif Swyddogion a'r Penaethiaid Gwasanaeth yn adolygu'n feirniadol 
yr opsiynau sydd ar gael iddynt er mwyn mynd i'r afael â'r effaith 
barhaus.  

11. DIWEDDARIAD RHAGLEN GYFALAF 2023/24 
 
Cafodd y Cabinet adroddiad a oedd yn rhoi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am y 
sefyllfa gyllidebol ar gyfer rhaglen gyfalaf 2023/24, fel yr oedd ar 31 Hydref 2023 
gan fanylu ar y prosiectau newydd a'r trosglwyddiadau ariannol i'w nodi a'u 
cymeradwyo gan y Cabinet. Nododd Atodiad A i'r adroddiad wariant net a 
ragwelir o £89,434k o gymharu â chyllideb net weithredol o £142,641k, gan roi 
amrywiad -£53,207k. 
  
Roedd y gyllideb net yn cynnwys rhaglenni cyfalaf gwreiddiol y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai 
a'r Gronfa Gyffredinol a gymeradwywyd gan y Cyngor ar 1 Mawrth a llithriad o 
2022/23. Roedd rhai cyllidebau hefyd wedi cael eu diwygio yn unol â’r 
gwahaniaethau yn y dyraniadau grant gwirioneddol o gymharu â'r dyraniadau 
disgwyliedig pan gafodd y rhaglen ei chymeradwyo, a grantiau newydd oedd 
wedi dod i law yn ystod y flwyddyn hyd yn hyn. Dylid nodi, yn dilyn ad-drefnu 
adrannol, bod prosiectau y gwasanaethau eiddo a adroddwyd yn flaenorol fel 
rhan o'r Adran Lle a Seilwaith bellach yn rhan o adroddiadau portffolio Adran y 
Prif Weithredwr.  
  
Roedd Atodiad B i'r adroddiad yn nodi'r prif amrywiadau ym mhob adran. 
  
 

Tudalen 11



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL  
  
11.1   bod yr adroddiad ar ddiweddaru'r rhaglen gyfalaf 2023/24 yn cael ei 

dderbyn; 
11.2.  bod y prosiectau newydd, fel y manylwyd arnynt yn yr adroddiad, yn 

cael eu nodi a'u cytuno, a'u bod yn cael eu hariannu o danwariant 
taliadau cyfalaf y flwyddyn gyfredol.  

  
12. CYNLLUN GOSTYNGIADAU'R DRETH GYNGOR 2024/25 

 
[NODER:  Gan eu bod wedi datgan buddiant yn y mater hwn yn gynharach, 
gadawodd  y Cynghorwyr L.D. Evans a D. Price ac W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr y 
cyfarfod cyn i'r Pwyllgor ystyried y mater a phenderfynu arno.] 
  
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad yn manylu ar Gynllun Gostyngiadau'r Dreth 
Gyngor ar gyfer 2024/25. 
  
Mae'r cynllun safonol a gyflwynwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer 2013/14 a 
(gyda mân welliannau) y blynyddoedd dilynol, yn gynllun unffurf i Gymru gyfan, er 
bod elfennau cyfyngedig o ddisgresiwn lleol ar gael i Awdurdodau Lleol. Er bod 
hwn yn gynllun Cymru gyfan, roedd yn ofynnol i Gynghorau unigol yn ôl y 
Rheoliadau Gofynion Rhagnodedig i fabwysiadu Cynllun Gostyngiadau'r Dreth 
Gyngor yn ffurfiol erbyn 31 Ionawr bob blwyddyn. Manylwyd ar yr elfennau 
cyfyngedig o ran disgresiwn lleol a'r polisi a fabwysiadwyd gan y Cyngor mewn 
perthynas â'r disgresiwn hynny yn yr adroddiad.   
  
Yn amodol ar gymeradwyo'r rheoliadau gan ddod i rym ar 19 Ionawr, 2024  
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL Y CANLYNOL I'R CYNGOR 
  
12.1  bod Cynllun safonol Cymru Gyfan ar gyfer Gostyngiadau'r Dreth 

Gyngor a ddarperir yn Rheoliadau Cynlluniau Gostyngiadau'r Dreth 
Gyngor a Gofynion Rhagnodedig (Cymru) 2013 yn cael ei 
fabwysiadu'n ffurfiol; 

12.2   gweithredu'r ffigurau uwchraddio blynyddol (a ddefnyddir wrth gyfrifo 
hawl) a'r diwygiadau technegol eraill sydd wedi'u cynnwys yn 
Rheoliadau Cynlluniau Gostyngiadau'r Dreth Gyngor (Gofynion 
Rhagnodedig a'r Cynllun Diofyn) (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2024, a fydd yn 
dod i rym ar 19 Ionawr 2024 a bod y rheoliadau hyn yn cael eu 
cymhwyso mewn perthynas â Chynllun Gostyngiadau'r Dreth Gyngor 
a wnaed ar gyfer y flwyddyn ariannol sy'n dechrau ar 1 Ebrill 2024; 

12.3   parhau i arfer ei ddisgresiwn o ran elfennau disgresiwn cyfyngedig y 
cynllun rhagnodedig, fel y'u hamlinellir yn y Crynodeb Gweithredol  

          yn yr adroddiad  
  
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 12



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

13. DEDDF TRWYDDEDU 2003 ADOLYGIAD O'R BOLISI TRWYDDEDU AC 
ASESIADAU EFFAITH GRONNOL 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad yn manylu ar yr adolygiad o Bolisi Trwyddedu 
ac Asesiadau Effaith Gronnol yr Awdurdod.  Mae'n ofynnol yn ôl y ddeddfwriaeth 
i'r 'r polisi trwyddedu gael ei adolygu bob pum mlynedd ac Asesiadau Effaith 
Gronnol bob tair blynedd, er mwyn sicrhau eu bod dal yn briodol. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL I'R CYNGOR  
  
13.1   mai opsiwn tri, fel y nodir yn y Crynodeb Gweithredol, oedd yr opsiwn 

polisi mwyaf priodol ar gyfer yr Asesiadau Effaith Gronnol i 
hyrwyddo'r amcanion trwyddedu yn Sir Gaerfyrddin orau; 

13.2    cymeradwyo Datganiad y Polisi Trwyddedu sy'n adlewyrchu'r opsiwn 
a ddewiswyd. 

 
14. POLISI CYFLOGAU ATHRAWON ENGHREIFFTIOL 2023/24 

 
[NODER:  Gan eu bod wedi datgan buddiant yn y mater hwn yn gynharach, 
gadawodd  y Cynghorwyr L.D. Evans ac A. Vaughan-Owen a J. Morgan, 
Pennaeth Tai y cyfarfod cyn i'r Pwyllgor ystyried y mater a phenderfynu arno.] 
  
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn manylu ar y Polisi Cyflogau 
Athrawon Enghreifftiol 2023/24 a oedd wedi cael ei ddiweddaru i gynnwys tâl mis 
Medi 2023 fel y nodir yn y Ddogfen Cyflog ac Amodau Athrawon Ysgol (Cymru) 
2023. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo Polisi Cyflogau Athrawon 
Enghreifftiol 2023/24 cyn iddo gael ei ddosbarthu i'r ysgolion er mwyn i'w 
Cyrff Llywodraethu ei fabwysiadu'n ffurfiol.  
  

15. POLISI CYFLOG ATHRAWON DIGYSWLLT MODEL 2023/24 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad yn manylu ar y Polisi Cyflogau Athrawon 
Digyswllt Enghreifftiol diwygiedig hwn i gynnwys tâl mis Medi 2023 fel y nodir yn 
y Ddogfen Cyflog ac Amodau Athrawon Ysgol (Cymru) 2023.  At ddibenion y 
polisi hwn, mae athrawon digyswllt yn cyfeirio at athrawon nad ydynt yn dod o 
dan reolaeth Cyrff Llywodraethol yr Ysgol e.e. Athrawon Peripatetig, Athrawon 
Bro, Athrawon a Gyflogir yn Ganolog etc. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo Polisi Cyflogau Athrawon 
Digyswllt Enghreifftiol 2023/24.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 13



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

 
16. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 

AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN FATER BRYS 
YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972. 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau eraill o fater brys. 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CADEIRYDD       DYDDIAD 
 

Tudalen 14



Hydref 2023 

 
 

CYNLLUN DATBLYGU LLEOL DIWYGIEDIG SIR GAERFYRDDIN (2018- 2033) 

ASESIAD CYNALIADWYEDD INTEGREDIG AC ASESIAD RHEOLIADAU CYNEFINOEDD 
(GAN GYNNWYS ATODIADAU) 

YMGYNGHORI PELLACH 
Y Pwrpas:  
Bwrw ymlaen â pharatoi'r Cynllun Datblygu Lleol Diwygiedig hyd at y cam archwilio a 
mabwysiadu. 

Yr argymhellion / penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 
• Ystyried a chymeradwyo cynnwys yr Asesiad Cynaliadwyedd Integredig (gan gynnwys Atodiad 

1) a'r Asesiad Rheoliadau Cynefinoedd (gan gynnwys Atodiad 1 a 2) ar gyfer ymgynghoriad 
cyhoeddus ffurfiol fel dogfennau ategol i Gynllun Datblygu Lleol diwygiedig Sir Gaerfyrddin 
(CDLl).  

• Cymeradwyo cyflwyno'r dogfennau a'r ymatebion a gafwyd yn ystod yr ymgynghoriad fel rhan 
o'r archwiliad.  

• Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i swyddogion wneud unrhyw addasiadau teipograffyddol yn ôl yr 
angen, i wella eglurder o ran ystyr. 

Y rhesymau:  
• Cydymffurfio â rhwymedigaethau statudol y Cyngor o ran paratoi a datblygu CDLl Diwygiedig 

ar gyfer Sir Gaerfyrddin yn unol â'r gweithdrefnau statudol. 
• Sicrhau bod paratoi'r CDLl Diwygiedig yn cydymffurfio â'r gofynion gweithdrefnol angenrheidiol 

fel y nodir mewn deddfwriaeth ac yn y canllawiau. 
• Adlewyrchu'r effaith sy'n deillio o gyhoeddi Canllawiau CNC ar lefelau Ffosffad mewn 

Ardaloedd Cadwraeth Arbennig Afonol gwarchodedig a goblygiadau hyn o safbwynt rheoliadau 
cynefinoedd. 

 
Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad                    OES  

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                      NAC OES  

YR AELOD CABINET SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-             
 
Cyng. Ann Davies, yr Aelod Cabinet dros Faterion Gwledig a Pholisi Cynllunio 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 

Lle a Seilwaith 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: Rhodri 
Griffiths 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: Ian R Llewelyn 

Swyddi: 

Pennaeth Lle a Chynaliadwyedd 
 
Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio 

Cyfeiriadau e-bost: 
RGriffiths@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
IRLlewelyn@sirgar.gov.uk 

 
  

Cyfarfod y Cabinet 
29 Ionawr 2024

Tudalen 15

Eitem Rhif  6

mailto:RGriffiths@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:IRLlewelyn@sirgar.gov.uk


Hydref 2023 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033 
Integrated Sustainability Assessment and Habitat Regulations Assessment  

Further Consultation 

1. BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
This report follows the resolution of County Council on the 9th of March 2022 to prepare a second 
Deposit version of the Revised Local Development Plan (LDP) and the Plans subsequent publication for 
public consultation between the 17th February to 14th April 2023.  It seeks to reflect the ongoing 
challenges procedurally in meeting the requirements in relation to the habitat regulations arising from 
the NRW guidance on phosphate levels in protected riverine SACs and water quality and the need to 
ensure that the preparation of the Plan and the consideration of its scope and content is procedurally 
compliant in legislative and regulatory terms.   
 
This report seeks authorisation to undertake a further consultation on the following supporting 
documents: 

• Integrated Sustainability Assessment (including 1st Addendum) and  
• Habitat Regulations Assessment (including 1st and 2nd Addendums)  

 
The consultation will be for a six-week period in line with guidance with any responses received be 
forwarded as part of the submission to the Welsh Government of the Revised LDP for examination. It 
should be noted that this consultation relates only to the documents above and does not include the 
content of the 2nd Deposit Revised LDP.   
 
Both documents will develop through the reporting process and to the point of publication.  This reflects 
the availability of some pieces of evidence and timelines associated with their preparation, input and 
information from key partners and to ensure are up to date at the point of publication.  
 
Please note that the appended documents update larger appraisals which have previously been subject 
to public consultation. These are available to view on our website through the links below. 
 
Integrated Sustainability Assessment (including 1st Addendum)  
The Integrated Sustainability Assessment (including 1st Addendum) (ISA) considers the social, 
economic, and environmental effects of the second Deposit Revised LDP. It incorporates several 
statutory requirements into a single document which enables a more transparent and holistic 
assessment of the sustainability implications of the proposals contained in the Revised LDP. 
 
The ISA features the joint Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Report and Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA), alongside a Welsh Language Impact Assessment (WLIA), an Equality Impact Assessment 
(EqIA), elements of a Health Impact Assessment (HIA), Local and National Well-being Goals, and other 
considerations related to the environment including NRW’s Area Statement and the Section 6 Duty (to 
maintain and enhance biodiversity and promote the resilience of ecosystems). 
 
Integrated Sustainability Appraisal - Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) (gov.wales) 
 

 
  

Tudalen 16

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1230998/isa-report-2nd-deposit-rldp.pdf


Hydref 2023 

 
Habitat Regulations Assessment (including 1st and 2nd Addendums)  
As part of the Habitats Regulations, the Council is required to assess whether the Revised LDP is likely 
to have a significant effect on the integrity of any European Site alone or in combination with other plans 
and projects. This mandatory process is known as a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).  This 
latest consultation on the HRA seeks to ensure the procedural processes of the Revised LDP are fully 
considered including further addressing issues of Phosphates and reflecting the subsequent work 
undertaken and contextual changes since its initial HRA reports publication. 
 
HRA Report - hra-report-january-2020.pdf (gov.wales) 
HRA Addendum Report -hra-addendum-2nd-rldp.pdf (gov.wales) 
 
Next Steps 
Following approval, the above documents will be made available for public consultation for a 6-week 
period.  The responses received will along with the representations to the 2nd Deposit LDP and all the 
evidence base and supporting documents be submitted to the Welsh Government for Examination. 
 
Amendments to the timetable as set out within the Delivery Agreement will be undertaken as necessary 
and agreed with the Welsh Government in accordance with Regulations and through the delegation 
provided at Council on the 9th March 2022.  While it is recognised that the timeline to adoption is not 
entirely within the gift of the council, officers will continue to work proactively towards the adoption of the 
Plan by the end of the next calendar year.   
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES  
 

 
 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 
Signed:             R. Griffiths                                                    Head of Place and Sustainability                           

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 
 

Finance 
 

ICT 
 

Risk 
Management 
Issues 

 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 
YES YES YES NONE 

 
NONE 

 
YES NONE 

 

Tudalen 17

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1231222/hra-report-january-2020.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1231221/hra-addendum-2nd-rldp.pdf


Hydref 2023 

Legal   
The preparation of the Revised LDP reflects the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, the requirements of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 and secondary 
legislation in the form of the Local Development Plan (Regulations) Wales (As amended) 
2015.  
 
Its preparation also has appropriate regard to other sources of primary and secondary 
legislation including the Environment (Wales) Act and the Well-being of Future Generations 
Act 2015. It must also have regard to the provisions of the Habitat Regulations as transposed 
into the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and our legal 
duties as competent authority. 
 
The preparation of the Deposit LDP is in accordance with the 2004 Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act. It is also in line with national regulations and guidance in 
relation to its scope and content. 

 

Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

The Revised LDP identifies and develops the links and requirements necessary to ensure the 
Plan, and the processes in its preparation are compatible with Carmarthenshire County 
Council’s well-being objectives.  It also ensures alignment with the national Well-being Goals 
set out within the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015.  Through its land use planning 
policies, the Revised LDP will seek to promote the principles of sustainability and sustainable 
development by facilitating the creation of communities and local economies which are more 
sustainable, cohesive and provide access to local services and facilities and reducing the need 
to travel.   

The integration of sustainability as part of the preparation of the LDP is reflected in the 
undertaking of a Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment reflecting 
national and international legislative requirements.  The formulation of the Revised LDP will 
closely consider matters of sustainability and will be prepared with the outcomes of the Plan 
measured in light of the Sustainability Appraisal indicators. This iterative approach ensures 
sustainability is at the heart of the Plan and that it is reflective of the requirements emanating 
from the Wellbeing and Future Generations Act 2015 and the Carmarthenshire Well-being Plan.  

The LDP will have full regard to the national legislative provisions and will relate and have 
regard to the Carmarthenshire Well-being Plan.  They will be assessed against the National 
and local Well-being Objectives.  The Revised LDP will ensure the requirements emanating 
from the Act are fully and appropriately considered within the Plan, reflective of its duties. 

Tudalen 18



Hydref 2023 

Finance   
 Financial costs to date are covered through the financial provisions in place - including 
reserves and growth bids as required.   
 
Should the Place and Sustainability Division Budget not be able to provide further funding 
necessary to meet the statutory requirements emerging from the specialist input necessary 
to address the phosphates impacts then an application will be made for further funding. In 
addition, we will look to share financial burden of such work with partners and seek 
financial assistance (where applicable) from the Welsh Government as well as maximising 
grant income (where available). 
 
The Delivery Agreement, in making reference to such matters, outlines the Council’s 
commitment to prepare and adopt an up to date LDP in accordance with the Council’s 
statutory duty. 
 
Staffing Implications 

Whilst the progression of the Revised LDP will be delivered through current staffing 
provisions, any delay may require extensions to contracts of those temporary posts in 
place to support Plan preparation and delivery. Funding would be through current 
financial provisions and/or future growth items. 

 
 
 
 

 

Tudalen 19



Hydref 2023 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 
 
Signed:               R. Griffiths                                             Head of Place and Sustainability                                               

 
(Please specify the outcomes of consultations undertaken where they arise against 
the following headings) 

1. Scrutiny Committee request for pre-determination  TBC 
 
Scrutiny Committee   
Date the report was considered:-  
Scrutiny Committee Outcome/Recommendations:- 
 
 
 
 

 
2.Local Member(s)   
The content of the documents set out in this report, will be subject to full public 
consultation.  Members will be engaged throughout the Plan making process. 
 
3.Community / Town Council  
The content of the documents set out in this report, will be subject to full public 
consultation.  Town/Community Council(s) are a specific consultee at statutory stages 
throughout the Plan making process. 
 
4.Relevant Partners   
The content of the documents set out in this report, will be subject to full public 
consultation.  Contributions have been made and will continue to be sought throughout the 
revision process.  
A range of partners are identified as specific and general consultees throughout the Plan 
making process. 
 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   
The content of the documents set out in this report, will be subject to full public consultation.  
Internal contributions have and will continue to be sought throughout the Plan making 
process.  

 
 

Tudalen 20



Hydref 2023 

CABINET MEMBER  PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW   
 
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

Second Deposit 
Revised Local 
Development Plan 

 Second Deposit Revised Local Development Plan 
(gov.wales) 
 

Revised Delivery 
Agreement 

 Delivery Agreement (gov.wales) 
 

Local Development Plan 
2018 - 2033 

 Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033 (gov.wales) 

Phosphates Webpage 
 

 How new phosphate targets may impact on your 
development (gov.wales) 

County Council meeting 
13 of January 2021 
(agenda item 7.4 refers) 

 Agenda for County Council on Wednesday, 13th 
January, 2021, 10.00 am (gov.wales) 

County Council meeting 
9 March 2022 (agenda 
item 7.2 refers) 

 Agenda for County Council on Wednesday, 9th March, 
2022, 10.00 am (gov.wales) 

County Council meeting 
7 December 2022 
(agenda item 6.1 refers) 

 Agenda for County Council on Wednesday, 7th 
December, 2022, 10.00 am (gov.wales) 

 
 

Tudalen 21

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033/second-deposit-revised-local-development-plan/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033/second-deposit-revised-local-development-plan/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033/delivery-agreement/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/planning-ecology/new-phosphate-targets/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/planning-ecology/new-phosphate-targets/
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=4156&Ver=4
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=4156&Ver=4
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=5279&Ver=4
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=5279&Ver=4
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=5711&Ver=4
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=5711&Ver=4


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Revised 2018-2033
Local Development Plan

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA)
Addendum

sirgar.llyw.cymru
carmarthenshire.gov.wales

2nd Deposit Plan
January 2024 Tudalen 23



 

Contents 
 

1.   Introduction .................................................................................................... 2 

2.  Next Steps ....................................................................................................... 3 

Appendix A. Schedule of Focus Changes to the ISA Report ...................................... 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Abbreviations 

 

(r)LDP (revised) Local Development Plan (also referred to as the Plan) 

ALC Agricultural Land Classification 

BMV Best and Most Versatile (Agricultural Land) 

ISA Integrated Sustainability Appraisal  

DNS Development of National Significance 

LSA Local Search Area 

SA Sustainability Appraisal 

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment (also referring to the 
associated Directive 2001/42/EC, as ratified in Wales by The 
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004) 

 

Tudalen 24



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 2 of 14 

1.   Introduction  

1.1  Carmarthenshire County Council is preparing a revised Local Development Plan 

(rLDP). The rLDP is a land-use plan which outlines the location and quantity of 

development within Carmarthenshire for a 15-year period between 2018 and 2033, 

and will replace the existing adopted LDP. Over the course of the preparation of the 

rLDP, which has undergone several iterations, the accompanying Integrated 

Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) has been carried out in an iterative and integrated 

manner as part of the plan making process since 2018.  

1.2  The scope of the present ISA is to ensure that all proposals contained within the 2nd 

Deposit rLDP1 have been duly considered in terms of their potential social, economic, 

and environmental impacts. This ISA Addendum expands upon the findings and 

recommendations made by the ISA Report2 (February 2023), SA Report3 (January 

2020), the SA-SEA Initial Report (December 2018) of the Preferred Strategy, and an 

earlier, informal SA-SEA Scoping Report4 (July 2018), which are required under the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 20045, The Town and Country Planning (Local 

Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 20056 and The Environmental Assessment of 

Plans and Programmes Regulations 20047. Other statutory requirements, duties, and 

considerations which are incorporated into this holistic assessment are set out in 

Section 1.4 of the ISA Report. 

1.3  Where appropriate, the present document contains excerpts of, and cross references 

to, the above-mentioned assessments. Effort has been made to avoid the repetition of 

supplementary text which is not fundamental to the rationale and conclusions here 

made. This is to give an accessible and transparent record of the assessment of the 

rLDP throughout its preparation. Nevertheless, the present document should not be 

considered in isolation of earlier ISA effort.  

Consultation Response 

1.4  During the consultation of the rLDP and associated documentations, seven consultees 

including Welsh Government, Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authority, and 

members of the public submitted a total of eight ISA relevant representations. These 

have been subsequently considered within Appendix A which, alongside other officer-

led amendments, are proposed as focus changes to the ISA Report.  

1.5  For clarity, there have been no material changes to the rLDP itself since this time. 

  

 
 

1 Carmarthenshire County Council / Cyngor Sir Gâr - Second Deposit LDP (oc2.uk) 
2 2nd Deposit rLDP ISA Report. 
3 1st Deposit rLDP SA Report  
4 sa-scoping-report-final.pdf (gov.wales) 
5 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (legislation.gov.uk) 
6 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005 
(legislation.gov.uk) 
7 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Tudalen 25

https://carmarthenshire.oc2.uk/document/14
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1230998/isa-report-2nd-deposit-rldp.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223350/3-week-fc-sa-addendum.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1215166/sa-scoping-report-final.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2005/2839/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2005/2839/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 3 of 14 

2.  Next Steps 

2.1 The present ISA Addendum will be subject to public consultation. Copies of all ISA 
documentation are available from the Strategic Policy and Placemaking Section of 
Carmarthenshire County Council, or they can be viewed on online. The rLDP and 
associated documents can also be inspected at Customer Service Centres and public 
libraries during advertised opening hours. 

2.2 Your views can be made online via the Consultation Page. Alternatively, response 
forms are available upon request. 

If you wish to send your views in writing, please write to: 
 
Strategic Policy and Placemaking 
Place and Infrastructure 
3 Spilman Street 
Carmarthen 
Carmarthenshire 
SA31 1LE 

Or email: forward.planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk  

Please include ‘ISA’ within the subject line. 

2.3 Representations must be received by the relevant date and time stated upon the 
Consultation Page. Comments submitted after this date may not be considered. 

2.4 To ensure that the requirements of the Regulations are met, it will be necessary to 
consider all further changes to the rLDP following the formal consultation and 
examination process (including Matters Arising Changes recommended within the 
Inspector’s Final Report). Therefore, additional ISA documentation will be published at 
this time. 

 

Tudalen 26

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/consultation-performance/current-consultations/
mailto:forward.planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 4 of 14 

Appendix A. Schedule of Focus Changes to the ISA Report 

A schedule of proposed Focus Changes made to the ISA Report since its publication in February 2023 is presented below (updated text in red). These have 

either been made in response to the consultations received or are errata. Consultation responses (i.e., ISAREP#) can be found within the Consultation Report 

(as published for submission).    

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

1 2.9.4 In light of the Ref 2, inset footnote following this paragraph:  
 
“Due to the timing in preparing this present ISA report, demography and migration data from the Census 2021 
was not included in the baseline at the time of consultation. These updates and any other releases aim be 
reflected later.#”   
 
Footnote = #. Data from the Census 2021 has been subsequently considered, please refer to the ISA 
Addendum Report for a schedule of the associated alterations.  

To reflect changing 
evidence base.  

None.  

2 Appendix B In light of the timing of the release of Census 2021 data and the original consultation of the ISA Report 
(commenced February 2023), the following paragraphs are inserted accordingly:  
 
Chapter 10. Population. 
 
Between the last two censuses (held in 2011 and 2021), the population of Carmarthenshire increased by 2.2%, 
from around 183,800 in 2011 to around 187,900 in 2021. This means Carmarthenshire's population increased 
by a greater percentage than the overall population of Wales (Figure #). In 2021, Carmarthenshire was home 
to around 0.6 people per football pitch-sized piece of land. This area was the fifth-least densely populated out 
of all 22 local authority areas across Wales. 
 

 
Figure #. Population change in Carmarthenshire from Census 2011 to 2021.  
 

Alterations made in  
response to 
changing evidence 
base. 
 
NB: Source 
previously stated 
within Table 11 
(Chapter 16, page 
95). 

This must be 
integrated into 
the appraisal 
in light of 
shifting 
baseline (see 
accompanyin
g Ref 20). 

T
udalen 27



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 5 of 14 

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

Chapter 11. The Welsh Language. 
 
According to the Census 2021, the percentage of Welsh speakers in Carmarthenshire fell from 43.9% in 2011 
to 39.9% (Figure #). This was the largest decline in the percentage of Welsh speakers of any local authority 
area in the country. In 2021, there were around 5,200 fewer Welsh-speaking Carmarthenshire residents (over 
the age of three years) compared with 2011. The number of people who did not speak Welsh increased by 
10,300. Across Wales, the percentage of Welsh speakers fell from 19.0% to 17.8%. These new figures mean 
that the county now has the second highest number of Welsh speakers of all local authorities in Wales. 
Carmarthenshire remains the fourth highest in terms of the percentage of the population that are able to speak 
Welsh. 

 
Figure #. Age-standardised proportion of usual residents by self-reported health, Carmarthenshire. 
 
Chapter 12. Health and Well-being. 
 
According to the Census 2021, 7.2% of Carmarthenshire residents described their health as "very good", 
increasing from 45.7% in 2011. Those describing their health as "good" rose from 30.4% to 31.5%. The 
proportion of Carmarthenshire residents describing their health as "very bad" decreased from 2.1% to 1.7%, 
while those describing their health as "bad" fell from 6.0% to 5.2% (Figure #). 

T
udalen 28



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 6 of 14 

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

 
Figure #. Age-standardised proportion of usual residents by self-reported health, Carmarthenshire. 
 
Chapter 14. Economy 
 
According to the Census 2021, 51.4% of Carmarthenshire residents aged 16 years and over said they were 
employed (excluding full-time students), down from 52.2% in 2011. In 2021, just over 1 in 50 people (2.1%) 
said they were unemployed, compared with 3.3% in 2011. The percentage of retired Carmarthenshire residents 
increased from 26.7% to 27.8% (Figure #).   
 

T
udalen 29



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 7 of 14 

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

 
Figure #. Percentage of usual residents aged 16 years and over by economic activity status, Carmarthenshire. 

3 Appendix B 
(page 41) 

Reference to the previous Indicative Agricultural Land Classification should be amended throughout 
accordingly, reflecting BMV Guidance Note (Version 2.1 – published May 2021) and Predictive Agricultural 
Land Classification Map (Wales). Also, amend the following:  
 
According to the Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) data available to Version 2 of the Predictive Agricultural 
Land Classification (ALC) Map, there is no limited Grade 1 and Grade 2 present within Carmarthenshire. A 
patchwork of Grade 3b land is situated towards the south and southeast of the county following the Tywi river 
valley, stretching from Llandovery in the east, through Llangadog, Llandeilo and Carmarthen. Most land in 
Carmarthenshire is classified as Grade 4 and non-agricultural, with a small proportion of Grade 5 situated 
towards the northeast of the County, as indicated in the summary table provided below. 
  

ALC Grade Area (Ha) 

Non-Agricultural 35093.156 

1 9.165 

Baseline update, as 
informed by 
consultee (see 
ISAREP1). 

 

T
udalen 30



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 8 of 14 

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

2 520.476 

4 59270.802 

5 21170.404 

3a 17169.167 

3b 75638.112 

Urban 5549.273 
 

4 Appendix E 
Growth 
Options 

1st Deposit PG 10 Year (2019 Addendum Report) LDP Preferred Growth Option. Appraisal is ‘+/-‘yet the 

shading is that of minor negative effect rather than the yellow, change appropriately.  

Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see 
ISAREP10). 

None. 

5 Appendix F 
ISA 
Strategic 
Policies 

SP 2: Retail and Town Centres ISA1 has a positive assessment but no commentary. Explanatory text to be 
provided:  
 
The policy recognises the characteristics of provision in a traditional hierarchy ranging from localised provision 
through to larger population centres.  Proposals for retail and other town centre use development is likely to 
create employment and leisure opportunities which will contribute positively to a sustainable economy and 
social inclusion. 

Material clarity 
added in  
response to  
consultee (see 
ISAREP8). 

None.  

6 Appendix F 
ISA 
Strategic 
Policies 

SP 10: Gypsy and Traveller Provision ISA8 needed reassessing in light of review, following consultation 
response. Changing from neutral (‘0’) to positive effect (‘+’) accordingly.  Explanatory text to be provided:  
 
This policy seeks to conserve the way of life, traditions, and culture through the allocation of land designated 
for the Gypsy and Traveller community.  

Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see 
ISAREP8). This was 
an oversight of the 
assessor, while not 
covered in the 
‘Decision Making 
Influences’ for ISA8 
within the ISA 
Framework, SP10 
would provide a 
clear positive benefit 
(particularly towards 
8-1). 

No impact 
upon 
corresponding 
conclusions.   

7 Appendix F 
Strategic 
Policies 

SP14: Maintaining and Enhancing of the Natural Environment ISA9. Amend explanatory comment to the 
following: 
 
“This policy directly refers to the protection and enhancement of natural environment aspects and features (i.e., 
geology, landform, soils, land cover and hydrology) which help make up Carmarthenshire’s landscape.” 

Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see 
ISAREP9). 

None.  T
udalen 31



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 9 of 14 

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

8 Appendix F 
Strategic 
Policies 
SP16 (Page 
51) 

Amend the appraisal and associated explanatory commentary of SP16. 
 

ISA2 – “Encouraging sustainable transport will in turn may have positive effects on air quality, which currently 
impacts on certain designated sites in the County. Nevertheless, it is difficult to quantify the likelihood of this 
benefit actualising (particularly when considering other sources of NOx are typically larger contributors, e.g., 
rural land use). Additionally, the protection and enhancement of GBI and ecological networks as carbon sinks 
will have secondary benefits on biodiversity.” 
 
ISA7 Scoring amended from ‘0’ to ‘I’. 
 
ISA7 - The alignment of this policy with ISA7 is dependent on the choice of sites and manner in which they are 
developed. 
 
ISA8 Scoring amended from ‘0’ to ‘I’. 
 
ISA8 - The alignment of this policy with ISA8 is dependent on the choice of sites and manner in which they are 
developed. 
 
ISA9 Scoring amended from ‘0’ to ‘I’. 
 
ISA9 – Whilst this policy does not contain proposals for development, it is a driver of potential change through 
supporting climate-related developments (e.g., EV charges, flooding mitigation etc). The alignment of this 
policy with ISA9 is dependent on the choice of sites and manner in which they are developed. 
 
ISA12 Scoring amended from ‘+’ to ‘?’. 
 
ISA12 - Minimising the need to travel alongside the enhancement of GBI/ecological networks may have 
secondary health and wellbeing benefits.     

Alterations made in  
response to 
consultee (see 
ISAREP8) and 
officer review. 

None. 

9 Appendix G 

Specific 
Policies 
BHE2 
(Page 53) 

The assessment should include commentary related to the removal of SLA as a non-statutory designation, in 
alignment with the ISA Framework (i.e., the specific guidance originally agreed for ISA9). Commentary should 
provide an evidence-based evaluation of the utility of SLA designation, highlighting the drawbacks of boundary-
based compartmentalisation which the designation of SLAs currently promote. Crucially, the assessment 
should consider if/how proposals contained with the rLDP provide an enhanced platform for mitigating 
contemporary development pressures. Commentary of BHE2: Landscape Character should be amended 
accordingly: 
 
“BEH2 has positive effects across the ISA Objectives, with strong positive effects predicted on ISA9 
Landscape. The contemporary relevance and utility of present SLA designation is a contentious issue within 
the planning system. Research demonstrates that SLA designation as a tool for promoting landscape protection 
and due consideration is likely outdated, and that landscape character should instead be of primary concern. 

Alterations made in 

response to 

consultee (see 

ISAREP7). Officers 

agree that the 

absence of 

explanatory 

commentary is an 

oversight of both the 

previously published 

SA and the most 

None. 

T
udalen 32



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 10 of 14 

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

Therefore, the proposals set out within the rLDP (under BHE2) are aimed to embed a more holistic whole-
county approach to landscape character protection, and is considered to be more consistent and relevance to 
the current planning context (i.e., effectively endorsing an entirely landscape protection approach verses a 
subjective, spatially limited designation). As proposed within the supporting policy text (paragraph 11.460), a 
supplementary SPG (supported by the finding of a county-wide Landscape Character Assessment using a 
robust methodology) is proposed to identify and describe distinctive areas of landscape character. When 
considered holistically with the intentional wording of BHE2, well-designed developments may have the 
potentially to contribute positively to the landscape and visual character, and preserve and enhance or restore 
existing landscape character features.” 

recent appraisal 

within the ISA. 

10 Appendix G 
Specific 
Policies 
CCH1/2 

Amend the appraisal and associated explanatory commentary of CCH1/2. 
 
ISA9 Scoring amended from ‘+/-’ to ‘I’ for both policies. 
 
CCH1/2 – “Renewable energy is essential in ensuring a low carbon energy source and combatting climate 
change; therefore this policy has strong positive effects on ISA4 Climatic Factors. Proposals for renewable and 
low carbon energy development have the potential to have negative impacts on biodiversity, particularly when 
located in proximity to protected sites. These impacts can be someway mitigated by policy SP14: Maintaining 
and Enhancing the Natural Environment, however it is suggested that some wording is added into the policy 
itself to strengthen this mitigation. Any potential for negative impacts on ISA9 Landscape can be mitigated by 
policies SP11 Platemaking and Sustainable Places and BHE2: Landscape Character. These kind of 
developments are have potential to foster the development of skills associated with delivering innovative, 
climate responsive design.  
 
It is important to note that policies CCH1/2 do not propose tangible renewable energy developments, and they 
instead define the parameters in which associated applications are to be assessed. The Local Search Areas 
for solar projects were determined using a comprehensive range of constraints (details found within the 
Renewable Energy Assessment) and have been reviewed within the HRA in regard to their impact upon 
protected species. If planning applications were to be received on this sites, further impact assessment would 
be undertaken at a project level in line with the mitigative considering set out within the plan. Additionally, 
Carmarthenshire does contain one Pre-Assessed Areas for Wind Energy as set out in Future Wales 
(referenced within the ISA). Whilst it is not for the rLDP to adopt this, any proposal for large-scale wind energy 
may be classified as a Development of National Significance (DNS) and, as such, these type of planning 
applications would be determined by Welsh Ministers. As further outlined in Future Wales, Welsh Government 
has already modelled the likely impact on the landscape and has found them to be capable of accommodating 
development in an acceptable way (subject to conforming to criteria set out in Policy 18 [which, of many 
preventive measures, ensures that no unacceptable adverse visual impacts will occur to nearby communities 
and individual dwellings]).” 

Alterations made in 
response to 
consultee (see 
ISAREP8). 

No impact 
upon the 
subsequent 
conclusions. 

11 Appendix G 
Specific 
Policies 

Expand upon explanatory commentary for the assessment CCH3. 
 

Material clarity 
added in response to 

None. 

T
udalen 33



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 11 of 14 

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

CCH3 

(Page 57) 
“Provision of Electric Charging Points in new developments will ensure that there is a growing network of 
charging point across the county to encourage electric car use. This is turn will have benefits for ISA3 Air 
Quality and ISA4 Climatic Factors, by reducing transport related emissions. Improvements to air quality are 
also beneficial to ISA12 Health and Well-being, ISA2 Biodiversity and ISA8 Cultural Heritage. Impacts on the 
wider landscape are considered unlikely given the fact that EV charging placement is most likely to be situated 
by service centres and residential urban areas. Nevertheless, it should be recognised that a dispersed network 
of electric charging locations could place a negative impact upon the landscape, particularly within rural and 
open locations (and if regard to preserving sense of place, distinctiveness, and setting isn’t respected). 
Regardless, this policy is not tailed for supporting this type of development, but instead sets requirements for 
EV chargers to be integrated into residential and non-residential (where a carpark is provided) development.  
ISA9 is, therefore, scored as neutral (see appraisal of SP16 for the consideration of this described impact).” 

consultee (see 
ISAREP8).  

12 Appendix G 
Specific 
Policies 
CCH4 
(Page 57) 

Amend the appraisal and associated explanatory commentary of CCH4. 
 
ISA9 Scoring amended from ‘0’ to ‘I’. 
 
ISA9 – Whilst this policy does not contain proposals for development, it is a driver of potential change through 
supporting climate-related developments (e.g., EV charges, flooding mitigation etc). The alignment of this 
policy with ISA9 is dependent on the choice of sites and manner in which they are developed.  

Alterations made in  
response to officer 
review. 
 

None. 

13 Table 17 In light of amendments here proposed, the summary score given in Table 17/20 should be updated accordingly. See individual Ref. None. 

14 Table 23 The insertion of the assessment outcome of the following sites, as taken from site assessment proformas.   
 

S
it

e
 R

e
f 

N
a
m

e
 

IS
A

1
 

IS
A

2
 

IS
A

3
 

IS
A

4
 

IS
A

5
 

IS
A

6
 

IS
A

7
 

IS
A

8
 

IS
A

9
 

IS
A

1
0
 

IS
A

1
1
 

IS
A

1
2
 

IS
A

1
3
 

IS
A

1
4
 

IS
A

1
5
 

PrC2/MU1 
Cyn Safle Gwaith yr Hen Gastell, Llanelli / 

Former Old Castle Works, Llanelli 
+ -- +/- - -- + ++ - +/- ++ + + + + ++ 

PrC2/MU2 Trostre Gateway, Llanelli + - +/- + +/- + - 0 +/- ++ + + + + ++ 

SeC20/M

U1 

Parc Gwyliau Talacharn / Laugharne Holiday 

Park 
+ -- +/- + +/- + -- 0 +/- ++ + + + + ++ 

SeC4/MU

1 
Glannau Porth Tywyn / Burry Port Waterfront + -- +/- - -- +/- ++ - +/- ++ + + + ++ + 

 

Rectifying error. The 
summaries from 
these sites were 
absent from the final 
table contained 
within the ISA 
Report.   

No impact 
upon the 
subsequent 
conclusions 
raised in 
regard to 
rLDP 
allocations.  

15 Table 23 Amend site reference of ‘Tir ger Bryndeilog, Rhodfa Tywi’ and ‘Tir ger Arwynfa / Land adj Arwynfa’, respectively. 
 

Incorrect Notation  Correct Site Reference 

SuV15/h2 SeC15/h2 

SuV34/h1 SuV35/h1 
 

Error.  None. T
udalen 34



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 12 of 14 

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

16 Table 23 Update ISA7 scoring in line with updated baseline (as further reviewed on an individual site basis within Soil 
Topic Paper).  
 

Site Reference Name 
ISA7 Score 

Old Revised 

SeC7/h4 Gyferbyn â Pharc Morlais / Opposite Parc Morlais - -- 

SeC20/h2 
Tir cyfagos i Ysgol Lacharn / Land adj. Laugharne 

School 
- -- 

SuV8/h1 
Tir I'r dde o Dol y Dderwen / Land to the south of Dol y 

Dderwen 
- -- 

SeC20/h1 Pludds Meadow - -- 

SeC18/h6 
Tir i gefn Heol yr Orsaf / Land to the rear of Station  

Road 
- -- 

SuV63/h1 Tir yn Woodend / Land at Woodend - -- 

SuV61/h1 Tir yn Fferm Nieuport / Land at Nieuport Farm - -- 
 

Updated site 
allocation 
assessment in line 
with ISAREP1 and 
updated baseline 
data. 

Additional 
material 
clarity added. 
No impact 
upon 
associated 
conclusions.  
At the 
planning 
application 
stage, project-
level 
mitigation 
should be 
considered.  

17 Table 24 
ISA7 (part 
1) 

Amend paragraph to the following: 
 
Whilst Despite promoting the regeneration of contaminated land, the cumulative losses of finite quality soil 
resources from development occurring on greenfield sites (and those rates highly through the ALC in addition 
to a few instances of peatlands) will be widespread. This is demonstrated, in part, by 11.20% of the total 
hectarage of all site proposals being on Grade 3a, and 1.54% on Grade 2. Nevertheless, the majority of 
proposal area is situated on Grade 3b (46.4%), followed by Urban (15.66%) and Grade 5 (13.31%), as foretold 
by the BMV Soil Topic Paper. Additionally, the distribution settlement framework ensures negative impacts are 
not concentrated within a given area (appropriately situated) and is more likely to lead to the utilisation of 
dispersed brownfield fields throughout the County. 

Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see 
ISAREP1). 

None. 

18 Table 24  
ISA7 (part 
2) 

Insertion of new paragraph: 
 
Furthermore, there is only one mixed use allocation concerned with peatlands - Nant y Caws Regeneration 
and Mixed-Use Site (PrC1/MU3). Using the Peatlands of Wales Map, the site was found to cover a total 
peatland area of 2.429 ha (2.78% of site area in peripheral areas). At the planning application stage, project-
level mitigation should be considered in order to conserve these resources (protection is explicitly made within 
NE3, paragraph 11.421). Additionally, Local Search Area (LSA) North East of Farmers (A) and Mynydd 
Pencarreg (B) is 12.8% and 1.2%, respectively. Due consideration should be given if applications for solar 
projects are received on such land.  

Clarity added in  
response to  
consultee regard 
Peatlands (see 
ISAREP1). 

Additional 
material 
clarity added. 
No impact 
upon 
associated 
conclusions. 

19 Table 26 
(Chapter 8)  

ISA13 14-2 – monitoring indicator missing (possibly due to formatting error). Insert the following:  

ISA Objective Monitoring Indicator Target Data Source  

13-2 Increase levels of 
literacy (in both 

Ability to read and write 
Welsh. 
 

Annual increase (or at 
least no reduction). 

Stats Wales  
https://statswales.gov.
wales/Catalogue/Wels

Alterations made in  
response to officer 
review. 

None.  

T
udalen 35

https://datamap.gov.wales/layers/geonode:peatlands_of_wales_scg8
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-Language/welsh-skills-by-la
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-Language/welsh-skills-by-la


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 13 of 14 

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

Welsh and English) 
and numeracy 

(no annual numeracy/English 
literacy indicator could be 
found at time of writing – 
update when available)   

h-Language/Annual-
Population-Survey-
Welsh-
Language/welsh-skills-
by-la  

 

20 Table 5 Amend baseline summary for ISA11 Welsh Language:  
 
Future Baseline: Improving Declining  
 
Amend the summary text to the following:  
 
“Carmarthenshire is linguistically sensitive and has the second highest number of Welsh speakers out of any 
County in Wales. Recent data reveals that Welsh Language skills have fluctuated significantly, making the 
determination of likely future trends difficult. For instance, the Annual Population Survey 2020/21 suggests that 
the number of persons aged 3 and over in the county who say they can speak Welsh grown since the Census 
2011 36. Nevertheless, the latest Census data for 2021# found that Carmarthenshire is home to 72,838 Welsh 
speakers (a decrease of 5,210 since the last Census in 2011). Concerningly, this is the largest percentage 
point decrease of all local authorities in Wales. Additionally, by comparing the two most recent censuses, there 
has been a 4.8% increase in the number of people reporting that they have no skills in Welsh. The national 
target is for one million Welsh speakers by 2050, and some progress has been made in attaining this. It is 
important to recognise localised changes/declines may occur. Inward migration and other factors (including 
age structure, and other demographics) may negatively impact the proportion of Welsh speakers by challenging 
language transition, particularly within rural areas in Carmarthenshire which are known strongholds for the 
Welsh Language. Increases in the provision of Welsh medium schools and efforts for promoting language 
immersion seeks to improve rates over the long-term (potentially mitigating the adverse short-term effect 
created by inward migration). With regards to the extent of the Welsh language planning policy context, it will 
be important for the rLDP to mitigate likely impacts associated with its contained proposals.” 
 
Footnote = #. welsh-language-speakers-summary.pdf (gov.wales). Findings from the Census 2021 are 
considered to more likely represent an accurate account of the associated figures, particularly given the 
methodology of the Annual Population Survey. 
 

Provision for this 
was previously made 
in paragraph 2.9.4, 
and in light of Ref #. 

The 
environmental 
baseline 
underpins the 
subsequent 
appraisal and 
forms the 
likely 
evolution of 
conditions in 
absence of 
the rLDP. 
Following a 
review it was 
deemed that 
the enhanced 
baseline did 
not cause any 
further impact.  

21 See 
description 
accordingly. 

Non substantive corrections/amendments: 
 
Abbreviations add: AMR – Annual Monitoring Report 
1.4.8 “… use of the Welsh Language…”  
1.4.8 “…as inserted by section 11(3), PWA Planning (Wales) Act 2015).”  
1.4.9 “… the assessment of the Welsh Language within in the ISA…”  
3.0.1 “… legislation and guidance, and is...” 
3.0.1 “… level. The Plan's Its direct influence….” 

Alterations made in  
response to officer 
review. 

None.  

T
udalen 36

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-Language/welsh-skills-by-la
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-Language/welsh-skills-by-la
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-Language/welsh-skills-by-la
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-Language/welsh-skills-by-la
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-Language/welsh-skills-by-la
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1230436/welsh-language-speakers-summary.pdf


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

ISA Addendum  Page 14 of 14 

 

Ref Subject  Description Reason Implication  

3.2.3 “… towards capturing low-carbon and renewable technologies markets.” 
3.3.2 “... pertinent to Carmarthenshire such as exclusion, including the need to…” 
5.8.1 “The main limitations of the SA process at the LDP Preferred Strategy stage was relate to the fact that 
there is uncertainty over the” 
6.2.10 “…ISA11, please refer to the WLIA (Appendix H). 
6.2.12 “… Landscape and the Welsh Language.” 
6.2.13 “As is the case with any most development, some potential potentially negative impacts remained, 
particularly with regards to biodiversity, air quality, climatic factors, and the Welsh language. However, with 
suitable mitigation in place, these negative impacts can be avoided or reduced with suitable mitigation (as put 
forward by relevant mitigative policies). 
6.9.1 “…commonly noted, likely effects per purpose type of allocation presented above.” 
7.0.5 “… highlighted within these this assessment (Appendix I), although…” 
7.0.6 “… upon the Welsh Language. It is critical that due regard is made to the Welsh Language during the 
implementation of the rLDP, particularly in light of the associated findings of the Census 2021 (published 
following the WLIA). In addition to regularly monitoring (as proposed in Chapter 8 and within future AMRs), the 
publication of a dedicated SPG current to the proposed adoption of the rLDP will help ensure this.” 
 

T
udalen 37



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



sirgar.llyw.cymru
carmarthenshire.gov.wales

Revised 2018-2033
Local Development Plan

Habitats Regulations Assessment
2nd Addendum Report

2nd Deposit Plan
January 2024 Tudalen 39



Contents 

1 Introduction .............................................................................................................. 2 

1.1  Work Undertaken in Preparation for Submission. .................................................... 3 

2. Screening Stage ....................................................................................................... 5 

2.1  rLDP Allocations ..................................................................................................... 5 

2.2 Other rLDP Proposals ........................................................................................... 11 

2.3 In-Combination Effects .......................................................................................... 13 

2.4 Screening Summary ............................................................................................. 14 

3.  Appropriate Assessment ....................................................................................... 15 

3.1  Incorporation of Mitigation Measures .................................................................... 16 

3.2  Integrity Test ......................................................................................................... 19 

4. Conclusion .............................................................................................................. 21 

5.  Next Steps ............................................................................................................... 22 

Appendices ....................................................................................................................... 23 

Appendix A. Schedule of Focus Changes to HRA Addendum ......................................... 23 

Appendix B. Screening Commentary ............................................................................... 26 

rLDP Allocations .......................................................................................................... 26 

Other rLDP Proposals .................................................................................................. 43 

Appendix C. Phosphate Assessment ............................................................................... 48 

 

Abbreviations 

(r)LDP (revised) Local Development Plan 

AMP Asset Management Plan 

AoS Area of Search 

CBEEMS Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries European Marine Site 

HRA Habitat Regulations Assessment 

LSA(s) Local Search Area(s) 

MoU Memorandum of Understanding 

NRW Natural Resources Wales 

P Phosphorous  

SAC(s) Special Area(s) of Conservation 

SNCB Statutory Nature Conservation Body 

SPA(s) Special Protection Area(s) 

SPG Supplementary Planning Guidance 

SuDS Sustainable Drainage Systems 

WwTW Wastewater Treatment Works 

Tudalen 40



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 2 of 48 

1 Introduction  

1.0.1 Carmarthenshire County Council is preparing a revised Local Development Plan 

(rLDP). The rLDP is a land-use plan which outlines the location and quantity of 

development within Carmarthenshire for a 15-year period between 2018 and 2033, 

and will replace the existing adopted LDP. Over the course of the preparation of the 

rLDP, which has undergone several iterations, the accompanying Habitats Regulations 

Assessment (HRA) has been carried out in an iterative and integrated manner as part 

of the plan making process since 2018.  

 

1.0.2 The scope of the present HRA is to ensure that all allocations for proposed 

development contained within the 2nd Deposit rLDP1 have been duly considered in 

terms of their potential impact upon the National Site Network. This HRA 2nd 

Addendum (October 2023) expands upon the findings and recommendations made by 

the HRA Addendum2 (February 2023), HRA Report3 (December 2020) and an earlier, 

informal HRA Screening Report4 of the Preferred Strategy (December 2018), which 

are required under The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (as 

amended) 2017 (hereinafter referred to as the Regulations)5. 

 

1.0.3 Where appropriate, the present document contains excerpts of, and cross references 

to, the above-mentioned assessments. Effort has been made to avoid the repetition of 

supplementary text which is not fundamental to the rationale and conclusions here 

made. This is to give an accessible and transparent record of the assessment of the 

rLDP throughout its preparation, under the Regulations. Nevertheless, the present 

document should not be considered in isolation and signposting to earlier HRA effort 

has been provided accordingly.  

 

1.0.4 The publication of new guidance, in addition to an emerging evidence base, has 

resulted in the alteration of previous HRA effort (further noted in text as superseded).  

Regulation 19 Consultation Response 

1.0.5 Natural Resources Wales (NRW), as the Statutory Nature Conservation Body (SNCB), 

was consulted upon and provided comments on both the rLDP and the HRA6. In their 

response dated 14th April 2023, they advised that additional clarification would be 

needed to justify the conclusion of the HRA Addendum (Feb 2023) (i.e., with 

appropriate certainty and beyond reasonable scientific doubt) that the rLDP will not 

have an adverse effect on the integrity of riverine SACs.  

 
 

1 Carmarthenshire County Council / Cyngor Sir Gâr - Second Deposit LDP (oc2.uk) 
2 2nd Deposit Revised Local Development Plan HRA Addendum. February 2020. As amended 
Appendix A. 
3 Revised Local Development Plan HRA Report. January 2020. As amended by the HRA Addendum, 
Appendix A. 
4 rLPD HRA Screening Report of the Preferred Strategy. December 2018. 
5 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (legislation.gov.uk) 
6 Please find all responses within the Consultation Report. October 2018.  

Tudalen 41

https://carmarthenshire.oc2.uk/document/14
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1231221/hra-addendum-2nd-rldp.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1231222/hra-report-january-2020.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 3 of 48 

1.1  Work Undertaken in Preparation for Submission.  

1.1.1  In light of NRW comments and the emerging nature of associated guidance and 

ongoing works, a summary of evidential developments which have been undertaken 

since the publication of the HRA Addendum is provided below. Additionally, a schedule 

of proposed Focus Changes made to the HRA Addendum is further provided in 

Appendix A. 

1.1.2 A Statement of Common Ground7 between neighbouring Local Planning Authorities, 

NRW, and Dŵr Cymru has been prepared to address uncertainties related to cross-

catchment collaboration. Regard to the location of future development and its 

associated mitigation is also made to ensure that no further detriment, whether alone 

or in-combination, arises from future development. Additionally, the Nutrient 

Management Board for each respective SAC catchment will provide further certainty 

regarding the deliverability of cross-border mitigation measures (and benefit sharing 

thereof). As of November 2023 the terms of reference for the Nutrient Management 

Boards have been agreed. These shall facilitate the cross-nature partnership, 

information sharing between the affected Local Planning Authorities, and act as an 

agreed approach to their respective permissions process. Ultimately, this ensures that 

further development does not contribute towards a net increase in phosphorous 

pollution throughout each affected SAC catchment. 

 

1.1.3 As detailed within version 3.1 of advice from NRW8, there has been an ongoing Review 

of Permits of existing Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW)9 within SAC catchments 

throughout Wales. A collation of those WwTW with a revised permit can be found in 

the Topic Paper10. Additionally, it may now be possible to condition the timing of 

development through Grampian Conditions to correspond with the delivery of 

improvements to WwTW made by Dŵr Cymru, as scheduled under their appropriate 

Asset Management Plan (AMP)11. However, in light of the localised spatial nature of 

these factors, these will be considered on a case-by-case basis at the project level, 

and it is anticipated that further details will be presented within Supplementary 

Planning Guidance (SPG).  

 

1.1.4 A dedicated Topic Paper on Phosphorus has been prepared to support the evidence 

base of the rLDP. It summarises the work undertaken by Carmarthenshire County 

Council which has informed the development of measures to mitigate the adverse 

effects associated with development in P sensitive SAC catchments. Additionally, it 

discusses the implication of evidential changes which have been published since the 

HRA Addendum (e.g. the recent source apportionment report12 by NRW and Dŵr 

Cymru which indicates that 83% of the phosphorus pollution within the Afon Tywi SAC 

originates from the rural land-use sector).  

 
 

7 Supporting Sustainable Development within Carmarthenshire by Safeguarding Phosphorus 
Sensitive Riverine Special Areas of Conservation (Spring 2024). Statement of Common Ground. 
8 Natural Resources Wales / Advice to planning authorities for planning applications affecting 
phosphorus sensitive river Special Areas of Conservation.  
9 with a dry weather flow, final effluent discharge of =>20m3/day. 
10 Topic Paper: Phosphorous (Spring 2024). 
11 See  
12 SAC Rivers: Source Apportionment Reports | Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water (cymru.com) 

Tudalen 42

https://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/advice-to-planning-authorities-for-planning-applications-affecting-phosphorus-sensitive-river-special-areas-of-conservation/?lang=en
https://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/advice-to-planning-authorities-for-planning-applications-affecting-phosphorus-sensitive-river-special-areas-of-conservation/?lang=en
https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/en/community/environment/river-water-quality/sac-rivers


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 4 of 48 

 

1.1.5 Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion, and Pembrokeshire County Councils have worked in 

collaboration to devise the West Wales Nutrient Budget Calculator which has since 

been adopted across the region13. Based on peer-reviewed literature, this tool 

considers those mitigation measures which may have the capacity to remove all 

reasonable scientific doubt, in perpetuity, as to the effects of the rLDP allocations on 

the riverine SACs. Additionally, NRW have published the Mitigation Measures Menu14 

which acknowledges the efficacy and reliability of a wide range of measures which 

have the potential to reduce nutrient input into freshwater environments. This was, in 

part, formulated on a technical review of nutrient mitigation options commissioned by 

Carmarthenshire County Council, which, in turn, has been reviewed upon following the 

publication of the HRA Addendum15. 

 

1.1.6 The development of the Action Plan16 is ongoing to ensure alignment with the best 

available scientific evidence and guidance. To clarify paragraph 4.2.16 and 4.3.19 of 

the HRA Addendum, this living document will effectively build upon the Interim Action 

Plan and shall be finalised during the examination of the rLDP. Supplementary to the 

scope outlined previously, this document will provide further confidence in regard to 

phasing development in accordance with mitigation delivery; mitigation situation to 

prevent a net increase in phosphorous pollution associated with the development; 

quantifying the role which other catchment-based interventions could have in addition 

to constructed wetlands; the long-term operation of such interventions (in accordance 

with the lifetime of the development) and the management of captured phosphorous; 

and any unforeseen modifications to the rLDP recommended by the inspectors report.  

 

1.1.7 Signposting is given to the Nutrient Management Strategy17, developed by 

Carmarthenshire County Council, which sets out the framework for the Local Authority 

and its stakeholders to collaboratively restore and/or maintain the Conservation Status 

of Riverine SACs whilst enabling sustainable growth. 

 

1.1.8 There have been no material changes to the rLDP as a consequence of these works. 

  

 
 

13 West Wales Nutrient Budget Calculator NB: This supersedes previous notation of the 
Carmarthenshire Calculator. 
14 Mitigation Measure Menu External Version 2. Natural Resource Wales. River pollution summit 
action plan | GOV.WALES 
15 Ricardo (commissioned by Carmarthenshire County Council). Nutrient Mitigation Options Technical 
Review: Guidance on phosphorus mitigation options for use in Carmarthenshire. Phosphorus 
Mitigation  
16 Previously refer to as the ‘Afon Tywi and Afon Teifi Phosphorus Reduction Strategy’ within the HRA 
Addendum and rLDP.   
17 Carmarthenshire Nutrient Management Strategy. Spring 2024. 

Tudalen 43

https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.carmarthenshire.gov.wales%2Fmedia%2Fcenlpwx3%2Fnutrient-budget-calculator-west-wales.xlsx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://www.gov.wales/river-pollution-summit-action-plan
https://www.gov.wales/river-pollution-summit-action-plan
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1229656/ccc_eng-nutrient-mitigation-options-technical-review.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1229656/ccc_eng-nutrient-mitigation-options-technical-review.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1229656/ccc_eng-nutrient-mitigation-options-technical-review.pdf


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 5 of 48 

2. Screening Stage 

2.0.1 This Chapter has been prepared in accordance with the legislative requirements 

outlined within the HRA Report in Sections 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4 (pages 1 to 4) in addition 

to the methodology set out in Chapter 2 (pages 6 and 7), as amended by the HRA 

Addendum. In principle, it ensures all rLDP Allocations18 and Other rLDP Proposals 

are adequately appraised, and that the rLDP is procedurally compliant in line with the 

Regulations. Again, in the interest of clarity, no changes have been made to the 2nd 

Deposit rLDP since its publication for public consultation in February 2023.  

2.0.2 According to the Joint Nature Conservation Committee Protected Sites Designations 

Directory, there has been no further designations (or candidate thereof) added to the 

National Site Network within a 15km radius of Carmarthenshire since time of writing. 

Additionally, there has been no further publications relating to the characterisation of 

designated sites, conservation status, nor changes to the condition of their Qualifying 

Features since the HRA Addendum.  

2.0.3 The screening impact pathways featured in Task 2 of the HRA Report (subsequently 

amended in paragraph 3.2.1 of the HRA Addendum) have been reviewed and were 

found to remain appropriate.  

2.1  rLDP Allocations 

2.1.1  The screening outcome for each of the allocations against the potential effect 

mechanisms are summarised below in Table 1, as supplemented by site-specific 

commentary in Appendix B. Those allocations within a Phosphorus Sensitive SAC 

catchment are additionally screened within Appendix C.

 
 

18 rLDP Allocations hereinafter refers to those proposed development sites listed within Policies SG1: 
Regeneration and Mixed Use Sites, SG2: Reserve Sites, HOM1: Housing Allocations, EME3: 
Employment Proposals, and SP10: Gypsy and Traveller Provision. 

Tudalen 44



Table 1. Summary of HRA screening of 2nd Deposit rLDP Allocations which are not featured within the HRA Report (2020) or HRA Addendum (Feb 2023). For site-specific 

commentary and the explicit identification of the potentially affected National Site Network Sites in question, please refer to Appendix B. Y = Yes, allocation is identified to have 

a likely significant effect under this impact pathway (highlighted in grey); N = Allocation is NOT likely to cause effects under this impact pathway.  

Site Reference Name 

A
q

u
a

ti
c
 

M
a

ri
n

e
 

C
o

a
s

t 

M
o

b
il

e
 

S
p

e
c

ie
s
 

R
e
c
re

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

A
b

s
tr

a
c

ti
o

n
 

W
a

s
te

w
a

te
r 

P
h

o
s

p
h

a
te

s
 

A
ir

 

P
o

ll
u

ti
o

n
 

D
is

tu
rb

a
n

c
e
 

S
c

re
e

n
in

g
 

C
o

n
c

lu
s

io
n

 

PrC1/MU3 Nant y Caws Regeneration and Mixed-Use Site N N N N N N N N N N Out 

PrC2/GT1 Land at Penyfan, Trostre, Llanelli N N N Y N N Y N N Y In 

PrC2/GT2 Penybryn (extension), Bynea, Llanelli Y Y N Y N N Y N N N In 

PrC2/h20 Harddfan N N N N N N Y N N N In 

PrC2/MU1 Former Old Castle Works, Llanelli Y Y N Y N N Y N N N In 

SeC20/MU1 Laugharne Holiday Park Y Y N N N N N N N Y In 

SeC3/h3 Llys Felin Y Y N Y N N N N N Y In 

SeC4/MU1 Burry Port Waterfront Y Y N Y N N Y N N Y In  

SeC6/h2 Land between Clayton Road and East of Bronallt Road N N N N N N N N N N Out 

SuV1/h1 Adjacent Fron Heulog N N N N N N N N N N Out 

SuV16/h1 Llwynddewi Road Y N N Y N N N Y N Y In 

SG2/1 Former Morlais Colliery, Llangennech Y Y N Y N N N N N Y In 

SG2/2 Land adjacent to Silver Terrace, Burry Port Y Y N Y N N N N N Y In 

SG2/3 Cross Hands Employment Zone Y Y N Y N N N N N Y In 

SG2/4 Former Ennis Caravans, Cross Hands Y Y N Y N N N N N Y In 

 

T
udalen 45



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 7 of 48 

Effects of Increased Development: Phosphorous Loading 

2.1.2  This subsection must be considered in conjunction with paragraphs 3.2.3 to 3.2.13 of 

the HRA Addendum. In light of an additional site being screened in for phosphates 

(SuV16/h1), a revised compilation of all rLDP Allocations has been provided (Table 2). 

Table 2. Summary of all residential rLDP Allocations screened in for likely significant effects on the 

integrity of Afon Teifi SAC or Afon Tywi SAC due to phosphates. This table supersedes all previous 

consolidations (including Table 7 featured within HRA Addendum). * = site is also part commitment; 

number is exclusive of units with extant permissions. 

Phosphate 

Sensitive 

Catchment  

rLDP Allocation 

Ref 
Name Units 

Afon Teifi SAC  

SuV38/h1 Maes y Bryn 6 

SuV37/h3 Land adjacent to Lleinau 10 

SuV37/h2 Land south of Cae Coedmor 20 

SuV39/h1 Adjacent Yr Hendre 7 

SuV33/h1 Land opposite Brogeler 5 

SuV36/h2 Land at Bryndulais 16 

SuV36/h1 Cae Pensarn Helen 6 

SeC13/h1 Adjacent Y Neuadd 10 

SuV43/h1* Blossom Inn 5* 

SeC12/h1 Trem Y Ddol 17 

SeC12/h3 Land rear of Dolcoed 20 

SeC14/h2 Land adjacent Maescader 24 

SeC14/h1 Blossom Garage 20 

SuV35/h1 Land adjacent Arwynfa 6 

Afon Tywi SAC  

SuV16/h1* Llwynddewi Road 2* 

SuV17/h1 
Rear of former joinery, 

Station Road 
35 

SuV51/h1 Land opposite Village Hall 8 

SeC16/h1 Llandeilo Northern Quarter 27 

SeC15/h2 
Land adjacent to Bryndeilog, 

Tywi Avenue 
8 

SeC17/h1 
Land opposite Llangadog 

C.P School 
16 

SeC17/h2 Land off Heol Pendref 8 

 

  

Tudalen 46



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 8 of 48 

2.1.3  There is also one mixed use and employment allocation situated within the Tywi SAC 

P Sensitive Catchment (SeC16/MU1 & SeC16/E1) however, these sites are screened 

out under this impact pathway in accordance with NRW’s advice19. Additionally, the 

rLDP also contains committed development within the respective SAC P Sensitive 

Catchments (much of which is under construction or has already been built). Full 

details of screening under this impact pathway can be found within the dedicated 

Appendix C, with further context contained within the HRA Addendum and Topic 

Paper20.  

2.1.4 Reference is made to paragraph 1.4.3 of the HRA Report outlining that there is no 

requirement to effectively reassess commitments under the provisions of the 

Regulations, particularly where they have previously been found to be acceptable by 

the competent authority and in consultation with the SNCB. This approach is consistent 

the Habitats Regulations Assessment Handbook21, in addition to advice published by 

NRW specifically concerning those situated within SAC P Sensitive Catchments22. 

Effects Associated with Development: Wastewater (Updated)  

2.1.5  This subsection must be considered in conjunction with paragraphs 3.2.70 to 3.2.75 

and 3.2.77 to 3.2.79 of the HRA Report (as amended by Ref 27 and 28 of the HRA 

Addendum). Paragraphs 3.2.76 and 3.2.80 of the HRA Report are superseded in light 

of the below. 

2.1.6  It should be recognised that WwTW capacity is subject to change and, therefore, the 

rationale originally given within the HRA Report for the detailed screening of individual 

rLDP Allocations must be reflected accordingly. Dŵr Cymru and Carmarthenshire 

County Council have continued to work together to identify any capacity related 

concerns associated with the growth proposed by the 2nd Deposit rLDP.  

2.1.7  Recent consultation with Dŵr Cymru has confirmed that the majority of rLDP 

Allocations can be accommodated by existing consents and that they do not have 

significant concerns with the deliverability of the rLDP23. However, some WwTW 

catchments may not have the capacity to accommodate the amount of growth 

proposed in the rLDP. A supplementary Dry Weather Flow assessment has also been 

undertaken by Dŵr Cymru to establish whether the rLDP Allocations could result in 

unsatisfactory overflows through the exceedance of associated permits. This has led 

to the identification of other WwTWs in which certain rLDP Allocations may result in 

the exceedance of the permitted capacity, meaning that a new or modified permit 

would likely be required to provide for the increase in demand. As potential headroom 

(or lack thereof) associated with each permit is not known, following a precautionary 

 
 

19 Version 3.1, published in August 2023. Sites contain employment, commercial and retail (i.e., non-
residential and, therefore, unlikely to increase the number of overnight stays within the catchment). 
Natural Resources Wales / Advice to planning authorities for planning applications affecting 
phosphorus sensitive river Special Areas of Conservation 
20 Topic Paper: Phosphorous (Spring 2024). 
21 Part C.12. Tyldesley, D., and Chapman, C., (2013) The Habitats Regulations Assessment 
Handbook, April 2021 Edition. UK: DTA Publications Limited. 
22 Advice for the review of LDPs specifically states “Allocations…” (i.e., not commitments) “for 
developments that are proposed to be connected to a mains wastewater treatment works and have 
the potential to increase phosphorus loading, should be assessed…” 
23 Signposting is given to the Consultation Report which contains reference to their full response. 

Tudalen 47

https://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/advice-to-planning-authorities-for-planning-applications-affecting-phosphorus-sensitive-river-special-areas-of-conservation/?lang=en
https://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/advice-to-planning-authorities-for-planning-applications-affecting-phosphorus-sensitive-river-special-areas-of-conservation/?lang=en
https://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/advice-to-planning-authorities-for-planning-applications-affecting-phosphorus-sensitive-river-special-areas-of-conservation/?lang=en


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 9 of 48 

approach it is assumed that exceedance of the permitted capacity could result in 

adverse effects upon hydrologically connected National Site Network Sites. 

2.1.8  Network concerns associated with Llanelli WwTW have also been identified. These 

are established within the Burry Inlet Memorandum of Understanding (MoU), and are 

owing to the combined nature of the sewerage network within the associated service 

catchment. Dŵr Cymru have expressed that the introduction of additional foul flow may 

lead to hydraulic overloading of the WwTW, as well as potential increase in the 

frequency of discharges from combined sewerage overflows, particularly during 

significant rainfall events. Whilst it is not assumed that further deterioration to the 

respective waterbody status24 would strictly amount to adverse effects on the integrity 

of CBEEMS, following a precautionary approach those rLDP Allocations likely to be 

connected to the Llanelli WwTW are also screened in under this impact pathway.  

2.1.9  On a precautionary basis it is, therefore, concluded that those rLDP Allocations linked 

to the identified WwTWs of concern could have an adverse effect upon hydrologically 

connected National Site Network Sites, as summarised within Table 3. 

Table 3. WwTWs which could experience an exceedance of permitted capacity as a result of the growth 

proposed in the 2nd Deposit rLDP, alongside the resulting designated sites with LSE. This table 

supersedes Table 10 featured within the HRA Report, along with all specific screening summaries and 

commentary given for the identified rLDP Allocations. 1 = Identified in consultation response by Dŵr 

Cymru. 2 = Determined through Dry Weather Flow assessment. 3 = Established by the Burry Inlet MoU.  

Wastewater 
Treatment Work 

rLDP 
Allocation Ref 

Name 
National Site Network 

potentially affected 

Llangennech WwTw 

PrC2/h20 Harddfan, Bryn Burry Inlet SPA and 
Carmarthen Bay and 

Estuaries SAC1 
SeC7/h3 Golwg Yr Afon 

SeC7/h4 Gyferbyn Parc Morlais 

St Clears WwTw 

SeC18/h3 Tir gerllaw i Cefn Maes 

Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries SAC1 

SeC18/h4 Tir yn Heol Llaindelyn 

SeC18/h5 Tir gerllaw i Gwynfa 

SeC18/h6 Tir y tu cefn i 

Whitland WwTw SeC19/h1 Tir yn Park View 

Laugharne WwTw SeC20/h3 Tir oddi ar Clifton Street 
Carmarthen Bay and 

Estuaries SAC1,2 

Ffairfach WwTw 
SeC16/h1 

Gogledd Chwarter 
Llandeilo 

Afon Tywi SAC, 
Carmarthen Bay and 

Estuaries SAC1 SeC16/MU1 Beechwood 

Alltwalis WwTw SuV11/h1 Tir ar Ysgol Alltwalis 
Carmarthen Bay and 

Estuaries SAC1 

Parc y Splotts 
WwTw 

PrC1/MU2 Pibwrlwyd 

Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries SAC2 

PrC1/h4 Tir gerllaw Parc y Delyn 

PrC1/h5 Dwyrain o Rhodfa 

PrC1/h8 Heol Llansteffan 

PrC1/h10 Brynhyfryd 

PrC1/h12 Heol Castell Pigyn 

Pencader WwTw SeC14/h2 Tir gerllaw Maescader 
Afon Teifi, Cardigan Bay 

Marine Site2 

 
 

24 Deterioration under The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2003. Waterbody status can be found in Paragraph 3.2 of MoU (now amended by Cycle 
3). 

Tudalen 48

https://datamap.gov.wales/layergroups/geonode:nrw_wfd_cycle_3_classifications
https://datamap.gov.wales/layergroups/geonode:nrw_wfd_cycle_3_classifications


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 10 of 48 

Wastewater 
Treatment Work 

rLDP 
Allocation Ref 

Name 
National Site Network 

potentially affected 

Pendine WwTw SuV61/h1 Tir yn Fferm Nieuport 
Carmarthen Bay and 

Estuaries SAC2 

Llanelli WwTw 

PrC2/GT1 Tir ym Mhenyfan, Trostre 

Burry Inlet SPA and 
Carmarthen Bay and 

Estuaries SAC 
(components of CBEEMS)3 

PrC2/GT2 
Pen-y-bryn (estyniad), 

Bynea 

PrC2/h1 Beech Grove, y Pwll 

PrC2/h10 Tir ger The Dell, Ffwrnes 

PrC2/MU1 
Cyn Safle Gwaith yr Hen 

Gastell, Llanelli 

PrC2/MU2 Porth Trostre, Llanelli 

SeC4/MU1 Glannau Porth Tywyn 

 

2.1.10  Notation related to the individual appraisal of rLDP Allocations against the ‘Effects 

Associated with Development: Wastewater’ contained within the HRA Report is 

superseded by Table 3 (i.e., Appendix 8 of the HRA Report and Appendix G of the 

HRA Addendum). Additionally, the summary of generic level screening under this 

associated impact pathway (contained in Table 14 within the HRA Report) is further 

amended to reflect effort here presented. 

  

Tudalen 49



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 11 of 48 

2.2 Other rLDP Proposals  

2.2.1  In response to the reasoning given by the SNCB during previous consultation, as a 

precautionary measure the following proposals contained within rLDP policies have 

been subject to screening:  

• Local Search Areas (LSAs) (Proposed under CCH1: Renewable Energy within Pre-

Assessed Areas and Local Search Areas); 

 

• Sand and Gravel Area of Search (AoS) (Proposed under SP 18: Mineral 

Resources); and 

 

• Gwili Railway Extension (Proposed under TRA3: Gwili Railway).  

2.2.2 The policies in which these proposals are contain have already been screened25, 

however the following exercise is explicitly focused upon their associated spatial 

component(s) as proposed on the 2nd rLDP Proposal Map and Insets Maps26. Other 

mapped proposals such as the Cross Hands Health and Wellbeing Centre (proposed 

under PSD6: Community Facilities), Cross Hands Economic Link Road (proposed 

under TRA1: Transport and Highways Infrastructural Improvements) and the Gwili 

Railway Station already have extant permissions and are, therefore, considered as 

commitments in line with paragraph 2.1.4. 

2.2.3 The screening conclusions for each of these proposals against the potential effect 

mechanisms are summarised below in Table 4, as supplemented by commentary in 

Appendix B. 

 
 

25 Please refer to the HRA Report and HRA Addendum.  
26 Second Deposit Revised Local Development Plan (gov.wales) 

Tudalen 50

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033/second-deposit-revised-local-development-plan/


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 12 of 48 

 

Table 4. Summary of HRA screening of 2nd Deposit rLDP other proposals. For proposal specific commentary, please refer to Appendix B. Y = Yes, proposal is identified to have 

a likely significant effect under this impact pathway (highlighted in grey); N = proposal is NOT likely to cause effects under this impact pathway.  

Site Reference Name 

A
q

u
a

ti
c
 

M
a

ri
n

e
 

C
o

a
s

t 

M
o

b
il

e
 

S
p

e
c

ie
s
 

R
e
c
re

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

A
b

s
tr

a
c

ti
o

n
 

W
a

s
te

w
a

te
r 

P
h

o
s

p
h

a
te

s
 

A
ir

 

P
o

ll
u

ti
o

n
 

D
is

tu
rb

a
n

c
e
 

S
c

re
e

n
in

g
 

C
o

n
c

lu
s

io
n

 

A North East of Farmers (LSA) N N N Y N N N N N N In 

B Mynydd Pencarreg (LSA) N N N Y N N N N N N In 

C West of Talley (LSA) N N N Y N N N N N N In 

Sand and Gravel Clarbeston Road to Llanfalteg (AoS) Y Y N Y N N N N N N In 

TRA3/A  Gwili Railway Extension Y N N Y N N N N N N In 

T
udalen 51



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 13 of 48 

2.3 In-Combination Effects 

2.3.1 As detailed within the HRA Report (see page 45), Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive 

requires the potential for plans to have a significant effect either individually or in-

combination with other plans, programmes, and projects. This Section supplements 

Task 3 in the HRA Report and HRA Addendum. 

2.3.2 All rLDP Allocations and Other rLDP Proposals hereby screened have been either 

assigned to a category which allows them to be screened out as they cannot 

undermine a sites conservation objectives (either alone or in-combination), or are 

deemed to have likely significant effect (LSE) alone (category I). Therefore, no further 

consideration of ‘in-combination’ effects is required.  

NB:  In-combination effects are further considered within Appendix C in relation to those 

rLDP Allocations situated in the Afon Teifi P Sensitive SAC Catchment. 

  

Tudalen 52



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 14 of 48 

2.4 Screening Summary 

2.4.1  Additional rLDP Allocations have been screened in line with the requirement of the 

Regulations. In summary, …  

• Three rLDP Allocations have been screened out the need for further 

assessment. These are SuV1/h1, SeC6/h2, and PrC1/MU3; 

 

• 12 rLDP Allocations are determined to have LSE on the integrity of National 

Site Network sites (as shown in Table 1). Please refer to Appendix B which 

identifies the affected sites and associated impact pathways for each rLDP 

Allocation; and  

 

• In context to rLDP Allocations, only one additional impact pathway and affected 

SPA supplementary to those determined within previous HRA effort has been 

identified. This is the disturbance to bird resting/breeding habitat with LSE on 

Burry Inlet SPA Bird Assemblages through development proposed by 

PrC2/GT1, PrC2/GT2, PrC2/MU1, SeC4/MU1, and SG2/2. 

2.4.2  All rLDP Allocations contained with the 2nd Deposit rLDP have been rescreened 

against effects associated with the discharge of wastewater in line with the evidential 

changes informed by Dŵr Cymru. Please refer to Table 3 which identifies those 

rLDP Allocations and affected sites determined to have LSE under this impact 

pathway. 

2.4.3 In respect of Other rLDP Proposals, on a precautionary basis the following is also 

screened in for Appropriate Assessment: 

• Solar LSAs with LSE on foraging grounds linked to Elenydd-Mallaen SPA 

Bird Assemblages27; 

 

• Impact on roosting sites and foraging area of Greater and Lesser horseshoe28 

due to mineral operations situated in the AoS, with LSE on Pembrokeshire 

Bat Sites and Bosherston Lakes SAC; 

 

• Surface water contamination as a result of AoS and Gwili Railway Extension 

with LSE on CBEEMS and Afon Tywi SAC, respectively; and 

 

• Disturbance to otter29 features as a result of the Gwili Railway Extension with 

LSE on CBEEMS, Afon Tywi SAC and Afon Teifi SAC. 

 

2.4.4 The above screening conclusion is made alongside those within the HRA Screening 

Report, HRA Report (as amended by Appendix A of the HRA Addendum), and HRA 

Addendum.  

 
 

27 Falco columbarius (Merlin), Milvus milvus (Red Kite), and Falco peregrinus (Peregrine Falcon). 
28 Rhinolophus ferrumequinum and Rhinolophus hipposideros, respectively.  
29 Lutra lutra. 

Tudalen 53



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 15 of 48 

3.  Appropriate Assessment  

3.0.1 This Chapter should be read in conjunction with the appropriate assessment contained 

within the HRA Report (incorporating alterations Ref 41 to 43 set out in the HRA 

Addendum), the HRA Addendum (as amended by Appendix A), and Appendix C. 

3.0.2  With the exception of  the disturbance to bird resting/breeding habitat with LSE on 

Burry Inlet SPA, it is proposed that the mitigation measures and integrity test originally 

put forward within the HRA Report30 and the HRA Addendum remain applicable (as 

amended in Appendix A through consultation with the SNCB) to all other LSE arisen 

from the rLDP Allocations. This is supplemented by the following considerations: 

i. The appropriate assessment for wastewater disposal (proposed in Table 18 of 

the HRA Report) is expanded upon in Table 4 and amended to reflect those 

WwTWs and affected National Site Network sites identified in Table 3. Mitigation 

is further considered to be embedded within the 2nd Deposit rLDP through CCH4: 

Water Quality and Protection of Water Resources, INF4: Llanelli Wastewater 

Treatment Works Catchment Surface Water Removal31, and SP 14: Maintaining 

and Enhancing the Natural Environment. Collectively, these can be relied upon 

to avoid adverse effects to the integrity of the National Site Network because:  

 

• Despite the uncertainty whether developers will fund the works themselves 

(through planning contributions) or rely upon Dŵr Cymru AMP to deliver the 

necessary upgrades, if funding was not secured the development would be 

delayed or phased until the upgrades are delivered, or further capacity is 

made available to accommodate the proposal; and 

 

• With reference to Paragraph 4.3.3 of the HRA Addendum, it is a permissible 

route for development proposed by the 2nd Deposit rLDP to be conditionally 

approved subject to the delivery of associated infrastructure. 

 

ii. With regards to the potential adverse effects identified on the Afon Tywi, Afon 

Teifi, Afonydd Cleddau, and Afon Gwy (Wye) SACs through increased P loading, 

the summary in Section 1.1 provides additional material clarity to the mitigation 

measures outlined in the HRA Addendum. As supplemented by Appendix C, it 

can be concluded that the proposed mitigation measures could be relied upon to 

avoid adverse effects to the integrity of these riverine SACs. 

3.0.5 Both surface water contamination as a result of AoS and Gwili Railway Extension with 

LSE on CBEEMS and Afon Tywi SAC, and disturbance to otter features as a result of 

the Gwili Railway Extension with LSE on CBEEMS, Afon Tywi SAC and Afon Teifi 

SAC, are seen to align with the mitigation measures and integrity test originally put 

forward within the HRA Report (see Table 18 and paragraphs 4.3.6 to 4.3.18, 

respectively). As such, and following a review undertaken, these can be relied upon to 

avoid adverse effects on the associated National Site Network Sites. 

 
 

30 As amended by the HRA Addendum. 
31 Specifically formulated for those rLDP Allocations within the Llanelli WwTW service area. This 
policy includes a dedicated SPG which sets out a betterment mechanism to prevent additional foul 
flows from entering the combined sewer system.  

Tudalen 54



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 16 of 48 

3.1  Incorporation of Mitigation Measures 

3.1.1  Supplementary to the above, those remaining LSE identified in Section 2.2 for Other 

rLDP Proposals, in addition to disturbance to bird resting/breeding habitat with LSE on 

Burry Inlet SPA Bird Assemblages created by rLDP Allocations and effects associated 

with wastewater disposal, are reviewed below.  

3.1.2  Signposting is given to paragraph 4.2.1 and 4.2.2 of the HRA Report. Mitigation 

measures which might be relied upon to avoid adverse effects are considered below 

(Table 5).  

Table 5. Summary of possible mitigation measures for the remaining LSE identified with the present 

HRA. For the entire compilation of mitigation measures which are relied upon to avoid adverse effects 

identified by the 2nd Deposit rLDP, reference is made to Table 18 of the HRA Report (as amended by 

Ref 42 of the HRA Addendum) and Chapter 4.2 of the HRA Addendum.   

Effects Mitigation Measures 

Wastewater  
disposal 
(expanded) 
 
(see Table 3 for 
potentially 
affected National 
Site Network 
Sites) 

These following measures expand upon those put forward, under this particular 
impact pathway, within the HRA Report (as amended by Ref 42 within HRA 
Addendum). 
 
At the project level, developers may need to fund a Developer Impact 
Assessment to identify required reinforcement works, particularly when there is 
no/limited capacity at the servicing WwTW32. If improvements are deemed 
necessary and there are no plans in place for infrastructure improvements in the 
upcoming AMP investment programme, developers can pay for the necessary 
infrastructure themselves through the requisition provisions of the Water Industry 
Act 1991 or via Planning Obligations Agreements under the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. It should be noted that the requisition provision of the Water 
Industry Act 1991 only applies to sewerage network reinforcement works, not to 
WwTW schemes. Funding to deliver reinforcement works at a WwTW can be 
delivered via Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. This 
standard process is referenced within the supporting text of CCH4: Water Quality 
and Protection of Water Resources (paragraph 11.510). Additionally, this 
process may be conditioned alongside the timing of development to correspond 
with the delivery of improvements to WwTW through Grampian Conditions. 
 
At the project level, hydrological assessments may be carried out to best 
determine the potential for hydrological links between the proposed development 
and designated sites. This is to make certain that potential impact pathways are 
well understood and ensure that appropriate mitigation measures can be 
properly situated where potential for adverse effects are latterly confirmed.  
 
Secondary measures to prevent additional loading33 on foul sewer networks 
could include the incorporation of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) and 
other nature-based surface water drainage solutions into scheme designs; in 
addition to the incorporation of other water quality protection measures which 
may be secured through a Construction Environmental Management Plan. 

Solar LSAs with 
LSE on foraging 

Carmarthenshire County Council supports the principle of developing renewable 
and low carbon energy to meet our future energy needs. The 2nd Deposit rLDP 

 
 

32 Typically determined through consultation with Dŵr Cymru during pre-application and/or the 
planning application process.  
33 whether volumetric and/or pollutive contaminants. 

Tudalen 55



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 17 of 48 

Effects Mitigation Measures 

grounds linked to 
Elenydd-Mallaen 
SPA Bird 
Assemblages 

does not allocate (or contain specific detail related to) solar energy projects 
however, it does specify LSAs which, in principle, represent areas where this 
type of application would be permitted (subject to criteria set out in CCH1: 
Renewable Energy within Pre-Assessed Areas and Local Search Areas).  
 
As reviewed by Natural England34, Birdlife Europe35 found that solar photovoltaic 
arrays may present particularly high risks for open habitat bird species with the 
potential for disturbance resulting in reduced opportunities for foraging, in 
addition to breeding and roosting. The potential for cumulative impacts of 
multiple solar developments in a concentrated locality is highlighted, which could 
negatively affect species at the population level. Incidental evidence suggests 
that the collision risk created by solar panels to birds is low (but not impossible). 
Additionally, it is likely that infrastructure associated (e.g., powerlines) presents 
more of a collision risk for birds than the solar arrays themselves. 
 
Whilst the specific details of prospective solar proposals (and actual delivery 
thereof) remain unknown, any proposal put forward on the LSAs will need to 
consider avoiding disturbance and/or retaining features functionally linked to the 
foraging grounds if their importance to the SPA Bird Assemblages was latterly 
confirmed. Measures may include minimising the footprint of the proposals to 
avoid areas with known foraging grounds and/or ecological linkages deemed 
important to thereof. Additionally, regard should be had to any known avian 
foraging bouts and potential mitigation paths. On-site monitoring may be need 
in terms of operational disturbance combined with behavioural monitoring of the 
qualifying features. 
 
It is proposed that the present inclusion of the following mitigative policies36 
would be sufficient to provide the necessary confidence that the designation of 
LSA will not adversely impact the integrity of Elenydd-Mallaen SPA and its 
conservation objectives:  
 

• SP14: Maintaining and Enhancing the Natural Environment; and   

• NE2: Biodiversity.  
 
Whilst not conditional to this conclusion, it is recommended that specific 
reference is given to SP14: Maintaining and Enhancing the Natural Environment 
and NE2: Biodiversity within onward SPG proposed for CCH1: Renewable 
Energy within Pre-Assessed Areas and Local Search Areas. Additionally, this 
SPG may wish to contain technical mitigative solutions which, whilst not relied 
upon to avoid adverse effects, may aid the integration of this particular 
consideration at the conceptual design stage within the planning process.   
 
Nevertheless, a project-level HRA would likely be required to assess the specific 
proposal and extent of any onward application received. As such, permission 
would not be granted unless it were to accord with SP14: Maintaining and 
Enhancing the Natural Environment. If the project-level HRA cannot rule out 
adverse effects on site integrity, the project will either have to be withdrawn, or 
amended and re-assessed, or pass the derogations set out under Article 6(4) of 

 
 

34 Evidence review of the impact of solar farms on birds, bats and general ecology 2016 - NEER012 
(naturalengland.org.uk), 1st Edition, March 2017.  
35 BirdLife Europe (2011). Meeting Europe's Renewable Energy Targets in Harmony with Nature. 
Report by BirdLife International. Report for Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB). 
36 Synonymous with embedded mitigation measures.   

Tudalen 56

https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6384664523046912
https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6384664523046912
https://tethys.pnnl.gov/sites/default/files/publications/BirdLifeInternational-2011.pdf
https://tethys.pnnl.gov/sites/default/files/publications/BirdLifeInternational-2011.pdf


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 18 of 48 

Effects Mitigation Measures 

the Regulations (i.e. no alternative solutions, Imperative Reasons of Overriding 
Public Interest) and compensatory measures secured. 

Impact on roosting 
sites and foraging 
area of Greater 
and Lesser 
horseshoe due to 
mineral 
operations 
situated in the 
AoS, with LSE on 
Pembrokeshire 
Bat Sites and 
Bosherston Lakes 
SAC 

The 2nd Deposit rLDP seeks to positively provide for the workings of mineral 
resources to meet local needs and also safeguard resources from sterilisation. 
It does not allocate (or contain specific detail related to) proposed extraction 
projects however, it does specify one AoS for sand and gravel which, in principle, 
represents where this type of application would be supported to satisfy broader 
subregional requirements (subject to criteria set out in SP18: Mineral 
Resources). 
 
Whilst outside the 10km ‘rule of thumb’ set by the National Development 
Framework37, the AoS is well beyond the ‘core sustenance zone’ determined by 
the Bat Conservation Trust38 (3km for R. ferrumequinum, and 2km for R. 
hipposideros). Research on the impacts of open-pit mining on bat activity found 
that that loss of potential habitat within the mine site boundary may reduce bat 
movement because of barrier effects. At the project stage, assessments should 
be carried out to identify the potential for any disturbance as a result of 
machinery, and vibration during both construction and operation (e.g., noise, 
light). Ecological surveying would be necessary to assess the likelihood of these, 
and indicate the presence of roosting sites and/or suitable foraging area 
(alongside an assessment whether these support SAC meta-populations). 
Measures such as lighting regimes and ecological buffer zones may be 
employed as required.  
 
It is proposed that the present inclusion of the following mitigative policies would 
be sufficient to provide the necessary confidence that the designation of the AoS 
will not adversely impact the integrity of Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and 
Bosherston Lakes SAC and its conservation objectives: 
 

• SP14: Maintaining and Enhancing the Natural Environment;  

• NE2: Biodiversity;  

• MR1: Mineral Proposals; and 

• PSD12: Light and Air Pollution.   
 
Nevertheless, a project-level HRA would likely be required to assess the specific 
proposal and extent of any onward application received. As such, permission 
would not be granted unless it were to accord with SP14: Maintaining and 
Enhancing the Natural Environment and MR1: Mineral Proposals39. 

Disturbance to 
resting/breeding 
habitat with LSE 
on Burry Inlet SPA 
Bird Assemblages 

Whilst the specific details of prospective development proposals (and actual 
delivery thereof) remain unknown, any proposal put forward on the identified 
rLDP Allocations will need to consider avoiding disturbance and/or retaining 
features functionally linked to the resting/breeding habitat if their importance to 
the SPA Bird Assemblages was latterly confirmed.  
 
Where potential displacement/disturbance effects have been identified, 
measures such as buffer zones, timing works to avoid sensitive times (such as 
breeding season), noise mitigation, visual screening (natural and artificial), 
alterations to lighting design to reduce light spill and reducing access to sensitive 

 
 

37 Welsh Government NDF. HRA Rules of Thumb. August 2017 
38 Core_Sustenance_Zones_Explained_04.02.16.pdf (bats.org.uk) 
39 Condition f – “There are no unacceptable adverse impacts upon sites of nature conservation 
importance and ecological features…” 

Tudalen 57

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-08/appendix-a-habitats-regulations-assessment-report.pdf
https://cdn.bats.org.uk/uploads/pdf/Resources/Core_Sustenance_Zones_Explained_04.02.16.pdf?v=1550597495&_gl=1*o1qb06*_ga*MTExMzE2MTk0MS4xNjk5NTI4Njcw*_ga_G28378TB9V*MTY5OTUyODY2OS4xLjEuMTY5OTUzMDQ5OC4wLjAuMA..


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 19 of 48 

Effects Mitigation Measures 

habitats could be incorporated into scheme designs to avoid such effects. An 
on-site monitoring plan should consider potential disturbances terms of noise, 
lighting, etc., and combined with behavioural monitoring of the qualifying feature.  
 
Complementary planting and habitat linkages, as well as integration with the 
existing Green and Blue Infrastructure should be further incorporated into 
scheme designs to mitigate potential adverse effects. 
 
A project-level HRA would likely be required for the identified allocations to 
assess the specific proposal and extent of any onward application received. This 
will enable the identification of effects more precisely, and ensures that any 
development which would result in adverse effects will not be granted.  
 
It is proposed that the present inclusion of the following mitigative policies would 
be sufficient to provide the necessary confidence that the identified allocations 
will not adversely impact the integrity of the Burry Inlet SPA and its conservation 
objectives: 
 

• SP14: Maintaining and Enhancing the Natural Environment;  

• NE2: Biodiversity; and 

• PSD12: Light and Air Pollution.   

 

3.2  Integrity Test 

3.2.1 This section specifically concerns those LSE and measures contained within Table 5, 

in addition to the appropriate assessment for wastewater disposal (proposed in Table 

18 of the HRA Report and here supplemented by both paragraph 3.0.2 and Table 5). 

For those LSE deem covered by previous HRA effort, please refer to the Section 4.3 

of the HRA Report and HRA Addendum, respectively.  

Solar LSA: Elenydd-Mallaen SPA Bird Assemblages 

3.2.2 Solar proposals on LSAs that may result in a loss of foraging grounds for SPA bird 

assemblages would require a project level HRA in order to satisfy the embedded 

mitigation measures contained within the rLDP. A number of mitigation measure could 

be implemented at the project level when effects can be more precisely established. 

However, given the uncertainty surrounding the delivery of such, SP14: Maintaining 

and Enhancing the Natural Environment can be relied upon to avoid adverse effects 

to the integrity of the Burry Inlet SPA under this impact pathway. 

AoS: Pembrokeshire Bat Sites & Bosherston Lakes SAC 

3.2.3 The incorporation of protective policies within the rLDP are considered sufficient to 

provide the necessary reassurance that the designation of the AoS will not adversely 

affect the integrity of Pembrokeshire Bat Sites & Bosherston Lakes SAC. Onward 

mineral proposals will be required under MR1: Mineral Proposals to ensure no adverse 

impacts upon sites of nature conservation importance. 

Tudalen 58



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 20 of 48 

rLDP Allocations: Burry Inlet SPA Bird Assemblages 

3.2.4 All rLDP Allocations that may result in a loss of habitat for SPA bird assemblages would 

require a project level HRA in order to satisfy the embedded mitigation measures 

contained within the rLDP. A number of available mitigation measure have been 

identified which could be implemented at the project level when effects can be more 

precisely established. Additionally, these are recognised to have the necessary 

flexibility to enable adverse effects to be avoided. However, given the uncertainty 

surrounding the delivery of such, SP14: Maintaining and Enhancing the Natural 

Environment can be relied upon to avoid adverse effects to the integrity of the Elenydd-

Mallaen SPA under this impact pathway.  

rLDP Allocations: Wastewater Disposal  

3.2.5 This subsection should be read in conjunction with paragraph 4.3.1, 4.3.2, and 4.3.3 

of the HRA Report.  

3.2.6 It is understood that all rLDP Allocations will likely require SuDS for surface water. 

Whilst SuDS specifically necessitated by the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

cannot be relied upon to avoid adverse effects, it should be noted that these inventions 

have the potential to alleviate the risk associated with increased volume entering 

combined sewage systems. 

3.2.7  It is reasonable to assume that those necessary WwTW improvements proposed within 

the upcoming AMP8 will be delivered. However, there is no absolute certainty in the 

delivery of other catchment measures that may have been relied upon to free up 

associated capacity. Although the embedded mitigation measures contained within the 

rLDP are not yet fully funded, nevertheless, this approach is not incompatible with 

satisfying the Regulations, as SP14: Maintaining and Enhancing the Natural 

Environment can be relied upon to avoid adverse effects to site integrity as a result of 

wastewater disposal (i.e. “Development that would result in unacceptable adverse 

environmental effects or that does not result in enhancement of biodiversity will not be 

permitted..."). 

3.2.8 Additionally, while formulated upon the best available scientific evidence and advice, 

it is beyond the scope of this assessment to accurately predict future mechanisms 

which may pose potential threats to the integrity of the National Site Network (including 

those associated with wastewater and surface water disposal). Nevertheless, if further 

failures other than P are later determined in water quality attributes for SAC rivers (e.g., 

Ammonia, Dissolved Oxygen, and Trophic Diatom Index), for instance, the 

encompassing and conditional nature of SP14: Maintaining and Enhancing the Natural 

Environment may foreseeably be relied upon in the deliberation of emerging advice 

and/or scientific understanding. Continued collaboration amongst Carmarthenshire 

County Council, Dŵr Cymru, and NRW40, should help anticipate a procedure that will 

enable corrective or adaptive measures to be taken in response to such issues.   

 
 

40 As set out within the Statement of Common Ground for Supporting Sustainable Development within 
Carmarthenshire by Safeguarding Phosphorus Sensitive Riverine Special Areas of Conservation 
(Spring 2024). 

Tudalen 59



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 21 of 48 

4. Conclusion   

4.1 All proposals and allocations contained within the 2nd Deposit rLDP have now been 

subject to screening under the Regulations. No additional impact pathway or affected 

National Site Network Site supplementary to those determined within previous HRA 

effort have been identified. 

4.2 In respect of those matters hereby screened, and in alignment with the appropriate 

assessment within the HRA Report41, HRA Addendum, Appendix C, and alongside the 

considerations made within Section 1.1, the conclusion of the present 2nd HRA 

Addendum is that the 2nd Deposit rLDP will have no adverse effect on the 

integrity of any National Site Network Site. 

4.3 NB: The above conclusion is consistent with that made in Chapter 5 of the HRA Report 

(as amended by Ref 41, HRA Addendum), the HRA Addendum, and Appendix C.  

  

 
 

41  As amended by the HRA Addendum. 

Tudalen 60



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 22 of 48 

5.  Next Steps 

5.1 The present 2nd HRA Addendum will be subject to public consultation. Copies of all 
HRA documentation are available from the Strategic Policy & Placemaking Section of 
Carmarthenshire County Council, or they can be viewed on online. The rLDP and 
associated documents can also be inspected at Customer Service Centres and public 
libraries during advertised opening hours. 

5.2 Your views can be made online via the Consultation Page. Alternatively, response 
forms are available upon request. 

If you wish to send your views in writing, please write to: 
 
Strategic Policy & Placemaking  
Place and Infrastructure  
3 Spilman Street 
Carmarthen 
Carmarthenshire 
SA31 1LE 

Or email: forward.planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk  

Please include ‘HRA’ within the subject line. 

5.3 Representations must be received by the relevant date and time stated upon the 
Consultation Page. Comments submitted after this date may not be considered. 

5.4 To ensure that the requirements of the Regulations are met, it will be necessary to 
consider all further changes to the rLDP following the examination process. Therefore, 
additional HRA documentation will be published at this time. Additionally, the 
compilation of a composite report for legibility will be later explored. 

Tudalen 61

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/consultation-performance/current-consultations/
mailto:forward.planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 23 of 48 

Appendices 

Appendix A. Schedule of Focus Changes to HRA Addendum 

A schedule of proposed Focus Changes made to the HRA Addendum since its publication in February 2023 are presented below (updated text 

in red). These have either been made in response to the consultations received or are errata. Please note that the additional matters screened 

within this 2nd HRA Addendum are not presented below. * = Ref 1 to 53 relates to the HRA Report and can be found within the HRA Addendum, 

whereas Ref 54 onwards relates to amending the HRA Addendum. Consultation responses (i.e., HRAREP#) can be found within the Consultation 

Report (as published for submission). Please see Appendix C for those alterations concerning the corresponding Appendix within the HRA 

Addendum.  

Ref* Subject  Description Reason Implication  

54 3.2.17 Need to explicitly state the policies under which the driver of impacts associated with the preferred growth 
option is more appropriately assessed under. Paragraph 3.2.17 is amended to include the following:  
“…through which growth will be implemented (explicitly, rLDP Allocations*).” 
 
Insert new footnote = * rLDP Allocations hereinafter refers to those proposed development sites listed within 
Policies SG1: Regeneration and Mixed Use Sites, SG2: Reserve Sites, HOM1: Housing Allocations, EME3: 
Employment Proposals, and SP10: Gypsy and Traveller Provision. 

Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see 
HRAREP1). 

None. 

55 Appendix E Reasoning as above. Amended Justification & Conclusion column within Appendix E accordingly:  
SP1/4/7/10…through which growth will be implemented (explicitly, rLDP Allocations).” 

Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see 
HRAREP2). 

None. 

56 Appendix E Revision of screening justification. 

SP19: Sustainable Waste 
Management 

B 

This policy promotes change, but the wording of the policy includes 
reference to there being no significant, adverse effects upon the 
environment. There would be no LSE on European sites because of 
the implementation of this policy 
This policy is an overarching policy which set out the general criteria for 
development relating to the sustainable management of waste. It cannot 
have any effect on a European Site. Therefore, there would be no LSE 
on European sites because of the implementation of this policy. 

Screened Out 

 

Contextual update. None. 

57 3.2.20 Clarification in line with the above.  
“…further assessment. Please refer to Appendix E which indicates where implications are more clearly 
assessed under. Therefore, the amendments…” 

Alterations made in  
response to  

None. 

T
udalen 62



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 24 of 48 

Ref* Subject  Description Reason Implication  

consultee (see 
HRAREP2). 

58 Table 5 “…to each SAC catchment (rLDP Allocations). Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see 
HRAREP3). 

 

59 3.2.28 Correction:  
 
Policy HOM1 Housing Allocations identifies 192 allocations sites for the provision of new homes across the 
County, with 116 of these being provided for under ‘commitments’ (those with Extant/Full Planning Permission) 
which have already been subject to assessment under the Regulations at the project stage, including 
consultation with NRW as the SNCB. Therefore, unless a site features multiple states of planning (e.g., 
SuV41/h2 and SuV43/h1), those commitment allocations committed development is are not subject to 
screening here (reference is made to Regulation 71). 

Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see 
HRAREP4). 

None. 

60 3.2.29 Correction:  
 
“As outlined in SAR25, there are twenty-nine allocations proposed development sites which have been added 
since the 1st Deposit, with twenty-five of these being commitments. …” 
 

Factual clarification.  None. 

61 4.2.10 
4.2.11 

Insertion of footnote for paragraph 4.2.10 and 4.2.11 in the interest of clarity.  
 
These recommendations are made in the interest of specificity, and are not considered to impact the soundness 
of the plan whether subsequently heeded (or not). Regard should be had to the emerging nature of this impact 
pathway, the associated development in scientific understanding, and the subsequent advent of mitigative 
solutions and relvent guidance – factors which do not align well with the development plan process.  

Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see NRW 
letter dated 14.04.23 
regarding CCH4 and 
INF5). 

None. 

62 4.2.16 Factual correction:  
 
To facilitate the delivery of development which may be affected by CCH4: Water Quality and Protection of 
Water Resources, CCC have prepared will prepare the ‘Afon Tywi and Afon Teifi Phosphorus Reduction 
Strategy’. This document will sets out the strategic approach for delivering P reductions in these two 
catchments while also facilitating growth and demonstrating that mitigation can be delivered in practice. It will 
further summarise the document sets out a range of measures, that have which will have been agreed in 
consultation with NRW. It is a proposed The ‘Afon Tywi and Afon Teifi Phosphorus Reduction Strategy’ are 
living documents that will develop during the lifetime of the rLDP, and in consultation with NRW. 

As above. None. 

T
udalen 63



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 25 of 48 

  

Ref* Subject  Description Reason Implication  

63 Appendix C NB: This dedicated assessment has been revised (see Appendix C). This supersedes the draft Appendix C 
within the HRA Addendum.   

Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see 
HRAREP5/6/7/8). 

rLDP is 
considered to 
meet the test 
of soundness 
in light of 
SNCB 
recommendati
ons made on 
the HRA.  

64 See 
description 
accordingly. 

Non substantive corrections: 
 
3.2.15… ‘screened out screened out’ 
3.3.2… ‘unlikely to have a significant effects’ 
3.3.4… ‘With regard to rLDP Site Allocations…’ 
4.1.3… ‘initial HRA Report, and, as a bespoke protective’ 
4.2.17… ‘there they are important’ 
4.2.20… ‘which can demonstrate not to cause the failure’ 
4.3.1… ‘ready in conjunction’ 
 
While correctly screened in/out, a number of screening categorises mistakenly do not align with the justification 
given. For consistence, these should be altered throughout to accurately reflect those originally put forward 
with the HRA Report. Additionally, overall figures (i.e., X number of allocations) will need updating in line with 
the content provided with this current 2nd HRA Addendum. Furthermore, various linkages and references to 
supporting documents will also require updating in light of Section 1.1 (e.g., the Nutrient Budget Calculator). 
 
Whilst the following terms have been used interchangeably, all reference to ‘European sites’ is amened to 
‘National Site Network sites’. 
 
With reference to Paragraph 2.1.10 within the present HRA, rLDP Allocation proformas contained within both 
the HRA Report and HRA Addendum need to reflect the most up to date screening outcome under ‘Effects 
Associated with Development: Wastewater’. 

Alterations made in  
response to  
consultee (see 
HRAREP18) in 
addition to officer 
review, and 
consequences of 
screening contained 
within the present 
report. 

None.  

T
udalen 64



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 26 of 48 

Appendix B. Screening Commentary 

rLDP Allocations 
 

Site Ref SuV1/h1 Name Adjacent Fron Heulog Cluster 1 (Tier 3) 

Observations 
This site has been allocated 5 residential units, although has a total of 8 units given 3 have extant permissions (as commitment, see W/39955 and 
W/39856). The proposed development site is approximately 9km from Afon Tywi SAC but is not spatially linked to the site. At such distances 
localised effects associated with proximity of development are unlikely. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category No likely significant effects either ‘alone’ or in combination with other plans and projects 

Outcome Screen Out 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on marine environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species G None Screened Out 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater J None  Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous  G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC catchment. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G None. Screened Out 

  

T
udalen 65



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 27 of 48 

Site Ref SuV16/h1 Name Llwynddewi Road Cluster 1 (Tier 3) 

Observations 

This site has been allocated 2 residential units, although has a total of 8 units given 6 have been already built (as commitment, see W/38104, 
W/38620, W/39018, W/39068, and W/39806 for application history). Previous refusal of outline planning permission due to two reasons, one of 
these includes phosphates (see PL/02162 for details). The proposed development site is approximately 800m from Afon Tywi SAC, and is within 
the respective P sensitive catchment. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category May have a significant effect on a site alone 

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 
The site is in proximity to a water course which may result in potential effects to Tywi 
SAC from pollution run-off, particularly during construction phase. Nevertheless, these 
are thought to be unlikely given the situation and extent of the site.   

Screened In  

Effects on marine environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 
The site is adjacent to suitable otter habitat and therefore development may have 
potential impacts on otters from lighting, noise, and disturbance. 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater J None Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous  I The site is within the Afon Tywi P Sensitive SAC Catchment Screened In 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

I 
The site is in proximity to a water course; however it is the other side of a railway from 
the site and is therefore unlikely to be used as resting/breeding habitat for otter. 

Screened In 

 

  

T
udalen 66



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 28 of 48 

Site Ref PrC2/h20 Name Harddfan Cluster 2 (Tier 1) 

Observations 
This site has been allocated for 6 residential units. The proposed development site is approximately 1.2km from Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries 
SAC. Given the situation and extent of the site, localised effects associated with proximity of development are unlikely. However, the allocation is 
hydrological connected to Burry Inlet SPA and Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC, with capacity issues raised within Llangennech WwTw. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category May have a significant effect on a site alone 

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on marine environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species G 
The site is in the vicinity of CBEEMS, however it is separated by existing development 
and the site is therefore unlikely to be used as resting/breeding habitat for otter. 

Screened Out 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater I 

Site is within the service catchment for Llangennech WwTw which has capacity 
issues. Mitigation will be needed to prevent potential breach in permitted capacity with 
potential adverse effects upon the Burry Inlet SPA and Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries 
SAC. NB: enhancements are planned within the upcoming AMP8 scheme.  

Screened In 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous  G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC catchment. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G None Screened Out 

 

  

T
udalen 67



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 29 of 48 

Site Ref SeC3/h3 Name Llys Felin Cluster 2 (Tier 2) 

Observations 
This site has been allocated 15 residential units, although has a total of 24 units given 9 have been built (as commitment, see S/36660 for reserve 
matters approval, and S/34146 for previous project-level HRA). The proposed development site is approximately 300m from Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries SAC. Given the situation and extent of the site, localised effects associated with proximity of development are unlikely. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category May have a significant effect on a site alone 

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 

The site is in proximity to a water course which may result in potential effects to 
CBEEMS with including those on water quality from pollution run-off during the 
construction phase and contamination impacts on water quality during operation. 
Nevertheless, these are thought to be unlikely as the existing surrounding 
developments (including rain line) separates the allocation from the water course.   

Screened In  

Effects on marine environment I (same as above) Screened In 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 
The site is adjacent to suitable otter habitat and therefore development may have 
potential impacts on otters from lighting, noise, and disturbance. 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater J None Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous  G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC Catchment  Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

I 
The site is in proximity to a water course; however it is the other side of a railway from 
the site and is therefore unlikely to be used as resting/breeding habitat for otter. 

Screened In 

 

T
udalen 68



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 30 of 48 

Site Ref SeC6/h2 Name Land between Clayton Road and East of Bronallt Road Cluster 2 (Tier 2) 

Observations 
This site has been allocated 12 residential units, although has a total of 20 units given 8 have been previous built (commitment). The proposed 
development site is approximately 7km from Caeau Mynydd Mawr SAC and 1.2km from Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC. At such distances 
localised effects associated with proximity of development are unlikely. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category No likely significant effects either ‘alone’ or in combination with other plans and projects 

Outcome Screen Out 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on marine environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species G None Screened Out 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater J None  Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous  G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC catchment. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G None. Screened Out 

 

  

T
udalen 69



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 31 of 48 

Site Ref PrC2/GT1 Name Land at Penyfan, Trostre, Llanelli Cluster 2 

Observations 

The Gypsy Traveler Accommodation Needs Assessment outlined the additional pitches needs which, as of 2019, was 19 pitches. By 2024 this is 
expected to be 23, reaching 31 pitches to the end of the plan period 2033. Whilst a definite pitch allocation has not been given, this is the larger of 
the two proposed gypsy sites and, therefore, it is assumed that the majority of the additional needs will be met here. The proposed site is located 
approximately <1km from the nearest boundary of the Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries European Marine Site SAC and Burry Inlet SPA. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category May have a significant effect on a site alone 

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on marine environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 

This site may be used as habitat for resting/breeding habitat for SPA bird assemblages or otter 
(southernmost tip of the site is within 1km of Burry Inlet). Nevertheless, these are thought to be 
unlikely as existing development encompasses the site, separating it from areas of more 
suitable habitat. 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose of this 
HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary.  

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater I 

Site likely connected to Llanelli WwTw which, as established within the Burry Inlet MoU, has 
sewerage network issues due it’s the combined nature. Mitigation will be needed to prevent 
hydraulic overloading as well as potential increase in the frequency of discharges from 
combined sewerage overflows – potential adverse effects upon the Burry Inlet SPA and 
Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC. 

Screened In 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous  G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC Catchment  Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

I  
Whilst considered unlikely, this site has been identified as being used by adjacent SPA bird 
assemblages and development may result in a loss of habitat. 

Screened In 

T
udalen 70

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221663/carmarthenshire-gypsy-travellers-accommodation-needs-assessment-nov-2019.pdf


2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 32 of 48 

 

Site Ref PrC2/GT2 Name Penybryn (extension), Bynea, Llanelli Cluster 2 

Observations 
The proposed site is located approximately 460m from the nearest boundary of the Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries European Marine Site SAC and 
Burry Inlet SPA. See observations of PrC2/GT1 regarding pitch numbers.  

Overall 
Screening 

Category May have a significant effect on a site alone 

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 

The site is in proximity to a water course which may result in potential effects 
CBEEMS including those on water quality from pollution run-off during the construction 
phase and contamination impacts on water quality during operation. Nevertheless, 
these are thought to be unlikely as surrounding development (gateway resort and 
sewage treatment works) separates the allocation from the water course.   

Screened In  

Effects on marine environment I (same as above) Screened In 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 

The site is adjacent to suitable otter habitat and therefore development may have 
potential impacts on otters from lighting, noise, and disturbance. This site has also 
been identified as being used by adjacent SPA bird assemblages and development 
may result in a loss of habitat (as within 1km of Burry Inlet SPA). 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater I 

Site likely connected to Llanelli WwTw which, as established within the Burry Inlet 
MoU, has sewerage network issues due it’s the combined nature. Mitigation will be 
needed to prevent hydraulic overloading as well as potential increase in the frequency 
of discharges from combined sewerage overflows – potential adverse effects upon the 
Burry Inlet SPA and Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC. 

Screened In 

T
udalen 71



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 33 of 48 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous  G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC Catchment  Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G 
The site is in close vicinity to a water course; however it is the other side of a road 
from the site and is therefore unlikely to be used as resting/breeding habitat for otter. 

Screened Out 

 

  

T
udalen 72



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 34 of 48 

Site Ref PrC2/MU1 Name Former Old Castle Works, Llanelli Cluster 5 

Observations 
The proposed site is located approximately 400m from the nearest boundary of the Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries European Marine Site SAC and 
Burry Inlet SPA. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category May have a significant effect on a site alone 

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 

The site is adjacent to a water course which may result in potential effects to CBEEMS 
with including those on water quality from pollution run-off during the construction 
phase and contamination impacts on water quality during operation. Nevertheless, 
these are thought to be unlikely as the existing surrounding developments (including 
rain line) separates the allocation from the water course.   

Screened In  

Effects on marine environment I (same as above) Screened In 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 

The site is adjacent to suitable otter habitat and therefore development may have 
potential impacts on otters from lighting, noise, and disturbance. This site has also 
been identified as being used by adjacent SPA bird assemblages and development 
may result in a loss of habitat (as within 1km of Burry Inlet SPA). 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater I 

Site likely connected to Llanelli WwTw which, as established within the Burry Inlet 
MoU, has sewerage network issues due it’s the combined nature. Mitigation will be 
needed to prevent hydraulic overloading as well as potential increase in the frequency 
of discharges from combined sewerage overflows – potential adverse effects upon the 
Burry Inlet SPA and Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC. 

Screened In 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous  G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC Catchment  Screened Out 

T
udalen 73



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 35 of 48 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G 
The site is in close vicinity to a water course; however it is the other side of a road 
from the site and is therefore unlikely to be used as resting/breeding habitat for otter. 

Screened Out 

 

  

T
udalen 74



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 36 of 48 

Site Ref SeC20/MU1 Name Laugharne Holiday Park Cluster 5 

Observations 
Majority of site is previously developed with holiday chalets (see W/34546), sparing the northern quarter. The site is located approximately 30 
meters from the nearest boundary of CBEEMS and is spatially linked to the site by a wooded slope and associated service roads. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 

The site is immediately adjacent to CBEEMS with potential effects on water quality from pollution run-off 
during the construction phase and contamination impacts on water quality during operation. Nevertheless, 
these are thought to be unlikely given the situation of the undeveloped area and the wooden slope 
separating it directly from the water course. 

Screened In 

Effects on marine environment I (see above) Screened In 

Effects on the coast G Unlikely to have a significant effect on coastal processes Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I The site is adjacent to CBEEMS and could potentially be used as resting/breeding habitat for otters. Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose of this HRA, where no 
additional material has emerged to the contrary 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose of this HRA, where no 
additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater J None Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC catchment. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  H 

The majority (approximately 80%) of the proposed site is within 200m of Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries 
European Marine Site SAC (via River Taf). However, a HRA completed on this site concluded no likely 
significant effect under this impact pathway (as reviewed in 2017 although with previous ecological 
assessment dating back to 2011). UK National Atmospheric Emission Inventory indicates that road transport 
only accounts for 4.5% of Nitrogen deposition on the SAC (2018 data, spatial resolution 5km). Therefore, it 
is considered that the level of development in this area is low enough that there will be no likely significant 
effects on air quality. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

I The site is adjacent to CBEEMS and could potentially be used as resting/breeding habitat for otters. Screened In 

T
udalen 75



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 37 of 48 

Site Ref PrC1/MU3 Name Nant y Caws Regeneration and Mixed-Use Site Cluster 1 

Observations 
The proposed development site is approximately 10km from Caeau Mynydd Mawr SAC and 8.4km from Cernydd Carmel SAC. At such  
distances localised effects associated with proximity of development are unlikely. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category No likely significant effects either ‘alone’ or in combination with other plans and projects 

Outcome Screen Out 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on marine environment G None Screened Out 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species G None Screened Out 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater J None  Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC catchment. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G None. Screened Out 

 

  T
udalen 76



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 38 of 48 

Site Ref SeC4/MU1 Name Burry Port Waterfront Cluster 2 

Observations The site is approximately 350m from the nearest boundary of the Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries European Marine Site.  

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 
The site is adjacent to a water course which may result in potential effects to CBEEMS with including those 
on water quality from pollution run-off during the construction phase and contamination impacts on water 
quality during operation. 

Screened In  

Effects on marine environment I (same as above) Screened In 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 
The site is adjacent to suitable otter habitat and therefore development may have potential impacts on otters 
from lighting, noise, and disturbance. This site has also been identified as being used by adjacent SPA bird 
assemblages and development may result in a loss of habitat (as within 1km of Burry Inlet SPA). 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose of this HRA, where no 
additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater I 

Site likely connected to Llanelli WwTw which, as established within the Burry Inlet MoU, has sewerage 
network issues due it’s the combined nature. Mitigation will be needed to prevent hydraulic overloading as 
well as potential increase in the frequency of discharges from combined sewerage overflows – potential 
adverse effects upon the Burry Inlet SPA and Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC. 

Screened In 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC Catchment  Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  H 

The majority of the site and accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. A 
small (approximately 10m) of the south most tip of the site is within the boundary, however it is considered 
that the level of development in this area is low enough that there will be no likely significant effects on air 
quality.  
 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

I  
This site has been identified as being used by adjacent SPA bird assemblages (within 1km of Burry Inlet 
SPA) and other, development may result in a loss of habitat. 

Screened In 

T
udalen 77



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 39 of 48 

 

Site Ref SG2/1 Name Former Morlais Colliery, Llangennech Cluster 2 

Observations 
Previously Developed Land. The site is located approximately 90m from the nearest boundary of the Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries European 
Marine Site. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 
The site is immediately adjacent to CBEEMS (via River Loughor) with potential effects on water quality from 
pollution run-off during the construction phase and contamination impacts on water quality during operation. 

Screened In 

Effects on marine environment I (see above) Screened In 

Effects on the coast G Unlikely to have a significant effect on coastal processes Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I The site is adjacent to CBEEMS and could potentially be used as resting/breeding habitat for otters. Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose of this HRA, where no 
additional material has emerged to the contrary 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose of this HRA, where no 
additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater J None Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC catchment. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  H 

Approximately 5% of the proposed site is within 200m of Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries European Marine 
Site SAC (via Afon Loughor). However, a HRA completed on this site concluded no likely significant effect 
under this impact pathway (as reviewed in 2017 although with previous ecological assessment dating back 
S/34071). UK National Atmospheric Emission Inventory indicates that road transport only accounts for 6.7% 
of Nitrogen deposition on the SAC (2018 data, spatial resolution 5km). Therefore, it is considered that the 
level of development in this area is low enough that there will be no likely significant effects on air quality. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

I The site is adjacent to CBEEMS and could potentially be used as resting/breeding habitat for otters. Screened In 

T
udalen 78



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 40 of 48 

Site Ref SG2/2 Name Land adjacent to Silver Terrace, Burry Port Cluster 2 

Observations The site is approximately 350m from the nearest boundary of the Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries European Marine Site. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 
The site is adjacent to a water course which may result in potential effects to CBEEMS 
with including those on water quality from pollution run-off during the construction 
phase and contamination impacts on water quality during operation. 

Screened In  

Effects on marine environment I (same as above) Screened In 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 

The site is adjacent to suitable otter habitat and therefore development may have 
potential impacts on otters from lighting, noise, and disturbance. This site has also 
been identified as being used by adjacent SPA bird assemblages and development 
may result in a loss of habitat (as within 1km of Burry Inlet SPA). 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater J None Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC Catchment  Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

I  
This site has been identified as being used by adjacent SPA bird assemblages (within 
1km of Burry Inlet SPA) and otter, development may result in a loss of habitat. 

Screened In 

 

  

T
udalen 79



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 41 of 48 

Site Ref SG2/3 Name Cross Hands Employment Zone Cluster 3 

Observations The proposed development site is approximately 900m from Caeau Mynydd Mawr SAC. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 
The site is adjacent to a water course which may result in potential effects to CBEEMS 
with including those on water quality from pollution run-off during the construction 
phase and contamination impacts on water quality during operation. 

Screened In  

Effects on marine environment I (same as above) Screened In 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 
The site is within an area that contains suitable habitat for the Caeau Mynydd Mawr 
Marsh Fritillary metapopulation. The proximity of the site to a water course may 
present risks to otter that may be in the area. 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater J None Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC Catchment  Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

I 
The proximity of the site to a water course may present risks to otter that may be in the 
area. 

Screened In 

 

  

T
udalen 80



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 42 of 48 

Site Ref SG2/4 Name Former Ennis Caravans, Cross Hands Cluster 3 

Observations 
Previously Developed Land. The proposed development site is approximately 1.5km from Caeau Mynydd Mawr SAC and 2km from Cernydd 
Carmel SAC.  

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 
The site is adjacent to a water course which may result in potential effects to CBEEMS 
with including those on water quality from pollution run-off during the construction 
phase and contamination impacts on water quality during operation. 

Screened In  

Effects on marine environment I (same as above) Screened In 

Effects on the coast G None Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 
The site is within an area that contains suitable habitat for the Caeau Mynydd Mawr 
Marsh Fritillary metapopulation. The proximity of the site to a water course may 
present risks to otter that may be in the area. 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G (same as above) Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater J None Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G The site is outside P Sensitive SAC Catchment  Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Site or accompanying road infrastructure do not run within 200m of a European Site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

I 
The proximity of the site to a water course may present risks to otter that may be in the 
area. 

Screened In 

 

 

T
udalen 81



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 43 of 48 

Other rLDP Proposals 
 

Proposal Ref LSA/A Name North East of Farmers (Local Search Area) Area 3.31 km2 

Observations The proposed LSA is located approximately 1.2km from the nearest boundary of Elenydd-Mallean SPA. Potential installed capacity 72.9 (MW).  

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on marine environment G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on the coast G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 
Proposal is within 5km from Elenydd-Mallean SPA and, therefore, could pose a risk to 
Merlin, Red Kite, and Peregrine. 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G 
Proposal is within the Tywi SAC P Sensitive Catchment, however it does not have any 
conceivable effect. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

 

  

T
udalen 82



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 44 of 48 

Proposal Ref LSA/B Name Mynydd Pencarreg (Local Search Area) Area 0.9 km2 

Observations The proposed LSA is located approximately 11.5km from the nearest boundary of Elenydd-Mallean SPA. Potential installed capacity 23.8 (MW). 

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on marine environment G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on the coast G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 
Proposal is within 18km from Elenydd-Mallean SPA and, therefore, could pose a risk 
to Peregrine. 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G 
Proposal straddles both the Teifi and Tywi SAC P Sensitive Catchment, however it 
does not have any conceivable effect. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

 

  

T
udalen 83



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 45 of 48 

Proposal Ref LSA/C Name West of Talley (Local Search Area) Area 0.99 km2 

Observations 
The proposed LSA is located approximately 12.5km from the nearest boundary of Elenydd-Mallean SPA. Local Search Area. Potential installed 
capacity 30.3 (MW). 

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on marine environment G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on the coast G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 

Proposal is within 18km from Elenydd-Mallean SPA and, therefore, could pose a risk 
to Peregrine. The proximity of the proposal to a water course may present risks to 
otter that may be in the area (supplemented by nearby records of associated breeding 
sites and structures). 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G 
Proposal is within the Tywi SAC P Sensitive Catchment, however it does not have any 
conceivable effect. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

 

  

T
udalen 84



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 46 of 48 

Proposal Ref Area of Search – Sand 
and Gravel 

Name Heol Clarbeston i Llanfalteg / Clarbeston Road to Llanfalteg Area 803.75 ha 

Observations 
Proposal is located approximately 12km from the nearest boundary of Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and Bosherston Lakes SAC. In immediate 
proximity to Afon Rhydybennau, Daulan and Taf which are connected to Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC. 

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 

The site is in proximity to a water course which may result in potential effects to 
Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC from pollution run-off, particularly during 
construction phase. Nevertheless, these are thought to be unlikely given the situation 
and extent of the site.   

Screened In  

Effects on marine environment I As above. Screened In  

Effects on the coast G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I Proposal is within 16km of Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and Bosherston Lakes SAC. Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the purpose 
of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

  

T
udalen 85



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 47 of 48 

Proposal Ref TRA3/A Name Gwili Railway Extension (northwards to Llanpumsaint) Length 6.43km (approx. 
4-miles) 

Observations 
Proposal is approximately 30m away from historical otter breeding structure record that may support Afon Tywi SAC populations. For clarity, the 
provision of a new station at Glangwili (TRA3/B) has already been built (see W/19935). Length is the combined figure for the individual proposals – 
5.29km and 1.14km).  

Overall 
Screening 

Category Proposal may have a significant effect on a site alone  

Outcome Screen In 

Detailed Screening Results 

Potential Effect 
Screening 
Category 

Justification & Conclusion 
Screening 
Outcome 

Effects on aquatic environment I 

The site is in proximity to a water course which may result in potential effects to 
Afon Gwili (tributary of the Afon Tywi SAC) from pollution run-off, particularly during 
construction phase. Nevertheless, these are thought to be unlikely given the 
situation and extent of the site.   

Screened In  

Effects on marine environment G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on the coast G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects on mobile species I 
The site is adjacent to suitable otter habitat and therefore development may have 
potential impacts on otters from lighting, noise, and disturbance. This is 
supplemented by nearby records of associated breeding sites and structures. 

Screened In 

Recreational effects H 
Screened out at Preferred Strategy stage and conclusion is ‘adopted’ for the 
purpose of this HRA, where no additional material has emerged to the contrary. 

Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Abstraction G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Wastewater G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Phosphorous G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Air Pollution  G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

Effects of increased development: Disturbance, 
Noise and Light Pollution 

G Proposal that could not have any conceivable effect on a site. Screened Out 

T
udalen 86



2nd Deposit rLDP 2018–2033 

2nd HRA Addendum  Page 48 of 48 

Appendix C. Phosphate Assessment 

 

NB: The following Appendix supersedes the previous draft version within the HRA Addendum.   

Tudalen 87



 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to 

inform the assessment of the 

Carmarthenshire Local Development 

Plan 

Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA 
Addendum  
 

 

 

JANUARY 2024 

 

  

Tudalen 88



Arcadis Consulting (UK) Limited is a private limited company registered in England under registered number 02212959. Registered office at:  80 Fenchurch 

Street, London EC3M 4BY, UK. Part of the Arcadis Group of Companies along with other entities in the UK. Regulated by RICS.   

www.arcadis.com i 

Contacts 

 

 

 MARTINA GIRVAN 
Senior Technical Director 

  

     

  e martina.girvan@arcadis.com  Arcadis. 

80 Fenchurch Street, 

London,  

EC3M 4BY 

     

 

 

 

Tudalen 89



 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum ii 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the 

assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local 

Development Plan 

Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 

 

Authors Charlotte Golding; Elliot Blount-Powell 

Checker Jon Lloyd  

Reviewer Renuka Gunasekara  

Approver Martina Girvan 

Date JANUARY 2024 

Version Control 

Version Date Author Checker Reviewer Approver Changes 

V1 22/01/2024 CG; EBP JL RG MG N/A 

       

       

       

       

       

 

This report dated 22 January 2024 has been prepared for Carmarthenshire County Council (the “Client”) in accordance 

with the terms and conditions of appointment dated 19 May 2022 (the “Appointment”) between the Client and Arcadis 

Consulting (UK) Limited (“Arcadis”) for the purposes specified in the Appointment.  For avoidance of doubt, no other 

person(s) may use or rely upon this report or its contents, and Arcadis accepts no responsibility for any such use or 

reliance thereon by any other third party. 

 

 

Tudalen 90



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum iii 

 

Contents 
1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................. 1 

1.1 Background ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Previous LDP HRA .............................................................................................................................. 1 

1.3 NRW Phosphorus Compliance Exercise .......................................................................................... 5 

1.4 Revised Local Development Plan ..................................................................................................... 5 

1.5 Interim and Final Nutrient Neutrality Action Plan ............................................................................ 6 

2 HRA Approach ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

2.1 Introduction ......................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.2 HRA Stages ......................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.2.1 Stages in HRA ................................................................................................................................. 7 

2.2.2 In-combination Effects ................................................................................................................... 8 

2.2.3 Definition of Significant Effects .................................................................................................... 9 

2.2.4 Approach to the HRA Report ......................................................................................................... 9 

2.3 Substantive Amendment References ............................................................................................. 10 

2.3.1 Substantive Amendment References ......................................................................................... 10 

2.3.2 Policy SARs ................................................................................................................................... 10 

2.3.3 Site Allocation SARs .................................................................................................................... 10 

3 Water Quality with Regards to Phosphorus .......................................................................................... 11 

3.1 SAC Phosphate Compliance Failures ............................................................................................ 11 

3.2 Potentially Affected SACs ................................................................................................................ 12 

3.2.1 Afon Teifi ....................................................................................................................................... 12 

3.2.2 Afon Tywi ....................................................................................................................................... 13 

3.3 Consultation ...................................................................................................................................... 14 

3.3.1 NRW Advice for the Review of LDPs13 ....................................................................................... 14 

3.3.2 NRW HRA-Phosphorus Specific Advice .................................................................................... 15 

3.3.3 NRW’s Phosphate Backstop Requirements .............................................................................. 15 

3.3.4 DCWW Phosphate Permitting ...................................................................................................... 15 

3.3.5 NRW Consultation on the HRA Approach for the Non-failing Tywi SAC ................................ 17 

4 Water Quality Phosphates Screening ..................................................................................................... 18 

4.1 Policy Screening ............................................................................................................................... 18 

4.2 Site Allocation Screening ................................................................................................................ 18 

4.2.1 Nutrient budgeting ........................................................................................................................ 18 

4.2.2 Stage 1 rLDP Site Allocation Screening Results ....................................................................... 19 

4.2.3 Stage 2 rLDP Site Allocation Screening Results ....................................................................... 21 

4.2.4 Carmarthenshire rLDP Nutrient budget calculations................................................................ 22 

Tudalen 91



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum iv 

4.3 In-combination effects screening ................................................................................................... 23 

4.3.1 Phosphorus sources .................................................................................................................... 23 

4.3.2 Neighbouring LDPs Site Allocations and Status ....................................................................... 25 

4.3.3 Ceredigion Local Development Plan .......................................................................................... 26 

4.3.4 Pembrokeshire Local Development Plan ................................................................................... 26 

4.3.5 In-combination Nutrient Budget .................................................................................................. 27 

4.4 HRA Screening Stage 1 conclusion ................................................................................................ 27 

4.4.1 Screening Conclusion for rLDP .................................................................................................. 27 

4.4.2 Screening Conclusion for In-combination Effects .................................................................... 28 

5 Appropriate Assessment ......................................................................................................................... 29 

5.1 Approach rLDP Avoidance measures ............................................................................................ 29 

5.1.1 Overview ........................................................................................................................................ 29 

5.1.2 Case Law ....................................................................................................................................... 29 

5.1.3 Potential Policy Amendments and Mitigation ............................................................................ 30 

5.2 Policy CCH3 Revision to CCH4 ....................................................................................................... 31 

5.3 Avoidance Mitigation for rLDP ........................................................................................................ 32 

5.3.1 Avoidance mitigation approach .................................................................................................. 32 

5.3.2 NRW Support for Avoidance Mitigation Measures.................................................................... 32 

5.3.3 DCWW Support for Avoidance Mitigation Measures ................................................................ 32 

5.3.4 Welsh Government Mitigation Measures ................................................................................... 33 

5.4 Avoidance Mitigation – Category 1 Measures ............................................................................... 34 

5.4.1 Afon Teifi Category 1 Measures .................................................................................................. 34 

5.4.2 Afon Teifi Development Phasing................................................................................................. 35 

5.4.3 Afon Tywi Category 1 Measures ................................................................................................. 36 

5.5 Avoidance Mitigation for other LDPs – In Combination Effects .................................................. 38 

5.5.1 Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire LDP Status .............................................................................. 38 

5.5.2 Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire Avoidance Mitigation Development ..................................... 38 

5.5.3 Statement of Common Ground ................................................................................................... 41 

5.6 Avoidance Mitigation for Phosphates from Other Sources – Category 2 measures ................. 41 

5.6.1 Avoidance Mitigation – Category 2 measures ........................................................................... 41 

5.6.2 Carmarthenshire Nutrient Management Strategy...................................................................... 45 

6 Implementation and Delivery ................................................................................................................... 46 

6.1 The Role of Nutrient Management Boards and Nutrient Management Plans ............................. 46 

6.2 Developer Contribution Scheme (DCS) .......................................................................................... 47 

6.2.1 What is a DCS? ............................................................................................................................. 47 

6.2.2 DCS Roles and Responsibilities ................................................................................................. 48 

6.2.3 DCS Policy Drivers ....................................................................................................................... 48 

Tudalen 92



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum v 

6.2.4 DCS Planning Obligations ........................................................................................................... 48 

6.2.5 DCS Monitoring and Phasing ...................................................................................................... 49 

6.1 Grampian Condition ......................................................................................................................... 49 

6.2 Additional Sources of Funding ....................................................................................................... 50 

6.2.1 Welsh Government ....................................................................................................................... 50 

6.2.2 NRW and the Welsh Government................................................................................................ 50 

6.2.3 Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water ............................................................................................................ 50 

6.2.4 Ofwat PR24 .................................................................................................................................... 51 

6.3 Managing and Monitoring ................................................................................................................ 51 

6.4 Pathway to Achieve Targets ............................................................................................................ 51 

7 Overall Conclusion ................................................................................................................................... 53 

Appendix A ........................................................................................................................................................ 57 

Afon Teifi SAC and Afon Tywi SAC opportunities overview .................................................................... 57 

Appendix B ........................................................................................................................................................ 57 

Interventions Matrix ...................................................................................................................................... 61 

 

  

Tudalen 93



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum vi 

 

Tables 

Table 1 - Original LDP SAC screening justification ..............................................................................................2 

Table 2 - Indicative timetable for Key Stages of the rLDP ....................................................................................6 

Table 3 - Summary of DCWW Phosphorus Reduction Scheme by WwTW for Carmarthenshire rLDP ........... 16 

Table 4 - Stage 1 rLDP Site Allocations removed/added for the Afon Teifi SAC as provided by CCC ............ 20 

Table 5 - Stage 1 rLDP Site Allocations removed/added for the Afon Tywi SAC as provided by CCC ............ 21 

Table 6 - Sites screened in for the final Site Allocations as provided by CCC .................................................. 22 

Table 7 - Summary of the reduction in units and nutrient budgets based on the revised list of Site Allocations 

for a 5mg/l TP backstop ..................................................................................................................................... 23 

Table 8 - Summary of cumulative nutrient budget ............................................................................................. 27 

Table 9 - Policies screened in for further consideration .................................................................................... 31 

Table 10 - DCWW Collaboration on Phosphorus Reduction Schemes (headline explainer) ............................ 33 

Table 11 - rLDP mitigation requirements for Category 1 measures for the Afon Teifi ...................................... 35 

Table 12 - Afon Tywi constructed wetland opportunities ................................................................................... 36 

Table 13 - Timeline of projected housing units from the rLDP to be constructed annually on the Afon Teifi ... 37 

Table 14 - In Combination Nutrient Budgets vs. Proposed Mitigation within catchment ................................... 40 

Table 15 - Indicative Milestones ........................................................................................................................ 52 

Table 16 - Summary of Category 1 Measures in support of CCC rLDP ........................................................... 55 

Table 17 - Summary of Category 2 measures available in support of CCC rLDP ............................................ 55 

Table B-1 - Intervention Measures Matrix ......................................................................................................... 62 

 

Images 

Image 1 - Map of phosphorus compliance for the Afon Teifi SAC. ................................................................... 11 

Image 2 - Map of phosphorus compliance for Afon Tywi SAC. ......................................................................... 12 

Image 3 - Diagram showing the overall equation used to calculate the nutrient budget ................................... 18 

Image 4 - Phosphorus apportionment by source for the Afon Teifi34 ................................................................ 24 

Image 5 - Phosphorus apportionment by source at the furthest downstream point on the River Tywi. ............ 25 

 

 

Tudalen 94



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 1 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Background 

This Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Phosphate Assessment Appendix has been prepared by 

Arcadis Consulting (UK) Limited (Arcadis) on behalf of Carmarthenshire County Council (CCC) as part of their 

review of the Carmarthenshire revised Local Development Plan 2018-2033 (hereafter referred to as the 

‘rLDP’). The rLDP is a land-use plan which outlines the location and quantity of development within 

Carmarthenshire for a 15-year period between 2018 and 2033, and will replace the existing adopted LDP. 

This HRA Appendix, alongside the HRA Addendum Report: Deposit Revised Local Development Plan 2018–

2033, are required to address the new Natural Resources Wales (NRW) policies with regards to phosphorus 

standards and associated planning advice. Issues concerning water quality in terms of phosphate reduction 

have been addressed separately to other Substantive Amendment References (SARs) due to their potential 

significance. Aspects beyond phosphate reduction are addressed in the HRA Addendum Report: Deposit 

Revised Local Development Plan 2018–2033. 

In January 2021, following a review of tighter water quality standards set by the Joint Nature Conservation 

Committee (JNCC)1, Natural Resources Wales (NRW) published evidence2 which showed that over 60% of 

riverine Special Areas of Conservations (SACs) were failing against revised phosphorus standards. Excess 

phosphorus can cause increased growth of algae and large aquatic plants, which can result in decreased 

levels of dissolved oxygen, a process called eutrophication. High levels of phosphorus can also lead to algae 

blooms that produce algal toxins which can be harmful to human and animal health. This process also results 

in an overall reduction in biodiversity. As a result of these failures, NRW subsequently issued planning advice3 

to avoid further deterioration. There is therefore a need to demonstrate environmental capacity where new 

development may affect phosphorus sensitive riverine SACs in compliance with the Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017, as amended (Habitats Regulations). Therefore, this NRW ‘advice’ relates to all riverine 

SACs whose drainage catchments extends into Carmarthenshire, namely, the Afon Teifi, Afon Tywi, Afon 

Cleddau, River Wye and River Usk.  

CCC, as the Local Planning Authority (LPA) is required to have regard to this advice given by NRW when 

making planning decisions on individual developments and Local Development Plans (LDPs). As a result, this 

new advice from NRW with respect to phosphorus within Welsh riverine SACs effectively paused the 

progression of CCC’s revised LDP (rLDP) to its adoption stage.  

As a result, this Appendix, rescreens the rLDP, with regards to the potential for their Site Allocations (SAs) to 

impact upon SACs, and sets out the proposed avoidance mitigation to prevent any additional input into SACs. 

This also considers the potential in-combination effects of the LDP of bordering counties. 

1.2 Previous LDP HRA 

For the original LDP HRA submitted in November 20194 seven SACs were initially scoped in for further 

screening with regards to water quality, presented in Table 1. 

 

1 Joint Nature Conservation Committee (2016) Common Standards Monitoring Guidance for Rivers Version September 
2016 Updated from (January 2014) [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
2 Natural Resources Wales (2021) Tighter phosphate targets change our view of the state of Welsh rivers [Accessed 
19/01/2024] 
3 Natural Resources Wales (2023) Advice to planning authorities for planning applications affecting phosphorus sensitive 
river Special Areas of Conservation.  [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
4 Carmarthenshire Revised Local Development Plan (LDP) (2019) Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Deposit 
LDP [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

Tudalen 95

https://data.jncc.gov.uk/data/1b15dd18-48e3-4479-a168-79789216bc3d/CSM-Rivers-2016-r.pdf
https://data.jncc.gov.uk/data/1b15dd18-48e3-4479-a168-79789216bc3d/CSM-Rivers-2016-r.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/news/news/tighter-phosphate-targets-change-our-view-of-the-state-of-welsh-rivers/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/advice-to-planning-authorities-for-planning-applications-affecting-phosphorus-sensitive-river-special-areas-of-conservation/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/advice-to-planning-authorities-for-planning-applications-affecting-phosphorus-sensitive-river-special-areas-of-conservation/?lang=en
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s36546/Habitat%20Regulations%20Assessment.pdf
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s36546/Habitat%20Regulations%20Assessment.pdf


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 2 

Table 1 - Original LDP SAC screening justification 

SAC Justification Source 

Afon Teifi 

Various flora and fauna are at risk from high phosphate loads, such as the Atlantic Salmon: “Among 

toxic pollutants, sheep dip and silage effluent present a particular threat to aquatic animals in this 

predominantly rural area. Contamination by synthetic pyrethroid sheep dips, which are extremely 

toxic to aquatic invertebrates, has a devastating impact on invertebrate populations and can deprive 

fish populations of food over large stretches of river. These impacts can arise if recently dipped sheep 

are allowed access to a stream or hard standing area, which drains into a watercourse. Pollution from 

organophosphate sheep dips and silage effluent can be very damaging locally. Pollution from slurry 

and other agricultural and industrial chemicals, including fuels, can kill all forms of aquatic life.” 

“NRW water quality monitoring (2004 data, quoted in Burgess et al.) has indicated elevated 

phosphate levels in Llyn Teifi and Llyn Egnant, but only a marginal increase in Llyn Hir. Significantly 

elevated phosphate levels may have a negative impact on the Littorelletea feature, and contribute to 

the absence of some macrophyte species, particularly those that are sensitive to nutrient enrichment; 

for example, this may have contributed to the absence of water lobelia from Llyn Egnant (Burgess et 

al.). Possible reasons for these elevated nutrient levels include enrichment from livestock dung 

(sheep) and sediment inputs from stock-mediated soil erosion exacerbated by sheep trampling 

around the shores.” 

Core Management Plan including 

Conservation Objectives for Afon 

Teifi/River Teifi SAC5  

Afon Tywi 

“Discharges put pressure on water quality during a drought as lower than normal river flows mean 

that there is less water available to dilute discharges such as final effluent from WwTW. A drought 

option may exacerbate these low flows and contribute to a reduction in water quality, with potentially 

detrimental impacts on sensitive features in the impacted reach. Discharges impacting the oxygen 

balance and ammonia concentration (to support fish and macroinvertebrates, where these are 

identified as sensitive features) and soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP) concentration (to support 

macrophytes and algae, where these are identified as sensitive features) in the river have been 

reviewed.” 

Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water 

Environmental Assessment of Afon 

Tywi Drought Order (8201-3)6  

Cleddau 

Rivers 

“Among toxic pollutants, sheep dip and silage effluent present a particular threat to aquatic animals in 

this predominantly rural area, especially in the head waters of the Eastern Cleddau. Contamination by 

synthetic pyrethroid sheep dips, which are extremely toxic to aquatic invertebrates, has a devastating 

Core Management Plan including 

Conservation Objectives for Afonydd 

 

5 NRW (2022) Core Management Plan including Conservation Objectives for Afon Teifi/River Teifi SAC [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
6 DCWW (2019) Environmental Assessment of Afon Tywi Drought Order (8201-3) Final [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

T
udalen 96

https://naturalresources.wales/media/682845/afon-teifi-river-teifi-management-plan.pdf
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAQQw7AJahcKEwio3-CFubD8AhUAAAAAHQAAAAAQAg&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.dwrcymru.com%2F-%2Fmedia%2FProject%2FFiles%2FPage-Documents%2FCorporate%2FEnvironment%2FWater-Resources%2FDraft-Drought-Plan-2020%2FEnvironment-Assessment-Reports%2FAppendix-22---8201-3-Afon-Tywi.ashx&psig=AOvVaw1J5EdkdAnxbUEkRBhiZ54u&ust=1673008647564017


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 3 

SAC Justification Source 

impact on crayfish populations and can deprive fish populations of food over large stretches of river. 

These impacts can arise if recently dipped sheep are allowed access to a stream or hard standing 

area, which drains into a watercourse. Pollution from organophosphate sheep dips and silage effluent 

can be very damaging locally.”  

“Pollution from slurry and other agricultural and industrial chemicals, including fuels, can kill all forms 

of aquatic life. All sheep dips and silage, fuel and chemical storage areas should be sited away from 

watercourses or bunded to contain leakage.” 

“Agricultural sources may be one source for increased levels of nitrates and phosphates within the 

rivers, and may also increase the levels of sediment within the river system. Pesticides and 

herbicides that leach into the river can also cause pollution problems.” 

Cleddau/Cleddau Rivers SAC (Special 

Areas of Conservation)7 

Cardigan Bay 

“The limited marine monitoring undertaken in Cardigan Bay has found the water quality to be good 

however sediment analysis has found significant levels of contaminants at several locations in the 

bay.” 

“The majority of the consented discharges to the SAC are of domestic sewage effluent with a few 

being from an industrial source. However, diffuse run off and effluent from agricultural land and the 

continuing impact from historic mining activity (metals) provide the major landward inputs in central 

Cardigan Bay. The scale and significance of contaminant input from outside the site, via the 

movement of marine waters and sediments or the movement of marine organisms (e.g. dolphin prey), 

is not known.” 

Cardigan Bay European Marine Site: 

Advice provided by the Countryside 

Council for Wales in Fulfilment of 

Regulation 33 of the Conservation 

(Natural Habitats, &c.) Regulations 

19948 

Carmarthen 

Bay and 

Estuaries 

“Available nitrogen and phosphorus levels are in excess of the criterion indicating hyper-nutrification 

in the upper estuary which has been linked to high numbers of algal cells and chlorophyll a 

concentrations. In addition, there have been inputs of heavy metals from industry and redundant 

coalmines in the estuaries. Inputs of fine sediments from rivers into all of the estuaries are small, 

compared to other sources of material (inward migration from the sea). This is reflected in the 

character of the estuaries and the habitats within them.” 

Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries/ Bae 

Caerfyrddin ac Aberoedd European 

Marine Site: Advice provided by the 

Countryside Council for Wales in 

Fulfilment of Regulation 33 of the 

 

7 Countryside Council for Wales (2012) Afonydd Cleddau/Cleddau Rivers SAC (Special Areas of Conservation) [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
8 Countryside Council for Wales (2009) Cardigan Bay European Marine Site: Advice provided by the Countryside Council for Wales in Fulfilment of Regulation 33 of the Conservation 
(Natural Habitats, &c.) Regulations 1994 [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

T
udalen 97

https://naturalresources.wales/media/670822/Afonydd%20Cleddau%20plan%20English.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/673505/Cardigan%20Bay%20R33%20Feb%202009.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/673505/Cardigan%20Bay%20R33%20Feb%202009.pdf


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 4 

SAC Justification Source 

Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) 

Regulations 19949 

Cernydd 

Carmel 

For various flora, fauna and areas of bog, nutrient loading was highlighted as potentially having a 

negative impact: “Good water quality is essential to the ecological integrity of the turlough. Increased 

nutrient levels in particular could be detrimental to the characteristic flora and fauna of the turlough.” 

Similarly for species in raised bogs: “Key species (notably peat-forming Sphagna) are highly 

susceptible to increases in nutrient levels, either from run-off from the surrounding agricultural land or 

through atmospheric deposition”. 

Core Management Plan including 

Conservation Objectives for Cernydd 

Carmel SAC (Special Area of 

Conservation)10 

Pembrokeshire 

Marine 

In the Pembrokeshire Marine Action Plan, in order to ensure that maintenance procedures consider 

and reduce the impacts of SAC features, one of the action plans includes: “Where cleaning agents 

are necessary, consider only using non-chlorinated products without phosphate.” This is in addition to 

noting how the importance of changes to grazing may impact nutrient loading, including 

organophosphate.  

Pembrokeshire Marine Special Area of 

Conservation Management Scheme11 

 

9 Countryside Council for Wales (2009)  Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries/ Bae Caerfyrddin ac Aberoedd European Marine Site: Advice provided by the Countryside Council for Wales 
in Fulfilment of Regulation 33 of the Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) Regulations 1994 [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
10 Countryside Council for Wales (2011) Core Management Plan including Conservation Objectives for Cernydd Carmel SAC (Special Area of Conservation)  [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
11 Burton, S. (2008) Pembrokeshire Marine Special Area of Conservation Management Scheme [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

T
udalen 98

https://naturalresources.wales/media/673515/Carmarthen%20Bay%20R33%20Advice%20February%202009.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/673515/Carmarthen%20Bay%20R33%20Advice%20February%202009.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671239/Cernydd%20Carmel%20SAC%20Management%20Plan.pdf
https://www.pembrokeshiremarinesac.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/PMSAC-agreed-ManScheme-2008.pdf


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 5 

However, these original assessments, with regards to water quality, were pending further information from 

NRW. Under Regulation 63 of the Habitats Regulations, NRW are responsible for ensuring that potential 

effects from treated wastewater on European Designated sites are considered as part of a Review of all 

existing Consents (RoC). Under the RoC, discharge consents and water abstraction licences are required to 

have been considered to ensure that there were no detrimental impacts on the conservation interests in 

designated sites a result of these consents.  

In the original HRA it was determined that “The final HRA of the LDP deposit plan will need to seek 

clarification from both NRW and Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water’s (DCWW) over the potential capacity within the 

current post RoC discharge consent limits for further growth. Where allocations can be accommodated within 

the post-RoC discharge consent limits, it can be considered that there will be no likely significant effects on 

European Designated sites. If the allocated development might exceed available permitted capacity, then a 

new or modified permit is likely to be required at the waste water treatment works in question to provide for the 

increased demand, and the HRA would need to consider whether it would be feasible for such additional 

capacity to be provided without any adverse effects on the integrity of any European Sites.” 

1.3 NRW Phosphorus Compliance Exercise  

Subsequently the reliance on the above approach was infeasible for two reasons. Firstly, not all consents 

included Total Phosphorus (TP) limits. Secondly, in January 2021, NRW published evidence following a 

review of tighter water quality standards set by the Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC)1. NRW 

undertook a Phosphorus compliance exercise for Special Areas of Conservation (SACs)12. Phosphorus 

concentration data were extracted from the NRW water quality database for a three-year period from January 

2017 to December 2019 for all sample points within water bodies in the nine SACs designated for one or more 

river features. These were: 

• Afon Eden – Cors Goch Trawsfynydd 

• Afon Gwyrfai a Llyn Cwellyn 

• Afon Teifi 

• Afon Tywi 

• Afonydd Cleddau 

• Meirionnydd Oakwoods and Bat Sites (the Afon 

Glaslyn) 

• River Dee & Bala Lake 

• River Usk 

• River Wye 

The monitoring data published in 2021 showed that over 60% of riverine SAC water bodies in Wales failed 

against revised phosphorus standards. Due to these failures, NRW has issued planning advice13 to prevent 

further deterioration in environmental capacity where new developments can impact riverine SACs in terms of 

phosphorus and thus demonstrate the compliance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 

2017, as amended (known as the Habs Regs).  

This planning advice included the re-screening of all developments and LDPs with regards to water quality 

and phosphates.  

1.4 Revised Local Development Plan 

The emerging revised LDP (rLDP) is a land-use plan that sets out the planning requirements for achieving 

sustainable development in the Carmarthenshire County over the period 2018-2033. The Plan identifies where 

and how much new development will take place, as well as which areas need to be protected for their 

environmental qualities. 

 

12 Hatton-Ellis, T.W., Jones, T.G. (2021) Compliance Assessment of Welsh River SACs Against Phosphorus Targets 
[Accessed 19/01/2024] 
13 NRW (2023) Advice to planning authorities for planning applications affecting phosphorus sensitive river Special Areas 
of Conservation [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

Tudalen 99

https://cdn.cyfoethnaturiol.cymru/media/693025/compliance-assessment-of-welsh-sacs-against-phosphorus-targets-final-v10.pdf?mode=pad&rnd=132557227300000000
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/advice-to-planning-authorities-for-planning-applications-affecting-phosphorus-sensitive-river-special-areas-of-conservation/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/advice-to-planning-authorities-for-planning-applications-affecting-phosphorus-sensitive-river-special-areas-of-conservation/?lang=en


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 6 

The Carmarthenshire rLDP (2018-2033) is currently under examination due to the outstanding issue of 

phosphorus levels in the SACs within Carmarthenshire. The staged progression of the rLDP has been 

informed by the Carmarthenshire Nutrient Neutrality Interim Action Plan14 which progressed into the final AP)15 

that sets out in detail the nutrient assessments that have informed this assessment.  

Arcadis have been involved in delivering the AP and HRA addendum to support Key Stage 4 – Second 

Deposit rLDP for the CCC LDP (2018-2033), which was published for consultation on 17th February 2023 to 

the 14th April 202316.  The current indicative timeline for rLDP progression is presented in Table 2.  

1.5 Interim and Final Nutrient Neutrality Action Plan 

An Interim Action Plan (IAP) was produced as part of the ongoing assessment of the potential nutrient budget 

for the rLDP site allocations and its subsequent mitigation. This IAP detailed the initial nutrient budgeting 

required to offset the total phosphate (TP) calculated with the first list of Site Allocations and prior to DCWW 

confirming the TP backstops for the WwTWs (i.e. the maximum concentrations of phosphate being discharged 

from the WwTWs). The potential mitigation to be implemented within Carmarthenshire for the rLDP SAs was 

also discussed in this report, which introduced the use of nature-based solutions (NbS) as phosphorus 

mitigation. This included the application of constructed wetlands to remove phosphorus and the preliminary 

calculations of how much TP could be offset for the identified constructed wetland locations at the time. 

This document has further evolved into the final AP in line with the updated Site Allocation list and the 

finalised TP backstop of 5mg/l (unless otherwise stated by DCWW based upon their monitoring results).  

Table 2 - Indicative timetable for Key Stages of the rLDP17 

Stage in Plan Preparation 
Regulation 

Number 
Timescale 

Definitive 

Key Stage 1 – Delivery Agreement 5-10 

Initial DA – February 2018 to July 2018 

First Revised DA – publication 

following WG approval, November 

2020 

Second Revised DA – publication 

following WG approval, August 2022 

Key Stage 2 – Pre-Deposit – Preparation and Participation 14 February 2018 – February 2020 

Key Stage 3 – Pre-Deposit – Public Consultation 15,16, 16A May 2018 – May 2019 

Key Stage 4 – First Deposit Revised LDP 17-21 January 2019 – January 2021 

Key Stage 4 – Second Deposit Revised LDP 17-21 March 2022 – July 2023 

Indicative 

Key Stage 5- Submission of LDP to WG for Examination 22 August 2023 

Key Stage 6 – Independent Examination 23 August 2023 – June 2024 

Key Stage 7 – Publication of Inspector’s Report 24 August 2024 

Key Stage 8 – Adoption 25, 25A October – November 2024 

Key Stage 9 – Monitoring and Review 37 Continued following adoption 

 

14 Interim Action Plan (IAP) (February 2023) [Unpublished issued] 
15 Carmarthenshire Nutrient Neutrality Action Plan (AP) (April 2024) 
16 Carmarthenshire County Council. (Feb 2023). Second Deposit Revised Local Development Plan [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
17 Revised Delivery Agreement. (2022) Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 – 2033 [Accessed 
19/01/2024] 

Tudalen 100

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033/second-deposit-revised-local-development-plan/#.Y_3i8XbP02w
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1229526/revised-da-2022-final.pdf


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 7 

2 HRA Approach   

2.1 Introduction 

In addition to the rescreening of all SACs with regards to potential impacts from phosphorus (from the original 

LDP), this HRA Appendix includes the screening of Substantive Amendment References (SARs) of note 

introduced into the rLDP that are relevant to the impacts of phosphates on water quality. The SARs that are 

included in this report refer to changes to wording of relevant policies that include phosphates, as well as 

updates to the site allocation screening process for areas that may contribute to the TP for the affected SACs. 

The full list of SARs is assessed in the HRA Addendum Report: Deposit Revised Local Development Plan 

2018–2033.  

2.2 HRA Stages 

2.2.1 Stages in HRA 

All lower-tier plans and projects that have the potential to impact upon National Site Network Sites 

and/or/Ramsar sites, previously known as Natura 2000 and/or European Designated Sites (regardless of their 

proximity to these sites) are required to comply with the Habitats Regulations18. These requirements of the 

comprise four distinct stages: 

1. Stage 1: Screening is the process which initially identifies the likely impacts upon a National Site 

Network Site of a project or plan, either alone or in-combination with other projects or plans and 

considers whether these impacts may have a significant effect on the integrity of the site’s 

qualifying habitats and/or species. It is important to note that the burden of evidence is to show, on 

the basis of objective information, that there will be no significant effect; if the effect may be 

significant, or is not known, that would trigger the need for an Appropriate Assessment. There is 

European Court of Justice case law to the effect that unless the likelihood of a significant effect can 

be ruled out on the basis of objective information, and adopting the precautionary principle, then an 

Appropriate Assessment must be made. The April 2018 CJEU judgement determined that 

mitigation to avoid or reduce harmful effects of the plan or project on a National Site Network Site 

cannot be taken into account at the screening stage (Stage 1). Where such measures are 

required, a plan or project will require Appropriate Assessment to be undertaken (Stage 2). 

2. Stage 2: Appropriate Assessment is the detailed consideration of the impact on the integrity of 

the National Site Network Site of the project or plan, either alone or in-combination with other 

projects or plans, with respect to the site’s conservation objectives and its structure and function.  

This is to determine whether or not there will be adverse effects on the integrity of the site. This 

stage also includes the development of mitigation measures to avoid or reduce any possible 

impacts.   

3. Stage 3: Assessment of alternative solutions is the process which examines alternative ways of 

achieving the objectives of the project or plan that would avoid adverse impacts on the integrity of 

the National Site Network Site, should avoidance or mitigation measures be unable to cancel out 

adverse effects.  

4. Stage 4: Assessment where no alternative solutions exist and where adverse impacts 

remain. At Stage 4, an assessment is made with regard to whether or not the development is 

necessary for imperative reasons of overriding public interest (IROPI). If it is, this stage also 

involves detailed assessment of the compensatory measures needed to protect and maintain the 

overall coherence of the National Site Network Site. 

Development should be refused where there are adverse impacts on the features for which a site has been 

designated. International and national responsibilities and obligations for conservation should be fully met, 

 

18 UK Gov (2017) The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 [Accessed 15/01/2024] 

Tudalen 101

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 8 

and, consistent with the objectives of the designation, statutorily designated sites protected from damage and 

deterioration, with their important features conserved and enhanced by appropriate management. Further 

information on Habitats Regulations Assessment is contained in TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning.’19 

It is nevertheless important that this HRA identifies the types of potential impacts which could arise from policy 

implementation, and how these could be avoided/mitigated at a later stage (i.e. ‘flagging up’ potential issues at 

an early stage), as well as providing the high-level policy reassurance that future National Transport Delivery 

Plans, LDPs and developers will follow the necessary process to identify and assess potential implications for 

National Site Network Sites/Ramsar sites when allocating land for development. The subsequent LDP-level, 

or even project-level HRAs will need to take into consideration the potential impacts identified in this HRA to 

guide their policy development and ensure that mitigation measures can be delivered, where potential for 

adverse effects are identified. It is important to note that this is how the iterative HRA process ensures that 

plans and projects cannot be consented or implemented without first ensuring that they would not have an 

adverse effect upon the integrity of the National Site Network Sites and Ramsar sites. 

2.2.2 In-combination Effects  

It is necessary for HRA to consider in-combination effects with other projects or plans.  

Where an aspect of a project could have some effect on the qualifying feature(s) of a National Site Network 

Site, but the effects of that aspect of the project alone would not be significant, the effects will need to be 

checked in-combination, firstly with other effects of the same project, and then with the effects of any other 

plans and projects.  

If the prospect of cumulative effects cannot be eliminated, it is necessary to consider how the addition of 

effects from other projects or plans may produce a combined adverse effect on a National Site Network Site 

that would be significant. Taking the effects which would not be likely to be significant alone, it is necessary to 

make a judgement as to whether these effects would be made more likely or more significant if the effects of 

other projects or plans are added to them. Most cumulative effects can be identified by way of the following 

characteristics. Could additional effects be cumulative because they would: 

• Increase the effects on the qualifying features in an additive, or synergistic way? 

• Increase the sensitivity or vulnerability of the qualifying features of the site affected by the project 

proposals? 

• Be felt more intensely by the same qualifying features over the same area (a layering effect), or by the 

same qualifying feature over a greater (larger) area (a spreading effect), or by affecting new areas of the 

same qualifying feature (a scattering effect)? 

In accordance with David Tyldesley Associates (DTA) Publications Limited, The Habitats Regulations 

Assessment Handbook (DTA Publications Limited, 2021)20, it will be necessary to look for projects and plans 

at the following stages: 

a. Applications lodged but not yet determined. 

Projects subject to periodic review e.g. annual licences, during the time that their renewal is under 

consideration. 

Refusals subject to appeal procedures and not yet determined. 

Projects authorised but not yet started. 

b. Projects started but not yet completed. 

c. Known projects that do not require external authorisation. 

d. Proposals in adopted plans. 

 

19 Technical advice note (TAN) 5: nature conservation and planning (2009)  
20 DTA Publications Limited, (2021) The Habitats Regulations Assessment Handbook, DTA Publications Limited. 

Tudalen 102

https://www.gov.wales/technical-advice-note-tan-5-nature-conservation-and-planning


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 9 

e. Proposals in finalised draft plans formally published or submitted for final consultation, examination 

or adoption. 

Plans under consideration may range from neighbouring authorities’ planning documents down to sector-

specific strategic plans on such topics as flood risk.   

A review has been undertaken of projects and plans with the potential for an in-combination effect with the 

proposed development.  

2.2.3 Definition of Significant Effects 

A critical part of the HRA screening process is determining whether or not the proposals are likely to have a 

significant effect on National Site Network Sites and, therefore, if they will require an Appropriate Assessment. 

Judgements regarding significance should be made in relation to the qualifying interests for which the site is of 

European importance and also its conservation objectives. A useful definition of ‘likely’ significant effects is as 

follows: 

‘…likely means readily foreseeable not merely a fanciful possibility; significant means not trivial or 

inconsequential but an effect that is potentially relevant to the site’s conservation objectives’ (Welsh 

Assembly Government, 2006). 

In considering whether the project is likely to have a significant effect on a National Site Network Site, a 

precautionary approach must be adopted, particularly where features are assessed as being in unfavourable 

condition and critical loads are being exceeded. 

• The project should be considered ‘likely’ to have such an effect if the applicant is unable (on the 

basis of objective information) to exclude the possibility that the project could have significant 

effects on any National Site Network Site, either alone or in-combination with other plans or 

projects. 

• An effect will be ‘significant’ in this context if it could undermine the site’s conservation objectives. 

The assessment of that risk must be made in the light of factors such as the characteristics and 

specific environmental conditions of the National Site Network Site in question. 

2.2.4 Approach to the HRA Report  

This HRA Report takes into account the requirements of the Habitats Regulations and relevant guidance 

produced by DTA Publications Limited, 2021. 

This report is an Appendix to the HRA Addendum Report: Deposit Revised Local Development Plan 2018–

2033 which was made available for public consultation from 17th February 2023 to 14th April 2023, which was 

prepared to consider the impacts of the Carmarthenshire revised Local Development Plan 2018-2033 on 

National Site Network Sites, as required under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, 

as amended (known as the Habs Regs)18.  

The purpose of this assessment is to: 

1. Ensure that all Substantive Amendment References (SARs) which have occurred since the First 

Deposit rLDP are considered in terms of their implications upon the HRA process with regards to 

phosphate impacts on water quality. All potential effects of the rLDP alone and in-combination were 

screened out in the previous iteration of the HRA published in 2019; and 

2. Take account of the NRW policy position on phosphates in rivers (May 2021), and subsequent advice 

to planning authorities13. This includes potential impacts from Carmarthenshire Site allocations and 

any other developments within the Zone of Influence.  

This Appendix should be read and interpreted alongside the Submission HRA document, the rLDP, and the 

HRA Addendum Report: Deposit Revised Local Development Plan 2018–2033 which also considers the 

effects of the SARs on the rLDP.  

Tudalen 103



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 10 

The complete list of SARs in terms of policy screening are assessed in the HRA Addendum Report: Deposit 

Revised Local Development Plan 2018–2033, which screen in or out each strategic and specific plan policy. 

However, this report will consider the changes related to phosphate only. 

2.3 Substantive Amendment References 

2.3.1 Substantive Amendment References 

Substantive Amendment References (SARs) are the main changes to the rLDP. Where potential HRA 

implications were identified they were screened for their potential to affect water quality with regards to 

phosphates. They comprise changes of varying substance which relate to policy wordings, explanatory text 

and proposals maps which the Council considers necessary to demonstrate the soundness of the LDP.  

The majority of the SARs are minor editing changes which do not affect the meaning or implementation of a 

policy and sets out amendments to the rLDP to take into account Planning Policy Wales – Edition 11. The 

SARs in this report are centred upon phosphates only. The full list of SARs are available in the HRA 

Addendum Report: Deposit Revised Local Development Plan 2018–2033 which concerns changes beyond 

those that impact phosphates. SARs that have been screened out with regards to phosphate, have not been 

considered further within this report. 

2.3.2 Policy SARs 

For this HRA Appendix, the only policy that was relevant to potential phosphate impacts was CCH4: Water 

Quality and Protection of Water Resources. These changes were implemented to ensure clarity in relation to 

NRW’s phosphate guidance. Additionally, the policy amendments included a change in policy number from 

CCH3: Water Quality and Protection of Water Resources to its current name CCH4: Water Quality and 

Protection of Water Resources.  

2.3.3 Site Allocation SARs 

The Site Allocation SARs as presented in the rLDP have been through an initial screening to remove those 

allocations with the largest potential impact with regards to phosphate. Therefore, the SARs screening has 

been undertaken in two stages: 

1. Screening of Site Allocations from the LDP to remove those with the potential for the greatest impact 

with regards to phosphate to remove these from the rLDP; and 

2. Screening of the remaining Site Allocations, with differing potential phosphate input parameters, to 

confirm the requirement for the preparation of information for Appropriate Assessment.  

  

Tudalen 104



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 11 

3 Water Quality with Regards to Phosphorus  

3.1 SAC Phosphate Compliance Failures  

The riverine SACs whose catchments extend into the zone of influence of Carmarthenshire, are the Afon Teifi, 

Afon Tywi, Afon Cleddau, River Wye, and River Usk. Of these five water bodies, only the Afon Teifi and Afon 

Tywi have been identified as containing site allocations with potential to impact the SAC. 

Out of these two SAC water bodies, only the Afon Teifi (See Image 1) is currently failing to meet the new 

targets. For the water bodies within Carmarthenshire, the failures are mostly in the “low” category, which is 

less than 10ug/l in exceedance of their targets, which largely range from 20 to 30 ug/l P12.  

 

Image 1 - Map of phosphorus compliance for the Afon Teifi SAC.  

Note: Water bodies shaded green pass their target. Other colours fail the target with different colours representing the 

magnitude of failures in µg l-1 expressed as the larger of annual means and growing season means. Greyed out water 

bodies could not be assessed due to lack of data. 

According to the NRW review of Welsh riverine SACs, the Tywi is currently passing its phosphorus targets 

(See Image 2) with some level of environmental headroom available12 (i.e. the difference between the current 

water quality and the water quality targets, therefore additional phosphate could be added without having an 

adverse effect on the SAC). This is separate to a permit headroom at a WwTW, where the concentration limits 

permitted are higher than the monitored concentration of the WwTW discharge. In permit headroom instances 

there is capacity for the WwTW to increase the concentration of its discharge up to the permit limits without 

the need for a change to the environmental permit.  

Tudalen 105



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 12 

Based on the NRW Compliance Assessment of Welsh River SACs Against Phosphorus Targets, the upper, 

middle and lower catchments in the Afon Tywi are all comfortably passing their targets. In all instances the 

mean P concentration is below half of its target and is therefore not at a high risk of phosphorous.   

How this affects the HRA assessment is discussed in section 3.3.5. 

 

Image 2 - Map of phosphorus compliance for Afon Tywi SAC. 

Note: Water bodies shaded green pass their target. Other colours fail the target with different colours representing the 

magnitude of failures in µg l-1, expressed as the larger of annual means and growing season means.  

Image 2 has been created using data presented in the original compliance assessment reports12 and 

subsequent data provided by NRW in their consultation response to CCC on the HRA Approach for the Non-

failing Tywi SAC, see section 3.3.5 for detail / reference. 

3.2 Potentially Affected SACs 

3.2.1 Afon Teifi 

The Afon Teifi in west Wales is a large river flowing over hard rock, with some spectacular gorges in the lower 

section. It is mainly mesotrophic but also has oligotrophic sections in the upper reaches and represents an 

outstanding example of a sub-type 3 river with water-crowfoot Ranunculus vegetation in western Britain. It is 

designated as a SAC for the following features:  

• Annex I habitats that are a primary reason for selection of this site 3260 Water courses of plain to montane 

levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation 

• Annex I habitats present as a qualifying feature, but not a primary reason for selection of this site 3130 

Oligotrophic to mesotrophic standing waters with vegetation of the Littorelletea uniflorae and/or of the 

Isoëto-Nanojuncetea 

Tudalen 106



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 13 

• Annex I habitats present as a qualifying feature, but not a primary reason for selection of this site 3130 

Oligotrophic to mesotrophic standing waters with vegetation of the Littorelletea uniflorae and/or of the 

Isoëto-Nanojuncetea 

• Annex II species that are a primary reason for selection of this site: 

• 1096 Brook lamprey Lampetra planeri The Teifi is a predominantly mesotrophic river in west Wales 

supporting a large population of brook lamprey Lampetra planeri. A mixture of habitat and substrate 

types provides the combination of spawning gravels adjacent to silt beds that are favoured by this 

and other lamprey species. A large number of tributaries have been included in the SAC; these are 

thought to be important for lampreys in the Teifi because the main channel is prone to severe floods 

that may result in washout of smaller ammocoetes. 

• 1099 River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis The Teifi is a large catchment of high conservation value in 

west Wales. It contains a healthy population of river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis. The semi-natural 

channel containing a mixture of substrates and in-stream features provides excellent habitat for 

juvenile lampreys. 

• 1106 Atlantic salmon Salmo salar The Teifi is a medium-sized mesotrophic river system in west 

Wales. In 1999 the salmon Salmo salar rod catch in the Teifi was the third-largest in Wales, and the 

system has not experienced the steep decline in stock numbers seen in many other rivers in the 

area. This is likely to reflect the high quality of the catchment, with a semi-natural channel largely 

unaffected by poor water quality or artificial barriers to migration. However, in common with many 

other Welsh rivers, acidification in the upper reaches is a cause for concern. In common with many 

other rivers in west Wales, grilse are the main stock component. There is a small traditional coracle 

fishery that exploits the salmon and sea trout Salmo trutta trutta. 

• 1163 Bullhead Cottus gobio The Teifi represents bullhead Cottus gobio in west Wales. Water quality 

is generally good, and the diversity of semi-natural habitat and predominance of stony substrates 

provides excellent bullhead habitat throughout much of the catchment. Environment Agency 

electrofishing data shows this species to be widespread throughout the system. Bullheads show 

marked differences in growth and longevity between upland and lowland streams, and the Teifi 

includes sections representing both types of habitat. 

• 1355 Otter Lutra lutra The Teifi in west Wales holds otter Lutra lutra throughout much of its 

catchment. The river has suitable resting and breeding sites along its length. Evidence from surveys 

and sightings suggest the tidal reach is being increasingly used by otters. 

• 1831 Floating water-plantain Luronium natans The Teifi is a mixed habitat supporting floating water-

plantain Luronium natans at the western margins of its range in the UK. This species has been 

recorded in the nutrient-poor standing waters of the Teifi pools in the headwaters of the river. It has 

also been recorded in a moderately nutrient-rich stretch of the river immediately downstream of Cors 

Caron. 

• Annex II species present as a qualifying feature, but not a primary reason for site selection 

• 1095 Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinu 

Prevention of diffuse pollution from one of the principal sources, that is agriculture (the first being WwTW in 

the Teifi) is one of the conservation objectives of the SAC5. 

3.2.2 Afon Tywi 

The Afon Tywi is one of the longest rivers flowing entirely within Wales. Its total length is 120km. It weaves its 

way from its source in the Cambrian Mountains above Llyn Brianne reservoir to the sea at Carmarthen Bay. It 

has been designated for the following features: 

• Annex II species that are a primary reason for selection of this site: 

• 1103 Twaite shad Alosa fallax A large spawning population of twaite shad Alosa fallax occurs in the 

Tywi, south Wales, and is considered to be self-sustaining. Spawning sites occur throughout the 

Tudalen 107



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 14 

lower reaches of the river between Carmarthen and Llangadog, with most spawning occurring 

downstream of Llandeilo. Water quality and quantity are considered adequate to maintain this 

internationally vulnerable species, and there are no impassable obstructions along the migration 

route, though one weir at Manorafon may be an obstacle during low flow conditions. The presence 

of Llyn Brianne reservoir at the headwaters provides the potential to manipulate river flows to aid 

shad migration. 

• 1355 Otter Lutra lutra The Afon Tywi is one of the best rivers in Wales for otters Lutra lutra. There 

are abundant signs of otter and they are regularly seen on the river. The water quality is generally 

good and there is an ample supply of food. There are suitable lying-up areas along the riverbank, 

but there few known breeding sites on the main river, although cubs have been seen. 

• Annex II species present as a qualifying feature, but not a primary reason for site selection: 

• 1095 Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus 

• 1096 Brook lamprey Lampetra planeri 

• 1099 River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis 

• 1102 Allis shad Alosa alosa 

• 1163 Bullhead Cottus gobio 

3.3 Consultation  

Key consultees NRW and DCWW have been contacted with regards to our phosphate nutrient budgeting 

approach for use within the HRA. The following presents the relevant publicly available advice for LDPs for 

HRAs, in addition to the key consultation between NRW, DCWW and Arcadis with regards to P limits. 

3.3.1 NRW Advice for the Review of LDPs13 

“All LDPs should be screened to determine whether any policies are likely to have a significant effect on a 

river SAC.  

Policies can be screened out as not likely to have a significant effect in relation to increased phosphorus 

loading if the associated developments or activities are not a source of phosphorus or there are no pathways 

for additional phosphorus to enter the river environment. 

Any LDP polices relating to schemes for private sewage treatment systems should ensure no adverse effects 

on the integrity of any river SACs where: 

• discharges are direct to surface waters; or 

• discharges are to ground and do not meet the screening criteria set out in this document. 

Allocations for development that are proposed to be connected to a mains wastewater treatment works and 

have the potential to increase phosphorus loading, should be assessed in accordance with advice set out 

earlier in this document.” 

Allocations where there is no capacity for additional wastewater: 

“Where a development is proposed with connection to a public sewer but the associated wastewater treatment 

works has insufficient capacity to accommodate additional phosphorus from new connections or no 

improvements to increase treatment capacity of phosphorus is planned within the Asset Management Plan 

programme, the Planning Authority should undertake an Appropriate Assessment of the proposals. The 

Appropriate Assessment should consider any other mitigation, nutrient neutrality, or avoidance measures.” 

Tudalen 108



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 15 

3.3.2 NRW HRA-Phosphorus Specific Advice  

Under the Habitats Regulations, Planning Authorities have to take into consideration the effect of phosphorus 

from the proposed developments on water quality within SACs. For catchments that do not meet the 

phosphorus targets: 

“…it is possible that new developments can be authorised if it can be demonstrated they will not lead to further 

deterioration of water quality in the SAC water bodies failing to meet water quality targets and will not 

undermine the ability for the SAC to meet its conservation objectives.” 

“This may be achieved if: 

• developments are not a source of phosphorus or 

• developments are a source of phosphorus but there is no pathway for it to enter the SAC river 

environment or 

• measures associated with a given development are put in place so that nutrient neutrality can be 

achieved and that development does not lead to a net increase in phosphorus entering the SAC river 

environment.” 

“In SAC catchments meeting phosphorus targets, it is possible that new developments can be authorised if it 

can be demonstrated they will not lead to an adverse effect on site integrity (i.e. will not undermine the ability 

for the SAC to meet its conservation objectives).” 

3.3.3 NRW’s Phosphate Backstop Requirements 

NRW’s advice concerning discharge to SAC water bodies, requires a 5mg/l backstop (i.e. the maximum 

amount of total phosphorus that is permitted to be discharged into a SAC or a water body draining to a SAC) 

for WwTWs21: 

"The environmental regulators will require a 5mg/l TP permit limit to be applied to wastewater treatment works 

over a certain population threshold, discharging to a Special Area of Conservation. This will be actioned in 

Asset Management Period 8 (2025-2030). The new permit limits give greater certainty to prevent deterioration 

and the statutory requirement to sample and report Wastewater Treatment Works’ final effluent for 

phosphorus. The backstop limit will also give greater certainty to water quality modelling where the new limit 

will replace estimated TP values in previous versions.” 

3.3.4 DCWW Phosphate Permitting 

In February 2023, DCWW published an open letter to its stakeholders outlining progress made on the issue of 

phosphorus in Welsh SACs22. Alongside this letter, details of the Review of Permits (RoP) was published. 

Whilst the RoP is still progressing, many permits have already been issued including for WwTW within the 

Tywi catchment. NRWs public register for environmental permits or licenses hosts the ultimate decision 

documents supporting the RoP, of particularly importance is PAN-018673, a decision document supporting 

the RoP project, which states: 

“We have decided to review and where appropriate issue variations for Environmental Permitting Regulations 

water discharge activity permits from an agreed list of Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water Waste Water Treatment 

Works...  

We consider in reaching that decision we have taken into account all relevant considerations and legal 

requirements and that the permit will ensure that the appropriate level of environmental protection is provided” 

 

21 DCWW Our work in Special Areas of Conservation water bodies [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
22 DCWW (2023) Phosphorus Programme Cover Letter. [Accessed 19/01/2024]  

Tudalen 109

https://developers.dwrcymru.com/en/help-advice/phosphates-live-frequently-asked-questions
https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/-/media/Project/Files/Page-Documents/Our-Services/Wastewater/SAC-Rivers/Cover-Letter/English/Programme-Cover-Letter-Feb23-ENGLISH.ashx


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 16 

In other words, where a permit has been reviewed and issued, taking into consideration its effective date 

(which can vary from immediate to March 2030), it can be assumed that the environmental impact of this new 

limit has been considered according to NRWs duty under Article 6(2) of the Habitats Directive. As such, so 

long as a site allocation is discharging to a WwTW with a reviewed permit that is effective before its planned 

occupation, it can be assumed that there would be no likely adverse impact on the SAC resulting from an 

increased discharge of phosphorus. 

To understand DCWW’s contribution to the phosphorus load to the rivers, and to assess any improvements 

DCWW would need to make to their WwTW discharges, DCWW have updated and re-calibrated their water 

quality models using the regulator and industry standard tool known as SAGIS (Source Apportionment 

Geographical Information System). 

SAGIS has been used to identify and quantify the main sources of phosphorus within each water body within 

each of the SAC catchments. DCWW have produced their indictive Phosphorus Reduction Programme, 

detailing WwTWs likely to require a new phosphorus permit limit, to address DCWW’s regulatory compliance 

needs. 

SAGIS modelling has been used to identify where DCWW must remove additional phosphorus in order to 

meet their ‘fair share’ of the improvements needed. DCWW’s programme states that all WwTWs discharging 

over 20m3/day to a SAC or discharging to a non-designated water body draining to a SAC (i.e., where there is 

no TP limit currently in place), will meet a backstop phosphorus permit limit of 5 mg/l by the end of the 

investment programme (2032)22.  

It should be noted that all WwTWs assessed in this report (i.e., those connected to a site allocation in the 

rLDP) qualify under these conditions. This means that all WwTWs in this assessment discharge over 

20m3/day without a P permit and will be at subject to at least a backstop P limit of 5 mg/l by the end of 

DCWW’s planned investment programme (2032). However, in many cases, agreements will be in place to 

meet this backstop limit or better, well before 2032, Table 3 provides further detail. 

DCWW have released key documents23 relating to their SAGIS modelling and planned phosphorus reduction 

investment strategy under the emerging programme. This will support collaborative efforts with their key 

stakeholders to restore the SACs to favourable conservation status whilst supporting the economic 

development of Wales. The expected completion of this programme is the end of 2032, delivered over multiple 

5 yearly AMP investment periods that will require prior agreement with the Water Services Regulation 

Authority (OFWAT).  

Table 3 - Summary of DCWW Phosphorus Reduction Scheme by WwTW for Carmarthenshire rLDP 

SAC WWTW 
RoP 

Status 
P permit mg/l  

Date 

Implemented 
Permit No. 

Afon 
Teifi 

Capel Iwan Accepted 1.8  2030 BN0054901 

Pencader  Proposed 3.5  2032 BG0007801 

Llanybydder  Accepted 2.5  2025 BJ0091401 

Lampeter  Accepted 0.5  2025 BP0045001 

Tregaron Accepted 2  2030 BH0057801 

Pontrhydfendigaid Accepted 1.8  2032 BN0040202 

Drefach/Velindre Accepted 5  Effective Dec ‘23 BH0060601 

Adpar  Accepted 5  Effective Dec ‘23 BN0112801 

Llandysul Accepted 5  Effective Dec ‘23 BG0010201 

Llanfihangel-ar-arth* Proposed 5  2032 BN0020802 

 

23 DCWW (2023) Understanding the sources of phosphorus in our rivers  [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

Tudalen 110

https://www.dwrcymru.com/en/our-services/wastewater/river-water-quality/sac-rivers


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 17 

SAC WWTW 
RoP 

Status 
P permit mg/l  

Date 

Implemented 
Permit No. 

Afon 
Tywi  

Cwm Ifor  Proposed 5  2030 BN0103601 

Ffairfach  Proposed 5  2030 BH0065401 

Llandovery  Accepted 5  Effective Aug ‘23 BN0202701 

Llangadog Accepted 5  Effective Jul ‘23 BG0040001 

Pont-ar-Gothi & Nantgaredig Accepted 5 Effective Jul ‘23 BN0002601 

*Llanfihangel-ar-arth WwTW currently does not have a proposed date for its new permit. Therefore, the end of the DCWW 

investment programme has been assumed. 

3.3.5 NRW Consultation on the HRA Approach for the Non-failing Tywi SAC 

On 8th December 2022, NRW provided a response to CCC following their consultation dated 21st October 

2022, which sought to establish a common understanding of the nutrient neutrality compliance requirements in 

non-failing SACs24. The scope of the CCC consultation and NRW response was wide ranging, but with 

specific reference to the application of a headroom approach in non-failing SACs, the following key points are 

highlighted: 

1. CCC and NRW were in agreement that phosphorus concentrations within the Afon Tywi catchment 

were significantly less than their targets, indicating that “phosphorus is not likely to be a significant 

concern in these stretches”. 

2. NRW reiterated their advice that “for developments leading to increases in phosphorus discharges 

into catchments of non-failing riverine SACs.  As set out in our planning advice, new developments 

can be authorised if it can be demonstrated they will not lead to an adverse effect on site integrity (i.e. 

will not undermine the ability for the SAC to meet its conservation objectives by causing a phosphorus 

target failure alone or in combination with other plans or projects). There is no requirement for 

nutrient neutrality...” 

3. NRW recognised that developments not requiring nutrient neutrality are likely to reduce “river 

headroom”, which without consideration could lead to water bodies in the Afon Tywi failing to meet 

their phosphorus targets. 

4. NRW highlighted several considerations that may help the local planning authority to consider the 

requirement to apply a nutrient neutrality approach including the rate and pace of development 

coming forward and the application of decision thresholds based on phosphorus export potential. 

5. NRW noted their work with DCWW to review phosphorus impacts of discharges from WwTW in SAC 

catchments. The work will inform a Review of Permits for WwTW and will provide clarity on the 

capacity of WwTWs to receive connections from new development, aiding both the water company 

and planning authorities as part of the decision-making process for planning applications. 

  

 

24 NRW (2022) “Compliance requirements of non-failing riverine SACs” (2022) Letter to CCC, 8th December.  

Tudalen 111



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 18 

4 Water Quality Phosphates Screening 

Policies and allocations previously screened out due to their lack of construction pathway or due to their likely 

scale and distance from the Afon Teifi and Afon Tywi SACs, have been screened in for further consideration 

where this includes occupation that could contribute to phosphates entering into the sewage system. NRW 

provided detailed advice as to the nature of that screening process detailed in the sections below.  

4.1 Policy Screening  

With regard to Policies, NRW advised that “Policies can be screened out as not likely to have a significant 

effect in relation to increased phosphorus loading if there are no pathways for increased phosphorus impacts.” 

This resulted in only one policy being screened in that was firstly, relevant to phosphates, and secondly, had 

undergone SARs.  

The rLDP Policy CCH4 was identified as the only policy that was directly relevant to phosphates and their 

impact upon water quality, hence any changes that were made to the policy are explored in Section 5.2. 

Changes to the policy’s wording are presented in Table 9. Any revisions made to other policies are addressed 

in the HRA Addendum Report: Deposit Revised Local Development Plan 2018–2033. 

Policy CCH4 has had its name altered from CCH3: Water Quality and Protection of Water Resources due to 

what was previously policy CCH1 being split into two individual policies. It has also had its policy wording 

amended in order to improve its clarity and its response in terms of NRW’s phosphate guidance. As a result, 

the supporting text of CCH4 has also been amended to account for the recent update with regard to 

phosphates and will be discussed further in Section 5.2. 

4.2 Site Allocation Screening  

4.2.1 Nutrient budgeting 

To determine the amount of phosphate exported to the SACs due to the rLDP, a nutrient budget was 

calculated. The four stages of the Nutrient Budget Calculator, as shown in Image 3, were followed in order to 

calculate the TP budget that would require mitigation from each of the sites identified as impacting an SAC.  

 

 

Image 3 - Diagram showing the overall equation used to calculate the nutrient budget 

 

 

The nutrient budget calculations are completed as per the following four key stages:  

• Stage 1 - Calculate the increase in TP loading that comes from a development’s wastewater.  

• Stage 2 - Calculate the pre-existing TP load from current land use at the development site.  

• Stage 3 - Calculate the future TP load from land use at the site post-development.  

• Stage 4 - Calculate the net change in TP loading from the development to the SAC with the 

addition of a 20% precautionary buffer; this is hereby referred to as the TP budget. 

Tudalen 112



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 19 

Of the four stages outlined above, Stage 1 was found to present the largest contribution of TP loading. This 

stage relies upon an understanding of the permit limit at the WwTW a given development is due to connect to. 

During development of the IAP, the RoP process was still in its infancy, and as such, there was uncertainty 

around selection of a reasonable P permit limit for WwTW where no such permit existed. This led to a 

conservative estimate of nutrient budgets being produced, which assumed a P permit of 8mg/l at any WwTW 

without a permit. 

As documented in Section 3.3.4, significant progress has since been made with the RoP process, and there is 

now a commitment to achieve a backstop limit of 5mg/l at all WwTW draining to SACs above a dry weather 

flow (DWF) of 20m3/day (this covers all WwTW of importance to this assessment). 

However, there are circumstances where the actual permitted value will be lower than 5mg/l due to existing 

and proposed WwTWs enhancements. For six WwTW locations within the Afon Teifi SAC, implementation of 

a tighter TP limit has already been confirmed, and in two instances (Lampeter and Llanybydder) the works will 

be complete by 2025 (presented in Table 3). Where improvements are confirmed within AMP7 (by 2025) the 

accepted P permit values have been applied to calculations. In all other instances, the 5mg/l backstop limit is 

applied, except in the case of Package Treatment Plants where default values are used as per the calculation 

guidelines. 

The finalised list of Site Allocations proposed to be brought forward as part of the rLDP was provided by CCC 

in October 2023. This list was different from the previous allocations provided by the Council in Stage 1, 

hence the nutrient budget and subsequent calculations have been amended accordingly. The complete list of 

the final Site Allocations for the rLDP are outlined in Table 6.  

4.2.2 Stage 1 rLDP Site Allocation Screening Results 

Arcadis found that within the drainage catchments of the Afon Teifi and Afon Tywi, 42 Site Allocations were 

identified as having a potential effect on these SACs:  

• 28 in the Afon Teifi; and  

• 14 in the Afon Tywi  

No Site Allocations were identified as affecting the Afon Cleddau River Usk or River Wye SACs. 14 

Following this assessment and other strategic considerations, the council planning officers reviewed each 

individual site within the rLDP with a view to “screening out” sites which were deemed unlikely to come 

forward under the rLDP. The Council provided Arcadis with a refined number of sites to be taken forward: 

• For the Afon Teifi, the number of Site Allocations reduced from 28 sites (417 units) down to 15 (189 units). 

The Site Allocations screened in are presented in Table 4 

• For the Afon Tywi, the number of Site Allocations reduced from 14 sites (175 units) down to 6 (104 units). 

The sites screened in are presented in Table 5 

The impact of the first reduction in the number of Site Allocations within the rLDP decreased the TP budget 

by: 

• 49% (486.11 TP Kg/yr to 236.28 TP Kg/yr) for Afon Teifi  

• 43% (191.17 TP Kg/yr to 109.77 TP Kg/yr) for Afon Tywi  

  

Tudalen 113



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 20 

Table 4 - Stage 1 rLDP Site Allocations removed/added for the Afon Teifi SAC as provided by CCC 

Allocations 
Description 
(No. of units) 

Potential Impact pathway 
rLDP 
in/out 

SeC12/h1 17 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SeC12/h2 14 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SeC12/h3 20 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SeC13/h1 10 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SeC13/h2 30 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SeC13/h3 23 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

Sec13/h4 (New Site W39176) 9 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SeC14/h1 20 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SeC14/h2 24 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SeC14/h3 28 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SeC14/h4 7 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SuV31/h1 12 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SuV31/h2 10 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SuV32/h1 6 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SuV33/h1 5 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SuV34/h1 14 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SuV35/h1 6 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SuV36/h1 6 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SuV36/h2 16 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SuV37/h1 20 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SuV37/h2 20 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SuV37/h3 10 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SuV38/h1 6 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SuV38/h2 5 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SuV39/h1 7 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SuV41/h1 19 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi Out 

SuV41/h2 (New Site W40639) 14 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

SuV43/h1 8 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Teifi In 

Tudalen 114



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 21 

 

Table 5 - Stage 1 rLDP Site Allocations removed/added for the Afon Tywi SAC as provided by CCC 

Allocations 
Description (No. 

of units) 
Potential Impact pathway 

rLDP 

in/out 

SuV15/h1 10 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi Out 

SuV16/h1 8 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi Out 

SuV17/h1 35 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi In 

SuV18/h1 15 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi Out 

SeC15/h1 12 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi Out 

SeC15/h2 8 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi In 

SeC16/h1 27 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi In 

SeC16/h2 5 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi Out 

SeC16/h3 5 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi Out 

SeC17/h1 16 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi In 

SeC17/h2 8 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi In 

SuV47/h1 7 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi Out 

SuV48/h1 18 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi Out 

SuV51/h1 8 Drains into phosphorus sensitive catchment - Tywi In 

4.2.3 Stage 2 rLDP Site Allocation Screening Results 

As of October 2023, the Council responded to the previous iteration of this HRA Addendum Appendix with a 

finalised list of Site Allocations, which will be taken forward as part of the rLDP. In comparison to the list of 

screened in Site Allocations in the previous iteration of this report, one site allocation (SuV43/h2) was 

removed from the Afon Teifi SAC and one new site allocation (SuV16/h1) for the Afon Tywi SAC was included 

after initially being screened out. A revision of the SA units was also undertaken, for example, SuV43/h1 

which previously contained 8 units, was reduced to 5 units as three homes had already been built and were 

not required to be included in the nutrient budget. For Afon Tywi, there are currently 7 Site Allocations with a 

total of 104 units. For the Afon Teifi, there are currently 14 Site Allocations with a total of 172 units.  

This resulted in a final list of site allocations for the rLDP (Table 6) as follows: 

  

Tudalen 115



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 22 

Table 6 - Sites screened in for the final Site Allocations as provided by CCC 

SAC Site Reference Name No. of Units 

Afon Teifi SuV38/h1 Maes y Bryn 6 

Afon Teifi SuV37/h3 Land adjacent to Lleinau 10 

Afon Teifi SuV37/h2 Land south of Cae Coedmor 20 

Afon Teifi SuV39/h1 Adjacent Yr Hendre 7 

Afon Teifi SuV33/h1 Land opposite Brogeler 5 

Afon Teifi SuV36/h2 Land at Bryndulais 16 

Afon Teifi SuV36/h1 Cae Pensarn Helen 6 

Afon Teifi SeC13/h1 Adjacent Y Neuadd 10 

Afon Teifi SuV43/h1* Blossom Inn 5* 

Afon Teifi SeC12/h1 Trem Y Ddol 17 

Afon Teifi SeC12/h3 Land rear of Dolcoed 20 

Afon Teifi SeC14/h2 Land adjacent Maescader 24 

Afon Teifi SeC14/h1 Blossom Garage 20 

Afon Teifi SuV35/h1 Land adjacent Arwynfa 6 

Afon Tywi SuV16/h1* Llwynddewi Road 2* 

Afon Tywi SuV17/h1 Rear of former joinery, Station Road 35 

Afon Tywi SuV51/h1 Land opposite Village Hall 8 

Afon Tywi SeC16/h1 Llandeilo Northern Quarter 27 

Afon Tywi SeC15/h2 Land adjacent to Bryndeilog, Tywi Avenue 8 

Afon Tywi SeC17/h1 Land opposite Llangadog C.P School 16 

Afon Tywi SeC17/h2 Land off Heol Pendref 8 

TOTAL   276 

4.2.4 Carmarthenshire rLDP Nutrient budget calculations 

Based on the methodology set out in section 4.2.1 and the sites screened in for the final rLDP (as per Table 

6), the final TP budget for the Afon Tywi is 75.69 TP Kg/year, and for the Afon Teifi 126.45 TP Kg/year as 

illustrated in Table 7. A full breakdown of the nutrient budget calculations can be found in the AP. Nutrient 

budgets per allocation are also presented in this document when exploring potential mitigation options, see 

Section 5.4. 

Tudalen 116



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 23 

Table 7 - Summary of the reduction in units and nutrient budgets based on the revised list of Site Allocations for a 5mg/l 

TP backstop 

SAC 
Previous No. of 

Units 

Current No. of 

Units 

Previous TP 

Nutrient Budget 

(Kg/year) 

Current TP 

Nutrient 

Budget 

(Kg/year) 

TP reduction 

required to 

mitigate 

Tywi 175 104 191.17 75.69 60.41% 

Teifi 417 172 486.11 126.45 73.99% 

Total 592 276 677.28 202.14 70.15% 

4.3 In-combination effects screening 

4.3.1 Phosphorus sources 

4.3.1.1 Phosphorous sources for the Afon Teifi SAC 

To understand the potential for in-combination effects it is important to understand where the greatest sources 

of phosphate are in both of the SACs. For the Afon Teifi, which is currently failing in terms of NRW’s P targets, 

the latest model results from the Phosphorus Source Apportionment Summary suggest that 45 kg of 

phosphorus is discharged from the catchment daily25. It was found that the predominant source of phosphorus 

in the Afon Teifi is WwTW; which accounts for 66% of the average daily load (kg/d). Rural land use contributes 

30% of the daily phosphorus load, storm overflows (intermittents) contribute 3% and a further 1% from other 

sources such as septic tanks and urban run-off.  

This confirms that the P load in the Afon Teifi is largely driven by WwTW discharge. Image 4 gives an 

overview of the source apportionment loads for the Afon Teifi riverine SAC catchment. The Afon Teifi 

Phosphorus Load Overview, which shows a breakdown of the phosphorus load and a breakdown of the 

sources of pollution within each water body has been published by DCWW26.  

 

25 Phosphorus Source Apportionment Summary: Updating the SAGIS River Teifi Model (Dec2022) [Accessed 19/01/2024]  
26 Afon Teifi Phosphorus Load Overview. [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

Tudalen 117

https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/en/community/environment/river-water-quality/sac-rivers
https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/-/media/project/files/page-documents/our-services/wastewater/sac-rivers/load-overview-maps/afon-teifi-phosphorus-load-overview.ashx


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 24 

 

Image 4 - Phosphorus apportionment by source for the Afon Teifi26 

Note: The source apportionment represents that of the boundary of the furthest downstream WFD water body in the Afon 

Teifi catchment (GB110062043563). Load prediction points are plotted at the centre of each WFD water body. 

4.3.1.2 Phosphorous sources for the Afon Tywi SAC 

For the Afon Tywi, which is not currently failing its phosphate targets, the Phosphorus Source Apportionment 

Summary model results show that approximately 60Kg of phosphorus is discharged from the catchment 

daily27. It was found that the predominant source of phosphorus in the Afon Tywi is rural land use; which 

accounts for 86% of the average daily phosphorus load (Kg/d). WwTW contribute 11% and a further 3% from 

other sources such as septic tanks and urban run-off. This confirms that phosphorus load in the Afon Tywi is 

largely driven by rural land use. Image 4 gives an overview of the source apportionment loads for the Afon 

Tywi riverine SAC catchment.  The Afon Tywi Phosphorus Load Overview has recently been published by 

DCWW28. 

 

 

27 Phosphorus Source Apportionment Draft Summary: River Tywi (May 2023) [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
28 Afon Tywi Phosphorus Load Overview. [Accessed 19/01/2024]  

Tudalen 118

https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/en/community/environment/river-water-quality/sac-rivers
https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/-/media/project/files/page-documents/our-services/wastewater/sac-rivers/load-overview-maps/afon-tywi-phosphorus-load-overview.ashx


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 25 

 

Image 5 - Phosphorus apportionment by source at the furthest downstream point on the River Tywi. 

4.3.2 Neighbouring LDPs Site Allocations and Status 

A review was undertaken of neighbouring Councils’ LDPs for the potential for their Site Allocations to affect 

the Afon Teifi and Afon Tywi SACs. The only LDPs Site Allocations with the potential to affect any of these 

SAC catchments were those in CeCC and Pembrokeshire County Council (PCC) and with respect to the Teifi 

SAC.   

The western reaches of the Brecon Beacons National Park (BBNP) are located within Carmarthenshire’s 

boarders, although the assessed rLDP is not applicable to this area (~230 km2) as it is under the responsibility 

of another LPA. While preparation works were started in 2017, the BBNP Authority had to pause the 

production of its revised LDP as a result of the phosphate constraint29. At the time of publication, no updated 

delivery agreement is available and the current LDP remains in force. From the information available online 

(adopted Local Plan, proposals, inset maps and supporting documents), there are no proposed allocations 

which would be within the boundary of the County nor within the shared Tywi P sensitive SAC catchment and, 

therefore, an in-combination assessment is not required. 

 

29 Bannau Brycheiniog Local Development Plan 2 [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

Tudalen 119

https://bannau.wales/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/local-development-plan-review/


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 26 

4.3.3 Ceredigion Local Development Plan 

The Afon Teifi flows through large areas of Ceredigion (its river catchment area includes 44.6% of Ceredigion) 

and the new planning guidance issued by NRW in relation to dealing with phosphate levels in Afon Teifi SAC 

would significantly impact how these communities would develop during the next LDP period 2018-2033 (i.e., 

LDP2). 

Based on the latest NRW planning guidance and evidence base, there is significant risk of the LDP2 being 

considered ‘unsound’ through the public examination process and not fit for purpose, due to the phosphate 

issue being unaddressed. Therefore, at a Full Council held virtually on 21 October 2021, Ceredigion County 

Councillors agreed a pragmatic decision needed to be reached and agreed to a temporary but as yet 

unspecified length pause for the replacement LDP, to allow essential evidence and data to be gathered and 

mitigation options to be devised. In the meantime, CeCC is working with NRW, DCWW, Welsh Government 

(WG) and neighbouring Local Authorities to find both national and local solutions to the issue. 

Although the current adopted LDPs plan period ends in 2022, it will continue to be the Development Plan for 

Ceredigion until a Replacement Plan is adopted. Therefore, those currently allocated LDP sites that are yet to 

be fully developed have been included in the nutrient budgets undertaken by Arcadis in this Phosphate 

Assessment Appendix to the Carmarthenshire rLDP HRA to quantify the in combination impacts on the river 

Teifi SAC. 

4.3.4 Pembrokeshire Local Development Plan 

The Afon Teifi flows through a part of Pembrokeshire and therefore would be impacted by the new NRW 

planning guidance for dealing with phosphate levels, as with Carmarthenshire and Ceredigion.    

This has implications on the location and sites which can be included as allocations in PCC Local 

Development Plan Review (LDP 2). PCC will not be in a position to know which sites can be retained in LDP2 

until further information is received and additional research is undertaken. Further time is therefore required to 

allow essential evidence and data to be gathered and mitigation options on the phosphates issue to be 

devised.    

In addition to any changes required as a consequence of the phosphates issue, PCC is likely to wish to make 

a range of other changes to the Deposit Plan of 2020 (covering the period 2017- 33) in response to 

consultation feedback and as a result of updated evidence / changes to national policy and context, including 

those required as a consequence of Covid-19. 

Therefore, at a Full Council, held virtually on 9th December 2021, Pembrokeshire County Councillors agreed 

to note delays to the LDP2 timetable and approved a recommendation to allow an amended Delivery 

Agreement to be prepared, which includes a return to the Deposit Plan stage. This means that a second 

Deposit Plan will be published for public consultation in the future. The timetable for this is still uncertain as it 

is dependent on the release of information and outcomes of research. Specific dates for this are therefore not 

yet identified. A new Delivery Agreement and preparation of a second Deposit Plan will allow for essential 

evidence and data to be gathered and mitigation options to be devised. In the meantime, PCC is working with 

NRW, DCWW, WG, neighbouring Local Authorities and other organisations such as the Pembrokeshire 

Coastal Forum to find both national and local solutions to the issue. 

The current adopted LDP’s plan end date of 2021 has been disregarded, so that it will continue to be the 

Development Plan for Pembrokeshire until a Replacement Plan is adopted. Therefore, those Site Allocations 

that were considered in the Deposit Plan of 2020 have been included in the nutrient budgets undertaken by 

Arcadis in this HRA to quantify the in combination impacts on the Afon Teifi SAC. 

Tudalen 120



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 27 

4.3.5 In-combination Nutrient Budget  

Planned developments that discharge to the Afon Teifi SAC from the CeCC and PCC have the potential to 

impacts the overall nutrient budget of the SAC and the scale of mitigation required to ensure there are no 

adverse impacts to the SAC as a result of potential future development within CCC, CeCC and PCC.  

In consistency with the Carmarthenshire rLDP nutrient budget calculations (Section 4.2.4), the 5mg TP/l 

backstop has been used in calculations (with the exception of sites connecting to Lampeter WwTW where a 

tighter permit has been committed to within AMP7). 

The additional wastewater from these units generates an annual TP load (Stage 4) of 316.62 kg TP/year and 

40.13 kg TP/year in Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire respectively.  

These values present the TP that is required for avoidance mitigation to ensure that the rLDP does not alone, 

or in combination with other developments, adversely affect the Afon Teifi SAC Table 8. Full details are 

provided in the AP. 

Table 8 - Summary of cumulative nutrient budget 

LDP SAC No. of Units  Nutrient Budget TP (Kg/year)  

Carmarthenshire  Tywi 104 75.69 

Carmarthenshire Teifi 172 126.45 

Ceredigion  Teifi 592 316.62 

Pembrokeshire  Teifi 61 40.13 

Total (Cumulative) 929 558.89 

As discussed in Section 4.3.3, the CeCC LDP (LDP2) 2018 – 2033 and PCC LDP (LDP 2) have been on hold 

following the advice issued by NRW. Ceredigion, the replacement LDP has been on hold since 2020. As this 

LDP develops in the future, there is the potential that some of the Site Allocations in this assessment are 

screened out, or new developments are screened in. This exercise would influence the nutrient budget and 

mitigation requirements in the Teifi SAC catchment. Similarly for PCC, the LDP review (LDP2) has developed 

with a return to the Deposit Stage anticipated, which is yet to be confirmed. The timetable is not yet finalised 

as it is dependent on the release of information and outcomes of research. Specific dates for this are therefore 

not yet identified30.  

Therefore, the cumulative budget is based on the latest information and could be subject to change as the 

respective LDPs are developed for examination and adoption. Should the development of the respective LDPs 

impact the current TP budget and mitigation requirements along the Afon Teifi, CeCC and PCC would need to 

explore any additional mitigation required.          

4.4 HRA Screening Stage 1 conclusion  

4.4.1 Screening Conclusion for rLDP 

From initial nutrient budgeting and Site Allocation (SA) screening selected sites were removed from the rLDP 

to minimize potential phosphate loads on the Afon Teifi and Afo Tywi SACs. This reduced the number of 

proposed SA units from 417 to 172 for the Teifi and from 175 to 104 for the Tywi.  

Liaison and consultation with NRW produced an agreed maximum backstop requirement which has resulted 

in a maximum of 5mg/l for WwTW discharging to the SACs. DCWW liaison and consultation has resulted in 

 

30 Pembrokeshire County Council Local Development Plan Review (LDP 2) Delay to LDP2 Timetable and return to 2nd 
Deposit Plan stage. [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

Tudalen 121

https://www.pembrokeshire.gov.uk/local-development-plan-review
https://www.pembrokeshire.gov.uk/local-development-plan-review


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 28 

knowledge of actual and proposed WwTW discharge rates in these catchments and dates for proposed 

compliance. Some WwTW discharge rates are considerably lower than the 5mg/l maximum backstop. 

Using these SA unit numbers, and the discharge rates, nutrient budget calculations confirmed the amount of 

TP in Kg/year from the SAs. That is, 126.45 Kg/year for the Teifi and 75.69 Kg/year for the Tywi. 

The Tywi is not currently failing its phosphorus targets. The additional TP from the rLDP SAs is very low 

(75.69 Kg/year) compared to its current receiving values (22,150 Kg/year) which equates to a yearly increase 

in phosphate loading of 0.35%. Given that CCC and NRW have agreed that “phosphorus is not likely to be a 

significant concern in these stretches”, it is reasonable to screen out the rLDP SA allocations from 

requirement for information for Appropriate Assessment. 

The headroom approach will be applied, this headroom will be monitored to ensure that this is not being 

eroded and if required nutrient neutrality can be applied on developments on a project-by-project basis in the 

future. 

The Teifi is however failing its targets and is therefore screened in for rLDP SAs.  

4.4.2 Screening Conclusion for In-combination Effects 

While the CeCC LDP is not yet adopted, there are proposed SAs that have the potential to add TP to the Afon 

Teifi catchment. Similarly, the Pembrokeshire LDP while not yet adopted could also contribute future TP to the 

Afon Teifi catchment.  

CeCC contribute the largest potential increase, 316.62 Kg/year of TP from 592 units and Pembrokeshire a 

much smaller 40.13 Kg/year from 61 units. This is in addition to the 126.45 Kg/year from the Carmarthenshire 

rLDPs. In a catchment that is already failing its phosphate targets this is a considerable addition and must be 

considered for avoidance mitigation.  

While the Afon Tywi is not currently failing its phosphate targets, and no neighbouring LDPs drain to the 

catchment, there is potential for phosphate inputs from agricultural sources to erode the current headroom, 

without consideration these could lead to water bodies in the Afon Tywi failing to meet their phosphorus 

targets in the future. Therefore, the Afon Tywi is screened in for in-combination effects. 

  

Tudalen 122



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 29 

5 Appropriate Assessment 

5.1 Approach rLDP Avoidance measures  

5.1.1 Overview 

In order to deliver the rLDP with confidence, that alone and in-combination with other plans, ideally there 

would be no increase in the amount of P entering the Afon Teifi and the nutrient status of the Afon Tywi should 

be monitored and the current headroom maintained.  

To summarise, the screening process for this report is as follows: 

• Policy CCH4 has been screened in for further assessment. 

• The rLDP Site Allocations for the Afon Teifi that have been brought forward and require mitigation are 

presented in Table 4 of this report.  

• The in-combination sites screened in which require mitigation has been presented in Section 4.3, with the 

cumulative budget summarised in Section 4.3.5. 

There are potential solutions with traditional WwTW, associated with water utilities upgrades which have been 

presented in Table 3, however these may not be available in time to permit the adoption and approval of the 

rLDP. Therefore, the use of NbS has been explored as mitigation measures.   

5.1.2 Case Law 

Case law has established some important principles in respect of the reliance on mitigation measures as part 

of the HRA of a plan (as opposed to a HRA of a project). In the case of a project, it is necessary to have the 

details of proposed mitigation measures clearly established before being able to rely on them to conclude that 

a project will have no likely significant effect, or no adverse effect on integrity. However, in line with the 

strategic nature of a plan, it is necessary to outline an overall framework within which later projects can be 

successfully delivered without requiring abnormal derogations from compliance with existing legislation.  

As set out in section C.5.1. of the HRA Handbook20, as a general principle for both plans and projects: 

“all ‘mitigation measures’ should be effective, reliable, timely, guaranteed to be delivered and as long-term as 

they need to be to achieve their objectives. Any doubt about the effective, reliability, timing, delivery or 

duration of mitigation measures, should be addressed by the competent authority before relying on such 

measures during the appropriate assessment and integrity test stages”. 

The effect of the Dutch nitrogen case (Case C293/17 and C 294) ruling31 provides that the expected benefits 

of mitigation measures should be certain at the time of assessment. However, this ruling should be considered 

in conjunction with the standards of certainty established by earlier Waddenzee ruling32, when ascertaining ‘no 

adverse effect on the integrity’ of a site. In particular, whilst the ‘expected benefits’ of mitigation measures 

should be certain ‘at the time of the assessment’, taken together with what is known of the impacts, overall, 

the standard that remains to be met is that there remains no reasonable scientific doubt as to adverse effects 

on the integrity of the site. 

With specific reference to the HRA of a plan, case law has established that it is acceptable in principle to 

include policies within a Local Plan which are conditional upon certain conditions being met. In the case of 

Feeney v Oxford City Council33, in respect of the assessment of land use plans under the Habitats 

 

31 Joined Cases C-293/17 and C-294/17 [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
32 Case C-127/02 [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
33 Feeney v Oxford Council decision [Accessed 21/01/2024] 

Tudalen 123

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:62017CA0293
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:62002CJ0127&from=EN
https://www.pinsentmasons.com/out-law/news/campaigners-judicial-review-challenge-of-oxfords-core-strategy-is-rejected


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 30 

Regulations, the use of a ‘safeguard’ relating specifically to a particular policy within the Core Strategy was 

subject to considerable scrutiny. The High Court ruled that: 

“There is nothing wrong in approving something in principle which may not happen in the future, if the 

condition is not satisfied (para 96)… 

The conditional approval is a permissible and lawful course of action (para 99)” 

In support of this premise, an approach which potentially relies upon matters being finalised after the adoption 

of the plan was specifically endorsed by the High Court in the case of Abbotskerswell v Teignbridge (2014)34. 

In this case, the Inspector:  

“did not consider that safeguards proposed in the plan – the strategic mitigation strategy, settlement and site 

mitigation plans – had to be in place in advance of adoption of the Local Plan”.  

The Court ruled in para 84 that “the Inspector was entitled to conclude that the Local Plan met the statutory 

requirements and was sound”. 

In addition, a nutrient neutrality approach has been subject to scrutiny in the High court in the case of Wyatt v 

Fareham BC35.  

The Wyatt case also explored the issue of certainty and ruled that the presence of uncertainty can be 

addressed by ruling out the possibility of relevant harm to a high standard, thereby removing any reasonable 

scientific doubt. Paragraph 105 states: 

‘By requiring the competent authority effectively to rule out, to a very high standard, the possibility of relevant 

harm, the requirement under both articles 6(2) and (3) of the Habitats Directive is fully satisfied.’ 

In the Wyatt case this was achieved by including a sufficient level of precaution (namely underestimating the 

effectiveness of mitigation measures) to counterbalance the uncertainties, and this approach was endorsed by 

the ruling.  It is important to note that the uncertainty in this case did not concern uncertainty about whether 

proposed measures would be effective, rather uncertainty in how otherwise robust mitigation measures might 

be quantified and applied in a strategic manner. 

This case is discussed further in Section 5.6.1. 

Finally, in the case of NANT v Suffolk Coastal District Council (2015)36, the Court of Appeal ruled that:  

“the important question in a case such as this is not whether mitigation measures were considered at the 

stage of CS [Core Strategy] in as much detail as the available information permitted, but whether there was 

sufficient information at that stage to enable the Council to be duly satisfied that the proposed mitigation 

measures could be achieved in practice”. 

Therefore, when considering mitigation measures to inform a plan HRA, the key question is whether there is 

sufficient information to determine that the proposed mitigation measures could be relied upon to prevent an 

adverse effect to the integrity of National Site Network Sites.  

5.1.3 Potential Policy Amendments and Mitigation  

The HRA Handbook states that ‘Further mitigation measures that may be introduced during or after the 

‘appropriate assessment stage may be case specific policy restrictions or policy caveats. 

 

34 Available at: https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2014/4166.html [Accessed 19/01/2024] 
35 Available at: https://www.townlegal.com/wp-content/uploads/2021-EWHC-1434-Admin-28-May-2021.pdf [Accessed 
19/01/2024] 
36 Available at: https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Core-Strategy-and-DMP/No-
Adastral-New-Town-Ltd-v-SCDC.pdf [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

Tudalen 124

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2014/4166.html
https://www.townlegal.com/wp-content/uploads/2021-EWHC-1434-Admin-28-May-2021.pdf
https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Core-Strategy-and-DMP/No-Adastral-New-Town-Ltd-v-SCDC.pdf
https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Core-Strategy-and-DMP/No-Adastral-New-Town-Ltd-v-SCDC.pdf


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 31 

To be an appropriate restriction or caveat […], enabling the plan-making body to ascertain no adverse effect 

on the integrity of a European site, the restriction must be – 

• case-specific; 

• explicit; and 

• added to the policy and not merely added to the explanatory text or commentary, or not 

merely inserted into the implementation or monitoring   chapters.’ 

Therefore, a combination of strengthened embedded policy and a clear mitigation strategy could be sufficient 

to demonstrate no adverse effect.  

5.2 Policy CCH3 Revision to CCH4 

In order for the provisions of CCH3 to continue to serve as mitigation measures for the screened in Site 

Allocations and other policies, a revision to the wording was necessary to provide for a strategic approach to 

the delivery of phosphorus reduction measures. 

Policy CCH4 has been amended (Table 9) to provide greater clarity of the wording of the policy in regard to 

National Site Network Sites. The requirement for development not to lead to the potential for adverse effects 

on the integrity of National Site Network Sites has been made explicit and the requirement for approval of any 

avoidance mitigation must be agreed with CCC and NRW in advance of any acceptance.  

With these changes, CCH4 will act as both a policy caveat and a policy restriction which can be relied upon to 

avoid adverse effects to site integrity. 

Table 9 - Policies screened in for further consideration 

CCH3 LDP CCH4 rLDP 

“Proposals for development will be permitted where 

they do not compromise or lead to a deterioration in 

either the water resource or the quality of controlled 

waters. Proposals will, where appropriate, be 

expected to contribute towards improvements to 

water quality.” 

“Watercourses will be safeguarded through ecological 

buffer zones or corridors to protect aspects such as 

riparian habitats and species, water quality, and 

provide for flood plain capacity. Proposals will be 

permitted where they do not have an adverse impact 

on nature conservation, fisheries, public access, or 

water related recreation use of the rivers in the 

County.” 

“Development proposals must make efficient use of 

water resources and where appropriate, contribute 

towards improvements to water quality. SuDS must 

be implemented where appropriate with approval 

required through the Sustainable Drainage Approval 

Body (SAB).” 

“Development proposals must make efficient use of water 

resources and, where appropriate, contribute towards 

improvements in water quality. Proposals will be permitted 

where they do not have an adverse effect upon water 

resources, water quality, fisheries, nature conservation, 

public access, or water related recreation use in the 

County.”  

“Where appropriate, nature-based SuDS must be 

implemented with approval required through the 

Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB).” 

“Proposals will be supported if they promote the 

safeguarding of watercourses through ecological buffer 

zones or corridors, protecting aspects such as riparian 

habitats and species, water quality, and providing for flood 

plain capacity.”  

“Development will only be permitted if it can be 

demonstrated that there is no adverse effect on the 

integrity of phosphorus sensitive riverine Special 

Areas of Conservation (SACs). In the hydrological 

catchment area designated for riverine SACs, 

development creating wastewater discharges will be 

required to demonstrate there is no increase in 

phosphorus levels in the SAC. This can be achieved 

through implementation of mitigation measures and 

associated supplementary planning guidance. Where 

evidence demonstrates that adverse effects on the 

integrity of river SAC can be avoided or offset using 

mitigation, these must be agreed with the Council on a 

case-by-case basis, in consultation with NRW.” 

Tudalen 125



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 32 

5.3 Avoidance Mitigation for rLDP 

5.3.1 Avoidance mitigation approach 

This section sets out the potential solutions for phosphorus mitigation within Carmarthenshire whilst the rLDP 

is brought forward for adoption.  

A range of NbS that are technically feasible and can reasonably be delivered in relation to the policies and 

allocations within the rLDP have been presented in addition to the type and quanta of mitigation.  

Two categories of measures have been presented. 

• Category 1 measures – those which allow compliance with the Habitats Regulations and avoid adverse 

effects from the developments arising from the rLDP allocations. 

• Category 2 measures – those that will deliver wider phosphorus reductions across the catchment to 

increase certainty of success, increase and/or maintain headroom and that could be utilised by developers 

on a project basis should this be required. 

These solutions are supported by NRW and DCWW and are discussed in the following sections. The Nutrient 

Neutrality Action Plan provides further details.  

5.3.2 NRW Support for Avoidance Mitigation Measures 

NRW have expressed their position on what intervention measures they will and will not support for 

phosphorus mitigation. These include measures ranging from, Constructed Wetlands (CWs), Sustainable 

Drainage Solutions (SuDS) and Integrated Buffer Zones (IBZs) of trees and grasslands protecting 

watercourses. Further information on the interventions considered for the rLDP and for this HRA are 

presented in 0 and are described in full in the AP15. 

NRW published their final Policy on Constructed Wetlands37 in October 2023. Additionally, NRW have recently 

shared their ‘live’ mitigation menu38 produced with the WG and the Nutrient Management Boards (NMBs). The 

document outlines various nutrient mitigation measures and the evidence underpinning their ability to remove 

nutrients. A full list of mitigation measures including those from the NRW Mitigation Measures Menu can be 

found in 0, with some examples below: 

• Vertical Flow Wetlands 

• Algae Treatment 

• Reed Beds 

• Private Treatment Systems 

• River Restoration 

• Terrestrial Sediment Traps 

• Drainage Ditch Blocking 

• Water Stabilisation Ponds  

5.3.3 DCWW Support for Avoidance Mitigation Measures 

DCWW23 have expressed their position on what intervention measures they will and will not support for 

phosphorus mitigation. For DCWW, wetlands developed alongside their WwTW sites must meet certain 

criteria: 

• Treatment works must have a Population Equivalent (PE) of less than 2000 to minimise wetland 

surface area footprint. 

• Have high enough permit limit to warrant wetland construction. 

• Ensuring whether the trade effluent contains damaging chemicals to wetlands. 

 

37 Natural Resources Wales Policy on Constructed Wetlands  
38 Natural Resource Wales Mitigation Measures Menu  

Tudalen 126

https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/constructed-wetlands/constructed-wetlands-for-improving-water-quality/?lang=en
https://www.gov.wales/river-pollution-summit-action-plan


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 33 

These requirements are documented in DCWW’s guidance document on ‘Collaboration on Phosphorus 

Reduction Schemes’39. The guidance sets out 5 collaboration categories (A, B1, B2, C & D) and for each 

outlines the opportunity to collaborate, potential funding routes, and roles and responsibilities when co-

delivering. Headline summaries for each category are provided (taken directly from the guidance), for full 

details refer to the guidance directly. 

While categories may be subject to change, the preliminary desktop screening aims to provide a starting point 

for focused and well directed Constructed Wetland feasibility studies. These categories are summarised in 

Table 10. 

Table 10 - DCWW Collaboration on Phosphorus Reduction Schemes (headline explainer) 

Category Headline Explanation 

A DCWW WwTW has/will have P limit. No further reduction possible. No collaboration possible 

B1 
DCWW WwTW will have P limit, but potential for further reduction. Collaboration 

opportunity. 

B2 
DCCW WwTW will have non-P driver (Water quality or population growth), potential for joint 

benefit solution. Collaboration Opportunity. 

C 
DCWW has AMP8 driver (non-P related). DCWW will have ‘on-site’ conventional solution. 

further P reduction available. Separate solutions. 

D DCWW WwTW has no NEP investment scheduled. Collaboration opportunity. 

5.3.4 Welsh Government Mitigation Measures 

The WG Relieving pressures on SAC river catchments to support delivery of affordable housing Action Plan 

(2022)40 sets out clear actions, timescales, and responsibilities to tackle pollution in SAC river catchments and 

address planning constraints. Whilst the action plan mainly focuses on the issue of unlocking development 

across Wales, certain themes could be applicable to returning the SAC rivers to favourable conditions, and 

delivering wider benefits, via the NRW Mitigation Measures Menu. The purpose of the mitigation menu is to 

acknowledge measures which have been identified through available evidence as having the potential to 

reduce nutrient input into freshwater environments.  

The All-Wales Nutrient Calculator is soon to be released in due course and will be a unified nutrient calculator 

to directly aid planning decisions on nutrient neutrality and will have the ability to take account of catchment-

level data, local features and needs. It should be noted that the All-Wales Nutrient Calculator builds on the 

Carmarthenshire Nutrient Budget Calculator and subsequent West Wales Nutrient Budget Calculator, both 

developed by the Council and therefore the TP budgets documented throughout this report are final to support 

the rLDP.   

A Task and Finish (T&F) nutrient credit trading group has been established to look at the structures and 

evidence base that would be required to enable nutrient offsetting in SAC river catchments. The T&F Group 

will also look at possible mechanisms for nutrient trading in the future. 

As discussed previously, each WwTW has been allocated a ‘collaboration category’ by DCWW. Where CWs 

are possible, NRW have published a Policy on constructed wetlands41 which clarifies NRW’s position on what 

CWs NRW will support. This policy assists in making an informed decision on the use of CWs for various 

purposes. The Policy covers CWs, wetlands designed and created for a specific purpose. Naturally occurring 

 

39 DCWW (2023) Collaboration on Phosphorus Reduction Schemes Guidance Document  
40 Welsh Government (2023) Relieving pressures on Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) river catchments to support 
delivery of affordable housing: action plan Accessed 09/01/2024] 
41 NRW (2023) Constructed wetlands for improving water quality [Accessed 09/01/2024] 

Tudalen 127

https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/-/media/project/files/page-documents/our-services/wastewater/sac-rivers/collaboration/english/collaboration-on-phosphorus-reduction-schemes-guidance-2.ashx
https://www.gov.wales/relieving-pressures-special-areas-conservation-sac-river-catchments-support-delivery-affordable#:~:text=WALES-,Relieving%20pressures%20on%20Special%20Areas%20of%20Conservation%20(SAC)%20river%20catchments,catchments%20and%20address%20planning%20constraints
https://www.gov.wales/relieving-pressures-special-areas-conservation-sac-river-catchments-support-delivery-affordable#:~:text=WALES-,Relieving%20pressures%20on%20Special%20Areas%20of%20Conservation%20(SAC)%20river%20catchments,catchments%20and%20address%20planning%20constraints
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/constructed-wetlands/constructed-wetlands-for-improving-water-quality/?lang=en


 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 34 

wetland habitats (including bogs, marshes, fens, ponds, lakes and rivers) are excluded from this Policy. It 

should also be noted that NRW endorse the use of Natural England's (NE) Framework Approach for 

Responding to Wetland Mitigation Proposals42, which provides a detailed guide on undertaking feasibility 

studies for CW, designing and implementing the CW. 

5.4 Avoidance Mitigation – Category 1 Measures 

Identification of constructed wetland mitigation opportunities has been ongoing since 2022 with the 

development of the IAP for phosphate mitigation in Carmarthenshire. As this workstream has developed, new 

guidance has emerged including NRWs policy on constructed wetlands41. With this, the IAP has naturally 

adapted the initial wetland locations, identified new opportunities and developed proposals to a level of 

maturity not typically expected of a HRA compliance assessment.  

This section will set out the quantum of mitigation required / available including specific strategic locations. It 

will provide context for how sites have been identified and present a summary of the calculations. Whilst not 

essential reading, the Action Plan sets out in greater detail the technical calculations that underpin these 

numbers (including detailed modelling of removal rates using industry standard models) and detail pertaining 

to feasibility studies that have substantially progressed the maturity of these identified solutions. In brief, 

substantial progress has been made in taking strategic measures forward, which is to the credit of 

Carmarthenshire County Council. 

5.4.1 Afon Teifi Category 1 Measures 

When selecting CW locations, one consideration in the identification of wetland opportunities has been the 

DCWW collaboration opportunities as discussed in Section 5.3.3. A map highlighting these collaboration 

opportunities is included in Appendix A Figure A1. Within the Afon Teifi catchment, eight WwTWs are listed as 

Category B (i.e. where a wetland opportunity could be explored with DCWW support). In the Afon Tywi 

catchment, five WwTWs are listed as Category B. In theory, any one of these WwTW could be progressed in 

support of a constructed wetland, which emphasises the available opportunity within the catchment. 

It is worth noting that the Llanybydder and Lampeter WwTW, highlighted as Category A, are due to implement 

improvements by 2025, as documented in Section 3.3.4, (Table 3). These improvements have been reviewed 

and approved by NRW and DCWW and can be relied upon to mitigate the potential impacts of increased 

phosphorus loading associated with sites SeC13/h1 (discharges to Llanybydder) and SuV37/h3 and SuV37/h2 

(which discharge to Lampeter). 

A second consideration has been the location of site allocations within the catchment. Appendix A, Figure A1 

again outlines the geographical context of the site allocations, relative to nearby WwTWs. When selecting 

wetland locations, care has been taken to position mitigation either upstream of proposed development such 

that headroom is created, or immediately downstream of development such that the impact can be addressed 

close to the source.  

A final consideration has been the feasibility of the constructed wetland, taking into account aspects such as 

flood risk, soils, ecological constraints etc. High-level assessments of feasibility have been carried out in all 

instances and are further discussed in the AP. 

Taking these considerations into account, three wetland locations have been proposed to mitigate the nutrient 

budget associated with Carmarthenshire’s rLDP site allocations. Appendix A, Figure A2 highlights the wetland 

opportunities within the Teifi catchment; these are located at Adpar, Llandysul and Tregaron working from 

 

42 Natural England (2022) Framework Approach for Responding to Wetland Mitigation Proposals. The Rivers Trust and 
Constructed Wetland Association 

Tudalen 128



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 35 

downstream to upstream. These are strategically placed along the Afon Teifi so that they mitigate for the rLDP 

in the upper, middle and lower portion of the Afon Teifi SAC 

The nutrient removal associated with each wetland solution has been calculated using detailed modelling, 

taking into consideration the influent quality, desired effluent quality (assumed in all cases to be 1mg/l) and the 

required retention time amongst other technical / design constraints and assumptions, which can be viewed in 

the AP. A summary of the Category 1 measures identified for the Afon Teifi catchment are included in Table 

11. 

As Table 11 shows, Site Allocations where a constructed wetland has been proposed can be comfortably 

mitigated, often securing a significant contingency whereby the TP removed is in excess of the Nutrient 

Budget required to demonstrate nutrient neutrality.  

This contingency can be expressed both as a TP removed and no. of units released. The calculations show 

that an excess of 418.63 Kg/year will be removed from the catchment which equates to 853 units. 

Table 11 - rLDP mitigation requirements for Category 1 measures for the Afon Teifi 

Group 
Site 

Allocation 
No. 

units 

TP 
Nutrient 
Budget 
(Kg/yr) 

Proposed 
Mitigation 

Wetland Area 
(ha) 

TP 
Mitigation 

(Kg/yr 
removed) 

No. 
units 

released 

 

1 
SuV37/h3 10 1.03 Enhanced WwTW 

(Lampeter) 
N/A N/A 30 

 

SuV37/h2 20 2.42  

Sub-total 30 3.45 Contingency N/A N/A  

2 SeC13/h1 10 4.58 
Enhanced WwTW 

(Llanybydder) 
N/A N/A 10  

Sub-total 10 4.58 Contingency N/A N/A  

3 

SuV33/h1 5 4.15 

Constructed 
Wetlands 

(Llandysul) 
2.50 124.54 167 

 

SuV43/h1* 5 5.55  

SeC14/h2 24 17.02  

SeC14/h1 20 13.68  

SuV35/h1 6 10.88  

Sub-total 60 51.28 Contingency 73.26 107  

4 

SuV38/h1 6 5.46 

Constructed 
Wetlands (Adpar) 

1.25 114.81 148 

 

SeC12/h1 17 12.57  

SeC12/h3 20 15.15  

Sub-total 43 33.18 Contingency 81.63 105  

5 

SuV39/h1 7 4.98 

Constructed 
Wetlands (Tregaron) 

1.88 297.69 670 

 

SuV36/h2 16 20.77  

SuV36/h1 6 8.20  

Sub-total 29 33.95 Contingency 263.74 641  

Grand Total 172 126.45 Total Contingency 418.63 853  

5.4.2 Afon Teifi Development Phasing  

Table 13 presents the timeline of when the projected number of housing units per annum from the rLDP will 

be brought forward. The housing trajectory regularly changes and has been informed in line with possible 

mitigation.  

Tudalen 129



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 36 

Additionally, conditions may be tied to permissions to ensure habitation is concurrent with the delivery of 

mitigation, so planning conditions will be in place alongside mitigation. Therefore, the phasing of the creation 

of wetlands should be aligned with the timing of housing units brought forward. Any occupancy date will be 

subject to planning permission and/or Grampian Conditions (restricting other development until terms 

of a Section 106 are met). 

5.4.3 Afon Tywi Category 1 Measures 

As discussed in Section 3.1, the Afon Tywi is currently passing its phosphorus targets. Considering the 

passing status of the Afon Tywi SAC, the suggested use of available headroom in combination with additional 

capacity to deliver nutrient neutrality, where applicable, creates confidence in this approach for the delivery of 

the rLDP allocations.  

While detailed modelling has not yet been undertaken on the Afon Tywi, suitable wetland areas are available 

across the SAC (Appendix A Figure A3). These could be brought forward to support the headroom approach 

which will be monitored to ensure that the phosphate targets are not breached and to ensure the integrity of 

the SAC.  

Category 2 measures could also be used to remove wider Phosphate pressures (discussed further in Section 

5.6.1). 

As a high-level assessment, Llandovery WwTW is situated in the upper Tywi catchment and therefore a 

wetland situated here would mitigate all the rLDP site allocations within the Afon Tywi catchment (Table 12).  

Table 12 - Afon Tywi constructed wetland opportunities 

Ref Wetland Area Available (ha)* 

Llandovery_CW1 1 

Llandovery_CW2 0.3 

Total 1.3 

Therefore, it is important to note that for the Afon Tywi, there is excess of opportunity to remove phosphate 

from the catchment to deliver nutrient neutrality for the rLDP should this be required. This emphasises the 

viability of sufficient potential nutrient mitigation for the Afon Tywi SAC, to maintain and even improve upon 

the current headroom.  

The TP budgeted will also be phased over many years. That is, not all of the developments will be operational 

at once. Therefore, there is confidence in mitigation delivery to preserve and/or enhance headroom if required 

confirming the viability of the headroom approach for the rLDP and the Afon Tywi.   

  

Tudalen 130



 

 

 Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 37 

Table 13 - Timeline of projected housing units from the rLDP to be constructed annually on the Afon Teifi 

Group 
Site 

Allocation 
Name 

No. 
units 

TP 
Nutrient 
Budget 
(Kg/yr) 

Proposed 
Mitigation 

Comment 
TP Mitigation 

(Kg/yr removed) 

Housing Trajectory (units delivered per year) 

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 

1 

SuV37/h3 Land adjacent to Lleinau 10 1.03 
Enhanced 

WwTW 

Lampeter WwTW RoP 
Accepted new P limit of 
0.5mg/l by 2025 

N/A  

    5 5             

SuV37/h2 Land south of Cae Coedmor 20 2.42      5 5 5 5         

Sub-total 30 3.45 Contingency N/A     ^                  

2 SeC13/h1 Adjacent Y Neuadd 10 4.58 
Enhanced 

WwTW 

Llanybydder WwTW RoP 
accepted new P limit of 
2.5mg/l by 2025 

N/A 
  

  
  

2 2 2 2 2       

Sub-total 10 4.58 Contingency N/A      ^                 

3 

SuV33/h1 Land opposite Brogeler 5 4.15 

Constructed 
Wetlands 

2.50ha Constructed 
Wetland @ Llandysul 
WwTW (Collaboration 

Category B1) proposed 

124.54 

        2 2 1        

SuV43/h1* Blossom Inn 5 5.55 
  

  
  

2 3            

SeC14/h2 Land adjacent Maescader 24 17.02         6 6 6 6      

SeC14/h1 Blossom Garage 20 13.68         5 5 5 5      

SuV35/h1 Land adjacent Arwynfa 6 10.88       5 1             

Sub-total 60 51.28 Contingency 73.26     ^                 

4 

SuV38/h1 Maes y Bryn 6 5.46 

Constructed 
Wetlands 

1.25ha Constructed 
Wetland @ Adpar 

WwTW (Collaboration 
Category B1) proposed 

114.81 

  
    2 2 2          

SeC12/h1 Trem Y Ddol 17 12.57     
  

  3 4 4 4 2    

SeC12/h3 Land rear of Dolcoed 20 15.15       4 4 4 4 4       

Sub-total 43 33.18 Contingency 81.63     ^                 

5 

SuV39/h1 Adjacent Yr Hendre 7 4.98 

Constructed 
Wetlands 

1.88ha Constructed 
Wetland @ Tregaron 
WwTW (Collaboration 
Category A) proposed 

297.69 

  
      2 2 2 1      

SuV36/h2 Land at Bryndulais 16 20.77     
  

5 5 6          

SuV36/h1 Cae Pensarn Helen 6 8.20       2 2 2           

Sub-total 29 33.95 Contingency 263.74     ^                 

 
 

Grand Total 172 126.45 
 Total Contingency 418.63 

           
 

Mitigation measure committed to by third party. 

Strategic Nature Based Solution, delivered by CCC. 

  

T
udalen 131



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 38 

5.5 Avoidance Mitigation for other LDPs – In Combination 

Effects 

5.5.1 Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire LDP Status  

No neighbouring LDP proposals drain to the Afon Tywi and this has been screened out of neighbouring LDP 

in combination effects. 

Arcadis and CCC have considered the sub-set of the Afon Teifi SAC catchment that is situated within 

Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire with regards to potential sites for wetland creation and therefore P mitigation. 

This is in relation to the impacts of planned new developments that discharge into the Afon Teifi SAC from 

both of these counties. Both of these counties have their own LDPs which have not yet been approved and 

adopted due to the changes in policy / guidance regarding nutrient neutrality. These LDPs will not be able to 

come forward until the LPAs have demonstrated their own nutrient mitigation for the Afon Teifi SAC. 

The replacement Ceredigion LDP (LDP2) had been on pause due to COVID-19 since April 2020 on the advice 

of WG. This was followed by a temporary pause agreed by CeCC in October 2021 to allow for additional time 

for researching phosphate reduction in the Afon Teifi SAC. Further work on the issue of phosphates, potential 

mitigations and general nutrient management is now required to demonstrate that proposed development in 

the Afon Teifi catchment is phosphate neutral. Therefore, the Ceredigion LDP2 has not been included at this 

stage.  

Similarly, the PCC LDP 2 was delayed allowing time for further evidence and data to be gathered and 

mitigation options explored on the issue of phosphates. The Delivery Agreement was revised in May 2023 and 

sets out indicative timings for the LDP Replacement Plan. Consultation is expected to commence in January 

2024. The PCC LDP Review has not been included at this stage, as changes to the spatially specific policies 

and sites within the Deposit Plan are likely between the time of writing, and the time of publication.  

5.5.2 Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire Avoidance Mitigation Development 

5.5.2.1 Phosphate Reduction and Mitigation Project (PRAM Project) 

In 2021, CeCC were successful in their application for Heritage Lottery Funding (HLF) in support of a 

Phosphate Reduction and Mitigation Project (PRAM Project) for the Afon Teifi SAC Catchment. Part of this 

funding has been allocated for progressing two CWs to planning. This will demonstrate the nutrient mitigation 

required for the lower portion of the Teifi SAC which accounts for all of the Site Allocations within PCC and 

some of the Site Allocations within CeCC (Namely developments associated with Cenarth, Abercych and 

Cilgerran). Therefore, this would provide avoidance mitigation to allow for the PCC and CeCC Site Allocations 

in this section of the Afon Teifi SAC to be adopted within their LDPs. 

The overall objective of the PRAM project is to progress two planning applications for CWs within the Teifi 

Catchment. The primary objective of these wetlands is to reverse the decline in nature by improving water 

quality and ecology through phosphate reduction. Demonstrating nutrient neutrality is an additional benefit to 

support new developments in the local plans. Alternative measures such as wet woodlands were also 

considered to meet this objective, all in line with the recent Mitigation Measures Menu published by the NRW 

and the WG which provides a list of potential options for phosphorus reduction measures using the best 

available evidence38.  

The PRAM project has identified two sites for constructed wetlands, deemed to have the greatest feasibility 

due to a combination of effective phosphate removal, fewer environmental constraints and the potential for 

wider environmental benefits. These are Cenarth (in CeCC) and Cilgerran (in PCC). Both wetland options 

Tudalen 132



 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 39 

have been considered in detail, including site visits, feasibility studies and detailed modelling to calculate TP 

removal. 

5.5.2.2 Excess Phosphate Mitigation opportunities identified by CCC 

As Table 11 shows, CCC Site Allocations where a constructed wetland has been proposed can be 

comfortably mitigated, often securing a significant contingency whereby the TP removed is in excess of the 

Nutrient Budget required to demonstrate nutrient neutrality.  

This contingency can be expressed both as a TP removed and no. of units released. The calculations show 

that an excess of 418.63 Kg/year will be removed from the catchment which equates to 853 units. 

5.5.2.3 Cross catchment collaboration  

On the 15th December 2022, a meeting was held between Arcadis, CCC and CeCC, wherein CeCC confirmed 

their interest in supporting wetland creation in their county to help offset TP impacts for the entire catchment. 

PCC while not present at this meeting, confirmed their interest in supporting the creation of these additional 

wetlands was confirmed43. A Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) (see Section 5.5.3) has been produced 

by multiple stakeholders, including CCC, PCC and CeCC, with an involvement in the future developments 

within the Afon Teifi and Afon Tywi SACs.  

Using a combination of Category 1 catchment measures, Table 14 sets out the mitigation proposed within the 

Afon Teifi catchment relative to the SAs from PCC and CeCC (as per latest understanding). It includes the 

contingency presented in Table 11 for measures proposed by CCC where applicable (i.e., considering the 

need for mitigation to be placed upstream or directly downstream of development) and also includes the two 

wetland options identified as part of the PRAM project (noting that these would need to be further developed 

and eventually delivered by CeCC and PCC respectively). 

In Table 14, SAs that begin with a “H” (e.g., H0501) are attached to CeCC and SAs that begin with a “HSG” 

are attached to PCC. In addition, the group number is linked with the mitigation proposed in Table 11 e.g., the 

wetland at Llandysul is in Group 3 and has potential to provide mitigation for 5 sites in CCC and 1 site in 

CeCC. 

As illustrated by Table 14, the DCWW planned improvement to Lampeter by 2025 (Group 1) will provide the 

mitigation required for 5 sites within the current CeCC LDP. The wetland proposed a Llandysul (Group 3) as 

part of the CCC rLDP provides contingency to offset nearly all TP calculated for SA H0601 releasing an 

additional 107 units. This leaves 14.52 TP Kg/yr to offset to achieve Nutrient neutrality. However, as 

discussed in 5.5.1 the CeCC LDP2 is subject to change and therefore the nutrient budget and mitigation 

requirements could change. Considering this, no further action has been taken to refine the mitigation 

requirements, noting that further work in collaboration with CeCC could provide the additional mitigation 

required should the full SA be expected once the LDP2 has been updated. 

Wetlands at Adpar (group 4) and Tregaron (group 5) provide sufficient contingency to offset the full nutrient 

budgets for associated SAs within CeCC, once again providing contingency over and above the requirement 

for neutrality. 

The wetlands identified under PRAM, Cenarth (Group 6) and Cilgerran (Group 7) are capable of offsetting the 

full nutrient budgets for associated SAs within CeCC/PCC, with contingency provided. These wetlands could 

therefore also support future developments in relation to the Afon Teifi SAC. Furthermore, this is before 

additional mitigation such as tree planting, SuDS or IBZs, as discussed in 5.6.1, are considered.  

 

43 Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) (January 2024) 

Tudalen 133



 

 

 Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum 40 

Table 14 - In Combination Nutrient Budgets vs. Proposed Mitigation within catchment 

Group SA 
No. 

units 
TP Nutrient 

Budget (Kg/yr) 
Proposed Mitigation Comment/ Contingency  

Wetland Area 
(ha) 

TP Mitigation 
(Kg/yr 

removed) 

units 
released 

 

1 

H0501 12 0.73 

Enhanced WwTW 
Lampeter WwTW RoP accepted new P limit of 

0.5mg/l by 2025 
N/A N/A 236 

 

H0502 20 3.11  

H0503 9 2.17  

H0504 90 16.53  

H0505 105 16.18  

Sub-total 236 38.73 Contingency N/A N/A  

3 H0601 126 87.78 
Constructed 

Wetlands (Llandysul) 
Wetland at Llandysul provides a contingency 
of 73.26 TP Kg/yr or 107 units (see Table 11)  

2.50 73.26 107  

Sub-total 126 87.78 Contingency -14.52 -19  

4 H0401 35 27.33 
Constructed 

Wetlands (Adpar) 
Wetland at Adpar provides a contingency of 
81.63 TP Kg/yr or 105 units (see Table 11) 

1.25 81.63 105  

Sub-total 35 27.33 Contingency 54.30 70  

5 

H0701 36 26.28 

Constructed 
Wetlands (Tregaron) 

Wetland at Tregaron provides a contingency of 
263.74 TP Kg/yr or 641 units (See Table 11).  

In addition, the two WwTW serving these SAs, 
Tregaron and Pontrhydfendigaid accepted new 

P limits of 2mg/l and 1.8mg/l respectively 
under the RoP by 2030. 

1.88 263.77 641 

 

H0702 38 26.67  

H2001 44 27.64  

H2002 19 13.35  

M0701 20 43.47  

Sub-total 157 137.41 Contingency 126.36 484  

6 

H1101 7 4.25 

Constructed 
Wetlands (Cenarth) 

Wetland at Cenarth (CeCC scheme under 
PRAM) 

0.70 149.56 226 

 

H1102 17 11.59  

H1103 14 9.53  

HSG/001/LDP2/01 11 7.68  

Sub-total 49 33.06 Contingency 116.50 177  

7 HSG/020/LDP2/1 50 32.45 
Constructed 

Wetlands (Cilgerran) 
Wetland at Cilgerran (CeCC scheme under 

PRAM) 
0.60 88.7 137  

Sub-total 50 32.45 Contingency 56.25 87  

Grand Total 603 356.75  Total Contingency 338.90 799  

  

T
udalen 134



 

41 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

5.5.3 Statement of Common Ground 

Collaboration is required between the LPAs with potential Site Allocations connected to the Afon Teifi.  

To support this collaboration a SoCG has been created to agree the collaborative approach required for the 

delivery of CCC’s rLDP across various stakeholders and local authorities, including, CeCC, PCC, and Powys 

County Council. The SoCG informs the inspectors of the agreed position of LPAs, NRW, and DCWW 

responsible for SAC catchments draining through the whole of Carmarthenshire, that is the Afon Tywi, Afon 

Teifi and Afonydd Cleddau SAC. 

The partners are: 

• Carmarthenshire County Council  

• Cyngor Sir Penfro (Pembrokeshire County Council)  

• Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authority (PCNP) 

• Cyngor Sir Ceredigion (Ceredigion County Council) 

• Powys County Council  

• Bannau Brycheiniog National Park Authority (BBNP) 

• NRW 

• DCWW 

Although not a legal document, the SoCG clearly sets out the combined approach to addressing water quality 

issues being taken by the parties for the inspectors. This includes outlining the partner organisations’ 

responsibilities and commitments regarding nutrient neutrality mitigation and HRA compliance. The SoCG 

provides further confidence in the successful delivery of the proposed constructed wetlands and that they will 

have the required effect for achieving nutrient neutrality in the Afon Teifi SAC. Ultimately, the SoCG supports 

the delivery of CCC’s rLDP and future growth aspirations. 

5.6 Avoidance Mitigation for Phosphates from Other 

Sources – Category 2 measures 

5.6.1 Avoidance Mitigation – Category 2 measures  

The new development process cannot be held accountable for achieving the wider phosphate targets for 

which diffuse pollution from agriculture and overflows from WwTW contribute. However, it is necessary to 

ensure that the delivery of mitigation measures which serve to create capacity for new development does not 

prevent or hinder the delivery of wider measures to achieve the phosphate targets for the SAC. 

A nutrient neutrality approach has been subject to scrutiny in the High court in the case of Wyatt v Fareham 

Borough Council35. The Court accepted the principles of a nutrient neutral approach to inform decision-making 

under Article 6(3), paragraph 42 concludes that:  

‘The authorisation of an individual project which is no more than environmentally neutral is not inimical to the 

language and intendment of the Habitats Directive and/or the Habitats Regulations’.  

However, when addressing a complaint that this might hinder the delivery of wider duties under Article 6(2), 

the endorsement by the Court of a neutrality approach was provided on the assumption that other steps to 

avoid deterioration were being taken by relevant statutory bodies. The implicit support for a neutrality 

approach at paragraph 42 was reached on the grounds that Mr Justice Jay had44;  

 

44 Available at: https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2021/1434.html [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

Tudalen 135

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2021/1434.html


 

42 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

‘No doubt Natural England and other statutory bodies are taking other steps to avoid further deterioration for 

the purposes of article 6(2), all of which are outside the scope of this application for judicial review.’ 

It is therefore considered that in order to rely on a nutrient neutrality approach (through delivery of Category 1 

measures) the Council will need to be satisfied that other steps are being taken to avoid deterioration for the 

purposes of Article 6(2). Hence the recommendation that certainty is provided by considering the inclusion 

within the AP of both Category 1 and Category 2 measures thus delivering a surplus of mitigation measures, 

thereby providing the level of ‘certainty’ required to conclude no adverse effects on site integrity. 

Category 1 measures will be sufficient to achieve nutrient neutrality and avoid adverse effects to site integrity 

from the rLDP. Responsibility for securing the delivery of Category 1 measures therefore lies with the Council. 

The delivery of wider Category 2 measures will provide the necessary assurances that the delivery of 

development provided for within the rLDP will not undermine or hinder the achievement of the conservation 

objectives for the SAC. Delivery of wider Category 2 measures is a shared responsibility across statutory 

bodies. Ultimate responsibility rests with the WG but NRW Wales have specific powers associated with 

improving water quality and their role will be central. 

Within the AP, the level of mitigation required has been identified along with the range of existing and 

potentially new opportunities that could deliver P reductions. This includes a wide range of existing grants and 

funding options and the existing and proposed strategies of organisations such as those listed in Box 4.2. 

Further details of potential funding sources can be found in the AP15.  

Agriculture is a major contributor to phosphate for both the Teifi and the Tywi. Category 2 measures will 

provide additional support to the confidence that Category 1 measures will be effective in an environment with 

excess P and will not undermine the achievement of the conservation objectives and corresponding duties 

under Article 6(1) and 6(2).  They also provide opportunities for developers to implement in advance of 

Category 1 measures should their timeframes for occupancy require additional mitigation.  

Category 2 measures potentially available to support phosphate reduction in the Teifi and Tywi catchments 

are described below.  

5.6.1.1 Tree and Woodland Planting 

The NRW Welsh Information for Nature-based Solutions (WINS)45 has produced a dataset showing 

opportunities for woodland planting across Wales. This informs discussion on the best way to realise WG’s 

ambition for new woodland creation of 2,000 hectares of new woodland per annum from 2020, rising to 4,000 

hectares per annum as rapidly as possible. The dataset showed that South West Wales could provide ~6000 

ha of woodland, with over half being located within Carmarthenshire. 

5.6.1.2 IBZ 

IBZs or Vegetated Filter Strips have been found to be effective in removing phosphorus from agricultural 

runoff. A study by Zreig et al 200346 found that filter length/width had the highest and most significant effect on 

P removal while inflow rate, vegetation type, and density of vegetative coverage had secondary influences. 

The P trapping efficiencies of the 2-, 5-, 10-, and 15-m-long filters were 32, 54, 67, and 79%, respectively. 

While short filters (5 m) are quite effective for removal of sediment, they are not very effective for P removal. 

For sediment trapping, increasing filter length beyond 15 m is not at all effective in increasing sediment 

removal but it is expected to further increase P removal. These findings were largely confirmed by the EA 

evidence base for 3D buffer strips47 in association with the Forestry Commission. The NRW Mitigation Menu 

also concludes that the nutrient removal rate of TP for riparian buffers is between 31-99% depending on the 

 

45 NRW. Welsh Information for Nature-based Solutions' (WINS)   
46 Abu‐Zreig, M., Rudra, R.P., Whiteley, H.R., Lalonde, M.N. and Kaushik, N.K., 2003. Phosphorus removal in vegetated 
filter strips. Journal of environmental quality, 32(2), pp.613-619.  
47 Environment Agency (2020) 3D buffer strips: designed to deliver more for the environment.  

Tudalen 136

https://smnr-nrw.hub.arcgis.com/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/3d-buffer-strips-designed-to-deliver-more-for-the-environment


 

43 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

width. There are of course other environmental benefits such as greater passive cooling and carbon 

sequestration associated with woodland IBZs. 

Nutrient loss risk modelling and mapping in Pembrokeshire, Ceredigion and Carmarthenshire48 provides 

spatial information regarding preventative and mitigative action on nutrient loss and nutrient enrichment 

throughout the counties. In Carmarthenshire, opportunities for buffer strips have been identified downstream 

of areas with high nutrient loss rates. Along the Afon Tywi, over 23,000ha of buffer strips have been identified, 

with 5000ha along the Afon Teifi. 

Box 5.1 shows an example of buffer strip opportunities within council owned farms along the Afon Tywi and 

similar work could be implemented to the Afon Teifi catchments. 

5.6.1.3 SuDS 

Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 for Wales49, which came into effect 7th January 

2019, outlines the mandatory SuDS standards and requirements developers need to meet before gaining 

approval from the SuDS Approving Body (SAB). Early consideration of the potential multiple benefits and 

opportunities50 will help deliver cost effective SuDS schemes with the best results. Therefore, in tandem with 

the NRW mitigation menu, urban SuDS schemes could provide additional nutrient removal.  

There are a number of policies plans and partners that may be able to support these measures. The AP 

outlines these potential solutions, for example the Taclo’r Tywi project51 run by NRW with a host of delivery 

partners. The project aims to make improvements to water quality and biodiversity. Working with partners, the 

aim is to manage all aspects of the environment in a more sustainable way, so the Tywi can continue to 

support agriculture, forestry, biodiversity, tourism and recreation now and in the future. 

 

48 Environment Systems Ltd (April 2022) Modelling and Mapping Nutrient Loss Risk in Pembrokeshire, Ceredigion and 
Carmarthenshire. 
49 Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 
50 Benefits of SuDS (susdrain.org)  
51 Natural Resources Wales / Taclo'r Tywi - About the project 

Tudalen 137

https://senedd.cymru/media/135obsj4/sub-ld11776-em-w.pdf
https://www.susdrain.org/delivering-suds/using-suds/benefits-of-suds/SuDS-benefits.html
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/our-projects/river-projects/taclor-tywi-about-the-project/?lang=en


 

44 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

 

 

Box 5.1: Category 2 measures on Council Owned Farms – Riparian Buffer Strips.  

Agriculture is the main source of nutrient enrichment within the Afon Tywi. Once mobilised from a point source, 

nutrients can be transported far down the catchment, leading to far-reaching downstream impacts. 

Pembrokeshire Coastal Forum (PCF) have undertaken modelling to analyse the risk of nutrient runoff/loss from 

land across Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire as well as generate potential areas for riparian 

buffer strips to mitigate nutrient loss and nutrient enrichment.  

The modelling first explored the interplay between soil type and slope in determining erosion risk, which can be 

used as a proxy for nutrient loss. The hydrological channel network was extracted from the DTM and buffered 

by 10m to identify areas where buffer strips could be located alongside channels, for effective mitigation against 

nutrient loss. Existing wooded areas, in addition to urban areas and waterbodies, were then masked out of the 

buffer zones to produce the final extent of the buffer opportunities. 

The figures below show the potential riparian buffer strip opportunities within council owned farms along the 

Afon Tywi.  

Bryngwyn Farm and Devanah Farm, Llangadog = 21 ha of riparian buffer strip opportunities. 

 

Bremenda Isaf Farm, Penybanc Uchaf Farm & Pistyllcelyn Farm, Llanarthney = 15 ha of riparian buffer strip 

opportunities.  

 

 

 

Tudalen 138



 

45 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

5.6.2 Carmarthenshire Nutrient Management Strategy 

To support the removal of wider phosphates and to deliver other environmental benefits CCC commissioned 

Arcadis to produce its Carmarthenshire Nutrient Management Strategy in September 202352. This involved 

additional assessment as to the Category 2 mitigation opportunities available for nutrient management and the 

holistic benefits that could be attained through the application of NbS for this. Demonstrating how NbS can be 

utilised to address multiple targets for differing strategies as a result of their multifaceted benefits. Potential 

delivery partners, funding and stakeholders were also considered as part of this strategy. Example of available 

funding are presented in Box 5.2, additional information is available in the Strategy.  

The Strategy will feed into how CCC approaches their nutrient management and will serve as important 

guidance for an integrated response to the challenges of delivering nutrient neutrality. The Intervention 

Measures Matrix produced as part of the strategy is appended to this HRA Addendum (Appendix B). 

 

  

 

52 Carmarthenshire Nutrient Management Strategy (April 2024) 

Box 5.2: Examples of Funded Organisations Working to Improve Water Quality  

Natural Resources Wales: 

• Welsh Government Grant In Aid; this funding is available to deliver measures in Sites of 

Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) in order to move 

the designated species and habitats closer to ‘favourable’ status. In 2021, this funding was an 

annual Biodiversity & Ecosystem Fund and from 2022 will become a ‘multiyear’ fund. 

• Welsh Government Strategic Allocated Funding; provides funding for a five-year plan for 

the improvement of fish and fish habitat in Wales. This fund is known to be being used in other 

Welsh catchments to undertake catchment measures which reduce nutrient input to 

watercourses. 

• European Sustainable Fisheries Funding; this is available for annual ad-hoc bids for specific 

projects and includes catchment measures to reduce nutrient input to watercourses. 

• Welsh Government Water Quality Capital Fund; this is used to fund improvements in water 

quality such as reducing nutrients for Water Framework Directive (WFD) targets and in 2021, 

£1.8m was available for such work. 

Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water:  

• DCWW receive funding via their customer bills through a five-year program called Asset 

Management Plan. This multi-million-pound funding includes improvements to sewage 

treatment works and storm overflows resulting in a reduced amount of phosphorus entering the 

watercourses. The drivers for this can include WFD and Habitats Directive (SAC) targets. 

• DCWW have made available the Environment Fund which aims to provide financial support to 

projects that will benefit and enhance biodiversity at or near DCWW sites. DCWW are also 

enabling third party funded wetlands whereby effluent at DCWW sewage treatment works is 

directed to a wetland to garner additional polishing for P removal. Note – this is currently in 

England only. 

 

Tudalen 139



 

46 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

6 Implementation and Delivery 

This section sets out the steps required to implement and deliver the mitigation measures outlined in this 

document such that development within the rLDP can commence alongside the necessary reductions in 

phosphorus. Full details are provided in the AP.  

6.1 The Role of Nutrient Management Boards and Nutrient 

Management Plans 

NRW and WG provide a clear direction on the role and function of the Nutrient Management Board (NMBs), 

as well as work together to provide sufficient levels of funding for 2023-24 and 2024-25 and then to explore 

future funding options.  

The NMB is responsible for identifying and delivering actions that achieve the phosphorus favourable 

conservation target of a river that is deemed a SAC, whilst also meeting socio economic needs of its 

surrounding communities. Three NMBs have been formed in West Wales; the Afon Tywi NMB, the Afon 

Cleddau NMB and the Afon Teifi NMB. 

They are the responsible bodies for ensuring the delivery of the Conservation Objectives for the SACs and will 

provide oversight and direction to all involved in delivering the Nutrient Management Plan (NMP). 

To date, the WG have made available almost £1.5 million of funding to enable the NMBs to produce Nutrient 

Management Plans. These plans, and their implementation, provide the mechanism by which NMBs progress 

action to improve water quality in order to restore and conserve favourable condition status on SAC rivers, 

whilst also allowing development to continue within these catchments without increasing the phosphorus 

loading. This will address the pressing need to enable the construction of more affordable housing now, while 

at the same time, making progress on improving river health and achieving favourable conservation status.  

The NMP identifies sources of nutrients that are entering the river and steps that can be taken to manage 

them. 

The NMP comprises of three parts: 

• evidence base (finalised) 

• options appraisal (finalised) 

• action plan (first iteration) 

These NMP’s will also consolidate the efforts being undertaken within the SACs as there is already significant 

work underway throughout the Teifi catchment to improve water quality. For example, in November 2023, 

NRW launched a new multi-year initiative - the ‘Teifi Demonstrator Catchment’ project53. This is a cross-

sectoral collaboration project supported by WG and aimed at improving water management in the Teifi 

catchment. The launch of the project was marked by a stakeholder engagement event convened by NRW 

Chair Sir David Henshaw and attended by key partners including the Rivers Trusts, Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water, 

the Farming Unions and Local Authorities. 

It will complement and support the good work already happening in the catchment, building on existing 

ambitious river restoration projects like our Four Rivers for LIFE project54 and the work of the Teifi Nutrient 

Management Board. 

This project is about thinking differently and using innovative solutions to make things happen, with focus on 

how value and additionality can be demonstrated. It is hoped that the work in the Teifi catchment will be used 

 

53 Natural Resources Wales / Tackling the Teifi – landowners, industries and regulators join forces for pilot ‘demonstrator 
catchment’ project 
54 Four Rivers for LIFE project 

Tudalen 140

https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/news-and-blogs/blogs/tackling-the-teifi-landowners-industries-and-regulators-join-forces-for-pilot-demonstrator-catchment-project/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/news-and-blogs/blogs/tackling-the-teifi-landowners-industries-and-regulators-join-forces-for-pilot-demonstrator-catchment-project/?lang=en
https://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en


 

47 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

to develop a ‘best practice’ model which can subsequently be replicated across all of Wales’ catchments. This 

project will form part of the wider holistic approach being taken to improve water quality and riverine ecology. 

Nutrient Management Plans have been commissioned for all three SACs within Carmarthenshire and will be 

delivered in 2024. 

6.2 Developer Contribution Scheme (DCS) 

6.2.1 What is a DCS? 

A potential mechanism that could help to deliver the mitigation required to facilitate the rLDP is a Developer 

Contribution Scheme (DCS). A DCS would be applicable to all residential development predicted to lead to a 

net increase in phosphorus load discharged to either the Afon Teifi or Afon Tywi SACs where nutrient 

neutrality is required. 

A developer contribution is made by a landowner or developer to ensure that, where planning permission is 

granted for new development, any impact on the environment is in accordance with appropriate regulatory 

obligation and the infrastructure necessary to support the development is provided. By securing these 

contributions, planning authorities can help to improve the quality and sustainability of individual development 

schemes and their acceptability to local communities. 

A DCS would provide a strategic approach to mitigation that facilitates the delivery of new development within 

the catchments. Under a DCS, phosphorus mitigation costs are matched proportionally to each development 

based on the additional phosphorus generated. A DCS would need to be developed alongside rLDP adoption 

with supplementary guidance if appropriate. 

It is recommended that a DCS is prepared with key stakeholders, as one of the measures within the Afon Teifi 

SAC, with this approach to be confirmed on the Afon Tywi should nutrient neutrality be required. 

It should be delivered alongside other wider measures within the remit of the recently appointed NMB. It is 

recommended that any DCS is prepared as a “living” document, i.e., one that evolves iteratively as the 

evidence base changes or if the costs associated with mitigation measures changes. 

Further to the above, it is important to recognise that a DCS is not the only means of securing funding for 

mitigation. As set out in the Intervention Measures Matrix in Appendix B, there are multiple funding streams 

available for phosphorus mitigation within the catchments, particularly when considering the multiple benefits 

afforded by certain nature-based solutions, such as constructed wetlands. Here, the DCS must again be 

flexible to ensure that as funding is secured by other means, the costs apportioned to development are 

appropriately adjusted. 

Finally, the DCS should be not seen as the only option available to developers when bringing sites forward 

through the rLDP. When making an application, a developer could ask the authority to assess their application 

separately from the DCS. The council would therefore remain open to considering any bespoke mitigation 

proposals brought forward on a case-by-case basis. Consequently, the DCS would not be publicly consulted 

on, instead it would represent an agreed way forward, but not the only option available to developers in 

securing the phosphorus mitigation required for their development. 

An alternative option to enable developers to make a financial contribution to P reduction is through setting up 

a phosphate credit scheme. Where a separate offsite council led P mitigation scheme is constructed, 

developers can make a financial contribution by purchasing credits from the associated council scheme to 

offset any additional P loading from their development.  Such phosphate credit schemes have been utilised in 

Tudalen 141



 

48 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

Somerset and also in Herefordshire where the Council priced credits at £14,000 (+VAT) per kilogram of offset 

required per year to meet neutrality in the River Lugg SAC55.   

Details of calculations to inform the contributions for each development are presented in the AP.  

6.2.2 DCS Roles and Responsibilities 

The responsibility for the DCS would lie with the LPA. NRW would be consulted in preparing the DCS in their 

role as an appropriate nature conservation body advising on Habitats Regulations. Advice from NRW should 

be sought on specific technical aspects of the DCS e.g., developing guidance around calculating phosphorus 

savings from mitigation measures. 

6.2.3 DCS Policy Drivers 

The 2nd Deposit rLDP (2018-2033) went to public consultation in February 2023. Strategic policy “SP9: 

Infrastructure” will be a key policy driver. This overarching strategic policy supports the principals of planning 

obligations in considering the need for development proposals to demonstrate that there is sufficient capacity 

in the existing infrastructure to deliver and support the proposed development. Where this cannot be 

achieved, the proposals will need to demonstrate that suitable arrangements are in place to provide the 

infrastructure capacity considered necessary to deliver and support the development. 

Within this policy, utility services are given specific mention, as well as biodiversity and environmental 

protection. Under these elements, phosphorus mitigation could be considered and a DCS could provide the 

mechanism for developers to assess their level of contribution needed towards specific mitigation measures. 

Strategic Policy “SP12: Placemaking, Sustainability Places” also offers a useful mechanism to ensure 

developments contribute positively to nutrient management within the Teifi and Tywi SACs. Within this policy, 

protection of or enhancement of biodiversity is required. This would necessitate developments to consider the 

additional phosphorus generated by their development and deliver measures to mitigate accordingly. 

Furthermore, this would ensure developers consider on-site mitigation measures such as SuDS as standard.  

On SuDS, further understanding is required as to their likely contribution to phosphorus reduction. This should 

be considered in line with new guidance (see Section 7.1 within the Nutrient Neutrality AP15) and in the event 

that more certainty is placed on the potential for SuDS to remove phosphorus and this is accepted by NRW, a 

developer could put forward plans for on-site mitigation that reduces their requirement for off-site mitigation. 

As discussed previously, any DCS put forward must be flexible to these proposals such that costs are 

proportional and offer developers options to bring forward their own mitigation to safeguard the natural 

environment. 

Strategic Policy “CCH4: Water Quality and Protection of Water Resources” also places requirement on 

developments that are in line with the AP for phosphorus mitigation.  

In this regard, the policy mechanisms to ensure delivery of the appropriate phosphorus mitigation required 

already exist and are clear in their remit. This HRA confirms this and planning obligations will then be 

actionable. A DCS would then act as a mechanism by which developers would bring forward their sites whilst 

contributing towards the necessary mitigation. 

6.2.4 DCS Planning Obligations 

Developer contributions are normally secured through a “planning obligation”. This is a legal commitment by 

the developer to secure a contribution (in cash or in kind) to address community, infrastructure or 

environmental improvement needs associated with development. It may be a bilateral agreement between the 

LPA and the developer, or simply a unilateral undertaking by the developer to provide the same. These are a 

 

55 Herefordshire Council (2023) Phosphate Credit FAQs (herefordshire.gov.uk) [Accessed 19/01/2024] 

Tudalen 142

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/23938/phosphate-credits-faqs-15-june-2022


 

49 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

proper and recognised part of the planning system and are normally entered into under Section 106 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

Planning obligations can be used to secure benefits on the development site itself or on other suitable sites 

close to the proposed development (as long as they are directly related to the development). Developers may 

be requested to make a payment of money to the relevant LPA, to be spent on agreed benefits or for the 

maintenance of them. 

Historically, planning obligations have tended to be used to secure infrastructure improvements only from a 

limited number of sites. However, in respect of the impacts on the Afon Tywi and Afon Teifi, the DCS provides 

a strategic approach to offsetting the negative effects of development and includes a mechanism for gaining 

contributions from all new development which connects to mains drainage, and non-mains development 

where it is considered to be appropriate. 

Developer contributions can reasonably be secured in respect of: 

• Actual implementation of measures (i.e., costs to actually do the work); 

• Staff resource to oversee and co-ordinate implementation; 

• Compensation to landowners where measures involve a change of use; 

• The long-term (in perpetuity) maintenance and management of mitigation; and 

• Monitoring the effectiveness of mitigation measures. 

In principle, planning obligations could be used to fund improvements of WwTWs, particularly if development 

came forward before planned upgrades to WwTWs. Further discussions are needed with the statutory water 

undertaker, DCWW and NRW as regulator before any commitment was made to this effect. 

Regulation 123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulation prevents the imposition of planning 

obligations for “infrastructure”, if five or more separate planning obligations which provide for the funding or 

provision of that type of infrastructure have been entered into on or after 6th April 2010. However, the 

measures to be funded through the DCS are “environmental protection measures” and fall outside the 

definition of infrastructure (S 216 (1) Planning Act 2008) so are not subject to pooling restrictions. 

6.2.5 DCS Monitoring and Phasing 

It will be necessary to manage and monitor phosphorus budgets during the course of the adopted LDP to 

confirm that there is sufficient mitigation. For many reasons additional phosphorus budgeting could be 

required e.g., permissions are allocated a budget, but permissions are not commenced/completed, or housing 

delivery exceeds LDP delivery schedule. Monitoring will give advance notice if there is a need to release 

additional mitigation measures. It might be appropriate to manage mitigation in development ‘windows’ 

matching the LDP delivery schedule, this is a matter to be determined in preparing a DCS.  

No new developments will be granted permission unless the required mitigation measures have been 

demonstrated via a project level HRA undertaken to the appropriate level.  

There are a range of options in addition to NbS that could provide short term mitigation in advance of longer-

term solutions, if required see the Intervention Measures Matrix in Appendix B. 

Planning obligation funding will be pooled to deliver any of the mitigations within the DCS range of measures. 

The LPA will allocate funding to the measures in order to ensure sites can be delivered in phase with the 

occupation of the proposals. 

6.1 Grampian Conditions 

Grampian Conditions provide a means by which mitigation can be secured. A Grampian Condition prohibits 

development authorised by the planning permission or other aspects linked to the planning permission (in the 

case of residential use, occupation of the development) until a specified action has been taken (in this case 

Tudalen 143



 

50 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

the provision of an avoidance and mitigation package). Such conditions should not be used where there are 

no prospects at all of the action in question being performed within the time-limit imposed by the permission, 

which is not envisaged in this case. 

6.2 Additional Sources of Funding 

When dealing with wider diffuse phosphate inputs, there are a number of other funding mechanisms available.  

The Intervention Measures Matrix in Appendix B identifies potential sources of funding available for each 

intervention. The key funding streams that should be considered are set out below: 

6.2.1 Welsh Government  

• WG are providing funding to support the work of nutrient management boards, with up to £415k being 

made available in 2022-23 and additional provision in 2023-24 and 2024-25; in addition to £40m of funding 

over the next three years to address water quality problems across Wales. 

• WG provide small grants for landscape and pollinators supporting the rural economy and transition to the 

Sustainable Farming Scheme 

• WG continues to provide multi million pounds of funding to farmers in Wales to deliver positive 

environmental outcomes, including reducing nutrients entering watercourses. Funding is also provided to 

Farming Connect who provide advice and guidance to farmers on reducing nutrient run-off.  

• WG fund the NRW Dairy Project across Wales which employs officers to visits dairy farms to give advice 

and guidance on ways of minimising agricultural pollution. 

• WG provide funding for a Nature Network Fund and this has provided NRW resource in other SAC 

catchments to carry out investigations and visits to reduce nutrient inputs into the watercourses 

6.2.2 NRW and the Welsh Government  

• Welsh Government Grant In Aid; this funding is available to deliver measures in SSSI and SAC in order to 

move the designated species and habitats closer to ‘favourable’ status. In 2021, this funding was an 

annual Biodiversity & Ecosystem Fund and from 2022 will become a ‘multiyear’ fund. 

• NRW offer grants for planting trees and woodland56 

• Welsh Government Strategic Allocated Funding; provides funding for a five-year plan for the improvement 

of fish and fish habitat in Wales. This fund is known to be being used in other Welsh catchments to 

undertake catchment measures which reduce nutrient input to watercourses. 

• European Sustainable Fisheries Funding; this is available for annual ad-hoc bids for specific projects and 

includes catchment measures to reduce nutrient input to watercourses. 

• Welsh Government Water Quality Capital Fund; this is used to fund improvements in water quality such as 

reducing nutrients for WFD targets and in 2021, £1.8m was available for such work. 

6.2.3 Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water  

• In July 2022, DCWW announced plans to improve their WwTWs across Wales in line with their 

Phosphorus Permitting Programming, declaring a spend of £100m on improving river water quality, £60m 

of which will be for removing phosphorus from WwTW on SAC rivers such as the Teifi (Lampeter and 

Llanybydder). 

• DCWW receive funding via their customer bills through a five-year program called an Asset Management 

Plan (AMP). This multi-million-pound funding includes improvements to sewage treatment works and storm 

 

56 Natural Resources Wales / Grants for planting trees and creating woodlands 

Tudalen 144

https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/woodlands-and-forests/grants-for-planting-trees-and-creating-woodlands/?lang=en


 

51 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

overflows resulting in a reduced amount of phosphorus entering the watercourses. The drivers for this can 

include WFD and Habitats Directive (SAC) targets. 

• DCWW have made available the Environment Fund which aims to provide financial support to projects that 

will benefit and enhance biodiversity at or near DCWW sites. DCWW are also enabling third party funded 

wetlands whereby effluent at DCWW sewage treatment works is directed to a wetland to garner additional 

polishing for P removal. Note – this is currently in England only. 

6.2.4 Ofwat PR24 

• The 2024 Price Review (PR24) is in the process of being created by Ofwat, with their final decisions being 

announced in December 202457. This will set the levels of service and bills from water and sewerage 

companies for 2025 to 2030.  

• Some of the key themes that Ofwat aims to address in the PR24 include both an increased focus on the 

long-term impacts and to deliver greater environmental and social value. Ofwat emphasised the use of 

NbS in accounting for these aims in addition to how they can help the Welsh and UK governments to 

achieve net zero emissions by 2050.  

• For instance, they highlight funding services that are the ‘best whole life’ solution that considers the long-

term beyond the 2020-2025 period, rather than funding the cheapest option.  

• Ofwat also highlighted the opportunity to gain funding outside of the Price Review where reputational 

pressures are strong and where improvements do not require funding beyond that provided by DCWW 

base cost allowance. 

• Ofwat are keen to develop the previous PR19 approach for funding capital maintenance and maintaining 

asset health at PR24. For the PR19, Resilience was a key theme and £13 billion of funding was provided 

by Ofwat in this area for companies to maintain base services and for enhancements where they were well 

evidenced. Considering the NbS approaches proposed in the AP and their potential long-term benefits, the 

PR24 provides the opportunity to gain significant additional funding for the Category 2 measures to further 

support P reduction in the wider catchment.   

It is recommended that the NMB explores these additional sources of funding at an early stage and looks to 

begin applications for funding as more detailed plans emerge for the mitigation opportunities outlined in this 

report. 

6.3 Managing and Monitoring 

Effective mitigation and compliance with the Habs Regs can be ensured by the DCS through the following 

ways: 

• Relevant experts and officers ensuring that there is implementation of sufficient mitigation to deliver the 

reductions required for the LDP; 

• Ongoing monitoring of measures to best assess the actual reductions achieved upon implementation; and  

• Monitoring of the SACs to ensure that in-combination effects from other LDPs and/or diffuse pollution 

sources are not exceeding targets. 

This can be driven by the DCS and the Nutrient Management Plans developed between the relevant 

stakeholders by the NMB to ensure the long-term health of the riverine SACs in Carmarthenshire. 

6.4 Pathway to Achieve Targets 

 

57 Ofwat (2021) PR24 and beyond: Creating tomorrow, Together (May 2021)  

Tudalen 145

https://arcadiso365.sharepoint.com/teams/project-10053521/ProjectDocuments/05%20Project%20execution/Deliverables/HRA/PR24%20and%20beyond:%20Creating%20tomorrow,%20Together


 

52 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

There are various mechanisms for implementing the identified phosphorus reduction opportunities ranging 

from: 

• Securing funding through DCS and other opportunities as discussed within this report and the AP; 

• Providing advice on funding sources, best practice, and effective solutions which is provided within the 

Carmarthenshire Nutrient Management Strategy52; 

• Promoting co-delivery mechanisms to maximise wider opportunities and benefits through collaboration and 

building stakeholder trust and confidence which will be achieved via the Nutrient Management Boards;  

• Exercising regulatory tools that are within the power of OFWAT, NRW, the LPAs and the WG; and 

• Managing and monitoring phasing and success 

Table 15 below outlines indicative milestones in line with current Arcadis understanding. It is recommended 

that this be reviewed with the council at a workshop to populate and confirm these milestones and outline 

means of ensuring they are kept to. 

Table 15 - Indicative Milestones 

Milestone Commentary 
Completion 

Date 

Action Plan 

Publication 

Publish the AP allowing stakeholders to understand strategic mitigation 

planned in line with the rLDP. The AP will provide detailed information around 

delivery, costs, monitoring & maintenance allowing the council to progress 

strategic measures. 

Mar 2024 

Review 

housing 

trajectory 

The next review of the housing trajectory for CCC’s rLDP is estimated to be in 

June 2024. This may move delivery of development further into the future, 

which could shift the required dates for mitigation. This should be reviewed 

and accounted for in the AP to ensure delivery of mitigation focusses on 

releasing developments due soonest. 

Est. Jun 

2024 

Consider DCS 

impacts 

Once housing trajectory is confirmed, it will be possible to assign a cost to 

each mitigation measure per Kg / year of TP removed, allowing CCC to 

estimate the value of nutrient credits should this be the chosen funding 

approach.  

Jul 2024 

Lampeter and 

Llanybydder 

upgrades  

Upgrades to Lampeter and Llanybydder WwTW will be effective from 31st 

December 2025, allowing development for SAs connecting to these works. 
Dec 2025 

1st 

development 

window 

Upgrades at Lampeter and Llanybydder will allow the 

development/occupation of 40 units associated with 3 SAs within the rLDP. 

Jan 2026 - 

2030 

Delivery of 

strategic 

wetlands 

Based on the current housing trajectory (TBC in June 2024), strategic 

wetlands at three locations will need to be delivered by end of 2026 to allow 

for remaining development in the CCC rLDP. 

Dec 2026  

2nd 

Development 

Window 

The remaining 132 units associated with 11 SA within the rLDP can be 

developed / occupied. 

Dec 2026 - 

2031 

  

Tudalen 146



 

53 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

7 Overall Conclusion 

This Addendum sets out to address the new NRW policies with regards to phosphorus standards and 

associated planning advice.  

Any SARs relating to phosphate impacts upon water quality with regards to phosphorus were explored in this 

assessment. All other SARs not relating to water quality with regards to phosphate levels in the rLDP were 

screened out. These are discussed in HRA Addendum Report: Deposit Revised Local Development Plan 

2018–2033. This report is to be used in conjunction with the HRA Addendum Report: Deposit Revised Local 

Development Plan 2018–2033.  

The changes to the Site Allocation screening process and the changes made to policy CCH4 were examined, 

in order to demonstrate that all amendments which have occurred since the First Deposit rLDP are considered 

in terms of their implications upon the HRA process. The screening of the nine SACs within the catchment 

highlighted that the proposed Site Allocations had a potential negative impact pathway upon the Afon Teifi and 

Afon Tywi only. The total Site Allocations with the potential to release TP into the catchments have been 

reduced to 21 sites. The Afon Tywi now has 7 Site Allocations and the Afon Teifi now has 14 Site Allocations.  

The changes made to policy CCH4, previously known as policy CCH3, has sufficiently strengthened the policy 

wording with regards to the need to demonstrate no adverse effect on SACs with regards to Phosphorus and 

the need to agree mitigation on a case-by-case basis between CCC and NRW. 

Nutrient budgeting of the revised Site Allocations (using the revised P limit of 5 mg/l, or lower, where 

appropriate) within the CCC rLDP concluded that there was no potential for the rLDP to have an adverse 

effect on the integrity of the Afon Tywi either alone or in-combination with other plans or projects (as none of 

the neighbouring LDPs, CeCC and Pembrokeshire, drain into the Tywi.  

This is due to the SAC not currently failing against its phosphate compliance targets and the additional 

amount of TP entering the SAC from the additional developments failing to exceed the current target. In fact, 

only a 0.35% increase in TP is estimated to be contributed by new rLDP developments. Therefore, a 

headroom approach to development can be undertaken. However, as the greatest source of P in the Tywi is 

from agricultural sources recommendations have been provided to monitor headroom and apply a nutrient 

neutrality approach where needed. It has also been demonstrated that there is sufficient suitable land 

available to deliver mitigation that would implement nutrient neutrality in the Tywi if required.  

Nutrient budgeting assessed the possibility for the CCC rLDP to have a negative impact upon the Afon Teifi 

alone and in combination with other plans (namely CeCC and Pembrokeshire’s LDPs). 

Wetland creation as a Category 1 measure was explored as a viable avoidance measure to offset the 

potential P added into the catchment by the proposed CCC rLDP developments. When considering the 

potential suitable land available within Carmarthenshire there is more than sufficient land identified to be used 

for nutrient mitigation using constructed wetlands to offset the additional P discharged from the developments.    

Tudalen 147



 

54 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

Table 16 summarises the information in Table 13 which demonstrates that there is excess mitigation available 

in suitable locations and with implementable phasing to deliver nutrient neutrality in the Teifi. 

  

Tudalen 148



 

55 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

Table 16 - Summary of Category 1 Measures in support of CCC rLDP 

Group 
# SAs 

covered 
Unit 
No. 

TP 
Nutrient 
Budget 
(Kg/yr) 

Proposed Mitigation 

TP 
Mitigation 

(Kg/yr 
removed) 

TP 
Contingency 

(Kg/yr 
excess 

removed)  

1 2 30 3.45 Enhanced WwTW (Lampeter) N/A N/A  

2 1 10 4.58 Enhanced WwTW (Llanybydder) N/A N/A  

3 5 60 51.28 Constructed Wetland (Llandysul) 124.54 73.26  

4 3 43 33.18 Constructed Wetland (Adpar) 114.81 81.63  

5 3 29 33.95 Constructed Wetland (Tregaron) 297.69 263.74  

Total 14 172 126.45 - 537.04 410.59  

 

Additional phasing of development increases the confidence in delivery of these measures, along with the 

evolution of the Carmarthenshire Nutrient Neutrality AP. 

There is the potential for wider in-combination effects, to the Teifi only, from other LDPs in the catchment. 

However, these LDPs will be required to demonstrate that they have no adverse effect on the integrity of the 

Teifi via their own HRAs prior to being adopted. To that end, work has been undertaken by Arcadis to 

demonstrate that there is potential land available across these counties combined with the over delivery of TP 

removal by the CCC opportunities to ensures that should their sites come forward that there would be no 

significant effect on the integrity of the Teifi SAC (demonstrated in Table 14).   

A SoCG has been created for stakeholders in relation to the water quality with regards to phosphorus of the 

Afon Teifi SAC, which outlines a clear approach as to how these stakeholders will address water quality 

through nutrient mitigation and their individual roles and responsibilities. 

There are also a range of Category 2 measures that can be used to supplement Category 1 measures, 

provide advance mitigation prior to Category 1 implementation, if required, remove wider phosphorus from 

diffuse sources to increase headroom, and to provide multifunctional benefits to the overall health of the 

SACs. Table 17 presents the type and quanta of Category 2 measures available to support the rLDP.  

Table 17 - Summary of Category 2 measures available in support of CCC rLDP 

Category 2 
Measure 

Tywi Teifi 
Potential Removal 

Rates (%) 
Comment 

Tree & Woodland 
Planting 

Approx. 30,000ha in CCC 11-95% 

Can include forestry buffers or wet 
woodlands each depending on 

design with excellent capacity for 
nutrient removal. 

IBZs 23,000ha 5,000ha 31-99% 

Can include riparian buffers with 
excellent potential for nutrient 

removal, several areas of council 
owned land within Tywi present 

opportunities 

SuDS 14 SAs 7 SAs 20-99% 

Should be implemented at each SA 
meaning every application on a 
case-by-case basis will bring 

forward SuDS with some potential 
to remove Phosphorus. 

 

The implementation of these Category 1 measures will be funded via DCS and other P removal will be 

supported by the funding and roles of the regulatory authorities. Mitigation will be phased with development 

and monitored in terms of their implementation and efficiency via the Teifi and Tywi NMBs and via NMPs to be 

produced in 2024. The AP provides further evidence as to the feasibility of these mitigations.  

Tudalen 149



 

56 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan   
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum   

In respect of the potential effects from discharge of wastewater on the Afon Tywi and Afon Teifi SACs, 

following production of information for Appropriate Assessment, and taking account of the changes to policy 

CCH4, changes to Site Allocations, and the total availability of land for wetland construction in the wider 

catchment, it can be concluded that the CCC rLDP will have no adverse effect on the integrity of either the 

Teifi or the Tywi SAC either alone or in combination with any projects and/or plans. In fact, there is potential 

for improvement of the current P status.  

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 150



 

57 

 

 

Afon Teifi SAC and Afon Tywi SAC opportunities overview 

 

 

Tudalen 151



Carmarthenshire County Council 

Carmarthenshire County Council
Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment

of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan

Grid

Afon Teifi / River Teifi

DatumOriginal Size Scale

Appendix A Figure A1 - Carmarthenshire rLDP Site
Allocations and Wetland Opportunities Overview

OSGB 27700mAODA31:255,000

CCC revised Local Development Plan Site Allocations

Main Rivers

WwTWs (Category A)

WwTWs (Category B)

Riverine Special Areas of Conservation (SAC)

Constructed Treatment Wetlands Opportunities

Water Framework Directive Catchments 
Afon Teifi

Afon Tywi

Local Authorities
Carmarthenshire

Ceredigion

Pembrokeshire

Legend

Contains OpenStreetMap data and public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0
Unauthorised reproduction infringes copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Arcadis
80 Fenchurch Street

London

Notes
This map only shows the relevant layers within the Afon Teifi and Tywi
riverine SAC catchments. A number of Phosphorus Sensitive riverine
SACs, including the Afon Gwy / River Wye and Afonydd Cleddau /
Cleddau Rivers are outside the council boundary. 

The Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire site allocations are not included this
figure. 

01
Revision

18/01/24 EBP
Date

Final
Author

JL
Status Checker

RG
Approver

Category B WwTW 

Afon Tywi / River Tywi

Carmarthen Bay and
Estuaries / Bae

Caerfyrddin ac Aberoedd

Cardigan Bay

Category A WwTW 

Wetland Opportunity

T
udalen 152



Carmarthenshire County Council 

Carmarthenshire County Council
Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment

of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan

GridDatumOriginal Size Scale

Appendix A Figure A2 - Afon Teifi Carmarthenshire rLDP Site
Allocations and Wetland Opportunities Overview

OSGB 27700mAODA31:160,000

CCC revised Local Development Plan Site Allocations

Main Rivers

WwTWs (Category A)

WwTWs (Category B)

Riverine Special Areas of Conservation (SAC)

Constructed Treatment Wetlands Opportunities

Water Framework Directive Catchments 
Afon Teifi

Afon Tywi

Local Authorities
Carmarthenshire

Ceredigion

Pembrokeshire

Legend

Contains OpenStreetMap data and public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0
Unauthorised reproduction infringes copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Arcadis
80 Fenchurch Street

London

Notes
This map only shows the relevant layers within the Afon Teifi and Tywi
riverine SAC catchments. A number of Phosphorus Sensitive riverine
SACs, including the Afon Gwy / River Wye and Afonydd Cleddau /
Cleddau Rivers are outside the council boundary. 

The Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire site allocations are not shown in this
figure 

01
Revision

18/01/24 EBP
Date

Final
Author

JL
Status Checker

RG
Approver

Category B WwTW 

Category A WwTW 

Wetland Opportunity

T
udalen 153



Carmarthenshire County Council 

Carmarthenshire County Council
Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment

of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan

GridDatumOriginal Size Scale

Appendix A Figure A3 - Afon Tywi Carmarthenshire rLDP
Site Allocations and Wetland Opportunities Overview

OSGB 27700mAODA31:100,000

CCC revised Local Development Plan Site Allocations

Main Rivers

WwTWs (Category A)

WwTWs (Category B)

Riverine Special Areas of Conservation (SAC)

Constructed Treatment Wetlands Opportunities

Water Framework Directive Catchments 
Afon Teifi

Afon Tywi

Local Authorities
Carmarthenshire

Ceredigion

Pembrokeshire

Legend

Contains OpenStreetMap data and public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0
Unauthorised reproduction infringes copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Arcadis
80 Fenchurch Street

London

Notes
This map only shows the relevant layers within the Afon Teifi and Tywi
riverine SAC catchments. A number of Phosphorus Sensitive riverine
SACs, including the Afon Gwy / River Wye and Afonydd Cleddau /
Cleddau Rivers are outside the council boundary. 

The Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire site allocations are not shown in this
figure .

01
Revision

18/01/24 EBP
Date

Final
Author

JL
Status Checker

RG
Approver

Category B WwTW 

Category A WwTW 

Wetland Opportunity

T
udalen 154



 

61 

 

 

Interventions Matrix 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 155



 

62 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum  

Table B-18 - Intervention Measures Matrix  

Intervention Mitigation 

Category 

Discussion Benefits Feasibility Maintenance Effectiveness Case Studies 

Reduction of 

Agricultural 

Phosphorus at 

source 

Category 2 This solution focusses on changing farming practices. 

Advantages: Removes P at source, thus reducing pressure on traditional 

WwTW and nature-based solutions. Increases sustainability of soil. Associated 

pre-treated sludge biosolid spreading by DCWW as a single accredited 

stakeholder. 

Disadvantages: Multiple stakeholders required to change long standing 

practices. Difficult to manage / monitor. Legacy P requires consideration i.e., 

20years of continued P export needs to be considered in the land use change. 

Delivery Partners: Landowners, WG, The Council, NRW, NFU Cymru, 

DCWW, Env. NGOs 

 

 

 

Increased biodiversity from a 

reduction in nutrient enrichment and 

in soil 

Aesthetic value  

 

Carbon sequestration 

Low Medium High 

Dairy Project 

Wales Land Management Forum 

Wales Water Management Forum 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

Farming Source 

Control 

Category 2 Farm improvement works to prevent Phosphorus from entering watercourses, 

which can include fencing. 

Advantages:  A simple scheme that increases farm value and there is already 

an existing grant scheme, which can last a long time (50+ years)  

Disadvantages:  Multiple stakeholders which may create long term 

management difficulties and requires seasonal vegetation management.  

Delivery Partners: DCWW, NRW, NFU Cymru, Landowners/land managers, 
The Council, WG: WG Spending Commitments, Basic Payment Scheme, SFS, 
Glastir Advanced, Commons and Organic contracts scheme, National Forest 
for Wales, Food accreditation scheme, Farm Business Grant Scheme post 
2024 

 

 

 

Increased biodiversity in 

watercourse habitats from a 

reduction in nutrient enrichment and 

in soil 

Aesthetic value 
High Medium High 

Dairy Project 

Wales Land Management Forum 

Wales Water Management Forum 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

Surface Water 

Separation 

Category 1 

& Category 

2 

This solution focuses on separating wastewater flows from new and existing 

developments to capture stormwater.  

Advantages: Already normal practice for new developments, leads to reduced 

CSO discharges into the watercourse and reduced sewage treatment costs. 

Similar compensatory surface water removal approach already in place for 

Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries European Marine site.  

Disadvantages: Costly to retrofit in urban areas, limited reduction in 

Phosphorus unless effective SuDS are incorporated, long term effectiveness 

depends on operating practices at WwTWs.  

Delivery Partners: Developers, The Council, DCWW, Wales Green 
Infrastructure Forum 

 

Increased Capacity and efficiencies 

at WwTW 

High Low Low 

Wales Land Management Forum 

Wales Water Management Forum 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

 

Enhanced 

Wastewater 

Treatment Works 

Category 1 Increasing the ability of WwTWs to remove Phosphate.  

Advantages: Increase headroom for new development, clear delivery 

mechanisms within DCWW. Opportunity to explore developer contributions.  

Disadvantages: Requires long term investment and long lead times. May 

transfer issues to biosolid spreading which would require extra controls.  

Delivery Partners:  DCWW: Existing and new WWTW funding, Spending 

commitments. Developers, NRW, Ofwat, NFU Cymru, WG Spending 

Commitments. 

 

Improved Water Efficiency and water 

quality 

Medium High High 

Wales Land Management Forum 

Wales Water Management Forum 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

 

 

 

 

 

T
udalen 156

https://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/about-us/news-and-blogs/news/dairy-project-has-visited-over-800-farms-in-wales/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/farming/wales-land-management-forum/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/about-us/news-and-blogs/news/dairy-project-has-visited-over-800-farms-in-wales/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/farming/wales-land-management-forum/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/farming/wales-land-management-forum/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/farming/wales-land-management-forum/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf


 

63 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum  

Intervention Mitigation 

Category 

Discussion Benefits Feasibility Maintenance Effectiveness Case Studies 

SuDS Source 

Control 

Category 1  Permeable paving  

Advantages: Reduces peak flows and enhance water quality treatment. Dual 

use of the landscape, prevents ponding, can be used in high density 

developments 

Disadvantages: Not compatible with large sediment loads, only suitable for 

low traffic volume areas, maintenance to minimise silt clogging.  

Delivery Partners: Developers, The Council. 

 

 

 

Natural Flood mitigations 

 

Temperature Regulation 

Medium Low  High 

Rainscape 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Teifi SAC Catchment Phosphate Reduction 

and Mitigation Project 

Natural Flood management plus in the 

Cadoxton catchment 

Four Rivers for LIFE 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

Category 1  Green roofs  

Advantages: Reduced peak waste water flows and enhanced water quality 

treatment along with reduced storm water overloading and CSO discharges, 

Mimics predevelopment state of water flows, can be retrofitted (site 

dependant), no additional land, can provide a return on investment from energy 

savings.  

Disadvantages: High cost compared to conventional roof, not appropriate for 

all sites and limited retrofitting abilities, requires high maintenance as any 

damage to roof membrane is more critical as water is encouraged to remain on 

the roof, limited impact of phosphate removal.  

Delivery Partners: Developers, The Council, DCWW, Business Improvements 

Districts for retrofits. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Increased Biodiversity 

 

Aesthetic value 

 

Thermal attenuation 

 

Climate resilience 

 

Water efficiency 

 

Noise Attenuation  

 

Air Quality improvements 

Health and wellbeing if accessible 

Increased longevity of roofs 

Medium  Medium Medium 

Rainscape 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Teifi SAC Catchment Phosphate Reduction 

and Mitigation Project 

Four Rivers for LIFE 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

T
udalen 157

https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/en/community/environment/our-projects/rainscape/rainscape-llanelli
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/tackling-phosphorus-pollution-in-special-area-of-conservation-sac-rivers-information-and-evidence-pack.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/tackling-phosphorus-pollution-in-special-area-of-conservation-sac-rivers-information-and-evidence-pack.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/en/community/environment/our-projects/rainscape/rainscape-llanelli
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/tackling-phosphorus-pollution-in-special-area-of-conservation-sac-rivers-information-and-evidence-pack.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/tackling-phosphorus-pollution-in-special-area-of-conservation-sac-rivers-information-and-evidence-pack.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf


 

64 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum  

Intervention Mitigation 

Category 

Discussion Benefits Feasibility Maintenance Effectiveness Case Studies 

Swales Category 1 Shallow broad and vegetated channels designs to store and convey runoff to 

remove pollutants. 

Advantages: Easy to incorporate into landscaping, good removal of urban 

pollutants, reduces runoff rates and volumes and low capital cost. Maintenance 

can be incorporated into general landscape management, pollution and 

blockages are visible and easily dealt with.  

Disadvantages:  Not suitable for steep areas with roadside parking, limits the 

opportunities to use trees for landscaping, risks of blockages in existing 

pipework. 

Delivery Partners: Developers, The Council, Local Highways Agencies, WG, 

National Surface Water Management and SuDS Group, Ofwat, Innovation 

Fund, Water Breakthrough Challenge, Water Discovery Challenge, NRW, Four 

Rivers for Life, Sustainable Drainage Feasibility Grant, DCWW: Spending 

Commitments, Rivers in Wales Environmental Investment, DCWW Community 

Fund, Wales Green Infrastructure Forum, Living Streets Cymru, Active Travel 

and Safe Routes in Communities (SRiC) schemes, Heritage Lottery Fund, 

Esmee Fairburn Foundation  

 

 

 

Biodiversity  

 

Amenity 

Aesthetic value 

 

Passive cooling  

 Medium Low Medium 

Rainscape 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Teifi SAC Catchment Phosphate Reduction 

and Mitigation Project 

Four Rivers for LIFE 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

Conveyance 

Chanels 

Category 1 Channels and rills are open surface water channels with hard edges that can 

be planted with vegetation. 

Advantages: Effective water and pollution treatment can act as pre-treatment 

to remove silt before water is conveyed into further SuDS features, easy to 

construct.  

Disadvantages: Incorrect planting can cause silt build up, Need to give careful 

consideration to crossings, routine maintenance to remove litter/debris, large 

maintenance required every 5 years. 

Delivery Partners: Same as Swales  

 

 

 

 

Biodiversity Increase 

Amenity 

Aesthetic value 

Passive cooling 

 

Medium Medium Medium 

Four Rivers for LIFE 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

 

Filtration Strips  Category 1 Filter strips of gently sloping grass and street trees 

Advantages: Well suited to implementation in areas with heavy traffic, 

encourages evaporation, infiltration and interception. Easy to construct and low 

construction cost, effective pre-treatment option 

Disadvantages: Not suitable for all locations. No significant attenuation or 

reduction of extreme flows. 

Delivery Partners: Same as Swales 

 

 

 

 

Biodiversity 

Amenity 

Aesthetic value 

Health and wellbeing 

Can encourage active transport 

Medium Medium Medium 

Four Rivers for LIFE 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

T
udalen 158

https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/en/community/environment/our-projects/rainscape/rainscape-llanelli
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/tackling-phosphorus-pollution-in-special-area-of-conservation-sac-rivers-information-and-evidence-pack.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/tackling-phosphorus-pollution-in-special-area-of-conservation-sac-rivers-information-and-evidence-pack.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf


 

65 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum  

Intervention Mitigation 

Category 

Discussion Benefits Feasibility Maintenance Effectiveness Case Studies 

Category 1 Filter drains are stone filled trenched with underdrains alongside roads, paths 

or rail lines. 

Advantages: They can capture specific pollutants if there is a layer of 

treatment media included (the amount removed will depend on the treatment 

media used). Large ability for treatment since they are often created to be in 

parallel to the length of roads and paths.  

Disadvantages: It does not capture pollutants directly if treatment media is not 

added, No vegetation, Depending on the soil conditions and/or pollutant loads, 

there is risk of filter drains enabling phosphate pollution migration into the 

underlying ground water, Flow exceedance could lead to temporary flooding. 

Delivery Partners: Same as Swales 

 

 

 

Biodiversity (microorganisms, 

insects and amphibians) 

Amenity 

Can filter out fine sediments, metals 

and hydrocarbons (depending on 

filter media used) 

Encourage adsorption and 

biodegradation process 

Medium Low Medium 

Four Rivers for LIFE 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

Category 1 Shallow landscaped areas with engineered soils, enhanced vegetation and 

filtration, which can also include trees. 

Advantages:  Very effective in removing urban pollutants which can also 

reduce volume and runoff rates. Flexible layout to fit into landscape. Well-

suited for installation in highly impervious areas, Good retrofit capability and 

when lined, can be used to manage surface water runoff from areas with high 

groundwater pollution risks. 

Disadvantages: Requires landscaping and management. Susceptible to 

clogging if surrounding landscape is not managed. Not suitable for areas with 

steep slope. Should be used in conjunction with other SuDS components 

Delivery Partners: Same as Swales 

 

 

 

Biodiversity 

Amenity / Aesthetic value 

Medium Low High 

Four Rivers for LIFE 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

Infiltration 

Basins  

Category 1 A solution based around, rain gardens, infiltration trenches and basins, 

soakaways, tree pits. 

Advantages:  

Rain gardens – Small and easy to retrofit, minimal land take, easy to maintain, 

flexible layout to fit into landscape and can be installed in impervious areas if 

designed correctly. 

Soakaways – Particulate P removal through sedimentation of solids upstream 

of soakaway and infiltration in the soakaway. Can reduce rate of run off and 

some volume reduction  

Tree pits – Can enhance the performance of other green infrastructure 

technologies.  

Disadvantages:  

Rain gardens – As they are often small, their impact can be limited, requires 

landscaping and management, susceptible to clogging if surrounding 

landscape is not managed. Not suitable for areas with steep slopes or 

impermeable soils.  

Soakaways – Phosphorus removal highly dependent on infiltration rate and if 

there is an overflow.  

Tree pits – Nutrients can be cascaded downstream in extreme events. 

Delivery Partners: Same as Swales 

 

 

 

Biodiversity 

 

Amenity / Aesthetic value 

Natural flood mitigation 

Can reduce the risk of waterborne 

diseases 

Medium Medium Medium 

Natural Flood management plus in the 

Cadoxton catchment 

Four Rivers for LIFE 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

T
udalen 159

https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf


 

66 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum  

Intervention Mitigation 

Category 

Discussion Benefits Feasibility Maintenance Effectiveness Case Studies 

Retention Ponds Category 1 Building of ponds to retain water (retention ponds)  

Advantages: Can cater for all storms and has good removal capability of 

urban pollutants. Can be used where groundwater is vulnerable, if lined. 

Disadvantages: No reduction in runoff volume. Anaerobic conditions can 

occur without regular inflow. Land take may limit use in high density sites. May 

not be suitable for steep sites, due to requirement for high embankments. 

Colonisation by invasive species could increase maintenance. Perceived 

health & safety risks may result in fencing and isolation of the pond. 

Delivery Partners: Same as Swales 

 

 

 

 

 

Biodiversity 

 

Thermal attenuation 

 

Climate resilience 

 

Amenity 

Aesthetic value 

Recreation 

Natural flood mitigation 

 

Medum Medium  High 

Natural Flood management plus in the 

Cadoxton catchment 

Four Rivers for LIFE 

National Surface Water Management and 

SuDS Group Members 

Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers Trust) 

Afonydd Cymru 

The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

Detention Basins  Category 1 Detention basins are shallow vegetated areas which retain water at times.  

Advantages: Can cater for a wide range of rainfall events and can be used 

where groundwater is vulnerable, if lined. Simple to design and construct with a 

potential for dual land use. Easy to maintain. Safe and visible capture of 

accidental spillages. 

Disadvantages: Little reduction in runoff volume. Detention depths may be 

constrained by system inlet and outlet levels 

Delivery Partners: Same as Swales 

 

 

 

Biodiversity 

Amenity 

Aesthetic value 

Health and wellbeing can double up 

as play and recreation areas 

Natural flood mitigation 

High Low Medium 

Natural Flood management plus in the 
Cadoxton catchment 
Four Rivers for LIFE 
National Surface Water Management 
and SuDS Group Members 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 
Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

Ponds Category 1 Larger bodies of standing water. Water is moved in out of the pond through 

runoff and flow. Can be surrounded by vegetation, grass, hard landscapes, and 

other surroundings 

Advantages: Uptake of phosphate by plants and aquatic flora. Phosphate can 

also sediment out onto the base of the pond 

Disadvantages: Good practice for construction must be followed as badly 

designed ponds can act as exporters of dissolved phosphate. Minimal direct 

infiltration potential. Cannot manage large inputs of water or exceedance flows 

Development Partners:  Developers, The Council, Local Highways Agencies, 

WG, WG Spending Commitments, Besic Payment Scheme, SFS, National 

Surface Water Management and SuDS Group, DCWW Spending 

Commitments, Rivers in Wales Environmental Investment, DCWW Community 

Fund, NRW, Sustainable Drainage Feasibility Grant, Four Rivers for Life, 

Wales Green Infrastructure Forum 

 

 

 

Biodiversity 

Amenity 

Aesthetic value 

Recreation 

Thermal attenuation 

Medium Medium Medium 

Four Rivers for LIFE 
National Surface Water Management 
and SuDS Group Members 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 
Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

T
udalen 160

https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf


 

67 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum  

Intervention Mitigation 

Category 

Discussion Benefits Feasibility Maintenance Effectiveness Case Studies 

Constructed 

Wetlands 

Category 1  Wetland creation designed and maintained specifically for maximising P 

reduction from both storm and foul water discharges. Plant roots can absorb 

nutrients and incorporate them into the plant structure. Can provide for tertiary 

treatment after effective primary and secondary foul treatment processes.  

Advantages: Good removal capability for pollutants and can trap large 

volumes of sediments. If lined, can be used where groundwater is vulnerable. 

Large wider environmental benefits and high longevity for functioning 

effectively (50+ years), Reed bed systems can be incorporated into wetlands 

which can further enhance biodiversity. 

Disadvantages: Land take is high. Requires maintaining sufficient baseflows 

in dry periods and there is limited depth range for flow attenuation. May release 

nutrients during non-growing season, which must be mitigated by good design 

and maintenance. Little reduction in runoff volume and less effective for steep 

sites and will require significant earthworks. Colonisation by invasive species 

could increase maintenance. Performance vulnerable to high sediment inflows. 

P will be bound in sludge which may require disposal and will require extra pre-

treatment with solar drying and well managed biosolid spreading to satisfy crop 

need. Desludging could be every 10 years but depends on the wetland design. 

May need to replace bed material if it is saturated with nutrients if artificial bed 

material is used. Seasonal vegetation removal and management. Potential 

mosquito habitat.  

Development Partners: Developers, The Council, Welsh Rivers Trust, 

DCWW Spending Commitments, Rivers in Wales Environmental Investment, 

DCWW Community Fund, NRW, Sustainable Drainage Feasibility Grant, Four 

Rivers for Life, NFU Cymru, Local Nature Partnership for North East Wales, 

United Utilities, DCWW, WG, WG Spending Commitments, Besic Payment 

Scheme, SFS, Heritage Lottery Fund, Esmee Fairburn Foundation Ofwat 

Innovation Fund, Water Breakthrough Challenge, Water Discovery Challenge.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Biodiversity 

Amenity 

Aesthetic value 

Recreation 

Thermal attenuation/temperature 

regulation 

Climate resilience 

Carbon sequestration 

 

Natural flood mitigation 

 

Potential for water reuse 

Medium Medium High 

Upper Tywi Restoration Project 
The Wetlands Project 
The Pontbren Project 
Four Rivers for LIFE 
National Surface Water Management 
and SuDS Group Members 
Wales Water Management Forum 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 
Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 
Teifi SAC Catchment Phosphate 
Reduction and Mitigation Project 

Integrated Buffer 

Zones 

Category 2 A solution involving increasing grassland, floodplain grassland, beetle banks, 

woodland and hedgerows.  

Advantages: Good capability for capture of pollutants and wider 

environmental benefits.  

Disadvantages: Reduced productive area under agriculture may release 

nutrients during non-growing season. Risk of increasing emissions of nitrous 

oxide and methane (greenhouse gases) 

Development Partners: Developers, The Council, Welsh Rivers Trust, 

DCWW, Rivers in Wales Environmental Investment, DCWW Community Fund, 

NRW, Sustainable Drainage Feasibility Grant, Four Rivers for Life, NFU 

Cymru, Cities for Trees, Local Nature Partnership Carmarthenshire , United 

Utilities, Salmon and Trout Conservation’, WG, WG Spending Commitments, 

Besic Payment Scheme, SFS, Glastir Small Grant Scheme, Heritage Lottery 

Fund, Woodlands for Wales 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Biodiversity  

 

Climate resilience 

 

Air quality 

Health and Wellbeing 

Educational 

Pest control 

Noise attenuation 

Amenity 

Aesthetic value 

 

Medium Medium High 

The Pontbren Project 
Four Rivers for LIFE 
National Surface Water Management 
and SuDS Group Members 
Wales Water Management Forum 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 
Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 
Teifi SAC Catchment Phosphate 
Reduction and Mitigation Project 

T
udalen 161

https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/en/community/environment/our-projects/water-framework-directive-schemes/upper-tywi-catchment-restoration-project
https://www.dwrcymru.com/en/blog/wetlands-part-of-the-solution-for-nature
https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/media/4808/pontbren-project-sustainable-uplands-management.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/planning-building-control-and-sustainable-drainage-body-sab/phosphates-on-the-teifi-river-sac/
https://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/planning-building-control-and-sustainable-drainage-body-sab/phosphates-on-the-teifi-river-sac/
https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/media/4808/pontbren-project-sustainable-uplands-management.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/planning-building-control-and-sustainable-drainage-body-sab/phosphates-on-the-teifi-river-sac/
https://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/planning-building-control-and-sustainable-drainage-body-sab/phosphates-on-the-teifi-river-sac/


 

68 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum  

Intervention Mitigation 

Category 

Discussion Benefits Feasibility Maintenance Effectiveness Case Studies 

Private 

Sewerage 

Drainage Fields 

Category 2 Network of discharge pipes from septic tank or Package Treatment Plant (PTP) 

laid in trenches under the ground surface so that effluent can be discharged to 

the ground. Effluent percolates through soil. Sediment bound P is immobilised 

and soluble P is bound to soils and sediments.  

Advantages: Likely to be less costly than a wetland system with less 

maintenance for same P removal performance. Can be delivered up to medium 

spatial scale (<100 units / <2.0 ha) 

Disadvantages: Longevity of scheme anticipated to be low (10-20 years). 

Increased usage of the drainage field with time can result in the soils or filter 

materials sorption capacity being reached. Fields where ground water flood 

risk is high or water table is within 2.0 m of ground surface are unsuitable. 

Provides no additional environmental benefits. 

Development Partners: Developers, DCWW Spending Commitments, NFU 

Cymru, The Council.  

 

Efficiency and increased capacity at 

WwTW 

Medium Low High 

National Surface Water Management 
and SuDS Group Members 
Wales Water Management Forum 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 
Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

River Channel 

Re-naturalisation 

Category 2 Works to return rivers to a more ‘natural state’ including: re-meandering, 

creating berms, pool-riffle systems, riparian planting and reconnecting channel 

to floodplain. 

Advantages: Good capability for capture of pollutants and wider 

environmental benefits. Can have high longevity for functioning effectively (50+ 

years). Minimal maintenance required during the establishment phase of the 

river channel. 

Disadvantages: Currently no industry standard regarding the design of larger 

scale river and floodplain re-naturalisation schemes to support the 

achievement of nutrient removal. Baseline and longer-term monitoring will be 

required prior to and following the implementation of a scheme in order to 

determine how much P the scheme is removing. P absorption to sediments is 

primary process of nutrient removal, however, the process is reversible with 

desorption occurring if P concentration of water drops below a threshold. 

Threshold is dynamic as the sorption capacity of sediments changes over time. 

Management regime may depend on the local context and degree of re-

naturalisation. Potentially will be over a year until additional benefits are 

realised. 

Development Partners: The Council, DCWW Spending Commitments, Rivers 

in Wales Environmental Investment, DCWW Community Fund, Welsh Rivers 

Trust , Salmon and Trout Conservation’, Land owners / land managers, NRW, 

Sustainable Drainage Feasibility Grant, Four Rivers for Life, WG, WG 

Spending Commitments, Besic Payment Scheme, SFS, Heritage Lottery Fund, 

Ofwat, Innovation Fund, Water Breakthrough Challenge, Water Discovery 

Challenge 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Natural flood mitigation 

Biodiversity 

Amenity 

Aesthetic value 

Carbon sequestration 

Additional pollutant removal  

Health and well being  

Air quality  

Climate resilience 

High Low Medium 

Natural Flood management plus in the 
Cadoxton catchment 
Four Rivers for LIFE 
National Surface Water Management 
and SuDS Group Members 
Wales Water Management Forum 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 
Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

T
udalen 162

https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf


 

69 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum  

Intervention Mitigation 

Category 

Discussion Benefits Feasibility Maintenance Effectiveness Case Studies 

Drainage Ditch 

Blocking 

Category 2 Placing of barriers across ditches to slow the flow, increase residence times 

and prevent downstream transport of sediments. 

Advantages: Easy to construct, low construction cost and low maintenance 

(mainly visual inspections needed).  

Disadvantages: Low predictability / certainty of success, and low removal 

performance. Lack of UK based evidence for effectiveness; baseline and long-

term monitoring is recommended pre-and post-implementation and may result 

in localised flooding during heavy rainfall events. Dam failure would have 

implications for P removal efficiency. Limited research currently available on 

the effectiveness of this method for nutrient removal.  

Development Partners: Land owners / land managers, DCWW, DCWW 

Spending Commitments, Rivers in Wales Environmental Investment,  DCWW 

Community Fund, The Council, NFU Cymru, Environmental NGOs, NRW, 

Sustainable Drainage Feasibility Grant, WG.  

 

 

 

Natural flood mitigation 

Biodiversity  

Additional pollutant removal  

Carbon sequestration 

Medium Low Low 

Natural Flood management plus in the 
Cadoxton catchment 
Four Rivers for LIFE 
National Surface Water Management 
and SuDS Group Members 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 
Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

Engineered log 

Jams 

Category 2 Leaky dams made of woody debris constructed to mimic beaver dams and 

slow flows and re-naturalise river reaches. 

Advantages: P removal achieved through sedimentation, chemicals sorption 

and biomass assimilation. Well-designed schemes will require little 

maintenance and could serve up to 100 units.  

Disadvantages: Risk being washed away in flood events – best suited to 

small watercourses < 2m wide. Lack of research for engineered log jams / 

beaver dams to confirm potential nutrient removal estimates; monitoring will be 

required pre/post scheme introduction to determine effectiveness. Potential for 

increased localised flooding. Adaptive management needed in case repairs are 

needed. Possibility that P removal may be short-term and that nutrients could 

be remobilised during floods.  

Development Partners: The Council, NRW, Sustainable Drainage Feasibility 

Grant, Four Rivers for Life, DCWW, DCWW Spending Commitments, Rivers in 

Wales Environmental Investment, DCWW Community Fund, Welsh Rivers 

Trust , Salmon and Trout Conservation’, Landowners / land managers, WG, 

WG Spending Commitments, Besic Payment Scheme, SFS, Heritage Lottery 

Fund, Esmee Fairburn Foundation, Ofwat, Innovation Fund, Water 

Breakthrough Challenge, Water Discovery Challenge 

 

 

 

 

Natural flood mitigation 

Biodiversity  

Carbon sequestration 

Additional pollutant removal 

Medium Low Low 

Natural Flood management plus in 

the Cadoxton catchment 

Four Rivers for LIFE 
National Surface Water Management 
and SuDS Group Members 
Wales Water Management Forum 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 
Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

 

Granular 

Treatment Media 

Category 2 Granular treatment media that has been designed to treat various pollutants. 

There are phosphorus specific granular treatment media. 

Advantages: Up to 100% TP removal (if infiltration possible and depending on 

the manufacturer)   

Disadvantaged: P removal highly dependent on manufacturer and how well 

assets are maintained. Filter media will need to be changed periodically. 

Development Partners: Landowners / land managers, The Council, NRW, 

Sustainable Drainage Feasibility Grant, Developers, Local Highways Agencies, 

National Surface Water Management and SuDS Group, Living Streets Cymru. 

 

 

Potential for grey water recycling 

May reduce unpleasant odours 

Medium Medium Medium 

Wales Water Management Forum 
National Surface Water Management 
and SuDS Group Members 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 

Taclo’r Tywi Initiative. 

T
udalen 163

https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf


 

70 

 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment to inform the assessment of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan  
Phosphate Assessment Appendix to the rLDP HRA Addendum  

Intervention Mitigation 

Category 

Discussion Benefits Feasibility Maintenance Effectiveness Case Studies 

Willow Beds Category 2 Willow beds can be designed to treat stormwater from low/medium risk 

surfaces of small catchments. They allow capturing, attenuation, and 

evapotranspiration of captured flows.  

Advantages: Capture, attenuation and evapotranspiration of all flows so no 

discharge occurs. Uptake of P by the willow. Harvesting willow can be a 

valuable resource. If built as part of a closed systems, it is effective 

immediately. 

Disadvantages: Not commonly used in the UK, and where they are, they tend 

to be for private sewage treatment installations. To have optimal TP removal 

performance harvesting of willow will be required. Harvesting of willow is a 

valuable resource but the process is of harvesting it is onerous. Some 

sediment removal is required at the inlet and any suspended sediment may 

have to be removed periodically. Little information available currently regarding 

regulations on their implementation of water treatment. Effective only during 

the willow growing season. 

Development Partners: Landowners / land managers, The Council , NRW, 

Sustainable Drainage Feasibility Grant, Four Rivers for Life, DCWW, DCWW 

Spending Commitments, Rivers in Wales Environmental Investment, DCWW 

Community Fund, Developers: Could help to deliver Net Benefit for 

Biodiversity, DCWW, WG, WG Spending Commitments, Besic Payment 

Scheme, SFS, Heritage Lottery Fund, Ofwat, Innovation Fund, Water 

Breakthrough Challenge, Water Discovery Challenge.  

 

 

 

 

Biodiversity 

Natural flood mitigation 

Aesthetic value 

Amenity value 

Carbon sequestration 

Can harvest the willow which could 

then be sold (offsets some of the 

maintenance costs) 

Medium  Low High 

The Pontbren Project 

Natural Flood management plus in 

the Cadoxton catchment 

Four Rivers for LIFE 
National Surface Water Management 
and SuDS Group Members 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 
Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

Attenuation 

storage tanks 

(lined) 

Category 2 Lined cellular/crated or other storage below ground (no infiltration). 

Advantages: Particulate P removal through sedimentation of solids upstream 

of attenuation tank. 

Disadvantages: Attenuation tank is not designed to provide any P removal on 

its own. P removal highly dependent on upstream features and how well assets 

are maintained. Filters need changing every few years.  

Development Partners: Landowners / land managers, The Council, NRW, 

DCWW, DCWW Spending Commitments, Developers: Could help to deliver 

Net Benefit for Biodiversity, DCWW, WG, WG Spending Commitments, Besic 

Payment Scheme 

 

Natural flood mitigation 

Medium High High 

Natural Flood management plus in 

the Cadoxton catchment 
Wales Water Management Forum 
Rivers Trust of Wales (Welsh Rivers 
Trust) Afonydd Cymru 
The West Wales Rivers Trust 
Taclo’r Tywi Initiative 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

T
udalen 164

https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/media/4808/pontbren-project-sustainable-uplands-management.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/nature-projects/4-rivers-for-life/?lang=en#:~:text=Four%20Rivers%20for%20LIFE%20is,%2C%20Cleddau%2C%20Tywi%20and%20Usk.
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://www.sudswales.com/about/working-group-members/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/what-we-do/our-projects/flood-scheme-projects/natural-flood-management-plus-in-the-cadoxton-catchment/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/wales-water-management-forum/?lang=en
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://afonyddcymru.org/
https://westwalesriverstrust.org/
https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/files/Conference/2019/Presentations/3.3.2._williams_ioan.pdf


 

 

Arcadis Consulting (UK) Limited 

Arcadis. 

80 Fenchurch Street, 

London,  

EC3M 4BY 

arcadis.com 

 

 

Tudalen 165

http://www.arcadis.com/


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Jan 2024 

Y CABINET 

29/01/2024 
 

 
RHAGLEN MODERNEIDDIO ADDYSG 

 
STRATEGAETH Y RHMA 

 
 
Argymhellion / penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 
 
Argymhellir y dylai'r Cabinet: 
 
❖ Gymeradwyo Strategaeth y Rhaglen Moderneiddio Addysg fel yr amlinellwyd 

yn yr adroddiad ar gyfer ymgynghoriad. 
 

Rhesymau:   
 
❖ Er mwyn cael barn rhanddeiliaid ar y strategaeth. 
❖ Er mwyn gallu llunio rhaglen fuddsoddi a threfniadaeth ysgolion yn unol â 

Rhaglen Cymunedau Dysgu Cynaliadwy Llywodraeth Cymru. 
  
Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad: Oes – 29ain Ionawr 2024 

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad: I’w gadarnhau 

 
Aelod y Cabinet sy’n gyfrifol am y Portffolio:  Cyng. Glynog Davies (Addysg a 
Phlant) 
 

 
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 
Addysg a Phlant  
 
Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth: 
Simon Davies 
 
Awdur yr adroddiad: 
Sara Griffiths 

Swyddi: 
 
 
 
 
Pennaeth Mynediad i Addysg 
 
 
Rheolwr Tim Moderneiddio 
 

Rhifau Ffôn / Cyfeiriadau E-
bost: 
 
 
 
01267 246471 
SiDavies@sirgar.gov.uk  
 
01267 246618 
SMGriffiths@sirgar.gov.uk  
 

 
 

 

Tudalen 167

Eitem Rhif  7

mailto:SiDavies@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:SMGriffiths@sirgar.gov.uk


Jan 2024 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

CABINET 
29/01/2024 

 
 

MODERNISING EDUCATION PROGRAMME 
 

MEP STRATEGY 
 
 
Background 

Carmarthenshire’s Modernising Education Programme was approved by the 
County Council in November 2004 as a strategic investment and rationalisation 
plan to transform school provision across Carmarthenshire. The aim is to 
transform the network of nursery, primary and secondary schools serving the 
county into a strategically and operationally effective resource that meets current 
and future need for a school based and community focused education. Since its 
inception, the Modernising Education Programme has drawn widespread 
recognition for its strategic vision, transformational planning and impressive record 
of delivery.  

Band A / Band B 

Carmarthenshire’s preparations for the national 21st Century Schools Programme 
(now known as the Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme) 
commenced in 2010 through an invitation by the Welsh Government (WG) to Local 
Authorities to submit a Strategic Outline Programme (SOP) for the modernisation 
of their whole schools estate, placed within four bands for investment (A-D), in 
order of priority according to most urgent need. 

During 2010, a major review of the MEP was completed as part of the process of 
developing the County Council’s submission and the Authority’s Strategic Outline 
Programme (SOP) identified the preferred option for programme delivery to 
implement on a local area basis.   
Through the initial submission process Carmarthenshire’s Band A programme was 
approved at a value of £86.7 million (funded 50% by grant from WG and 50% from 
the Council’s own resources).   
Carmarthenshire’s Band A commenced in 2014/15 following approval of Band A 
projects as part of the MEP update in 2013. Band A was updated again in 2016 
following a reassessment in line with the approved MEP investment criteria and the 
practicalities of delivery.   
Subsequently, Band B began in April 2019 and was expanded to include further 
education colleges and as such was renamed, 21st Century Schools and Colleges 

Tudalen 168



Jan 2024 

Programme. This programme was expected to see a further £2.3 billion investment 
in school and college infrastructure and was expected to run until 2024/2026. 
 
In December 2017, Carmarthenshire’s Band B was approved at a value of £129.5 
million. The Band B intervention rate is currently 65% grant for mainstream and 75% 
grant for Special Schools and Pupil Referral Units. Band B will come to a close in 
February 2024 prior to the implementation of the new rolling programme. 
 

Rolling Programme 

Following the close of Band B, a rolling programme of investment is being 
implemented to improve efficiency and delivery for both partners (local authorities, 
colleges etc.) and the Welsh Government. The rolling programme will strengthen 
one of the key attributes of the Programme, that of projects being taken forward at 
the pace of and to the priorities of delivery partners, removing the environment of 
‘over-optimism’ or the need for delivery partners to put forward overly ambitious 
proposals during what is typically a narrow bidding window. 

A nine-year capital programme, including an indicative funding forecast for the 9 
years, is required to be submitted to the Welsh Government for consideration 
towards providing a commitment and support for the first 3 years along with in 
principle support for years 4, 5 and 6. Years 7 to 9 will reflect a longer-term project 
pipeline. If appropriate, Band B projects can be included at the beginning of the nine-
year capital programme. 
 
At the latest, delivery partners must review and resubmit their programme by March 
2024. 
 
MEP Strategy 
 
In 2010, the County Council resolved that the MEP be reviewed every two years or 
otherwise as required to ensure consistency with the timeframe of the national 21st 
Century Schools Programme (Renamed Sustainable Communities for Learning 
Programme (SCfLP)). 
This has been a central feature of the MEP since its inception that it needs to retain 
flexibility at its core to ensure that the programme remains current and responsive 
to changes in the education policy framework and the needs of constantly 
developing society and communities. This is truer than ever in the current 
climate/post pandemic. 
As such, the Local Authority are currently undertaking its review of the MEP, in line 
with the requirement to submit a strategic outline programme for the new rolling 
programme by March 2024. Consequently, a new MEP Strategy has been 
developed (attached) to direct the future delivery of the new Modernising Education 
Programme. It is guided by a set of strategic objectives and underpinned by the 
department’s purpose pieces and educational principles to ensure cohesion with the 
8 Education Priorities for 2022-2025 and the Education Sir Gar 2022-2032 strategy. 
The MEP strategy includes a set of viability and investment criteria to ensure an 

Tudalen 169



Jan 2024 

appropriate and transparent method of developing school organisation and 
investment proposals. 
 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that the Cabinet approves the MEP Strategy as outlined in the 
report for consultation. 

 
 
 
DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? 
 

 
YES – MEP Strategy document 
 

 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the 
appropriate Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there 
are no other implications associated with this report.  
  

 

Signed:                      
 

Head of Access to Education 
 

 

Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets  

Bio-
diversity 
& 
Climate 
Change 

YES YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 
 
1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 
Any school organisation or federation proposals determined by the MEP Strategy 
will be subject to a completed Integrated Impact Assessment and any other impact 
assessments as determined by the School Organisation Code 2018. 
2. Legal 
In line with the Modernising Education Programme and Welsh Government 
requirements, any proposals to invest in school buildings will be subject to 
approval following the 5 case business case process. Likewise, any school 
organisation proposals will be subject to adherence with the School Standards and 
Organisation Act 2013, the School Organisation Code 2018 and the Local 
Authority’s own democratic process for approving school organisation proposals. 
In addition, any federation proposals will be subject to adherence to the Federation 
Process of Maintained Schools in Wales – Guidance for Governing Bodies and 
Local Authorities.  
3. Finance 
Capital – Any projects considered for capital investment will require approval and 
inclusion within the Local Authority’s 5 year Capital Programme in order to provide 
match funding. 
 

Tudalen 170



Jan 2024 

Revenue – All schools, regardless of whether they are subject to capital 
investment will continue to be funded in accordance with the Fair Funding model. 
 
Capital Maintenance – Capital maintenance will continue to be provided and will 
be determined and agreed on a priority basis, regardless of whether schools are 
subject to capital investment.  
4. ICT 
ICT requirements will be considered for any school subject to investment 
intervention.  
5. Risk Management Issues 
The MEP strategy will determine school organisation proposals and investment 
intervention based on a wide range of criteria such as: leadership, pupil numbers, 
financial viability, school building condition and suitability, sustainability and 
accessibility. Any risk associated with above criteria for any school will continue to 
be managed via the Local Authority’s existing procedures and groups such as 
through Change Review Panel and the Departmental Management Team, until it is 
determined whether a school is subject to school organisation or investment 
intervention.  
6. Staffing Implications 
In any instance where a school organisation proposal and/or project has an impact 
on staffing, staffing implications will be addressed in accordance with the County 
Council’s Policy and Procedures. 
7. Physical Assets 
New School Buildings – The Local Authority may gain a new stock of school 
buildings, should it be determined that a school requires investment to provide a 
new school building.  
 
Existing School Buildings (Current Stock) – All existing school buildings will 
continue to be maintained as per current arrangements. Existing responsibilities 
will remain for Governing Bodies and the Local Authority. Capital maintenance will 
continue to be provided and will be determined and agreed on a priority basis, 
regardless of whether schools are subject to capital investment. 
 
Surplus School Buildings – Any school building deemed surplus to requirements 
will be managed in accordance with the latest Surplus Schools’ Disposal Policy. 
8. Bio-diversity & Climate Change 
As with all new school developments, the enhancement and maintenance of bio-
diverse and habitat areas will be considered in line with the Environment Act and 
to promote the vision of the new curriculum. To support Carmarthenshire County 
Council’s vision of becoming net zero carbon by 2030, all school developments will 
be developed through sustainable approaches and methodologies to ensure 
cohesion with this vision. 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tudalen 171



Jan 2024 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below: 
  
Signed:     

 
Head of Access to Education 

 
1. Scrutiny Committee request for pre-determination  NO 
If yes include the following information: - 
Scrutiny Committee   
Date the report was considered:-  
Scrutiny Committee Outcome/Recommendations:- 
 

 
2. Local Member(s) – Will be made aware of the MEP Strategy. 
 
3. Community / Town Council – Will be made aware of the MEP Strategy. 
  
4. Relevant Partners – Will be made aware of the MEP Strategy. 
 
5. Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations – Will be made aware of the 
MEP Strategy. 
 
CABINET MEMBER  PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED: 
YES 

Include any observations here 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

Sustainable 
Communities for 
Learning Website 

https://www.gov.wales/sustainable-communities-for-learning-programme  

School Standards and 
Organisation (Wales) 
Act 2013 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/1/contents/enacted 

School Organisation 
Code 2018 

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-
code-second-edition.pdf  

Federation process of 
maintained schools in 
Wales – Guidance for 
governing bodies and 
local authorities 

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-03/federation-process-of-
maintained-schools-in-wales-guidance-for-governing-bodies-and-local-
authorities.pdf  

 
 
 

 

Tudalen 172

https://www.gov.wales/sustainable-communities-for-learning-programme
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/1/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-code-second-edition.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-code-second-edition.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-03/federation-process-of-maintained-schools-in-wales-guidance-for-governing-bodies-and-local-authorities.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-03/federation-process-of-maintained-schools-in-wales-guidance-for-governing-bodies-and-local-authorities.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-03/federation-process-of-maintained-schools-in-wales-guidance-for-governing-bodies-and-local-authorities.pdf


 

DRAFT
Strategaeth Moderneiddio 
Addysg
Modernising Education 
Strategy

Tudalen 173



 

2 
 

 

 
Table of Contents 
 
Introduction           3 
 
Programme Overview         3 
 
Strategic Alignment (The Golden Thread)      4 
 
MEP Strategy          8 
 
MEP Review           10 
 
Appendix 1           16 
 
Appendix 2           18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Tudalen 174



 

3 
 

Programme Overview 
The Modernising Education Programme (MEP) is designed to deliver on the Local Authority’s 
School Modernisation and reorganisation aspirations. Since its inception in 2004, the 
Modernising Education Programme has drawn widespread recognition for its strategic vision, 
transformational planning and impressive record of delivery. The achievements of the MEP 
are illustrated in the Transformation Journey attached at Appendix 3. The purpose of this 
document is to outline the strategy, objectives and principles established to direct the MEP’s 
future delivery. 

In March 2010, the Welsh Assembly Government launched the 21st Century Schools 
Programme, a long-term investment programme which enables Welsh local authorities to 
provide learning environments fit for teaching and learning in the 21st Century. The first phase 
of investment (Band A) commenced in 2014 and represented a £1.4 billion investment over 
the five-year period ending in 2018/19.  
 
Carmarthenshire’s preparations for the national 21st Century Schools Programme 
commenced in 2010 through an invitation by the Welsh Government (WG) to local authorities 
to submit a Strategic Outline Programme (SOP) for the modernisation of their whole schools’ 
estate, placed within four bands for investment (A-D), in order of priority according to most 
urgent need. 

In 2010 a major review of the MEP was completed as part of the process of developing the 
County Council’s submission and the Authority’s Strategic Outline Programme (SOP) which 
identified the preferred option for programme delivery to implement on a local area basis.   

Through the initial submission process Carmarthenshire’s Band A programme was approved 
at a value of £86.7 million (funded 50% by grant from WG and 50% from the Council’s own 
resources).  Carmarthenshire’s Band A commenced in 2014/15 following approval of Band A 
projects as part of the MEP update in 2013. 

Band A was updated in 2016 following a reassessment in line with the approved MEP 
investment criteria and the practicalities of delivery.   

Three Band A projects (namely Dewi Sant, Laugharne and Rhydygors) have not been 
completed as a result of challenges such as public objection to preferred sites or complex 
statutory processes. 

In May 2017 the WG confirmed its intention to progress with the 21st Century Schools and 
Colleges Band B Programme.  Band B began in April 2019 and was expanded to include 
further education colleges and as such was renamed as the 21st Century Schools and 
Colleges Programme. This Programme was expected to see a further £2.3 billion investment 
in school and college infrastructure and was expected to run until 2024/2026. 

 
In December 2017, Carmarthenshire’s Band B was approved at a value of £129.5 million.  
The Band B intervention rate is 65% grant for mainstream and 75% grant for Special Schools 
and Pupil Referral Units. Band B commenced in April 2019.  

Tudalen 175



 

4 
 

Several factors have impacted on the pace of development of Band B schemes e.g. scale and 
complexity of projects including required statutory procedures, Covid-19 pandemic and 
democratic decisions. The progress of schemes has also been impacted by unprecedented 
challenges in terms of construction sector costs increasing significantly due to the emergence 
from the pandemic and the impacts of rising inflation on budgets, particularly in capital 
projects, supply chain issues and rises in material costs. These factors have significant 
implications on MEP schemes which are currently in development. 
 

Background 
Carmarthenshire’s Modernising Education Programme (MEP) was approved by the County 
Council in November 2004 as our strategic investment and rationalisation plan to transform 
school provision across Carmarthenshire. The aim is to transform the network of nursery, 
primary and secondary schools into a strategically and operationally effective resource that 
meets current and future need for a school based and community focused education.  

This is achieved (in collaboration with Welsh Government’s Sustainable Communities for 
Learning Programme) through developing and improving buildings, infrastructure and 
spaces that are appropriately located, designed, constructed or adapted to foster sustainable 
development for the people and communities of Carmarthenshire.  

In line with the Local Authority’s responsibility to review the number and type of schools it has, 
and whether or not it is making the best use of resources and facilities, the Modernising 
Education Programme is reviewed regularly to ensure that flexibility is maintained so that 
changes can be incorporated when required in line with current educational circumstances. 
Despite being a number of years since the Modernising Education Programme was last 
reviewed, the culmination of a number of factors has determined that it would be prudent to 
review the programme and strategy now.  
 
Post the Covid 19 pandemic, the authority has seen a number of demographic changes 
across the county, such as shifts in pupil numbers and parental preference when choosing 
schools etc. Understanding the needs of the local community is important in order to provide 
the right school within the right area.  It has also become necessary to review the future design 
of school buildings to ensure compatibility with organisational requirements set during the 
pandemic and meets the needs in terms of ventilation / access to good air quality etc. Serious 
consideration must be given to the consequences faced by the global pandemic.  Staff, pupils, 
and facilities have had to work much harder in order to create a viable, safe yet still nurturing 
teaching and learning environment, however moving forward buildings could be designed in 
such a way to take account of all of these factors in order to avoid this dramatic change in 
operational management again in the future should it be required.   

 
In addition, it has become apparent that the authority has an aging stock in terms of school 
assets, where the condition of these buildings is also deteriorating, resulting in the need for 
substantial capital maintenance. Consideration must be given to how suitable the stock 
continues to be in terms of being able to provide facilities fit for the 21st Century to provide the 
best for our learners. With the implementation of the new curriculum, we must also ensure 

Tudalen 176

mailto:https//www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-01/sustainable-communities-for-learning-business-case-guidance-2022.pdf
mailto:https//www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-01/sustainable-communities-for-learning-business-case-guidance-2022.pdf


 

5 
 

that our assets are able to enhance elements of the new curriculum such as sustainability, 
biodiversity and outdoor learning. 
 
It has become clear that due to financial pressures there are a number of Carmarthenshire 
schools in significant deficit. This causes additional stress on school leaders and impacts on 
recruitment.  Increasing construction costs result in elevated project costs which limits the 
funding  available to progress and develop new schemes. UK building costs are continuing to 
experience an unprecedented spike arising from a combination of Covid-19, inflation and 
Brexit implications.  This has impacted upon contractor labour capacity, as well as causing 
the inventory of available materials to diminish thus contributing to price hikes on core 
packages, such as timber, steel, and cement.  However, cost is not the only issue and 
extended delivery times on materials have also been experienced which has had an equally 
adverse impact on  project programmes.   

In November 2022 the Welsh Government published guidance on Community Focused 
Schools, detailing aspirations for schools to:  

• build a strong partnership with families,  

• respond to the needs of their community and  

• collaborate effectively with other services.  

Following this, further guidance was published in September 2023 on community engagement 
and how schools can maximise their role in securing educational, health and community 
developments, and how they can help to create, thriving, empowered and connected 
communities. The Local Authority is currently utilising Community Focused Grant to develop 
projects to help schools become more accessible to their communities. As such, moving 
forward consideration needs to be given as to how schools can be designed with the local 
community in mind. 

Over the last couple of years, the Welsh Government have promoted the expansion of early 
years childcare and education in Wales through the expansion of the Childcare Offer and 
Flying Start programmes. The Childcare Offer for Wales provides 30 hours a week of funded 
early education and childcare for eligible working parents of three and four year olds for up to 
48 weeks a year. The childcare available through Flying Start is for two to three year olds. It 
includes 12.5 hours a week, for 39 weeks of the year, of funded high-quality childcare and is 
being implemented through a phased approach.  Consideration now needs to be given on 
whether facilities to be able to provide these services need to be included within new school 
builds, if provision is not available within the local area. 
 
In contrast to the development of Bands A and B, in 2024 Welsh Government are introducing 
a new 9 year rolling programme of investment, which will help local authorities prioritise 
projects on need and achievability whilst also manging the expectations of stakeholders. This 
programme will help local authorities plan over a longer period and determine an appropriate 
project plan for each scheme, meaning that stakeholders can be updated at the relevant point 
in time rather than waiting in anticipation of when their project is likely to start. Moving forward 
and in collaboration with the Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme, 

Tudalen 177



 

6 
 

Carmarthenshire County Council can provide schools with 21st century facilities, through a 
carefully planned programme of re-organisation and investment.  
 
The culmination of all of these factors means that the Local Authority can now undertake a 
holistic review of its Modernising Education Programme, ensuring that all key points are 
addressed suitably and effectively as part of the new strategy.  
 
Carmarthenshire County Council’s aim is to ensure that all learners are provided with the best 
possible start in life, with facilities and opportunities that are fit for purpose for teaching and 
learning in the 21st Century, as well as being accessible to the community.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Strategic Alignment (The Golden Thread) 
 
As already noted the development of the Modernising Education Programme is underpinned 
by the principle of a holistic approach and the requirement to enhance and support a range of 
national, corporate and educational objectives. The development of the MEP is aligned to key 
national and local documents and policies as outlined below: 
 
National 

• Cymraeg 2050 
• Curriculum for Wales 
• Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018 
• The Additional Learning Needs Code for Wales 2021 
• The Equality Act  2010 
• Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Local 
• Corporate Strategy 2022-2027 
• Cabinet’s Vision 2022-2027 
• Education Sir Gar 2022-2032  
• Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2032 
• NZC/Climate Emergency 
• Medium Term Financial Plan 

 
 
 

Ysgol Gorslas

Tudalen 178



 

7 
 

The MEP features prominently in the Council’s Corporate Strategy 2022-2027 which sets 
out the direction for the Local Authority over a five year period, incorporating our improvement 
and well-being objectives as defined by legislation: 

Well-being Objective 1- Enabling our children and young people to have the best 
possible start in life (Start Well) 

The future direction of Education Services will focus on supporting learners to become:  

• Ambitious, capable learners, ready to learn throughout their lives.  
• Enterprising, creative contributors, ready to provide a full part in life & work.  
• Healthy and confident individuals, ready to learn fulfilling lives as valued members of 

society.  
• Ethical, informed citizens of Wales and the world 

The MEP has a significant role to play in the Cabinet Vision Statement 2022-2027.   

The Cabinet’s Vision for Education outlines a range of commitments that they will work 
towards achieving during the course of this administration. These commitments include: 

• Continue investment in school buildings across the county and overhaul 
Carmarthenshire’s Sustainable Communities for Learning Program to meet the 
needs of the 21st century. Ensuring that all new schools meet the required 
standards of insulation and ventilation to cut energy bills and be more 
environmentally friendly. 

• Look to improve the availability of early years education and childcare settings 
across the county, particularly in rural areas; with a particular focus on providing 
and strengthening Welsh-medium childcare in all areas. 

• Continue to ensure that pupils with additional learning needs (ALN) are fully supported 
to meet their potential in line with ALN Reform. 

• Work alongside schools to increase school attendance rates and improve access to 
education for vulnerable pupils. 

• Increase the utilisation of school facilities for community use outside of teaching 
hours. 

• Work with schools to deliver a full and rounded curriculum which aspires to 
raise educational standards and ensures that pupils understand and celebrate their 
local history, geography, and culture. 

• In line with the vision of Welsh Government, provide high quality nutritious free school 
meals to all primary school pupils, over the lifetime of the administration. 

• Support the provision of opportunities for residents in the county to engage in essential 
learning in literacy, numeracy, and digital skills, in line with current Welsh Government 
funding. Enabling post 16 learners to upskill for employment and progression, as well 
as lifelong learning and community benefits and offer learners’ high quality 21st century 
learning environments. 

Tudalen 179

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1231822/corporate-strategy-2022-27.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/cabinet-vision-statement-2022-2027-july-2022/education/


 

8 
 

• Ensure that the standard of learning and teaching in our schools is of a high quality to 
support our learners to make appropriate progress. 

• In line with the Welsh Government’s programme, increase the availability of 
bilingual and Welsh medium education in our schools, following thorough 
consultation with parents, school governing bodies, learners, and the local 
community. 

• Work with Welsh Government to consider the effectiveness of anti-COVID 
ventilation devices in schools. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To complement the Cabinet’s Vision, the Education and Children Department has 
developed a Vision and Collective Moral Purpose: 
 

‘We will support all Carmarthenshire learners. We will ensure that they are 
happy, safe, are thriving, and are fulfilling their personal, social and learning 
potential. We will strive to become the best we can be and be highly regarded 
locally, whilst also earning national and international recognition.’ 

Moral Purpose 
Making sure every learner is valued and valued equally. 

 

In Carmarthenshire we strive to provide our learners with the best possible education 
experience.  The Education Sir Gar 2022-2032 strategy sets out a clear, shared vision for 
the role that education services play in the future development of vibrant communities and a 
prosperous economy in Carmarthenshire. 
 
 

Our desired outcomes 2022-2032 
We endeavour to develop the whole child/young person equipping them with the skills and 
knowledge they need for the next step in their learning or career pathway. 

We are trying to achieve this at a time of increased demands on our resources and an 
increased focus on improving outcomes and attainment. Ultimately, we want to ensure that 
our learners are well educated, well informed and well qualified. 

Ysgol Rhys Prichard

Tudalen 180

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/education-schools/education-sir-g%C3%A2r-2022-2032/our-desired-outcomes-2022-2032/


 

9 
 

As a department we have clear priorities focused around four key themes, tied into Education 
in Wales: Our National Mission. We will achieve our desired outcomes by realising our 
'purpose pieces' and the ideals of the new Curriculum for Wales. 

Carmarthenshire Learners- 

• Ambitious, capable learners, ready to learn throughout their lives. 
• Healthy, confident individuals, ready to lead fulfilling lives as valued members of 

society. 
• Enterprising, creative contributors, ready to play a full part in life and work. 
• Ethical, informed citizens of Wales and the world 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Ysgol Llangadog

Tudalen 181



 

10 
 

Purpose Pieces 
We will achieve our desired outcomes by realising our 'purpose pieces’.   

 
The aspirations of the Corporate Strategy 2022-2027, the Cabinet’s Vision 2022-2027, 
Education Sir Gar 2022-2032 and feedback from engagement with Carmarthenshire’s 
headteacher are summarised in the department's 8 Education Priorities for 2022-2025: 

 

Tudalen 182



 

11 
 

 
There is a Strategic Focus Group (SFG) for each of the priorities above to drive forward and 
deliver on each priority. SFGs are represented by Local Authority officers and Headteachers 
and provide important opportunities to strategically improve key issues for the education 
system based on local and national priorities. 

The MEP sits within the Sustainable Communities SFG and supports the strategic direction 
to realise the Education Department’s priorities and specifically the aim to: Deliver high 
standards of education in increasingly modern and sustainable community focussed 
environments. 

MEP Strategy 
 
The most recent Estyn report published in September 2023 notes the following with regards 
to the authority’s educational objectives and strategy: 
 

• The authority has a clear strategy for modernising and re-organising its schools, which 
is based on sound principles and objectives. The strategy reflects the authority’s desire 
to create a range of high-quality schools, which meet the needs of their current and 
future learners. There is an appropriate link between the objectives of the school 
modernisation strategy, the council’s well-being objectives and the education service’s 
ten-year plan. This includes the vision to ensure that children and young people have 
the best possible start in life, as well as making their communities safe and prosperous. 
The authority has specific plans for providing community facilities to reduce the effects 
of poverty on the achievement of pupils and young people. 

• The commitment of senior authority leaders, the Council Leader and the Cabinet 
Member with responsibility for Education and Children's Services to make the strategy 
a reality, is a positive feature. They are working effectively with the school 
modernisation team and other stakeholders to review the strategy to ensure it is 
intertwined and responsive to the authority's current requirements. For example, they 
adapted the strategy to support Curriculum for Wales, the Welsh in Education Strategic 

Tudalen 183

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2023-09/Inspection%20report%20-%20Carmarthenshire%20County%20Council%202023_1.pdf


 

12 
 

Plan (WESP) 2022-32 as well as meeting challenges such as recruiting school leaders 
in rural areas of the county.  

• However, delays in decision-making, including following formal consultations, have 
meant that the authority has not fully addressed their plans to reorganise and 
modernise education. 

This strategy has been developed to direct the future delivery of the new Modernising 
Education Programme. The MEP is guided by a set of strategic objectives: 

• To develop a schools’ network that is educationally effective, resource efficient and 
sustainable for the long term.  

• To develop a pattern of provision within which every learning setting can facilitate a 
high-quality education to all its learners, either as an individual institution or as part of 
a federation or collaboration with other settings or providers.  

• To create school environments that allow every child within every school to access a 
curriculum and experience teaching that motivates them to achieve their full potential, 
whilst also facilitating a programme of extra-curricular activities that stimulate their 
physical and emotional well-being. 

• To develop infrastructure at all schools that is equipped for learning in the 21st century, 
facilitating the realisation of core objectives for raising educational standards and 
sustaining them at high levels of performance.  

• To deliver a strategic approach to capital investment, integrated with a programme for 
the rationalisation of provision across the schools’ network to effectively match supply 
with demand.  

• To rebuild, remodel, refurbish or modernise all school settings that are to be retained 
for the long-term, so that they conform as closely as practicable to adopted design 
standards. 

• To contribute to the achievement of wider policy objectives, for example, community 
regeneration and renewal, healthy lifestyles, etc., through the development of 
appropriate enabling infrastructure.  

• To improve the efficiency and educational viability of the schools’ sector by reducing 
the number of empty places to a reasonable level, whilst facilitating wherever 
practicable the expression of parental preference, responding effectively to 
demographic change. 

• To develop infrastructure at schools that is fully accessible to all persons and enables 
all learners to access a high-quality education, irrespective of individual needs.  

• To develop individual and collaborative school solutions that contribute to a county-
wide single comprehensive education system. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 184



 

13 
 

 

To facilitate the future transformation of the schools’ network, a set of principles have been 
developed and act as a benchmark for what every primary school in Carmarthenshire should 
have as a minimum.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The strategic aims and objectives/benefits of the MEP have been designed to promote and 
complement a range of expectations, alongside the Educational Principles and are centred 
around six key themes:  
 
 

Carmarthenshire’s Primary Educational Principles
• Have sustainable leadership, with leaders who are free to lead and manage, 

with no permanent teaching commitment.
• Have no more than 2-year groups per teaching class
• Have sufficient pupil numbers to sustain the above structural arrangements.
• Be financially viable under the Local Management of Schools (LMS) funding 

framework and able to operate for the long-term without a budget deficit.
• Have access to suitable outdoor teaching facilities to enhance learning and 

support physical well-being across the school.
• Be fully inclusive and accessible for all.
• Be equipped with modern facilities to support digital learning.
• Have a high-quality learning environment to support the wellbeing of all 

learners and to enhance learner progress and their achievements across a 
wide range of skills and curriculum areas.

It must be noted that:

• As part of any review, we will consider how we can realise 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan and enhancing Welsh 
medium education.

• Should the decision to discontinue a Welsh medium school be taken, we 
will facilitate and support access to alternative Welsh medium provision.

Ysgol Bro Dinefwr

Tudalen 185



 

14 
 

 
 Theme Objective/Benefits 

1. Viability      Develop a schools’ network that is educationally sustainable and 
resource efficient for the long-term in line with Carmarthenshire’s 
educational principles.  

2. Strategic      Deliver a strategic approach to capital investment, integrated with a 
programme for the rationalisation of provision across the schools’ 
network to effectively match supply with demand through school re-
organisation or federation.  

3. Modern      Deliver 21st century infrastructure and facilities at all schools in 
enhanced learning environments with: 
• Upgraded Facilities 
• Improved Safety and Security 
• Accessible Infrastructure 
• Technological Advancements 
These will support the achievement of core objectives for raising 
educational standards and maintaining them at high levels in line with 
the Local Authority’s aspirations. 

4. Equity Contribute to the achievement of core policy and sector objectives 
such as: 
✓ Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 
✓ Poverty 
✓ Early Years 
✓ New Curriculum 
✓ Foundation Phase 
✓ Key Stages 2, 3 and 4. 
✓ Post 16 (KS5) 
✓ Additional Learning Needs (ALN) (Inc. ALN Reform) 
✓ Behavioural Needs 
✓ Vocational 

5. Community      Creating a community focused environment and delivering prosperity 
for all through facilities that can be shared by both the school and its 
surrounding communities and therefore contributing to personal, 
health, economic and community development. 

6. Cohesion      Contribute to the achievement of wider policy objectives such as: 
✓ Active Travel 
✓ Outdoor Play and Sports Provision 
✓ Childcare and Wraparound Care 
✓ Healthy Living 

7. Sustainability      Rebuild, remodel, refurbish or modernise all school settings that are 
to be retained for the long-term, so that they comply with 21st century 
design standards to ensure that all buildings have the lowest 
environmental impact in order to meet the Local Authority’s objective 
of becoming net zero carbon by 2030.  

 
  

Tudalen 186

mailto:https//www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/education-schools/bilingual-education/welsh-in-education-strategic-plan-wesp/


 

15 
 

MEP Review 
In 2010 County Council resolved MEP be reviewed every two years or otherwise as required 
to ensure consistency with the timeframe of the national 21st Century Schools Programme 
(Renamed Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme (SCfLP)). 

Since its inception regular review is a central feature of the MEP in order that it is able to retain 
flexibility at its core to ensure that the programme is current and responsive to changes in the 
education policy framework and is able to meet the needs of a constantly developing society. 
This is even more important in the current climate/post pandemic period. 

Long-established criteria, developed and adopted locally through consultation with 
representative school leaders, have been agreed and adopted as appropriate indicators of 
viability and investment need.  These were formally adopted in 2008 and have directed the 
structure of the MEP since that time. The criteria have been reviewed in line with strategy and 
policy changes, in addition to changes to external factors such as: financial 
pressures/budgets, school footprint, class sizes, recruitment, deteriorating building conditions 
and demographic changes to ensure they align with current and future aspirations. 

Viability 
Each time the MEP is reviewed, every school in Carmarthenshire is evaluated against a set 
of evidence-based criteria, which allow an assessment of the school’s operational viability to 
be made, and decisions taken on the relative investment need of all schools.  

This allows the Authority to objectively determine a programme for the strategic review of the 
schools’ network and investment in the modernisation of the schools’ estate in a manner that 
is transparent and demonstrably fair.   

As a result, each school is placed in a category within a viability continuum, to confirm the 
prognosis for that school. The summary of the viability assessment forms the basis for the 
identification of modernisation projects and rationalisation proposals within the overall 
programme. 

It should be noted that the viability assessment and conclusion for each school is based 
around mainstream provision and other forms of provision such as early years, additional 
learning needs, behaviour and Post 16 will be driven by separate strategies. The details of 
the viability criteria and viability continuum can be found in the table on the next page. 

 
 
 
 

Ysgol Pum Heol

Tudalen 187



 

16 
 

 

Quality and Standards in Education: considering key measures and 
performance as assessed through Estyn inspections. A school being placed under 
special measures will trigger a review. 
Leadership:  having sustainable leadership with suitably qualified leaders who 
are free to lead and manage the school with no headteacher having a full-time 
teaching commitment.  
Pupil Numbers: the number of pupils attending the school, with low pupil numbers 
being a key indicator for review. Pupil numbers are the main factor in school 
funding and low pupil numbers can significantly influence sustainable provision 
and staffing structures.  
Pupil Trends: the pattern of pupil numbers at the school over previous years, with 
a declining roll being a key indicator for review. 
Pupil Projections: an assessment of estimated pupil numbers expected to attend 
the school from within the designated catchment area and age range over the 
coming five years, with a forecast decline or increase being a key indicator for 
review. 
Surplus Places:  the number of spare places at the school, with more than 10% 
surplus places in an area overall being an indicator for review to  improve the 
effectiveness and efficiency of provision as defined by Welsh Government in the 
School Organisation Code (2018) 
Financial Viability: the present and predicted financial position of the school 
under the School Funding Wales Regulations 2010, with a budget deficit being a 
key indicator for review. 
School Building Condition: the condition of the school’s physical assets and the 
cost of improving their condition to an acceptable standard, assessed as the cost 
of refurbishment as a factor of the asset value and relative to the number of pupil 
places (according to the school’s official capacity). 
School Building Suitability: the appropriateness of the school’s buildings and 
site to support the effective delivery of the modern curriculum/new Curriculum for 
Wales and making the asset available for community use and the estimated cost 
of undertaking any adaptation or extension works to ensure the sufficiency of the 
premises. 

Viability Criteria 

Collaborative Regeneration/Funding Opportunities: should opportunities arise 
for funding and/or collaborative working through Regeneration initiatives including 
with other agencies e.g., Diocesan Authorities. 

 
Viability 
Assessment 

 
Each school is assessed based on the viability criteria and subsequently 
grouped into one of the 2 categories within the viability continuum. 
 

 
Viability 
Continuum 
 

 
Retain the school 

 
Undertake a strategic review of the 
school or area 

Tudalen 188

mailto:https//www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-code-second-edition.pdf
mailto:https//www.gov.wales/school-funding-wales-regulations-2010-explanatory-note-html


 

17 
 

Investment 
Following conclusion of the viability assessments, all projects are ranked based on the 
following prioritisation criteria to provide an overall, long-term programme for 
investment.   

 

The viability and prioritisation criteria ensure that the Educational Principles and 
Objectives are maintained throughout the programme of development. 

  

Need In locations where the provision of additional space or the refurbishment of 
existing space is essential in order to accommodate pupils generated by the 
rationalisation of other schools or where demand for places is increasing 
naturally through demographic change, provided in the latter case that schools 
are complying with the Council’s Admissions Policy. 

Pupil 
Numbers 

In locations that have increasing or stable pupil numbers or those schools that 
are deemed by the Authority to be necessary for the effective long-term delivery 
of education services. 

Surplus 
Places 

In locations where, in tandem with rationalisation proposals, it will facilitate the 
greatest reduction in the number of surplus school places. 

School 
Building 

Condition 

In locations where it will be possible to achieve the greatest progress towards 
securing objectives for high quality premises for the most significant numbers of 
pupils. 

WESP In projects that promote the expansion of Welsh medium education or the 
development of bilingual education in support of the objectives set out in the 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan. To provide the right number 
of places for the delivery of Welsh medium and bilingual education. 

Additional 
Learning 

Needs (ALN) 

In locations to achieve a model of inclusive and equitable education for all 
through the medium of Welsh and English. 

Childcare 
Early Years 

In locations to provide the right type and quantity of high-quality accessible 
childcare to meet the needs of parents/carers. 

Net Zero 
Carbon (NZC) 

& 
Sustainability 

In locations to work towards Net Zero Carbon and improving buildings that are 
resource inefficient and have a high environmental impact. 

Accessibility In locations that currently do not meet the needs buildings of all users and 
promote inclusion. 

Community 
Facilities 

In locations that are currently not equipped to promote safe community use 
outside of traditional school hours. 

Tudalen 189

mailto:https//www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/education-schools/school-admissions-and-changing-schools/policies/


 

18 
 

Parameters and Interventions 
The MEP is guided by a number of National and Local parameters that influence the 
interventions available to develop and implement the programme. 

Parameters 
Any transformational change to the schools’ estate is dependent upon the following: 

• School Organisation Code – statutory guidance that set out the Local 
Authority’s responsibilities in relation to school-reorganisation and regulated 
alterations to make significant changes. 

• Federation Process of maintained schools in Wales – statutory guidance for 
establishing school Federations. 

• Welsh Government Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme – WG 
Capital investment programme provides collaborative funding opportunities to 
LAs through its Business Case approval process. 

• Capital Programme – Outlines the LAs Capital funding availability for the 
Education Department over a five-year period. 

• Democratic Decision Making Process – Process approved by County Council 
for determining school organisation proposals.  County Council is the ultimate 
determining body. 
 

Interventions (Options for Change) 
Interventions are used to facilitate change to the schools’ network and can be split 
into two types, Statutory & Policy and Infrastructure Investment. 

Statutory & Policy Interventions are used to develop a strategically and 
operationally effective network of schools that meet current and future need for 
education.  Proposals are identified via the MEP Review and are reactive to the 
needs of areas at certain points in time and include: 

• Recruitment 
• Admissions Policy 
• Catchment Areas 
• Federations (Regulations) 
• School Organisation Code Proposals: 

• Reorganise (Open / Close)  
• WESP (Change in nature of provision) 
• Age Range 
• ALN 
• Increase / Decrease Capacity 
• Move School (Over a mile) 
• 6th Forms 

 
 

Tudalen 190

mailto:https//www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-code-second-edition.pdf
mailto:https//www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-03/federation-process-of-maintained-schools-in-wales-guidance-for-governing-bodies-and-local-authorities.pdf
mailto:https//www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-01/sustainable-communities-for-learning-business-case-guidance-2022.pdf
mailto:https//democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s48756/Appendix%20A%20Capital%20Programme%202021-2026.pdf
mailto:https//www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/education-schools/school-admissions-and-changing-schools/policies/
mailto:https//www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-03/federation-process-of-maintained-schools-in-wales-guidance-for-governing-bodies-and-local-authorities.pdf
mailto:https//www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-code-second-edition.pdf
mailto:https//www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/education-schools/bilingual-education/welsh-in-education-strategic-plan-wesp/


 

19 
 

 
Admissions Policy 
 
Carmarthenshire County Council is the Admissions Authority for all its maintained 
nursery, primary and secondary schools with the exception of voluntary aided schools 
where the school’s Governing Body is the Admissions Authority. 
 
Pupils are normally admitted on a full-time basis to a primary school at the beginning of 
the term of their 4th birthday. 
 
Some schools also offer part-time nursery provision and pupils are usually admitted at 
the beginning of the term following their 3rd birthday. 
 
By law, parents must arrange for their children to receive full-time education at the 
beginning of the term following their 5th birthday. 
 
Primary school pupils are required to start at a secondary school in the September 
following their 11th birthday. 
 
 

 Commencing 
Part-time 

Nursery [Term 
following 3rd 

birthday] 

Commencing 
Full-time [Term 
of 4th birthday) 

Compulsory 
School Age 

[Term following 
5th birthday] 

Commencing 
Secondary 

School 
[September 

following 11th 
birthday] 

Birthday from 1 
September – 31 
December 

 
Spring Term 

 
Autumn Term 

 
Spring Term 

 
Autumn Term 

Birthday from 1 
January – 31 
March 

 
Summer Term 

 
Spring Term 

 
Summer Term 

 
Autumn Term 

Birthday from 1 
April – 31 August 

 
Autumn Term 

 
Summer Term 

 
Autumn Term 

 
Autumn Term 

 
 
Parents/guardians must submit a formal application for a part-time and full-time school 
place. Since 2017/18, all Carmarthenshire’s admission applications have been 
submitted online via the Council’s website.  Parents can apply for up to three schools 
which they must rank as their 1st, 2nd and 3rd choice.  Applications must be submitted 
by the relevant deadline.  For parents/guardians who are not able to submit an online 
application from home, alternative arrangements can be made to submit the application 
from a school or from the Council Customer Service Centres. 
 
Every school in Carmarthenshire has an Admission Number (AN).  This stipulates the 
number of pupils that can be admitted into each school year and is based on each 
individual school’s capacity to provide appropriate accommodation and facilities for 
pupils.  If the number of applications received exceeds the AN, applications are 
prioritised using the published over-subscription criteria.   
 

Tudalen 191



 

20 
 

Should parents be unsuccessful in obtaining a full-time place for their child at their 
preferred primary or secondary school, they will have a right of appeal against this 
decision.  There is no right of appeal in the case of refusal of admission to part-time 
nursery provision. 

 
Further information in relation to Carmarthenshire’s Admissions and Appeals processes 
can be found on the website and in the Information for Parents booklet. The  School 
Admissions Policy 2023-24 can also be viewed in full.  

 
 
Catchment Areas 

A catchment area refers to the geographical area from which pupils are normally 
expected to attend a specific school. 

School catchment areas are used: 

• to give parents an indication of their local school.   
• to help schools identify with the communities they serve.   
• to prioritise admissions to schools when there are more applications than 

places available. Residence within catchment area is one of the admission 
criteria in Carmarthenshire, ensuring that schools are available to serve local 
children first.  

• as a planning tool to enable the Authority to fulfil its duty to forecast demand for 
education in an area and to plan to meet that demand.   

• as an element of transport policy in order to facilitate the organisation of school 
transport and control costs. 

Every school in Carmarthenshire has a designated catchment area which it serves. 
Children living within the designated catchment area of a school will stand a better 
chance of their application to the school being successful. There is, however, no 
guarantee of a place. 
 
Children who live within the catchment area of a school will also stand a better chance 
of qualifying for free transport to and from school. 
 
 Applications can be made to send children to any school in the County but there is no 
guarantee of a place. With the exception of nursery places for 3 year olds you do have 
the right to appeal if your application is refused. 
 
When a child moves from primary to secondary school, an application for a school 
place and free school transport is based on the home address and not the primary 
school the child attended. 

Catchment Area Review 

Tudalen 192

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/education-schools/school-admissions-and-changing-schools/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1230007/information-for-parents-2023-24.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1228991/school-admissions-policy-2023-2024.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1228991/school-admissions-policy-2023-2024.pdf


 

21 
 

The most recent catchment area review was commenced in 2008 and involved an 
extensive exercise of the county’s existing catchment areas. As an outcome of the 
review, the catchment areas within Llanelli, Carmarthen and Dinefwr were approved 
by Executive Board in February 2010, January 2011 and July 2010 respectively. 

As such, an updated review of the current catchment areas is now required to ensure 
that they remain relevant and compatible with the current school network/footprint. 
This is currently in the process of being progressed. 

 
Federation Regulations  
 
The term ‘federation’ describes a formal and legal agreement where more than one 
school, and no more than six, share governance arrangements and have a single 
Governing Body.  
 
As noted in the Federation process of maintained schools in Wales, schools have been 
able to federate since 2010 using the process set out in The Federation of Maintained 
Schools and Miscellaneous Amendment (Wales) Regulations 2010. The Federation 
process of maintained schools in Wales replaced the 2010 Federation Regulations on 
22nd May 2014, and in addition, provided Local Authority’s with the power to federate 
schools. The current guidance sets out how Local Authorities, in addition to governing 
bodies can federate schools and how federations may be proposed, established and 
constituted.  
 
The process a Local Authority would use to federate schools is almost identical to the 
one Governing Bodies would follow. If a Local Authority is considering federating a 
voluntary aided, voluntary controlled or foundation school it should first of all contact 
the Charities Commission to discuss proposals. It must also obtain the consent of the 
relevant diocesan authority, trustees or persons who are responsible for appointing 
the foundation governors. 
 
A successful federation requires a commitment of time and resources from all schools 
involved. Clear leadership and management structures together with a shared vision 
and a common purpose will allow pupils access to a broader curriculum to enrich their 
experiences and provide a high-quality education to help raise their attainment. 
 
The power given to Local Authorities to federate will provide an additional valuable 
tool to the MEP in the consideration of future provision for areas throughout 
Carmarthenshire. 
 
Informal Federation has been used as an intervention to secure leadership in some of 
our schools where recruiting sustainable leaders is a challenge due to budget 
pressures/pupil numbers/rurality. 

Tudalen 193

mailto:https//www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-03/federation-process-of-maintained-schools-in-wales-guidance-for-governing-bodies-and-local-authorities.pdf%23:~:text=The%202014%20Federation%20Regulations%20set%20out%20how%20the,how%20one%20or%20all%20schools%20may%20leave%20it.


 

22 
 

 
Formal Federation has been used by schools as well as the Local Authority to: 
 

• Secure sustainable leadership 
• Improve schools’ future sustainability. 
• Improve pupils’ experiences. 
• Improve budget position. 
• Formalise collaborative working arrangements.  

However, most recently, Federation as an intervention is being challenged. Finding 
sustainable Leadership for formal Federations is becoming increasingly difficult due to 
the responsibility associated with managing more than 1 school. The additional 
workload pressures associated with managing a Federation can impact negatively on 
Headteacher wellbeing. In addition, due to the rise in fuel costs, some Headteachers 
are questioning the viability of the Executive Headteacher role due to the additional 
travelling. 
 
Prior to 2020, the Local Authority did not have an approved process in place for 
determining federation proposals, in contrast to the decision-making process that was 
in place for determining school reorganisation proposals. However, in February 2020, 
the Executive Board approved a decision-making process for Local Authority led 
federation proposals, whereby the decision on whether or not to implement a 
federation proposal would be made by the Cabinet Member for Education. 
 
School Reorganisation 
 
As noted in the School Organisation Code 2018, a Local Authority may make 
proposals to:  

• establish, discontinue or make a regulated alteration (see 3.3 of Code) to 
community or maintained nursery schools;  

• discontinue a voluntary or foundation school;  
• increase or decrease the capacity of a foundation or voluntary school without a 

religious character.  

 
Governing bodies of foundation or voluntary schools may make proposals to:  
 
• discontinue their school;  
• make a regulated alteration to their school. 
 
Any person may make proposals to establish a new voluntary school. However, local 
authorities should work with the relevant religious body when the proposal is to 
establish a voluntary school with a religious character.  
 

Tudalen 194



 

23 
 

No new foundation school or foundation special school may be established in Wales.  
 
Local authorities may also make proposals to add or remove school sixth forms at 
voluntary and foundation secondary schools, but only if they have first gained the 
consent of the Welsh Ministers to do so. Consent must be sought by means of a written 
application that clearly sets out the Local Authority’s rationale for the proposal. 
 
In addition, the 2013 Act provides the Welsh Ministers with the power to make 
proposals to: 
 a) remedy excessive or insufficient provision of school places (where they have 
already issued a direction to a local authority or governing body to that effect) (section 
59); 
 b) secure regional provision for special educational needs (where they have already 
issued a direction to a Local Authority/Local Authorities/governing bodies to that effect) 
(section 68); and  
c) add or remove school sixth forms (section 71). 
 
 
The School Organisation Code proposal interventions noted above are facilitated by 
the internal democratic decision making and determination process (see Appendix 1). 
The approved process was most recently revised in January 2021 and is well 
established. Crucially, final determination is made by County Council on whether or 
not to implement school reorganisation proposals. 
 
 

Projects are delivered through Infrastructure Investment Interventions (Options for 
Development) such as: 

Extensions - refers to the process of expanding an existing building or structure to 
create additional space or rooms. It involves constructing new parts that are integrated 
with the original building, thereby increasing its overall size and functionality. 
Extensions can be added to various parts of a building, such as adding extra rooms, 
enlarging a kitchen, creating a new wing, or extending the upper floors. The purpose 
of an extension is to meet the changing needs of the occupants, accommodate growth, 
or improve the property's value and functionality. 

New builds, also known as a new construction or ground-up construction, refers to 
the process of creating an entirely new building or structure from scratch. In this type 
of construction, there is no existing structure, and the project typically involves clearing 
the site, laying the foundation, and constructing all elements of the building, including 
walls, floors, roofs, and utilities.  New builds are common for greenfield sites 
(undeveloped land) or when an existing structure is beyond repair or not suitable for 
renovation. 

Remodelling involves making significant changes or improvements to an existing 
building's structure, layout, or design. Unlike an extension, which adds new space, 

Tudalen 195

mailto:https//www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-code-second-edition.pdf


 

24 
 

remodelling focuses on renovating and altering the existing space to better suit the 
occupants' needs or to update the building's appearance and functionality. 
Remodelling projects can include renovating bathrooms, kitchens, or other rooms, 
changing the internal layout, upgrading electrical or plumbing systems, or adding new 
interior features. 

Refurbishment refers to the process of renovating, repairing, or updating an existing 
building or structure, with the goal of restoring its condition and functionality to a better 
state. Unlike remodelling, refurbishment usually involves less extensive changes and 
focuses on improving the building's aesthetics, functionality, and overall condition. 
This can include repairing damaged or worn-out elements, repainting, replacing 
fixtures and fittings, and upgrading systems to bring the building up to modern 
standards. 

Modular or mobile construction refers to a method of building structures in which 
the components or modules are constructed off-site in a factory or controlled 
environment and then transported to the final location for assembly. These modules 
are prefabricated, meaning they are manufactured in standard sizes and designs, 
allowing for easy transport and quick on-site assembly. 

The investment interventions are governed Corporately as well as via the Modernising 
Education & Communities Programme and Project Boards (see Appendix 2). 
 
 
 
Investment Intervention 

Options 

Description 

No Capital Investment 
Required 

No investment required  

Additional Accommodation  
Extension/Modular 

Investment would involve extending a school to 
provide additional accommodation/provision 

Refurbishment/Reconfiguration Investment would involve refurbishing/ 
reconfiguring a school on its current site  

New Area 3-11 Investment would involve constructing one new 3-
11 school to replace more than one school in an 
area  

Replacement 3-11 school Investment would involve constructing a new 3-11 
school to replace an existing school on its current 
site or a new site  

New 3-11 Investment would involve constructing a new 3-11 
school  

Tudalen 196



 

25 
 

Replacement 11-16 Investment would involve constructing a new 11-
16 school to replace an existing school on its 
current site or a new site  

New 11-16 Investment would involve constructing a new 11-
16  

Replacement 11-19 school Investment would involve constructing a new 11-
19 school to replace an existing school on its 
current site or a new site  

New 11-19 Investment would involve constructing a new 11-
19 school  

Establishing 3-16 Investment would involve establishing a 3-16 
school to replace existing primary/secondary 
provision 

Establishing 3-19 Investment would involve establishing a 3-19 
school to replace existing primary/secondary 
provision 

Replacement Special School Investment would involve constructing a new 
special school to replace an existing special 
school on its current site or a new site  

New ALN provision Investment would involve constructing new ALN 
provision  

ALN Unit Investment would involve establishing integrated 
ALN provision on school sites  

New behaviour provision Investment would involve constructing new 
behaviour provision 

Behaviour Unit Investment would involve establishing integrated 
behaviour provision on school sites. 

 
Minimum Investment Principles  
 

• Any new school that includes primary provision will need to contribute to 
achieving Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan ambitions.  

• All schools will be constructed to accommodate space to provide 3-year-old 
Early Years Education. 

• All schools will be constructed having considered the need for wrap around 
childcare provision from 2 years old (based on a gap analysis). 

• All schools will be constructed having considered the need for spaces for 
community use. 

Tudalen 197



 

26 
 

• All schools will be constructed having considered the need for Additional 
Learning Needs provision. 

• All schools will be constructed having considered the leisure/sporting 
requirements in the area. 

Funding  
Since the introduction of the Modernising Education Programme in 2001 and up until 
the end of the 2022/2023 financial year, Carmarthenshire County Council has invested 
£325m in its schools. 
 
The delivery of the MEP to date has been made possible by the establishment of an 
innovative funding strategy for capital investment which has drawn upon and 
integrated a variety of funding sources: 
• Welsh Government Grants – Sustainable Communities for Learning Grant 

(previously known as 21st Century Schools Grant), School Building Improvement 
Grant, Fire Sprinkler Grant, Flying Start Capital Grant, etc. 

• Capital Receipts – generated though the disposal of operationally redundant 
school assets (if not utilised for community use etc.). Following a previous decision 
by County Council, all receipts generated through the sale of former school 
premises are ring-fenced for reinvestment in the school modernisation 
programme. 

• Prudential Borrowing – serviced by contributions from revenue generated 
though efficiency gains arising from the rationalisation of the schools’ network and 
through an adjustment in the delegated school budget. 

• • General Capital – contributions from the Council’s general capital 
allocation. (Ring Fenced)S106 Agreements – contributions from developers of 
residential properties. 

• School Contributions – contributions from school revenue budgets. 
 
The innovative approach to funding school modernisation applied by Carmarthenshire 
County Council has allowed the Authority to make significant progress in improving 
the quality of facilities at a number of schools. Initially the Council did draw funding 
from prudential borrowing from operational school budgets, but this has since been 
exhausted as there is little or no scope for revenue contributions.  
 
Most recently, the Local Authority has been successful in obtaining grants to 100% 
fund a variety of projects focussing specifically on: Additional Learning Needs, 
Community Focused Schools, Community Hub Areas and Welsh Medium. 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 198



 

27 
 

Rolling Programme (2024 onwards) 
Sustainable Communities for Learning rolling programme | GOV.WALES 

A rolling programme of investment is being implemented to improve efficiency and 
delivery for both partners (local authorities, colleges etc.) and the Welsh Government. 
The rolling programme will strengthen one of the key attributes of the Programme, that 
of projects being taken forward at the pace of and to the priorities of delivery partners, 
removing the environment of ‘over-optimism’ or the need for delivery partners to put 
forward overly ambitious proposals during what is typically a narrow bidding window. 

 
9-Year Capital Rolling Programme 
Years Expectation 
1, 2 and 3 Projects expected to reach full business case within the 3 

years 
4, 5 and 6 Projects being developed and going through statutory 

consultation 
7, 8 and 9 Pipeline Projects 

 
 
A nine-year capital programme, including an indicative funding forecast for the 9 years, 
is required to be submitted to the Welsh Government for consideration towards 
providing a commitment and support for the first 3 years along with in principle support 
for years 4, 5 and 6. Years 7 to 9 will reflect a longer-term project pipeline. If 
appropriate, Band B projects can be included at the beginning of the nine-year capital 
programme. 
 
At the latest, delivery partners must review and resubmit their Programme by March 
2024. 

Capital Challenges 
There are other significant pressures on the Education and Children capital 
programme that are not currently identified.  
 
Through necessity these pressures have been ‘funded from MEP’ capital as follows: 
 
•Equalities Act 2010 - it is a legal requirement for the LA to make reasonable 
adjustments to school premises. £1.5M has been spent in the last 5 years. 
•Accommodation pressures - £590K has been spent on temporary accommodation in 
the last 5 years. Current trends suggest that there will be an increasing requirement 
to respond to short to medium term increases in pupil numbers in areas of the county. 

Tudalen 199

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2023/2/1/1675706294/sustainable-communities-learning-rolling-programme.pdf#:~:text=In%20January%202022%20the%20Programme%20was%20renamed%20%E2%80%98Sustainable,college%20infrastructure%20utilising%20both%20public%20capital%20and%20revenue.
mailto:https//www.gov.wales/guidance-equality-act-2010-disabled-school-pupils-wales-regulations-2021-html


 

28 
 

•Emergency Expenditure - Emergency situations arise and the DfEC capital 
programme is required to be used to meet urgent needs. £1.5M has been spent in the 
last 5 years. 
 
In addition, the capital funds available for building maintenance in schools is under 
severe pressure. Since 2018/19 financial year, the Authority has received £11.65M 
grant for capitalised building maintenance for schools. The grant funding provided is 
on top of the corporate budget which is approximately £1.3M per year which equates 
to £5.2M over the same period. Even with the additional grant the budget remains 
under severe pressure to cope with the demand for urgent works in schools. The total 
amount of capital maintenance works (approved/in progress and awaiting approval) 
required over the next 3 years (23/24, 24/25 and 25/26) equates to £22.8m, compared 
to an annual budget of approximately £1.3m plus any grant received from Welsh 
Government.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 200



 

29 
 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

 

Tudalen 201



 

30 
 

 
 

Tudalen 202



 

31 
 

 

Appendix 2 
MEP Governance 

The governance framework (shown below) for the MEP (as part of the Modernising 
Education and Communities Programme (MECP) Board) is now well established with 
clearly defined roles and responsibilities.  

 
 

Programmes of work are managed in accordance with PRINCE2 methodology and MSP 
principles, and individual projects are managed in line with the Carmarthenshire Project 
Management toolkit, which ensures they comply with the Authority’s Project Grants 
Manual, Managing Capital document and financial and procurement regulations. 
 
They are managed by MEP Project Officers and Property Design Officers who report to 
the Project Delivery Board on a monthly basis. Representatives from Human Resources, 
Transportation, Legal, School Modernisation, Communities, Standards and Quality, 
Finance, Additional Learning Needs and Environment are members of the group, whilst 
other officers are co-opted onto the team as and when required. 
 
The Project Delivery Board supports and is answerable to the Council’s Modernising 
Education & Communities (incorporated in 2017) Programme Board for the overall 
direction and management of projects. The Programme Board is ultimately responsible 
for assurance that projects remain on course to deliver the desired investment objectives 
of the required quality to meet the Sustainable Communities for Learning agenda. They 

Modernising Education & Communities Programme Governance Framework

County
CouncilCabinet

Scrutiny
Committees

Corporate
Management

Team

MECP
Programme

Board

MECP
Project Delivery

Board

MEP
Project
Team

MEP
Project
Team

MCP
Project
Team

DMT

Welsh
Government

Partneriaeth /
Regional Bodies

Strategic Assets
Steering Group

Departmental
Project Working

Group

Directs down
or reports up

Informal /
indirect

communication

Member involvement

External link

Regional working

Corporate working

Departmental working

ADEW POSP /
National Link

Regeneration
Delivery Team

MCP
Service Lead

Environment
Lead

Tudalen 203



 

32 
 

have the authority for the project within the remit set corporately by the Cabinet and 
County Council.

Tudalen 204



 

33 
 

 

Appendix 3 
 

T
udalen 205



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



IONAWR 2024 

Cabinet 

29 Ionawr 2024 
 

Y Pwnc: Penodi Llywodraethwr ar ran yr Awdurdod Lleol  
 

Y Pwrpas: Cyflawni rhwymedigaethau statudol o lenwi swyddi gwag ar Gyrff 
Llywodraethol. 
 
 

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau Allweddol Sydd Eu Hangen: 
Aelodau'r Cabinet i ystyried ail-benodi Y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies yn Llywodraethwr ar ran 
yr A.Ll. 
 
Y Rhesymau:  
Daw tymor presennol y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies i ben ar 31 Ionawr, ac mae wedi mynegi 
diddordeb i barhau. 
 
 
Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad OES  
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad NAC OES  
 
YR AELOD O'R CABINET  SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-  Nodwch enw'r Aelod o'r Cabinet  a'r 
portffolio  
Y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies, Addysg, Pobl Ifanc a'r Gymraeg 
 
 
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 
Aneirin R. Thomas 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
Tanja Neumayer-James 
 

 
Swyddi: 
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Addysg 
a Chynhwysiant 
 
Pen Swyddog Llywodraethu 
Ysgolion 

 
 
ARThomas@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
 
TNeumayer-
James@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
01267 246448 

 
 
  

Tudalen 207

Eitem Rhif  8



IONAWR 2024 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
CABINET MEETING 
29th January 2024 

 
SUBJECT 

LA Governor appointment 

1. SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
Cllr. Glynog Davies serves as LA Governor and Chairperson on the Governing Body of 
Brynamman Primary School. He is the local elected Member. 
His current term of office ends on 31st January, and he has expressed an interest in being re-
appointed to the post for another term of office. 
 
Under normal circumstances, LA Governor appointments are made by Cllr. Glynog Davies in 
his role as Cabinet Member for Education, Young People & the Welsh Language. 
 
2. OTHER OPTIONS AVAILABLE AND THEIR PROS AND CONS – N/A 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO 
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
 

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities 

 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Manage-
ment Issues  

Staffing 
Implications  

Physical 
Assets   

Bio- 
diversity & 
Climate 
Change 
 

NONE NONE  NONE 
 

NONE 
 
 

NONE 
 

NONE  NONE 
 

NONE 

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 
Signed:    Aneirin R. Thomas                                         Head of Education and Inclusion Services                            

 

Tudalen 208



IONAWR 2024 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below: 
 
Signed:         Aneirin R. Thomas                               Head of Education and Inclusion Services                                                

 
 

1. Scrutiny Committee request for pre-determination  NA 
 

 
2.Local Member(s)   
Cllr. Glynog Davies  
 
3.Community / Town Council  
N/A 
 
4.Relevant Partners   
N/A 
 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   
N/A 

 
 

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

Include any observations here 
N/a 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THERE ARE NONE   
 
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

N/A 
 

  

 
  

Tudalen 209



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 211

Eitem Rhif  11
Yn rhinwedd  paragraff(au) 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 fel y'i diwygiwyd gan 
Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at Wybodaeth) (Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 217

Yn rhinwedd  paragraff(au) 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 fel y'i diwygiwyd gan 
Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at Wybodaeth) (Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 219

Eitem Rhif  12
Yn rhinwedd  paragraff(au) 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 fel y'i diwygiwyd gan 
Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at Wybodaeth) (Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 225

Yn rhinwedd  paragraff(au) 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 fel y'i diwygiwyd gan 
Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at Wybodaeth) (Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 227

Yn rhinwedd  paragraff(au) 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 fel y'i diwygiwyd gan 
Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at Wybodaeth) (Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 243

Yn rhinwedd  paragraff(au) 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 fel y'i diwygiwyd gan 
Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at Wybodaeth) (Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol


	Agenda
	3 I LOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y CABINET A GYNHALIWYD AR Y 15EG IONAWR, 2024.
	6 CYNLLUN DATBLYGU LLEOL DIWYGIEDIG SIR GARFYRDDIN 2018-2033 -  ASESIAD CYNALIADWYEDD INTEGREDIG AC ASESIAD RHEOLIADAU CYNEFINOEDD (GAN GYNNWYS ATODIADAU) YMGYNGHORI PELLACH
	Addendum 1
	Addendum 2

	7 RHAGLEN MODERNEIDDIO ADDYSG - STRATEGAETH (RHMA)
	Adroddiad
	Programme Overview
	Background
	Strategic Alignment (The Golden Thread)
	Our desired outcomes 2022-2032
	Purpose Pieces

	MEP Strategy
	MEP Review
	Viability
	Investment

	Parameters and Interventions
	Parameters
	Interventions (Options for Change)

	Funding
	Rolling Programme (2024 onwards)
	A rolling programme of investment is being implemented to improve efficiency and delivery for both partners (local authorities, colleges etc.) and the Welsh Government. The rolling programme will strengthen one of the key attributes of the Programme, that of projects being taken forward at the pace of and to the priorities of delivery partners, removing the environment of ‘over-optimism’ or the need for delivery partners to put forward overly ambitious proposals during what is typically a narrow bidding window.
	Capital Challenges
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	MEP Governance

	Appendix 3


	8 PENODI LLYWODRAETHWR AR RAN YR AWDURDOD LLEOL
	11 TIR DATBLYGU PRESWYL YN FFERM MYDDYNFYCH, BONLLWYN, RHYDAMAN
	Cynllun

	12 PRYNU EIDDO YNG NGHANOL TREF CAERFYRDDIN
	Adroddiad
	Atodiad
	Map


